HIV/AIDS, TB AND NUTRITION



Scientific inquiry into the nutritional influences on human immunity with special reference to HIV infection and active TB in South Africa



Knowing & Helping

Cover picture:

Residues 37-46 of the human CD4 molecule. Virion or macrophage-associated HIV envelope glycoprotein gp120 binds this site with high affinity, displacing the physiological CD4-MHCII interaction and hypothetically thereby causing death of the activated T cell by apoptosis. It is through this interaction that the virus is able to infect CD4 bearing cells, including macrophages. Curiously, unmodified depiction of the secondary structure reveals an antiparallel beta sheet with a remarkable resemblance to the AIDS ribbon.

Kwong. P.D., Wyatt R., Majeed, S. Robinson. J., Sweet, R.W., Sodroski, J., Hendrikson, W.A. (2000). Structures of HIV-1 gp120 envelope glycoproteins from laboratory-adapted and primary isolates. Structure Fold. Des. 8: 1329-39.

Berman, H.M., Westbrook, J., Feng, Z., Gilliland, G., Bhat, T.N., Weissig, H., Shindyalov, I.N., Bourne, P.E. (2000). The Protein Data Bank. Nucleic Acids Research, 28 pp. 235-242.

Wang JH, Meijers R, Xiong Y, Liu JH, Sakihama T, Zhang R, Joachimiak A, Reinherz EL. Crystal structure of the human CD4 N-terminal two-domain fragment complexed to a class II MHC molecule.

Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001 Sep 11;98(19):10799-804.





July 2007

Published by the Academy of Science of South Africa ISBN: 978-0-620-39209-9 July 2007

> P O Box 72135 Lynnwood Ridge 0040 (Pretoria, South Africa)

Building 53 1st Floor Block C CSIR Site, South Gate Meiring Naude Road Brummeria 0184

Web: www.assaf.org.za

Phone: +27 12 843 6482 Fax: +27 0866 810 143 e-mail: fundi@assaf.org.za

Copyright: Academy of Science of South Africa Reproduction is permitted provided the source is acknowledged

Layout, typesetting, cover design, reproduction and printing Marketing Support Services (012) 346-2168

The Academy of Science of South Africa (ASSAf) was inaugurated in May 1996 in the presence of then President Nelson Mandela, the Patron of the launch of the Academy. It was formed in response to the need for an Academy of Science consonant with the dawn of democracy in South Africa: activist in its mission of using science for the benefit of society, with a mandate encompassing all fields of scientific enquiry in a seamless way, and including in its ranks the full diversity of South Africa's distinguished scientists.

> The Parliament of South Africa passed the Academy of Science of South Africa Act, Act 67 in 2001, and the Act came into operation on 15 May 2002.

This has made ASSAf the official Academy of Science of South Africa, recognised by Government and representing South Africa in the international community of science academies.

Contents

Opening Section

Forewordv
Preface
Acknowledgementsxi
Executive summary xv
The brief from the ASSAf Council

Introduction and Background

Chapter 1:	Conceptual overview	3
Chapter 2:	Three South African epidemics.	15
Chapter 3:	Evidence-based practice and recommendations	41

Physiology and Pathophysiology of nutrition, immunity, HIV infection and active TB

Chapter 4:	Human nutrition
Chapter 5:	Human immunity
Chapter 6:	Pathogenesis of <i>Mycobacterium tuberculosis</i> infection in humans 97
Chapter 7:	Pathogenesis of Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) infection: moving from older to newer thinking

Special considerations of infancy and childhood

Chapter 8: Nutrition, HIV infection and active TB in infants and children . . . 117

Clinical evidence

Chapter 9:	The effects of nutritional interventions in HIV/AIDS: Macronutrients
Chapter 10:	The effects of nutritional interventions in HIV/AIDS: Micronutrients
Chapter 11:	The influence of nutrition on the risk and outcomes of tuberculosis

Recommendations for policy and research priorities

Chapter 12:	Recommendations for policy and practice	173
Chapter 13:	Recommendations for research	181
Chapter 14:	Collation of existing guidelines from the World Health Organisation, the Southern African HIV Clinicians Society and the national Department of Health	197

Closing Section

Chapter 15:	The way forward – concluding remarks	207
References to	all chapters	211

Appendices

Appendix A: About the Study Panel	255
Appendix B: Glossary of key terms	267
Appendix C: Acronyms and abbreviations	271
Appendix D: About the Council	277
Appendix E: About the Academy	279

Opening section

Foreword

This report; the second of its type published by the Academy; considers the influence of nutrition on two of the major disease epidemics currently affecting South Africa – tuberculosis and HIV infection. The research in this report highlights the starting recognition that the country is currently facing 'three concurrent epidemics'. Two of these epidemics are caused by disease organisms – the human immunodeficiency virus and the bacterium *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* – while the third, malnutrition, is the result of social, historical and political factors. In order to manage a response to these linked epidemics, the Study Panel was commissioned to review the scientific evidence that could provide an understanding of the dynamics of this tripartite interaction. The particular focus of the report has been on examining the influences of nutrition on human immunity in this specific context.

Based on the understanding that they gained of each of these epidemics and their interaction, the Study Panel has made recommendations as to the best way to proceed in terms of policy, intervention and development. A matter of great potential interest and importance is the accumulating evidence that one, perhaps the major site at which HIV infects and hence depletes CD4* T cells is the gut, raising the possibility of links between diet and HIV infection quite different from the usual pre-occupations of traditional nutritional theory and practice. Immune deficiency also exacerbates susceptibility to TB infections; which fuels the vicious concurrent cycle of the three epidemics that are the subject of this study.

The thorough review undertaken by the members of the Study Panel has led them to make the following statement:

"The Study Panel is frankly appalled by the dearth of reliable and truly informative studies of the nutritional influences/interventions on the course and outcomes of the pandemic chronic diseases addressed in this report."

This conclusion has led them to make a series of important recommendations about the urgent need for well-designed research studies to deal with an unacceptable situation.

Furthermore, they make a number of recommendations in relation to nutritional policy and practice in relation to both HIV and TB infections. The Council of the Academy hopes that this report will provide the basis for productive debate and subsequent interventions that will foster solutions to the three epidemics currently having such a profound impact on South Africa.

This report was prepared by a consensus Study Panel and the methodology followed is based on that of consensus panels of the US National Academies, with some modifications to accommodate our unique circumstances. The report has been reviewed by three independent reviewers all of whom recommended that it be published. The Council of the Academy reviewed the report and considered both the reviewers' comments and the way in which the Study Panel had addressed the comments made by the latter. After thorough consideration of the full report and of the reviewers' comments and recommendations, the Council approved the report for publication.

The proposers of the study, Prof. Wieland Gevers and Prof. Jimmy Volmink, are thanked for convincing the Council that this was a suitable and urgently needed subject for a formal consensus study to be undertaken by the Academy. The Chair of the Study Panel, Prof. Barry Mendelow, and all the panel members are thanked for agreeing to participate in the study, and for bringing it to a successful conclusion. The staff of the Academy, Ms Boitumelo Mabina (Study Director), Ms Rudzani Ramaite and Dr Xola Mati (Projects Director) are recognised for their crucial support to the Study Panel.

> R M Crewe President July 2007

Preface

The core function of the **Academy of Science of South Africa** is to harness the highest levels of scholarly achievement and excellence in the application of scientific thinking for the benefit of society. The activities of the Academy are defined, resourced and monitored by the **ASSAf Council**. The constitution of specific expert panels and the prescription of their tasks is one of a variety of instruments which the Council of the Academy may apply in the attainment of its mission. The ASSAf Council, in October of 2005, resolved to constitute its first expert panel to address one of the most highly profiled issues confronting South African Society today, that of the role, if any, of nutritional intervention in the integrated management of the epidemics of HIV/AIDS and tuberculosis which are currently ravaging South African society.

In defining the **brief for the Consensus Study Panel on Nutrition, HIV/AIDS and TB**, the Council identified three foci for in-depth study. These were, firstly, to review critically the literature pertaining to the intersection of nutrition and nutritional status with fundamental immune functions, with special reference to immune functions in the context of HIV/AIDS and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infections; secondly, to review critically what has been reported concerning the impact of these infections on nutritional status, and thirdly, to compile a comprehensive evidence base concerning the effects of nutritional interventions on the course of those infectious disorders.

The Council approved the constitution of a **Study Panel**, the 15 members of which comprised experienced nutritionists, immunologists, biochemists, infectious disease physicians and paediatricians, policy experts, epidemiologists and generalists. It was further decided that the Study Panel should be chaired by a non-specialist in the field, specifically to minimise the risk that the activities of the Study Panel might be unintentionally influenced by any particular research agenda, and also to serve as a *de facto* interface between the Study Panel and the general public and other intended users of the Study Panel's final report, including politicians and policy makers.

After the first meeting of the Study Panel, the chairperson met individually with each panelist to solicit individual opinions as to optimal ways to proceed with the project.

The Study Panel met subsequently five more times over the course of the following 16 months, interspersed with many smaller-group meetings and discussions between the chairperson and individual panelists or ad hoc working subgroups. Initial tasks were allocated to appropriate specific experts whose preliminary reports constituted the material for general discussions at subsequent meetings.

The final report represents the consensus views of the Study Panel members on the topics defined by the Council, and is arranged with a slight departure from the format of the original brief. This was necessitated by the early realisation during the Study Panel's schedule of activities that while there was abundant evidence establishing linkage between malnutrition and adverse outcomes of the infectious diseases under study, it was not always clear which was cause and which was effect. It was therefore impossible to segregate observational studies categorically into effects of infectious diseases on nutritional status, as opposed to effects of nutrition on infectious disease outcomes. The report has nevertheless attempted where possible to determine the appropriate cause-and-effect relationships of the observations discussed in the relevant chapters, addressing the brief indirectly, while the group of chapters devoted to clinical evidence has clearly identified and analyzed the published effects of nutritional interventions on HIV/AIDS and tuberculosis, addressing the brief directly.

In addition to these activities, the Study Panel also availed itself of two other instruments available to the Academy in the pursuance of its mission – these being the constitution of workshops to discuss specific topics directly or tangentially related to the mainstream task, and the commissioning of outside experts to supplement the acquisition of knowledge on specific items outside the immediate ambit of the panelists, or where specific external international authorities were readily identifiable and available to address or advise on particular points. Two workshops were convened during the period of tenure of the Study Panel. These were a general academy **symposium on evidence-based decision-making** in March 2006¹, and a Study Panel-directed **workshop on HIV and the gastrointestinal tract** in November 2006. Key insights gleaned from these activities and external commissions have been incorporated into the appropriate chapters of the final report.

Supplementary to the critical review of the evidence mandated by Council is a set of **policy recommendations** that concludes the body of this report. This chapter includes recommendations for practice, recommendations for further research that will be required to address as yet unanswered questions, and a collation of the Study Panel's views on three **existing sets of guidelines** concerning nutritional advice for persons affected by HIV/AIDS and/or TB. These recommendations have respectively emanated recently from the World Health Organization, from the Southern African HIV/AIDS Clinicians Society, and the South African National Department of Health. In this task,

the Study Panel sought to identify commonalities and/or divergences of opinion on the part of three organisations with distinct and separate perspectives on the same topic.

A concluding section of the report amongst other things addresses some of the issues we have not been able to investigate, namely the new field of appropriate and optimal nutritional support for persons receiving antiretroviral treatment, and the as yet largely undocumented field of biologically active phytochemicals that may or may not have effects on the health of infected persons.

The pre-final draft of the report was circulated to all panelists, and edited by Professor Dan Ncayiyana, prior to submission for external review by the three reviewers selected by the ASSAf Council.

Finally, it is noteworthy that this report is a **consensus document** of the panelists. Although its individual components were initially drafted by individual Study Panel members, the final document should be regarded as having been authored jointly by the entire Study Panel.

Acknowledgements

This report is the joint work of a 15-member Study Panel appointed by the Council of the Academy of Science of South Africa (ASSAf). Each panelist has agreed to the specific formulation of the report and to its conclusions and recommendations. (The Academy's guidelines permit dissenting viewpoints to be included in the report as authored footnotes on the pages where material is presented with which one or more of the Study Panel members disagree). The Study Panel members were Barry Mendelow (BM) – chairperson, Peter Cegielski (PC), Muhammad Ali Dhansay (MD), Wieland Gevers (WG), Clive Gray (CG), Glenda Gray (GG), Liesl Grobler (LG), Gregory Hussey (GH), David McMurray (DM), Gernard Msamanga (GM), Dan Ncayiyana (DN), Helen Rees (HR), Francois Venter (FV), Jimmy Volmink (JV), and Este Vorster (EV).

The Study Panel found it practical to request members (or, on occasion, outside experts) to provide initial drafts of parts of the report that were designed to deal with particular topics. These drafts were discussed at Study Panel meetings after prior circulation, and stock was taken of problems such as critical omissions, controversies, overlaps and contradictions. Further drafting then took place, often by several panelists other than the original author. In one instance, the Study Panel decided to arrange a public workshop, convened by WG and CG, to review and discuss highly topical recent advances in the inter-disciplinary field of HIV immunology in the gut, inflammatory bowel disease and the burgeoning area of intestinal microbiota; the insights obtained from this exercise were taken up in various sections of the consolidated draft report. A short paper on the possible programming of the human immune system as a result of foetal insults of various kinds, including maternal under- and malnutrition, was commissioned from Drs Andrew Prentice and Sophie Moore, of the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, UK. A special policy workshop was attended by a subset of panelists convened for this purpose by HR. The Study Panel met face-to-face as a whole on six occasions during late 2005 until early 2007.

The pre-final consolidated version of the report was edited by DN, assisted by Ms Emma Buchanan. The independent peer reviewers were Profs Martin Bloem, Zulfiqar Bhutta and John Pettifor who are warmly thanked for their considerable contributions to finalising the approved text of this ASSAf report.

Individual sections

Introduction and background

The **brief from the ASSAf Council** was initially drafted by WG and JV, and revised after approval by the Council. BM drafted the **conceptual overview**, taking into consideration information from the relevant chapter of the entire report. Parts of the Report dealing with the **three South African epidemics** were initially drafted by GG (Nutritional Status of South African children), while EV and MD provided initial drafts on the nutritional status of South African (Epidemiology of Malnutrition). GG and FV created the first drafts on the epidemiology of HIV/AIDS, while the first drafts on the epidemiology of TB in South Africa were developed by FV with contributions from GH. The various contributions were collated by BM. The first drafts on **evidence-based practice and recommendations** were drafted by EV.

Relevant Physiology and Pathophysiology

The parts of the Report dealing with **the physiology of human nutrition** were initially drafted by WG; who also provided the first drafts of the parts dealing with relevant aspects of **human immunity**. Prof Jack Metz* is acknowledged for his advice on folate. The first drafts on **pathogenesis of** *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* **infection in humans** were provided by DM, while those on the **pathogenesis of HIV infection – moving from older to newer thinking** were drafted by CG and WG. The parts on **special considerations of infancy and childhood** were initially drafted by GG, assisted by WG and BM. Prof Haroon Saloojee* and Prof Shabir Madhi* are acknowledged for making invaluable contributions to the paediatric components of HIV, nutrition and TB on this topic.

Clinical Evidence

LG provided a first draft on clinical evidence concerning the effects of nutritional intervention in people with HIV/AIDS: macronutrients assisted and supported by JV. The parts on clinical evidence concerning the effects of nutritional intervention in people with HIV/AIDS: micronutrients were initially drafted by GH and MD; James Irlam* contributed significantly to the finalization of this chapter. PC and DM initially drafted parts of the Report dealing with evidence concerning the influence on nutrition on the risk and outcomes of tuberculosis.

Recommendations for Policy and Practice, and for Research

HR provided an initial draft of the **prioritised recommendations for policy and practice**, building on the outcomes of a special workshop, and using parts drafted by others that

were about relevant to policy and/or practice. The **prioritised recommendations for research** were initially drafted by WG, taking into consideration relevant parts from other chapter. The **collation of the existing guidelines from the World Health Organisation (WHO), the Southern African HIV Clinicians Society (SAHCS) and the National Department of Health (NDoH)** were initially drafted by EV. The final part on **the way forward – concluding remarks** was initially drafted by WG.

Acronyms and abbreviations were prepared by Ms Boitumelo Mabina, as well as the other appendices.

The Study Panel wishes to thank the **Study Director, Ms Boitumelo Mabina**, for her unstinting hard work, as well as her substitute during leave from mid-2006, Ms Rudzani Maila, and the ASSAf Projects Director, Dr Xola Mati, for his support.

Dr Agatha Masemola, (who resigned from the Study Panel activities due to an excessive personal work load) is acknowledged for participating as a Study Panel member from 2005 – 2006.

The Study Panel is deeply indebted to the **United States National Academies** for both their financial and their mentoring contributions. In particular, Dr Enriqueta Bond, chairperson of the Board for the African Science Academies Development Initiative (ASADI); Dr Patrick Kelley, director of the ASADI board; Dr Barney Cohen the Programme Officer of the US National Academies who was responsible for the development and the necessary mentoring of the ASSAf staff, and for helpful comments on the pre-final draft of the report; and Jim Banihashemi, also from the US National Academies, for his assistance with financial matters.

The Study Panel, in its unremitting efforts to make this report as innovative, recent and evidence-based as possible, arranged a workshop in November 2006 on "**Diet and Nutrition in relation to the functioning of the gastrointestinal tract in HIV-infected individuals**". The following people (listed in alphabetical order) are acknowledged for their participation in the workshop as speakers: Dr Linda-Gail Bekker, Dr Wendy Burgers, Dr Paul Kelly, Dr Roy Kennedy, Dr Satish Keshav and Dr Ron Veazey. Key elucidations gleaned from the workshop have been built in into the appropriate chapter of the final report.

^{*} Not a Study Panel member of this study.

Executive summary

The availability of highly effective drugs to control HIV/AIDS and cure tuberculosis has tended to downplay the potential benefits that may accompany appropriate supportive measures, designed to complement or precede pharmacotherapy, to arrest progression from infection to disease (TB), or to delay the rate of progression of the earlier phases of the illness, before specific medicinal interventions are indicated (HIV). Nutritional support is one such potentially valuable measure. Clearly the clinical efficacy of nutritional intervention is likely to be dependent on the extent to which individual infected subjects suffer from functionally significant nutritional deficiencies prior to nutritional intervention. The same argument is generally pertinent to interventions at population level – populations of infected subjects with a high prevalence of nutritional deficiency, such as those in developing countries, are more likely to benefit from health policies aimed at eradicating or diminishing nutritional deficiencies than are populations in developed countries, from where much of the reported research has emanated.

It is important to bear in mind that the pre-antibiotic phase of dealing with TB was characterized by intense concentration on strengthening the immune defenses of infected subjects with diets, improved and altered environmental conditions and every other conceivably helpful measure. After the discovery of effective drugs, this aspect of TB therapy quickly became secondary and largely uncontroversial. Because HIV infection cannot be cured but only controlled, with drugs being applied at particular, serious stages of progressive disease (according to current guidelines, at least) the emphasis in the management of infected people during the phases prior to drug administration is still on general, non-pharmacological support, especially as for many reasons it is highly desirable to postpone the introduction of specific antiretroviral therapy for as long as possible.

This background has motivated the current study, which has analyzed the relevant scientific literature, concentrating on regionally relevant studies, with a view to providing the best possible, evidence-based advice for South African policymakers. The over-arching conclusion from this analysis is that there is a lamentable paucity of relevant, solid data on which to base sound policies for this country. Recognizing the dire need to deal optimally, right now, with an existing health crisis, this study has evaluated the current nutritional guidelines from the World Health Organization, the national Department of Health, and the Southern African HIV/AIDS Clinicians Society, in the light of what scientific evidence is available. Broadly, these guidelines are endorsed in the current analysis as being generally close to the best possible in the prevailing circumstances. The study, having identified serious gaps in our knowledge, has compiled a set of critical research questions, guided by evolving understanding of the relevant basic science. The panel urges that the answering of these questions should be given high priority by research policy makers in the hope that the insights thereby gained will provide the kind of solid evidence on which refined policies for the practice of health care can safely and effectively be based in future.

The Study Panel concludes from its studies that:

- 1. South Africa is in the grip of **three concurrent epidemics**: malnutrition, brought about by a conglomeration of socio-economic factors; HIV/AIDS, caused by the human immunodeficiency virus; and active TB, caused by progressive infection with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Although caused by separate factors, there is evidence that each epidemic acts synergistically to aggravate the other two.
- 2. An understanding of the **basic science of nutrition**, **immunity** and **infectious disease pathogenesis** is necessary for the rational identification of appropriate therapeutic interventions. Recent studies investigating the pathogenesis of **HIV infection** have provided the exciting novel conceptual understanding that the **gastrointestinal tract is a major anatomical front line of the disease**, and that lymphocyte activation is a key step in the CD4⁺ T cell depletion that defines AIDS. Together, these insights have major implications for our dawning understanding of the intersection between nutrition and HIV/AIDS, both in terms of the potential impact of HIV infection on nutritional status, and in redefining our conceptions of how nutritional intervention might impact on HIV/AIDS pathogenesis.
- 3. While **observational clinical studies** may provide further, often empirical clues concerning possibly effective interventions, direct proofs usually necessitate suitably rigorous **prospective**, **randomized**, **controlled trials**.
- 4. Systematic review of the clinical literature has identified the following macronutrientrelated issues of importance in relation to HIV infection:

- In people infected with HIV, weight loss and loss of body cell mass are strong predictors of poor prognosis. These features are associated with increased resting energy expenditure, accelerated protein turnover, decreased energy intake, diarrhoea and malabsorption.
- Macronutrient supplementation may be of benefit in HIV-infected individuals. Targeted interventions with balanced nutritional supplements seem to increase energy and protein intake. There is also preliminary evidence that specific dietary supplements, such as amino acid mixtures, increase body weight and reduce HIV viral load.
- Balanced supplementation increases body weight, and supplementation with medium-chain triglycerides is more effective than long-chain triglycerides in reducing HIV-associated intestinal dysfunction and fat malabsorption. Supplementation with a whole-protein diet has been found to increase body weight and fat-free mass in HIV-infected adults. Specific amino acids and polyunsaturated fatty acids may increase energy intake, body weight and fat-free mass. Finally, ready-to-use-therapeutic food is effective in reversing the poor nutritional status found in severely malnourished HIV-infected and non-infected African children.
- Evidence-based advice on the use of macronutrient supplementation in HIVinfected individuals in developing countries is constrained by the fact that the few randomised trials that exist have mainly been conducted in high-income countries where most patients are well nourished and have access to lifeprolonging antiretroviral therapy.
- Existing trials have focused on intermediate endpoints (such as actual energy and or protein intake) and most have been too small to assess important clinical outcomes (such as death and morbidity). There are also substantial variations in the nutritional composition of the experimental and control interventions, the use of dietary counseling, disease stage and treatment status of the participants across studies.
- 5. Systematic review of the clinical literature has identified the following **micronutrient**related issues of importance in relation to HIV infection:
 - Dietary intakes studies show that micronutrient intakes are sub-optimal in many South Africans. Although the existing evidence is not conclusive, such deficient intakes if they lead to functional impairment may hasten disease progression, increase mortality, and facilitate mother-to-child transmission (MTCT) of HIV.
 - Observational studies have shown a direct correlation between micronutrient intake (especially vitamins A and B, multivitamins, zinc and selenium) and

favourable clinical outcomes in patients with HIV infection. Observational studies however, mostly lack valid markers of micronutrient status, and the effects of micronutrient deficiencies are prone to confounding by other factors, including micronutrient interaction.

- Supplementation with vitamin A/beta-carotene does not seem to have any significant beneficial or adverse clinical effects in HIV-infected non-pregnant adults. In HIV-infected children receiving vitamin supplements, reductions in morbidity and mortality have been reported, but these conclusions are based either on small trials or subgroup analyses. Vitamin A supplementation possibly increases the risk of vertical transmission in HIV-infected pregnant and lactating women, and the risk of mortality in infants of supplemented mother-infant pairs.
- There is sound evidence that multivitamin supplementation (excluding vitamin A) in HIV-infected pregnant women reduces the risk of disease progression, AIDS-related mortality and adverse pregnancy outcomes.
- Results derived from a few small trials indicate that zinc supplements given to HIV-infected children are safe and effective in reducing morbidity, but zinc supplementation in HIV-infected pregnant women seems to have no benefit and may be harmful to the women.
- 6. Systematic review of the clinical literature has identified the following nutritional issues of importance in relation to **active** *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* **infection**:
 - Nutritional support of undernourished populations at high risk of TB (e.g. young children, household contacts of TB patients, health care workers, institutionalised populations, the elderly) may reduce the incidence of TB.
 - Although the risk of TB in severe malnutrition may be higher than in mild or moderate malnutrition, severe malnutrition occurs in a very small fraction of the population, except in famine, war, or natural disaster-type situations. Mild to moderate protein energy malnutrition or micronutrient deficiencies may affect large fractions of the population at risk for TB so that prevention efforts will not be highly successful if they target only severely undernourished groups.
 - Supplementation with particular macronutrients (to meet energy and protein needs) and specific micronutrients (such as vitamin D, arginine and protein) during conventional anti-TB therapy may be of value, especially in patients who are demonstrably deficient in those nutrients. Some Randomised Clinical Trials (RCTs) have shown clear improvements in nutritional and general health status in nutrient-supplemented patients receiving appropriate TB chemotherapy; Studies are also urgently needed to test a biologically plausible role of vitamin

D supplementation in certain susceptible populations in preventing progressive infection by M.tb.

- Scarce resources in TB-endemic countries must be focused where they are needed most, or under circumstances where they will have the greatest impact. Nutritional support to undernourished contacts of TB patients and for patients with multi-drug resistant (MDR)-TB and extensively drug-resistant (XDR)-TB seems warranted.
- 7. Scrutiny and collation of the recent **guidelines from three external bodies**, the World Health Organization, the Southern African HIV Clinicians Society and the South African National Department of Health, revealed a number of principles to be considered in formulating recommendations for nutrition policy in relation to HIV/ AIDS and tuberculosis.
 - Optimum nutrition at the population (public health) level is necessary as part of a set of a general measures for reducing the spread of HIV/AIDS and TB, and at the level of individuals to improve health, quality of life and response to drug treatment, but it cannot directly prevent transmission of these infections or cure them or supervening infections.
 - Nutrition recommendations should do no harm.
 - Nutritional interventions to address the HIV/AIDS and TB pandemics should be part of a holistic, comprehensive, integrated approach, including both public health and therapeutic nutrition strategies and actions.
 - Nutritional care of people infected with HIV and/or with active TB should focus on diversified diets including available, affordable and traditional foods. On the other, the fact sub-optimal intakes are endemic to South Africa, the characteristic wasting of infected persons, and the known effects of the infections on food intake and nutrient turnover (absorption, metabolism and losses), however, dictate the use of fortified foods, as well as macro- and micronutrient supplements at safe levels.
 - Established, well-described steps and protocols should be followed in public health nutrition interventions and in the therapeutic nutritional care of patients
 - HIV-infected pregnant women, lactating mothers and their babies need special advice and nutritional care to ensure best possible outcomes.
- 8. In light of the findings in the present study, and in accordance with the principles established from scrutiny of outside bodies, the following **recommendations for practice** are proposed for South Africa:
 - The implementation of the existing integrated nutrition programme of the Department of Health should be evaluated and adequately resourced for

implementation to address undernutrition in all vulnerable groups, but especially in women and very young children.

- Resources should be directed to ensure food security based on locally available, affordable and traditional foods to vulnerable populations.
- The nutritional care of people infected with HIV should focus on diversified diets including locally available, affordable and traditional foods, and should be complemented by appropriate, locally acceptable macronutrient supplements.
- Everything possible should be done to promote and support adequate dietary intake of micronutrients at recommended (that is, INL98) levels, while recognising that this may not be sufficient to correct nutritional deficiencies in all HIV-infected individuals. In situations where micronutrient deficiencies are endemic, these nutrients should be provided through food fortification or micronutrient supplements where available that contain at least 1-2 INL98s.
- HIV-infected women should be offered multivitamin supplementation at INL98 levels.
- The nutritional care of individuals infected with TB should focus on adequate diversified diets including locally available, affordable and traditional foods. In addition, the use of appropriate, locally acceptable macronutrient supplements is recommended, especially for those patients who are demonstrably deficient in these nutrients. Nutritional interventions for patients with TB should extend to their close contacts and families.
- The existing legislation and regulations should be enforced for all products claiming medicinal benefits with respect to HIV infection or active TB.
- Government should identify accessible, scientifically valid ways to accelerate the investigation of promising traditional or herbal products.
- An urgent national expert consultation should be convened to develop national guidelines for HIV-infected infant feeding. This should be aligned with the Paediatric Food-Based Dietary Guidelines for South Africa by the SA Nutrition Society.
- More nutritionists and dietitians should be trained, employed and utilised in all programmes addressing HIV/AIDS and tuberculosis, and the nutritional knowledge of all health care workers in community, clinic and hospital settings should be improved and extended.
- 9. The existing literature is woefully inadequate to answer many of the pressing questions facing policymakers in South Africa. Accordingly, the following **research priorities** have been identified for those tasked with promoting and funding research activities:

- Well-designed and informative clinical and epidemiological studies are urgently needed to generate and test hypotheses in relation to nutritional support for HIVinfected subjects (both those who are not being treated with antiretrovirals, and those who are), and patients exposed to, or suffering from, active tuberculosis. Pragmatic, high-powered approaches should be developed in which explanatory designs are embedded as far as is possible. The studies should include adults and children, pregnant women, infants and children.
- The indicators of both vitamin and inorganic micronutrient depletion and repletion in individuals and populations need to be much better defined; in particular, the dynamic impact of the widespread HIV and TB epidemics on the overall nutritional status of the population must be assessed with finer-grain tools than were applied before.
- Reliable and accessible biomarkers are urgently needed to assess immune function in nutritional studies and in interventions in human subjects.
- A major effort must be made to integrate and deepen our understanding of the functional interactions between HIV infection, gut immune mechanisms and the intestinal microbiota.
- There is a need to determine the precise physiology and (possibly competitive) pharmacokinetics of food-derived versus synthetic vitamin and/or mineral intakes/supplements, the latter singly or as multi-component preparations.
- A better understanding is needed of the significance of lifelong programming of the human immune system arising from fetal "insults".
- Recent developments in the understanding of some micronutrients are so important that they merit thorough study and new kinds of interventional trials.
- There is a need to factor into population-directed studies the genetically determined differential susceptibility of different members of the population to HIV and TB infection.
- 10. The implementation of the above recommendations will require a concerted and well-coordinated series of actions by different role-players in the system. We believe that making this happen should be regarded as a national priority, and that focusing resources in this direction will contribute greatly to addressing effectively three concurrent epidemics that threaten the future viability, let alone prosperity, of our country.

The brief from the ASSAf Council

Concise description of the Brief

The brief of the Study Panel appointed by ASSAf was to examine the most relevant and reliable evidence that has a bearing on the following issues, and to make recommendations based on that evidence that are the most appropriate and feasible :

- i. Nutritional modulation of the normal human immune system (innate and adaptive, at different ages, in both sexes, over short or long periods) with respect both to general undernutrition (macronutrients) and to specific deficiencies of micronutrients;
- ii. Modulation of human nutritional status in states of infection, both acute and chronic, with special emphasis on active infection with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis (M.tb.)* and the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV);
- Effects of nutritional interventions on morbidity and mortality in adults and children infected with HIV or suffering from clinical tuberculosis, or both.

Why should this topic be addressed?

The issues concerning nutritional influences on human immunity and response to major pandemic infections, such as *M.tb.* and HIV infections, have been among the most controversial in South Africa in the last half-decade. These issues have given rise to serious differences in the approach to public policy in addressing the ravages of these diseases. There has been a belief in some quarters that poverty and under/malnutrition may themselves be the main aetiologic agents of acquired human immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS), with the HIV infection being a non-contributory or trivial supervening circumstance. Others consider nutritional deficiencies to be an, or even the, appropriate target of primary therapy of "HIV infection and AIDS". The majority view, however, is that nutritional support of persons infected with either *M.tb.* or HIV, or both, is a necessary and helpful part of a therapeutic approach that primarily concentrates on the eradication or, at least, control of the infected state in each affected person. In addition,

there is a plethora of products available over the counter in the country that purportedly favourably "modulate" the immune system to prevent or ameliorate HIV and/or active *M.tb.* infections ; these products range from "nutritional factors" present in certain foods to processed "drugs" that are probably outside the realm of nutrition.

These controversial opinions and products threaten to dissipate the national will to address the serious problem presented by these out-of-control pandemics. It is therefore essential that a thorough review of all the evidence bearing on the issues listed above be conducted by an independent, impartial, multi-disciplinary and authoritative body such as the Academy, to move the relevant national policy framework and public understanding in a productive, effective and efficacious direction. The outcome of the Study should provide clear guidance on the key issues, and a set of recommendations that are based on the best evidence and the most integrated understanding of the ways in which nutrition affects people suffering from infections such as tuberculosis and HIVcaused immunodeficiency states.

Why should the topic be addressed by the Academy and not by another body?

The Academy is committed to providing advice to the government and the nation on key issues requiring scientific enquiry and analysis. Other government or state-appointed bodies also have well-defined roles in this domain, such as the Medical Research Council (MRC), the National Health Research Committee, and the Cabinet-appointed Group that made recommendations on the National Antiretroviral Programme now being implemented across the country. Internationally, the World Health Organisation (WHO) is committed to providing developing countries with information and support through a variety of channels (see below). The date the efforts of these bodies have failed to date to resolve the present controversial and publicly confusing situation in respect of the role of nutritional factors in enhancing or impairing immunity and thereby affecting morbidity and mortality from pandemic diseases such as tuberculosis and HIV infection leading to AIDS. It is accordingly considered that South Africa's independent national science academy, ASSAf, has a responsibility to provide much-needed, authoritative advice in respect of the proposed topic, in the national interest.

Particularly significant background factors

South Africa has recently seen remarkable growth in the capacity to perform "metaanalysis" of large tracts of available data in public health fields where statistical analyses in many varying kinds of studies yield conflicting conclusions; the Cochrane Centre located in the MRC has been instrumental in much of this growth. ASSAf will have access to this capacity in setting up and supporting the Study Panel to review the full range of evidence in the field concerned.

A preliminary survey of the review literature related to the topic has revealed a paucity of comprehensive, relevant and recent reviews of the topic in the mainstream literature of the relevant disciplines, and a relative absence of focus in the field. For example, amongst approximately 500 review articles in the last 10 years published in the authoritative Annual Reviews of Nutrition, Immunology, Microbiology, Medicine and Physiology respectively, not a single article was devoted even indirectly to the topic in question. There are a small number of monographs that cover nutritional aspects of human immunity in a systematic way but any search of the literature using appropriate key-words generates large numbers of papers that do not provide a compelling, conceptually integrated picture in relation to the above-listed brief.

Previous efforts and their outcomes

As mentioned above, despite conferences being held on related aspects of the topic, such as the International Conference on HIV/AIDS and Food and Nutrition Security held in Durban, South Africa in April 2005 (see the full web record at www.ifpri.org/events/c onferences/2005/20050414HIVAIDS.htm), and despite the publication of the dedicated monographs mentioned in the previous chapter, the published, peer-reviewed literature relating to nutrition and human immunity has not been systematically reviewed in a nationally contextualised and integrated way, with a specific (but not exclusive) focus on the linked pandemics of HIV infection and tuberculosis (but see WHO activities mentioned in the next paragraph). In contrast, reams of newsprint and large numbers of isolated papers have been devoted to the topic without resolving the main issues to any useful extent.

International comparisons and similar studies done outside South Africa

The WHO constituted a Technical Advisory Group on Nutrition and HIV/AIDS in 2003 to draw up several technical reports on different aspects of nutrition and HIV infection, involving a number of South African participants and contributors; the report of a "Technical Consultation" conducted in 2003 is at www.who.int/nut/documents/hivaids_ nut_require.pdf, a more recent fact sheet is at www.who.int/3by5/mediacentre/fsFood/ en, and the final reports on six sub-topics were posted on the WHO website at the end of October, 2005. A variety of presentations made by delegates from many countries at

the 18^{th} Congress of the International Union of Nutritional Sciences (IUNS) also usefully dealt with aspects of the topic of the study.

The ASSAf Consensus Study must obviously not duplicate the above work or add to community confusion in the area. The following are distinctive features of the kind of report the Academy seeks to produce, and the unique benefits it should provide:

- i. The study is being carried out independently by a selected group of eminent scholars who will bring a variety of disciplinary insights and conceptual strengths to the topics to be examined;
- ii. Both tuberculosis and HIV infections are being studied, separately and as conditions that frequently coexist, against a background of a general, evidence-based understanding of the functional inter-relationships between infection and nutrition;
- iii. More attention is given to the functioning of the immune system in relation to nutritional factors than has been the case in other reviews and reports mentioned above;
- iv. Specificity related to genetic and individually applicable developmental factors is being thoroughly explored and interpreted in relation to generally applicable human responses;
- v. The study is rooted in the national context; and
- vi. The report on the study, while strong in reviewing and evaluating all the available, reliable scientific evidence, is written in very clear, non-technical language so that it will be useful to a broad range of users (the reporting model established by the U S National Academies for its extensive set of consensus studies is prototypical, based as it is on a very impressive track record of effective intervention on topics of national importance in that country and beyond.)

How is the study to be approached?

Methodology

The Study Panel guided by its Chairperson selects from a range of methodologies in order to meet the brief provided by the ASSAf Council, as described in the relevant "Guidelines" mentioned above. These include:

- i. hiring researchers to address sub-topics and help provide draft chapter of the report;
- ii. holding public workshops with invited speakers and/or panel discussions;
- iii. holding Study Panel workshops to debate and resolve particular questions and issues;
- iv. delegating initial analysis of topics of the study to individual members or sub-groups of the Study Panel; and

xxvi

v. any other ways of working towards a proper understanding of the evidence and information that can help to complete the study.

Design and lay-out

Introductory aspects

Nutrition and malnutrition are operationally defined in the context of the abovedescribed brief of the study, as are the macro- and micronutrients in human diets, in an integrated and modern conceptual framework of whole-body functioning in respect of individuals and populations.

Malnutrition in the world, sub-Saharan Africa and South Africa is reviewed, and the focus of the Study defined as reflecting primarily malnutrition as a result of poverty/ socioeconomic background/circumstances, including the supervention of nutritionally altered states such as those caused by HIV and active or clinical *M.tb.* infection.

A brief systematic summary of the literature relating nutrition and human immunity is presented, and the primary objectives and the expected outcomes of the review described.

- First topic: Nutritional modulation of the normal human immune system, innate and adaptive, at different ages, in both sexes, over short or long periods, with respect both to general undernutrition (macronutrients), and to specific deficiencies of micronutrients.
- Second topic: Broad overview of immunity and its components, and of how the human immune system responds differently to different pathogens

Current understandings of the cellular and humoral components of the innate and adaptive arms of the immune system of humans are contextually reviewed, including the checks and balances within the immune system, and recent insights into genetic differences between individuals and populations that affect immune responses.

The measurable components of immune function and their proxies are systematically evaluated: detectable antibodies and their properties; cytokine assays in body fluids; in vitro immune cell marker analysis, reactivity to antigen and other challenges, and other functional assays; skin tests; histological and histochemical tissue analysis; genomic analyses; etc.

Third topic: "Immunonutrition"

The apparent nutritional requirements of humans of different ages are assessed in the light of the need to ensure the maintenance of a healthy immune system ("immunonutrition"); this includes prenatal stages and the "physiological" supervening state of pregnancy. The analysis takes into account differences between individuals and groups associated with specific genotypes interacting with environmental circumstances at different stages of the life-cycle, with transient and sometimes long-lasting residual effects ("nutrigenomics" and "programming").

The involvement of specific nutrients in different components of immune function is reviewed, and reliable evidence of the effects of specific and mixed nutritional deficiencies as well as general malnutrition on the functioning of the human immune system described (animal studies are only included when these have a clear bearing on human functioning). Particular attention is given to micro-and macronutrients believed to affect immune system function, such as vitamin A and the pro-vitamin, beta carotene; vitamin B group (especially niacin, pyridoxal and riboflavin), vitamins C and E; vitamin D; folic acid; iron, copper, zinc and selenium; amino acids such as L-arginine, L-glutamine and sulphur-containing amino acids; and polyunsaturated fatty acids.

Fourth topic: Modulation of human nutritional status in states of chronic infection, with special emphasis on infection with the human immunodeficiency virus and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*.

Essentially this topic includes the examination of the evidence for systematically altered nutritional status and dietary requirements of individuals in infected states, especially those caused by infection with HIV and *M.tb.*, including the effects of preexisting malnutrition of various kinds, as well as the occurrence of other preceding or supervening infections and/or infestations. The objective is to define the general and specific minimum and optimum nutritional requirements of HIV-infected individuals suffering from clinical tuberculosis, both males and females and at all ages, in terms of assisting the immune system to deal with the underlying infection.

Heterogeneity of immunomodulation is explored by conducting the following subgroup analyses on published studies:

- □ the degree of immuno-activation and -suppression in the infected participants;
- □ the severity of the main illness; and
- □ the presence and degree of other (opportunistic) infections.

The rationale for reliably assessing nutritional status in different ways and by different proxies is assessed, for example, body mass changes; loss of muscle and fat mass; nitrogen and sulphur balance, micro-and macronutrient levels in different body compartments or excretae; etc.

- **Fifth topic:** Effects of nutritional interventions on morbidity and mortality in adults and children infected with HIV or suffering from clinical tuberculosis, or both
 - □ **Randomised controlled trials** that have evaluated the effects of various nutritional interventions on at least one of the primary outcomes listed below

xxviii

are included in the review; the participants are males or females of all ages with confirmed HIV infection, clinical tuberculosis, or both conditions.

- □ **Interventions** that are assessed (taking into account whether nutrients are provided as supplements or as actual food) include:
 - provision of additional micronutrients, such as vitamins and pro-vitamins and trace elements;
 - provision of additional macronutrients, such as proteins, carbohydrates, lipids/fats;
 - (if possible) combinations of nutritional intervention with or without drugs, primarily antiretroviral (ARV) and/or anti-TB treatment.
- □ The **systematic reviews** (and, where possible) **meta-analysis**, aim to compare single or multiple nutritional interventions versus no nutritional intervention, with or without ARV and/or anti-tuberculosis treatment, as well as alternative nutritional regimens with or without ARV and/or TB treatment
- Outcomes of interest in the primary category include morbidity (e.g. frequency of hospitalisation, days spent in hospital, type, frequency and duration of opportunistic infections, degree of weight loss, and progression to AIDS); and mortality (all-cause and specific).
- Outcomes in the secondary category include correlates of morbidity, nutrition or immune function (including nutritional status/markers, markers of changed immune function, effectiveness of nutrient absorption, viral load, CD4 count, etc), recorded and contextually used in the analysis of the primary outcomes.
- □ **Heterogeneity of effects** are evaluated by conducting the following subgroup analyses:
 - Underlying or prior nutritional status
 - Severity of illness at time of inclusion into study (CD4 count, clinical stage of infection).

Likely outputs, outcomes and impacts of the proposed study

The main tangible output of the proposed study is an authoritative ASSAf Report published in the public domain but presented in an appropriate way (with contacts and briefing sessions prior to the public release of the report), to the Ministries/Departments of Science and Technology and of Health, the National Health Research Committee, the Medical Research Council and the various Provincial health departments; the main conclusions and recommendations are summarised in a readable and useful form. The document is one that can also be made available to teaching and training institutions to influence the content and approach of their programmes and to the media in order to reach the broad mass of the public to help in preventive and promotive health.

The ASSAf report should influence public policy in the area of prevention, support and therapy of the pandemic infections now current, such as those with *M.tb.* and HIV, to achieve the anticipated benefits through provision of clear guidelines inter alia for:

- i. the conduct of trials to assess the efficacy of nutritional interventions in HIV- and/or *M.tb.*-infected individuals;
- the use of general and specific nutritional interventions in preventing, controlling and ameliorating the effects of infections on their hosts;
- iii. cost-effective planning and resourcing of appropriate support measures for infected individuals and communities in meeting their nutritional requirements;
- iv. programmes of public health education, and partnerships with industry in employee support; and
- v. the production/processing of foods and nutritional supplements.

The report is written to maximise its impact of the resolution of controversy in this area, of improved health service planning and purposeful resourcing, and the general promotion of national cohesion in addressing the concurrent pandemic infections. It aims to be decisive in achieving a much-needed turnaround of a critical national success factor, the health of our youth and of our economically active people, and the preservation of families as the social core of the nation.

Introduction and Background
CHAPTER 1 Conceptual overview

Animals, plants and micro-organisms have evolved through biological history to create the enormous biodiversity of the planet today. Because they inhabit the available spaces together, much of what has happened along the way has been co-evolution, characterized by beneficial inter-dependence and reciprocal competition.

Few things illustrate this better than the relationship between humans and their by now ancient enemy, the bacterium that causes tuberculosis. Humans, as large, unspecialized and highly adaptable mammals with big brains and intricate social systems, have spread to almost every available niche and habitat on the globe; *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, a tiny, invisible, but very tough enemy, has achieved an almost identical distribution, living in as many as one third of all humans and spreading through frequent flare-ups, highly injurious to their host, constituting the "white death" of our recorded history¹.

HIV, by contrast, jumped within the last century from its long-term host, populations of particular great apes, to vastly numerous human populations, and now lives in some 50 million people in most parts of the globe. It spreads relentlessly during a slowly progressive disease process. Even this short period of interaction between very big humans and very tiny retroviruses is full of co-evolutionary phenomena².

Humans have highly evolved immune systems (many of the most striking differences between the genomes of mammals such as rodents and us involved proliferation of defense mechanisms against microorganisms). We have gone beyond our formidable biological weapons to acquire pharmaceuticals (often, ironically, "borrowed" from harmless micro-organisms) to give us decisively effective additional advantages and back-ups in our ceaseless fight against the harmful microbes. Thus highly effective drugs have been developed specifically to counter *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and HIV, in the first case curatively through the use of multi-drug combinations, and in the second case suppressively, also through multi-drug combinations.

It is important to bear in mind that the pre-antibiotic phase of dealing with TB was characterized by intense concentration on strengthening the immune defenses

of infected subjects with diets, improved and altered environmental conditions and every other conceivably helpful measure. After the discovery of effective drugs, this aspect of TB therapy quickly became secondary and largely uncontroversial. (With the more recent emergence of multi-drug resistant and extensively drug-resistant TB strains especially, these older measures may again have to be looked at as potentially valuable supportive measures in our total arsenal).

Because HIV infection cannot be cured but only controlled, with drugs being applied at particular, serious stages of progressive disease (according to current guidelines, at least) the emphasis in the management of infected people during the phases prior to drug administration is still on general, non-pharmacological support, especially as for many reasons it is highly desirable to postpone the introduction of specific antiretroviral therapy for as long as possible.

This study has examined the role nutritional support can play, in individuals and populations, at this time and in this place, against these two pandemic microbial enemies of *Homo sapiens*, in the light of the above macro-considerations.

Basic science of immunonutrition – basic concepts

Nutrition is conventionally recognised as being essential for two main purposes. These are firstly, the generation of energy to power the needs of the body, and secondly the provision of building blocks for growth, replacement and repair of cells and tissues. The fact that growth is the cardinal characteristic of infancy and childhood as opposed to adulthood is largely why adequate nutrition is particularly critical in early life. Not only is nutrition a critical requirement for the survival of the infant or child until the attainment of adulthood, but it is also emerging that failure to receive adequate nutrition during early life may have lifelong adverse consequence for immune functions in adult life. This ominous concept is briefly explored in a later chapter.

Chief among the energy sources are the carbohydrates and fats, while the amino acids derived from proteins constitute the building blocks needed for growth and cell or tissue maintenance. Carbohydrates, fats and proteins are traditionally characterised as the macronutrients, because they are required in large quantities relative to the micronutrients – vitamins and trace elements. Broadly, the function of the micronutrients is to facilitate or enable the safe and effective utilisation of the macronutrients. A developing, perhaps more realistic trend, as the specificity of nutritional chemistry and molecular biology unfolds, is to regard each of the 21 individual amino acids more as micronutrients rather than as constituents of a single macronutrient, but for the purposes of this report the traditional classification of macronutrients and micronutrients is retained.

The complexity of the immune system has been notoriously difficult to convey to students of human physiology and pathophysiology, and teachers have made frequent use of military analogies to help to explain some of the basic principles. Thus, pathogenic organisms are depicted as foreign invaders, with the cells and molecules of the immune cells cast in the role of "home-army soldiers" and their "weapons", respectively. In terms of these analogies, and with special relevance to the intersection of the science of immunology with the science of nutrition, the destruction of foreign invaders, such as the M. tuberculosis organism, is critically dependent on effective deployment of one of the most effective weapons in the immunological arsenal – the "flamethrower". This analogy is representative of the respiratory burst, whose central role in the intracellular killing of pathogenic organisms is well established. Moreover, it has emerged that strains of *M. tuberculosis* that have effectively evolved strategies to evade oxidant damage (effectively dousing the "fire") are associated with particular virulence in causing severe disease in the human host³. The "flamethrower" is thus the weapon that burns (oxidises) foreign organisms to death. It is self-evident that such a weapon is rendered ineffective if not kept supplied with adequate energy, explaining the nutritional need for energy fuels such as carbohydrates and fats. The complete burning, or oxidation within cells of these fuels to generate the energy needed to power "flamethrowers" is accomplished as they are metabolised through the Krebs cycle. Vitamins B, (thiamine), B, (riboflavin) and B, (niacin), are essential precursors of components of the electron transport chain, and are critical requirements for this process.

Not surprisingly, such dangerous weapons as "flamethrowers", when deployed to fight foreign microorganisms, are prone to cause significant collateral damage to friendly forces and structures. Accordingly, a critical nutritional component in the functioning of the immune system concerns the generation of chemical energy in a form that can be safely directed at foreign organisms. The risk of damage to host structures, cells and tissues is minimised by antioxidants, whose functions are thus analogous to "fire extinguishers". Many of the micronutrients function in this antioxidant capacity. While B-group vitamins have a number of critical roles in cellular metabolism, including ratelimiting functions in cell growth and regeneration (a vital process in the production of sufficient white cells to combat infectious microorganisms), indirectly contributing towards intracellular antioxidant activity is one such role. Similarly, many of the trace elements are metals, each of whose available electron orbitals is precisely tailored to absorbing or releasing a specific energy quantum; the full complement of trace metals such as iron, zinc, magnesium and copper thus provides a range of quanta to cover the equivalent range of biological energy transfer oxidation-reduction reactions. Sulphur and selenium are, like oxygen, chalcogens (Group VIa elements). They are thus similar chemically to each other and to oxygen, but with subtly different electron affinities and

electronegativities. Sulphur is a component of the amino acids methionine and cysteine, the latter being the central active component of the archetypal intracellular antioxidant "fire extinguisher", the tripeptide, glutathione. Its other constituents are the amino acids glycine and glutamic acid, the latter derived from dietary glutamine, another amino acid. Selenium is a component of the 21st amino acid, selenocysteine. The role of selenocysteine containing proteins, such as glutathione peroxidase, is to regulate a number of critical oxidation-reduction reactions.

Cell membranes are composed largely of fats, and in the metaphoric sense being used here, highly "inflammable". Vitamin E (tocopherol) is one of the fat-soluble vitamins whose prime function is to act as a fire extinguisher for deployment in cell membranes. Collateral oxidation damage resulting from the deployment of intracellular "flamethrowers" is not necessarily contained within cells, because cells may die and release oxidising chemicals. The role of vitamin C (ascorbic acid) is to mop up potentially dangerous extracellular oxidants, and its prime function is therefore also largely that of a "fire extinguisher".

To summarise the role of nutrition in immune function, a key strategy is the use of chemical energy to "burn" or oxidise foreign microorganisms. Much of the nutritional demand of the immune system concerns the safe provision of chemical energy for this purpose. The macronutrients, carbohydrates and fats, are the raw fuels for this energy, and the prime function of many of the micronutrients, including most of the B-group vitamins, vitamin C, vitamin E, many of the trace elements and some of the amino acids, is to provide the machinery for this energy to be extracted and deployed safely, minimising the risk of collateral damage to host cells and tissues. The dietary vitamin A precursors, the carotenoids are also antioxidants, while vitamin A itself has other immunologically relevant functions, including gene regulation and the preservation of mucous membrane integrity. With regard to the second generic need for nutrition, the growth, replacement and repair of cells and tissues, virtually all the other nutrients not covered above in this brief conceptual overview of immunonutrition, are largely devoted to this purpose in immune cells. The B-group vitamins, folic acid and vitamin B₁₂ are primarily concerned with the process of DNA synthesis, which is needed especially for the replacement of immune cells undergoing rapid turnover during infectious episodes. (Soldiers have a high attrition rate in wartime). Vitamins A and D are critical requirements in the process of regulating the production of many of the immunologically important proteins such as antibodies, cytokines, etc (more weapons in the military arsenal, other than the "flamethrowers"). The amino acids needed to construct these weapons are derived from the macronutrient, dietary protein.

The assessment of **subclinical nutritional deficiency** is notoriously difficult. This factor confounds the identification of early phases of nutrient depletion, which may well impact on immune function. Simple measurements of blood or tissue fluid levels of

specific nutrients frequently fail to reveal even quite advanced depletion states. Nutritional depletion states, leading in time to overt deficiencies, represent a spectrum of accumulated negative balance between whole-body intake and loss. With the typical elegance that is characteristic of biological systems, there are mechanisms to protect vital functions, and decreasing urinary excretion, or curtailing it completely, is one of the first of the strategies the body deploys to preserve its vital nutritional resources. This is accompanied by the scaling up of intestinal absorption efficiency, but eventually these devices may fail and only in very advanced deficiency states do blood concentrations of many micronutrients begin to fall. Functional impairment to cell or tissue systems follows, with the inevitable development of the clinical symptoms and signs of a deficiency state.

Different cells and tissues vary in their position within the hierarchy of claimants to available resources, reflecting variations in the affinities and turnover rates of tissue specific vitamin-derived coenzymes. Where the immune system lies within this hierarchy is currently poorly understood, partly because the correlates of immune deficiency and its restitution are generally ill defined, and in any event these correlates are probably themselves highly variable between immune responses to differing microbial pathogenic organisms. Nevertheless, certain markers to measure putative dietary immunomodulation are recommended in a general immunological setting⁴. These include vaccine-specific serum antibody synthesis, total and vaccine antigenspecific salivary IgA, delayed hypersensitivity reactions, responses to attenuated pathogens, natural killer cell cytoxicity, lymphocyte transformation assays, cytokine production by activated immune cells, and phagocyte respiratory burst activity. Which of these assays are of value in the setting of widespread HIV and TB prevalence is not yet clear, and few reported studies have applied these markers. Despite this, the word "immunomodulation" is widely used to describe activities of foods, often in the complete absence of evidence to support such claims.

Immunopathogenesis of HIV/AIDS and TB – essential concepts

Humans, like all biological organisms, exist in either a state of harmony, neutrality or conflict with the other organisms occupying the biosphere. Epithelial tissues, comprising the skin on the outside, or the mucous membranes (mucosae) internally, constitute the major contact zone between us and our environment. For this reason, skin and even more so, the mucosae, are particularly richly endowed with cells and molecules of the immune system. Although these cells comprise a variety of types, most are lymphocytes, and therefore these tissues are generically designated the Mucosa Associated Lymphoid Tissue (MALT). Of these tissues, those of the gastrointestinal tract are designated Gut

Associated Lymphoid Tissue (GALT). In efforts to reconcile the primary absorptive functions of the respiratory and gastrointestinal tracts with the need to exclude harmful microorganisms, these mucosae rely additionally on symbiotic flora, which protect their host partly by competing for nutrients and space with potentially harmful organisms, just as grasses compete with weeds for nutrients and space on the lawn. These flora are initially ingested in the diet as natural probiotics, which then colonise the mucosae and depend subsequently on ingested but undigested oligosaccharides (prebiotics) for their subsequent stable symbiosis with their human host.

It is against this background that the recent demonstrations that the GALT constitutes a major primary battleground between HIV and its human host are of particular interest. To what extent this battleground activity affects the absorption of nutrients, and the prospect of gastrointestinal opportunistic infections arising and their nutritional consequences are just two of the new questions arising from these insights. Another concerns the possibility that constituents of foods may influence HIV/AIDS pathogenesis by food allergy-type immune activation. Moreover, the extent to which the related flora of the gastrointestinal and reproductive tracts participate in defence against HIV, TB and opportunistic infections due to other organisms, and the effect of microbicides on such flora, may prove to affect the efficacy or otherwise of microbicides as HIV-preventive strategies.

The main cellular sentries protecting mucosal surfaces from invasion are the macrophages (big eaters) and the CD4⁺ T lymphocytes, both of which are targets for the human immunodeficiency virus. These cells collaborate in the destruction of potentially pathogenic microorganisms such as Mycobacterium tuberculosis, whose survival strategies involve escaping to the relative sanctuary they find inside macrophages, away from the extracellular domain, where an abundance of antibodies, complement, and other immune related molecules represent a major threat to their survival. Generally it is the organisms utilising this survival strategy of living and growing within macrophages, which constitute the major opportunist threats to HIV-compromised patients. In normal individuals, TB organisms and the like can be identified within these intracellular sanctuaries by a group of molecules known as MHC class II proteins. These proteins belong to the same family as antibodies, and function in a not dissimilar fashion by binding to target peptide fragments characteristic of the organism. These peptide-MHC complexes are exported to the surface of the infected macrophage, where they attract the molecular attention of suitably configured CD4⁺ T lymphocytes, initiating a molecular "conversation" which culminates in the deployment of the intracellular "flame thrower" referred to above, and the destruction of the TB organisms within. HIV infection, whether of T cells or macrophages, causes a failure of this process. Undoubtedly the major reason for this failure is the result of the loss of CD4+ T cells as part of the pathogenesis of HIV infection. What is not so clear is the reason for this destruction of CD4⁺ T lymphocytes.

One explanation suggests HIV-infected cells simply die. An alternative explanation posits the indirect destruction of uninfected T cells that are inappropriately activated, possibly during abortive immune activation attempts by HIV-infected or HIV-laden macrophages. Recent insights obtained from knowledge of the structural biology of the CD4-HIVgp120 and CD4-MHC II molecular interactions⁵ reveal a precise molecular mechanism for such abortive immune activation attempts.

Whatever the mechanism of T cell destruction, nutritional impairment could impact adversely on a number of events during this process, leading to a vicious cycle of escalating HIV and TB pathology and aggravated malnutrition. Moreover, the new focus on HIV infection of the GALT affords a scenario for abortive immune activation as at least contributory to the immune deficiency state of HIV-infected individuals. To what extent this scenario is supported by evidence, and the prospect of applying this insight in the development of new therapeutic strategies, nutritional or otherwise, was explored more fully during the ASSAf workshop devoted to this topic.

The main reason for the inclusion of the basic science of immunonutrition, and the pathogenesis of HIV/AIDS and tuberculosis within the scope of the consensus panel's activities, is to provide a rational, as opposed to an empirical, background to some of the observational studies that have been conducted to explore the nature of the relationship between malnutrition and infectious diseases. It also serves the purpose of complementing clinical observational studies in identifying hypothetical nutritional interventions that might be tested formally, before asserting that the benefits ascribable to such interventions are indeed evidence based.

Interpreting Clinical evidence

The major objective of the introductory chapter on **Evidence-Based Practice and Recommendations** is to show how observational and intervention studies that examined the role of nutrition in the prevention and treatment of TB, HIV and AIDS should be evaluated and used to grade the quality of evidence to form a basis for recommendations for nutrition policy and practice to help to prevent and treat these diseases. Evidence-based health policy and practices are defined, the different types of nutritional studies discussed, and guidelines (checklists) to evaluate these given with special reference to the complexities and potential pitfalls of nutrition studies.

The scientific process is characteristically divisible into two distinct cognitive processes. These are induction, during which generalisations are made from observations of particular instances (evidence) of what is being studied, and deduction, which is the process whereby a particular prediction is inferred logically from a general principle, often in the absence of direct evidence. Within the context of clinical science, basic science and clinical observation constitute the general principles, from which deductions of predictable clinical events may sometimes be inferred.

Together with empirical and other observational clinical trials, an understanding of the basic science of nutrition and immunity may thus be useful in formulating hypotheses concerning possible therapeutic nutritional interventions that might be implemented with beneficial effect, but clinical science is increasingly aware of the need for direct evidence to support therapeutic intervention policy. The complexity of the field of nutrition is, however such that direct evidence to support generalisations is often fraught with confounding circumstances. For example, a policy to supplement diet with specific nutrients may have been based on study of a population that happened to be deficient in those nutrients, and may be entirely inappropriate for another population in which the prevalence of deficiency is different from that of the study population. An obvious population variable is life stage - for which reason this report considers adults children separately, but even within matched life stage populations, there are major heterogeneities in different geographical regions. Stemming from this is the difference between relative risk and attributable risk. In an individual with a documented, specific nutritional deficiency, say protein deficiency, the relative risk of an adverse outcome from say, tuberculosis, might be very high. On the other hand, if the prevalence of protein deficiency is low in the local population, then the risk of adverse outcome of tuberculosis attributable to protein deficiency will be proportionately lowered in that population. Clearly these issues are relevant to the development of locally or regionally appropriate policy guidelines based on scientific evidence.

For the purposes of this consensus study, the population is defined as African, and particularly, South African, and it is acknowledged that even within this narrow definition, there may be significant variation. A consequence of too narrow a definition of population is that the evidence base inevitably becomes proportionately restricted, which necessitates application of the deduction process from the basic science-generated hypothesis in many instances.

Another trap for the unwary in this field concerns the difference between evidence of association and evidence of causation. Observational studies frequently reveal associations between identifiable clinical states. These may be causally related, in which case it is not always clear which is cause and which is effect, or both states may have been caused independently by some third, unidentified factor. In resolving the exact nature of cause and effect relationships, and in thereby determining optimal therapy, there is no real substitute for the prospective, randomised controlled intervention trial, and this is particularly relevant to the field of nutrition, and even more so in the context of HIV, because nutritional deficiency and immune deficiency, whether caused by HIV infection or not, constitute a vicious cycle of mutually reinforcing abnormalities (**Figure 1**).







Another important consideration has been the recognition that nutrients, including essential nutrients, may be potentially harmful in excess. Three patterns of health benefit/dose response are recognised (Figure 2).

It appears unlikely that any substance, even water or oxygen, can be beneficial in unending proportionality to the administered dosage, and most essential nutrients would

Figure 2. Theoretical nutrient dose response curves



be expected to exert a saturable response, viz. beneficial up to a certain level in correcting overt or sub clinical deficiency states, with diminishing returns thereafter. Some (such as vitamin A) may even be toxic at high doses. These are important considerations because they expose the flawed reasoning of those advocating unconsidered supplementation (of multi vitamins for example) as necessarily harmless.

Formulating policy for research and practice

It is a prime function of ASSAf to serve as an interface between scientists and policymakers. With regard to the current study, policymakers include those involved in health care delivery, and also those concerned with setting research policy. In other words, it has been the task of this panel not only to identify policy for best practice in relation to nutrition HIV/AIDS and TB, but also to define gaps in the evidence base as priority areas for further research.

One of the criticisms of a radical, purist evidence-based approach to medical decision-making and policy formulation is that professional caregivers and clinicians have expressed reservations that many years of hard-earned practical experience can potentially be discounted and undervalued in the evidence-based medicine (EBM). Similarly, the National Department of Health might argue that they are accountable for the practical, real world (i.e. not the ivory tower) situation, and have special knowledge and skills relating to what can and cannot be done on a national level. The response of the panel to this has been to look at all the opinions, whether based on firm scientific evidence, or on clinical experience, or from the vantage point of a National Department of Health charged with the responsibility of forming and implementing policy on a national scale. The panel has looked at these 3 perspectives to identify commonalities or divergences of opinion, in the light of its own process and policy recommendations. The source material for each perspective is as follows:

- 1. Evidence-based guidelines from the consensus panel's own studies and the 2005 recommendations from the World Health Organization.
- 2. The 2006 guidelines from the Southern African HIV Clinicians Society.
- 3. The 2006 guidelines from the National Department of Health.

Scope of the Consensus Study

Food contains a vast and bewildering array of different substances, both characterised and uncharacterised, and for the purposes of this study, this complexity has necessarily restricted the scope of investigation to include the immunological effects of elements and compounds universally recognised as macronutrients or micronutrients, of which some 40 or so are considered to be essential constituents of a healthy balanced diet (13 vitamins, 17 elements, nine essential amino acids, and essential fatty acids and carbohydrates).

The complex field of phytochemicals and other food constituents, which may well exert profound effects on immune functions, has not been addressed. Both western pharmaceutical agents, (whose parent molecules may have originally been discovered as food or plant constituents), and traditional pharmacologically active compounds have been excluded in their entirety, not because they are considered unimportant or without potential value, but because in the view of the panel they fall outside the scope of nutrition. On the question of the immunologically beneficial effects or otherwise of traditional remedies and their constituents, the ethical societal rules pertaining to any potential or actual pharmaceutical product would appear to apply. Claims made in respect of such remedies should be subject to rigorous review before the scientific community can endorse them, and they must proceed through the same channels of description, characterization and chemical identification, and animal and human safety and efficacy trials as are necessary for any pharmaceutical product. The South African Medical Research Council has a policy and a dedicated research unit devoted to the study of Indigenous Knowledge Systems (IKS). A significant segment of the work of the South African MRC IKS Research Unit is focused on the process to be followed in respect of HIV interventions claiming benefits of one form or another.

The Study Panel unanimously endorses the view that specific antiretroviral agents are the only established direct weapon in the treatment of HIV infection itself; unfortunately, unlike the drugs used to treat active tuberculosis, and for a variety of complex reasons, they cannot (yet) be used immediately after diagnosis, creating the situation where indirect support and care must sustain infected subjects until (as well as after) antiretroviral drugs are applied.

The important intersection between **nutrition and antiretroviral therapy (ART)** has not been addressed in the current Academy of Science of South African consensus study because it has been reviewed comprehensively recently and was included in the recent World Health Organization Reports on Nutrition and HIV infection.

Microbial safety of foods, food preservation and/or preparation has not been addressed in this report, but much attention has been paid to food safety in the revised National Guidelines referred to in the chapter on policy guidelines. Similarly, examination of the social science evidence underpinning recommendations concerning food security have not been addressed in this study.

CHAPTER 2 Three South African epidemics

This chapter reviews the South African epidemics of malnutrition, HIV infection and tuberculosis as separate entities. The prevalence of each epidemic is sufficiently high in South Africa to ensure significant overlap purely on mathematical grounds – in other words, even if there were no synergies between them. In fact, there is considerable prima facie evidence from observational studies to suggest that each epidemic reinforces the other two.

The epidemiology of nutrition in South Africa

Nutritional status of South African children

Malnutrition is the world's most serious health problem. It is responsible directly or indirectly for nearly 60% of the 10.9 million annual deaths of children under five¹. Although nutrition has steadily improved in most regions of the developing world between 1980 and 2006, in sub-Saharan Africa malnutrition is on the rise². In southern Africa, this increase is strongly linked to the HIV/AIDS pandemic.

In Africa, 50% of children with severe nutrition die during hospital treatment due to inappropriate care, and one quarter of preschool children suffer from undernutrition, which may affect mental and physical development³. Inappropriate feeding of infants and children is responsible for one-third of the causes of malnutrition³. The most common forms of malnutrition include **micronutrient malnutrition** (MNM) and **protein energy malnutrition** (PEM).

Micronutrient malnutrition is caused by poor quality diets, characterized by high intakes of staple but low consumption of animal and fish products, fruits, legumes, and vegetables, which are rich sources of bioavailable minerals and vitamins. Most of the malnourished are those who cannot obtain these foods to substitute in an impoverished subsistency situation from their own production. Even mild levels of micronutrient malnutrition may damage cognitive development, lower disease resistance in children, and reduce the likelihood that mothers survive childbirth. The cost of these deficiencies in terms of lives lost and quality of life are staggering⁴.

Protein energy malnutrition (PEM) refers to inadequate availability or absorption of energy and proteins in the body. **Kwashiorkor** and **marasmus** are some of the more severe forms of PEM. Kwashiorkor (meaning the disease of the displaced child in the language of Ga/Kwa) was first defined in the 1930s in Ghana as primarily a protein deficiency while marasmus is characterised by both protein and energy deficiency. Marasmus is frequently found in infants less than 6 months of age and it is been seen more frequently now in older infants and young children with the increasing prevalence of HIV in that group. In South Africa, kwashiorkor occurs predominantly in the 6-month to 2-year-old age group. Established risk factors vary widely in different settings with few consistent epidemiological patterns emerging globally. Frequently described risk factors include:

- poor family dynamics (e.g. mother pregnant or poorly educated, father unemployed or separated, parental illness)
- sub-optimal nutrition (e.g. lower breastfeeding rates or earlier introduction of complementary feeds, lesser dietary diversity)
- lower socio-economic status (e.g. inadequate housing, absence of water and sanitation)
- less frequent use of health services (e.g. preference for traditional healers)⁵.

Marasmic malnutrition is known to be commoner than kwashiorkor in HIV-infected children. HIV infection has become an important contributor to severe malnutrition, with over 80% of severely malnourished children at some South African hospitals being infected⁵. At the King Edward VIII Hospital, Durban, 68% of children admitted with diarrhoea were classified as HIV-infected and 61% were classified as malnourished, with 53% having evidence of both⁶. In the Bohlabela district of rural Limpopo, statistically significant risk factors for severe malnutrition included suspicion of HIV infection in the family (parents or children) (Odds Ratio (OR) 217.7), poor weaning practices (OR 3.0), parental death (OR 38.0), male sex (OR 2.7) and higher birth order (third child or higher) (OR 2.3); protective factors included a diverse food intake (OR 0.53) and receipt of a state child support grant (OR 0.44)⁵.

There is insufficient evidence from national studies to indicate whether the HIV/ AIDS epidemic has caused an increase in under-nutrition in South Africa. One group has integrated and summarised the available literature on the largely unchanged nutritional status of South Africans from 1975 to 1996⁷; later studies and publications have also not shown definitely evolving differences. Wide variations between areas, population groups, etc are the norm, however. It is likely that improvements in nutritional status because of better food security have, on balance, been negated by the impact of widespread HIV/ AIDS. This view is concordant with changes in key health indicators over time: under-5 mortality rates have in fact increased from 59.4 in 1998 to 100.0 in 2002⁸. A thorough re-assessment of the current situation with respect to population nutritional status in the light of the HIV/AIDS and TB epidemics is urgently necessary.

National food consumption surveys published in 2000 and 2005 found that **stunting** remained the most common nutritional disorder, affecting between 21.6% to 19.3% of children aged 1–9 years of age^{9, 10}. The highest prevalence of stunting was found in 1–3 year olds (24.4%), children in rural areas (23.8%), and those living on commercial farms (25.6%). A case control study conducted in 12–24 month old children in a high-density urban slum in East London showed that the most important determinants of growth failure were related to the caring capacity, and resultant caring behaviour of mothers ¹¹. No clear picture emerged on the role of dietary intake or disease in the development of growth failure.

A common pattern of growth in disadvantaged children in South Africa, and indeed throughout the developing world, is one of normal weight gain during the first 4 to 6 months of life, largely associated with successful breast-feeding. Thereafter, the proportion of children falling below the 3rd weight-for-age centile (underweight) increases. The prevalence of underweight-for-age and stunting increases rapidly after 6 to 12 months of age (at the time of the introduction of complementary foods into the diet of the breast-fed infant). The WHO recommends a Z-score cut-off point of <-2 standard deviations (SD) to classify low weight-for-age (underweight), low height-for-age (stunting) and low weight-for-height (wasting) as moderate malnutrition; and <-3 SD to define severe malnutrition. The cut-off point of >+2 SD classifies high weight-for-height as overweight in children¹².

In South Africa, stunting (low height-for-age) is thus the major form of undernutrition. The relative rarity of wasting and the high prevalence of stunting in South Africa suggest that the main problem is chronic socioeconomic underdevelopment. Most stunting occurs before the age of 3 years, and stunted children usually become stunted adults, as catch-up growth is difficult to achieve. Stunting results primarily from poor feeding practices over long periods, coupled by an increased incidence of infections, which may be aggravated by a lack of food in the household. Between 11 and 17 million South Africans are considered food insecure, with 38% of African households often or sometimes going hungry⁸. There are currently insufficient anthropometrical data for South Africa; **Table I** reflects the country's 1999 statistics^{9, 13}.

The health and nutritional status of mothers greatly influences the growth and development of their babies during pregnancy and infancy. If mothers are undernourished, of poor health, or too young, babies have a greater chance of being born underweight. Infants born with low birth weight are undernourished, and therefore at risk of a number of health conditions. These infants may not be able to gain sufficient weight, and may suffer long-term health and developmental effects¹⁴. About 16% of

Setting	Underweight	Stunting	Wasting	Overweight
Global	21	24		
All developing countries	23	27	8	3.4
Africa	25	35	10	5.2
South Africa (all)	9	23	3	6.7
Urban South Africa	7	16		
Rural South Africa	11	27		

Table I. Estimated percentage prevalence of malnutrition among children (0-5 years)^{9, 13}

infants globally are born with a low birth weight (LBW) (<2500g), although LBW rates vary considerably from country to country (from about 5 to 32 percent)⁷. While there are no reliable national data for South Africa, the LBW rate is estimated to be between 10 and 15%⁸. Rural areas generally have lower rates of LBW than urban areas⁷. Among the possible causes of LBW are deficiency of iron and vitamin A.

Iodine deficiency disorders refer to a range of impairments resulting from primary iodine deficiency and can include foetal loss, stillbirth, congenital anomalies, and hearing impairment. The vast majority of iodine-deficient individuals experience mild mental retardation. **Iron deficiency** is the commonest cause of anaemia in South Africa although other causes (such as malaria, HIV, worm infestation or folate deficiency) contribute variably. Iron deficiency can result from insufficient intake and/ or absorption of iron or from excess loss of iron. In a 1994 survey, 10% of children in the 6 to 71 months age group were iron deficient, while goitres were noted in only 1% of children in 1994¹⁰. The national prevalence rate for iron-deficiency anaemia in the 6 to 71 months age group was 5%. Provincial rates ranged from 5% in the Eastern Cape to 16% in the Western Cape¹⁰. The same survey found the prevalence of anaemia in children less than 6 years of age living in South Africa to be 21.4%¹³. Children most affected by maternal deficiency of iron were those aged 6 to 23 months, of whom 33% were found to be iron deficient. Prevalence rates ranged from 2% in the Eastern Cape to 9% in the Limpopo province¹⁰.

Vitamin A deficiency can result in night blindness, various forms of eye damage (collectively known as xerophthalmia) and, ultimately, blindness that is preventable. These clinical forms are, however, now becoming less frequent. The detection of subclinical forms through measurement of serum retinol is thus gaining more importance. Sub-clinical or overt vitamin A deficiency was reported in a third of South African children in 1994¹⁰. Limpopo province had the highest rate of vitamin A deficiency, with the Northern Cape showing the lowest rate. Based on these findings, vitamin A deficiency is a serious public health problem in South Africa¹⁴.

There are also new dimensions to the malnutrition problem. The established **obesity** and diet-related non-communicable diseases (NCDs) pandemic in developed countries is spreading to the developing world. This means that health systems in poorer countries increasingly have to cope with the double burden of treating expensive diet-related NCDs (such as diabetes and hypertension) while simultaneously attempting to combat undernutrition and other common communicable diseases (such as diarrhoea and TB). Childhood obesity is rapidly emerging as a global epidemic that will have profound public health consequences as overweight children become overweight adults. In South Africa in 1998, 29% of men and 56% of women were overweight or obese¹¹. Trends in overweight among children under age five are alarming for all developing countries and particularly for those in Africa, where rates seem to be increasing at a far greater rate (58% increase) than in the developing world as a whole (17% increase)¹¹. The "globesity" epidemic is well established in SA, with 6% of 1-9-year-olds classified as overweight or obese, with a higher prevalence among children of well-educated mothers. The situation worsens in adolescence with 5% of males and 18% of females classified as overweight, and 2% and 6% obese¹¹. More recent data published in the South African Youth Risk Assessment Survey 2002 by the South African Medical Research Council show the prevalence of overweight (including obesity) among young people aged 13–19 years to be 17% overall, and affecting more girls (25%) than boys (7%). Prevalence was highest (over 20% for boys and girls combined) in white and Indian population groups¹⁵.

Nutritional status of South African adults

Research on the nutritional status of South Africans during the past 10 years has focused on children and to a certain extent on the **nutrition transition** associated with urbanisation of black South Africans. Other than in children, no national study has been done to assess nutritional status in adults. Nevertheless, a number of *ad hoc* cross-sectional epidemiological surveys by academics in the different provinces of South Africa as well as the 1998 South African demographic and health survey have provided data on nutritional status variables, markers, and associated risk factors in adults. Research results from these studies have been collated by Vorster *et al.*¹⁶ and more recently by Steyn¹⁷. The more recent report¹⁷, which included studies done after 1996, confirmed observations and predictions of future trends of the earlier report¹⁶. Both these reports indicate that on a population level, the nutritional status of South Africans is far from optimal. The major problems related to **malnutrition**, of which the causes and consequences have to be addressed by public health policy are:

- Inequity between different population groups, related to poverty and the gap between the rich and the poor;
- The co-existence of under- and overnutrition in the same household, families and communities;
- The prevalence of "hidden hunger": the existence of micronutrient deficiencies in undernourished as well as apparently well-fed, often overweight and obese individuals;
- The increased vulnerability to develop overweight and obesity and other chronic diseases of lifestyle in adults who had low birth weights and who were undernourished and had stunted growth during infancy and childhood;
- The "negative" trends in changes of diets and nutrient intakes associated with urbanisation, acculturation, and modernisation (westernisation).

Ideally, nutritional status is assessed by integrating and evaluating information on nutrient intakes, nutritional anthropometry, and biochemical markers of nutritional status and clinical signs of malnutrition or nutritional deficiencies.

In the following section, nutrient intakes of adult South Africans and prevalences of overweight and obesity will be briefly discussed to illustrate the above-mentioned nutritional problems. The risk factors for malnutrition will be mentioned to show the implications of the nutritional problems for the HIV, AIDS and TB epidemics.

Nutrient intakes of South Africans adult - Macronutrients

The macronutrients protein, fat and carbohydrate provide energy; therefore, to assess the macronutrient adequacy and quality of diets, total energy (TE) as well as the contribution of different types of proteins, fats and carbohydrates to total energy should be evaluated. Anthropometric measurements of weight and height, and calculation of body mass index (BMI), are also used to assess adequate energy intake. To evaluate if diets contain sufficient minimally processed (unrefined) plant foods, dietary fibre intake (also a macro-carbohydrate) should be assessed.

Figure 1 compares the energy distribution of the diets of rural and urban black women with that of Indian, white and coloured (mixed race) women. The energy distribution observed in white, coloured and Indian women is typically that associated with a western diet: more animal than plant protein; high in total fat (> 30% of TE) and saturated fat (>10% of TE); and relatively low in carbohydrate (< 55% of TE). The mean dietary fibre intakes of these groups were 13.7, 14.6, 10.7, 13.1 and 37 g/day, respectively for white, urban black, coloured, Indian and rural black women. The typical "western" diet followed by white, coloured and Indian groups is associated with a higher risk of chronic diseases of lifestyle, such as insulin resistance, diabetes mellitus, coronary heart disease and certain forms of cancer¹⁶.



Figure 1. Energy distribution of the diet of South African women¹⁶

The rural African women had a much more "prudent" energy distribution, with more plant than animal protein, less fat (< 20% of TE) and much more carbohydrate (> 60% of TE). Their fibre intake was 37 g/day. This distribution of energy, reflecting a "prudent" diet, is associated with a low risk of the above-mentioned chronic diseases of lifestyle.

The urban black women reported nutrient intakes with an energy distribution between that of rural black women and that of white, Indian and coloured women, illustrating that, as they become more urbanized, Africans eat more animal protein foods, more fatty foods and less minimally processed cereals and grains or carbohydrate-rich foods. These changes in nutrient intakes during urbanisation of Africans have been confirmed in the THUSA-study¹⁸ in both men and women. It is therefore not surprising that urbanisation of Africans is also associated with an increase in the prevalence of many of the chronic diseases of lifestyle.

Nutrient intakes of South Africans adult - Micronutrients

Analyses of the nutrient intakes of South Africans¹⁶ show that most population groups do not reach their requirements (dietary reference values) for calcium, iron (especially black girls and women) zinc (most groups), riboflavin (most groups), vitamin B_6 (most groups), folate (Indian and black women) and vitamin C (Indian, coloured and black groups).

Nutrient (and recommended dietary allowance)	Deep rural n=290	Farm dwellers (rural) n=148	Informal settlements (peri urban) n=172	Urban "middle class" n=292	Urban "upper class" n=106
Calcium (mg) (800)	384 (14)	418 (20)	387 (18)	405 (14)	512 (23)
Zinc (mg) (12)	7.6 (0.2)	7.1 (0.3)	7.6 (0.3)	8.2 (0.2)	10.6 (0.3)
Iron (mg) (15)	8.4 (0.2)	7.5 (0.3)	8.3 (0.3)	8.8 (0.2)	10.4 (0.4)
Vitamin A (RE) (800)	573 (40)	533 (56)	773 (52)	892 (40)	1246 (66)
Vitamin C (mg) (60)	30 (2)	25 (3)	32 (3)	43 (2)	83 (4)
Folic acid (mg) (180)	181 (5)	177 (6)	182 (6)	209 (5)	225 (8)

Table II. Selected mean (SD) micronutrient intakes of African women in transition¹⁸

The THUSA-study¹⁸ compared micronutrient intakes of Africans in different stages of the nutrition transition. **Table II** compares micronutrient intakes of urban¹⁸ and rural African women with recommended intakes, illustrating that urbanisation was accompanied by increases in micronutrient intakes, although mean intakes of calcium, iron and zinc of all groups did not attain recommended intakes. This study showed that more than half of all subjects (men and women) had intakes of vitamin A, folate, ascorbic acid (vitamin C), zinc, iron and calcium that were less than 67% of the recommended dietary allowance¹⁸.

Therefore, it seems that at present the nutrition transition amongst black South Africans is characterised by increases in animal protein and fat intake, decreases in carbohydrate and dietary fibre consumption, as well as improved but still not optimal micronutrient intakes.

Under- and over-nutrition in South Africans adults: anthropometric data

Anthropometric measurements of height and weight and calculation of body mass index (BMI as kg/m^2) can be used to assess under- and overweight and therefore the adequacy of energy intake.

Weight	ВМІ		
Underweight	< 18.5 kg/m ²		
Normal weight	18.5 – 24.9 kg/m ²		
Overweight	25.0 – 30.0 kg/m²		
Obese	> 30.0 kg/m ²		

The cutpoints¹⁷ recommended by the World Health Organization usually are:

Puoane *et al.*¹⁹ used these cut-points on the South African demographic and health survey data of 1998 and showed that of 5390 men, 12.2% were underweight, 58.6% had normal weight, 21.7% overweight and 7.5% obese. In the 7717 women, the corresponding figures were 5.6% underweight, 37.8% normal weight, 26.6% overweight and 30.0% obese.

Table III shows that there are marked differences between the population groups. The white groups had lower prevalences of underweight; white men and African women had the highest prevalences of overweight plus obesity (54.5 and 58.5%, respectively). The Table shows that although the prevalences of overweight and obesity were much higher than those of underweight in all population groups, a substantial percentage (> 10%) of African, coloured and Indian men, and coloured and Indian women were underweight.

	Men			Women						
Population Group	Under- weight	Normal weight	Over- weight	Obesity	Over- weight plus obesity	Under- weight	Normal weight	Over- weight	Obesity	Over- weight plus obesity
BMI	<18.5	18.5-25	25-30	>30	>25	<18.5	18.5-25	25-30	>30	>25
African (Black)	12.9	61.7	19.4	6.0	25.4	4.8	36.7	26.7	31.8	58.5
Coloured (mixed)	12.1	57.1	23.1	7.7	30.8	10.5	37.3	25.9	26.3	52.2
Indian	16.9	50.3	24.0	8.7	32.7	14.9	36.1	27.8	21.1	48.9
White	5.0	40.4	36.6	18.2	54.5	3.1	47.8	26.5	22.7	49.2

Table III. Percentage prevalences of weight status of adult South Africans¹⁹

This co-existence of under- and overweight has been described for other populations of the developing world that are experiencing the nutrition transition²⁰.

It is not known what percentage of overweight and obese men and women suffer from micronutrient deficiencies (hidden hunger). Given the low intakes of calcium, iron, zinc, riboflavin, vitamins B_6 and C, however, it is estimated that substantial numbers of South Africans that meet or exceed their energy needs, do not meet their micronutrient requirements. **Table III** also shows that only 40.4% of white men and just over a third of black, coloured and Indian women have normal BMIs, while about two thirds of African men and about half of coloured and Indian men and white women have BMIs in the normal range.

Therefore, using BMI as an indicator and combining men and women, less than half of adult South Africans maintain a normal body weight for their height, reflecting imbalances in energy intake and expenditure. Furthermore, the THUSA-study has confirmed that urbanisation and "modernisation" of black South Africans improve but do not optimise micronutrient status, indicating that large percentages of blacks (as well as other population groups) still have micronutrient deficiencies¹⁸.

Determinants of nutritional status for malnutrition in South Africans adults

The importance of an optimal nutritional status for health and normal functioning of the immune system has already been mentioned repeatedly in this text. To improve the nutritional status of both children and adults in South Africa, the multiple, interrelated factors associated with the development of malnutrition should be addressed by concerted efforts in multidisciplinary and integrated policies and programmes from all of the involved sectors: health, agriculture, housing, economics, etc. Some of these risk factors and their inter-relationships will now be briefly discussed:

Poverty and underdevelopment

The multifactorial and inter-related causes of malnutrition are illustrated in **Figure 2**, showing that the consequences of undernutrition often aggravate the causes. It is difficult for undernourished individuals to escape this vicious cycle: they have low energy levels and micronutrient deficiencies, associated with an inability to optimally benefit from education and development programmes to sufficiently create a healthy socio-economic environment for their families to prevent undernutrition. Poverty is a fundamental or



Figure 2. The vicious cycle of undernutrition causes and consequences¹⁶

root cause of undernutrition, because it is associated with unemployment, inability to pay for food, health care and basic services, disintegration of family life, inability to care for children, vulnerability, homelessness and despair. **Figure 2** further illustrates that to address undernutrition these interrelated factors should be mitigated in community-based, intersectorial programmes, with a focus on alleviating poverty and development of "human capital". Undernutrition increases the sk of infectious diseases. It is clear how the HIV/AIDS pandemic contribute to this vicious cycle of undernutrition and poverty.

Food and nutrition insecurity

Lack of access to adequate, affordable, safe and nutritious food is a major determinant of malnutrition. Although South Africa is food secure on a national basis, and is even in a position to export food, many households experience hunger and food and nutrition insecurity because of all the factors contributing to poverty and underdevelopment. The HIV/AIDS pandemic, often associated with children becoming head of households and main "breadwinners", also contributes to food insecurity.

Increased vulnerability for obesity: the double burden within individuals

There is an increasing awareness that maternal malnutrition, foetal undernutrition (low birth weight) as well as infant and childhood undernutrition (stunting) may be related to an increased risk of obesity and other chronic diseases of lifestyle in adulthood. Levitt *et al*²¹ recently reviewed South African studies that examined this hypothesis (or phenomenon) and concluded that an association between adverse early life exposures and propensity to obesity has been observed in several of these studies, which could explain the high prevalence of obesity, especially amongst black South African women. The quality of diets which consist of cheaper energy-dense, but micronutrient-deficient foods, probably contributes to adult obesity combined with "hidden hunger" in poor households. The mandatory micronutrient fortification of maize meal and bread flour in South Africa aims to address this problem.

The nutrition transition

As mentioned earlier, urbanisation, modernisation, acculturation or westernisation of black South Africans is characterised with changing dietary intakes that increase the risk of overweight and obesity without rectifying micronutrient undernutrition. In all population groups, increased exposure to cheaper energy-dense, high-fat and sweet foods, are leading to food choices that contribute to overnutrition in respect of macronutrients, and undernutrition in respect of micronutrients in many individuals. In addition, many poor households are characterised by undernutrition in children and overweight or obesity in the mothers (caregivers). This co-existence of under- and overnutrition can be addressed by ensuring food security, education regarding healthy food choices, and creating an environment where these choices are available and affordable. Cooperation of the media and industry is essential for attaining this environment. Promotion of traditional and indigenous foods, emphasising their value in healthy diets, can also help to improve nutritional status and decrease disease risk.

Physical environment

The standard of housing, occupational density, access to clean safe water and sanitation, as well as the availability of adequate cooking and refrigeration facilities combine to determine the risk of malnutrition. Much has been done during the past years to improve housing conditions in South Africa. Many South Africans in transition, however, still reside in informal settlements in conditions not conducive to optimal nutrition¹⁸.

Family unity and cohesion

Several studies have shown that disruption of family units and broken homes, with less support from fathers as heads of households, are associated with malnutrition¹⁹. In the past, migrant workers were probably a main contributor to this situation. At present, the HIV/AIDS pandemic is one of the main reasons for the disruption of family life with resultant malnutrition.

Pregnancy, lactation and weaning

Repeated pregnancies may jeopardise the nutritional status of both mother and child. Pregnant women have a high risk of developing iron-deficiency anaemia. Urban women are known to breastfeed for shorter periods (if at all). Several South African studies have indicated that one of the major reasons for childhood undernutrition is inappropriate weaning practices¹⁶, with possible long-term consequences in adulthood²¹.

Alcohol consumption

The excessive consumption of alcoholic beverages may influence nutritional status directly and indirectly: directly, by providing energy without micronutrients (diluting micronutrient density of the diet), and indirectly, as a result of psycho-social problems affecting household resources to buy food. Alcohol consumption may also influence sexual behaviour and risk of HIV transmission. The World Health Organization recently published data which showed that although South Africans drink less than 43 other populations, those that do drink consume very large amounts, and binge drinking is a serious problem²². Policies that address malnutrition should also include strategies that will promote healthy drinking behaviours.

The epidemiology of HIV/AIDS in South Africa

Adults

One senior South African epidemiologist characterized HIV/AIDS as "the biggest natural event in the history of our species for the last 500 years" ²³. HIV/AIDS currently accounts for almost 50% of all South African deaths. The virus has proven surprisingly difficult to prevent, and management consumes a large proportion of health care resources directly, while indirect costs are a further drain because the disease affects a significant fraction of the economically active population^{24, 25}.

HIV infection causes a steady deterioration in immune function, and without treatment, opportunistic infections and other complications are inexorable and progressive. A variety of complex factors determine how quickly this process occurs, with some patients progressing to death very rapidly in only a few years, while others survive decades. The advanced form of the viral infection, where illness is severe, is referred to as the Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome (AIDS). In Southern Africa, the great majority of infections are acquired sexually or, in the case of children, from their mothers before, during and after birth. Other forms of transmission, such as acquisition from shared needles during intravenous drug use, blood supply contamination and other mechanisms, appear to be uncommon²⁵. Interestingly, sexual acquisition is a relatively infrequent event per contact, even during unprotected intercourse, and much recent energy has been focused on the co-factors behind transmission, in attempts to explain why Southern Africa accounts for the vast majority of the global HIV infection load²⁶. The protracted, potentially infectious but asymptomatic early course of the infection, and the near certainty of progression to death if no treatment is taken, makes the transmission dynamics very complex. A range of factors affects sexual exposure in uninfected populations. Recent research has demonstrated that the risk of transmission from a newly infected person is many-fold greater than from one with well-established infection, which has made prevention intervention planning even more difficult^{27, 28}.

South Africa has one of the best **epidemiological records** regarding the tracking of HIV infection of any developing country, with excellent data from several different sources. The Department of Health has invested significant resources in its annual HIV and syphilis infection antenatal clinic sentinel survey since 1991, and complex statistical models have extrapolated HIV infection rates amongst pregnant women to the general community. The trend of HIV infection rates over time has been particularly useful to track, and has demonstrated that the incidence rate is only now beginning to stabilize in certain age groups²⁹.

Subsequently, other research groups have further modelled the epidemic using other sources of $data^{24, 30-33}$. The Actuarial Society of South Africa (ASSA) has developed a

complex and sophisticated **statistical model** that predicts the impact of HIV infection based on a series of information sources. A recent report models the impact of this disease over the next 10 years²⁴. Over the last 5 years, the Human Sciences Research Council (HSRC) has undertaken two very large household surveys, which have been remarkable in their approximate agreement in estimating the overall number of infections^{31, 32}. A further study of the youth presented both infection data and attitudes to HIV³³.

Death certificate data, i.e. gender and whether the death is 'natural' or not (and hence an autopsy is required) are relatively accurately recorded and collected. While death certificate data do not allow for specific analysis of the causes of death, the steady increase in deaths in people in the 20 to 50 age group over the last decade is very striking. The classic peak seen after the age of 60, due to chronic disease, is now equaled by an earlier peak in the 20 to 50 age group. This peak is correlated strongly with the increased HIV seroprevalence observed in the antenatal surveys. Deaths in this group of young people have traditionally been due to trauma (so-called 'unnatural deaths' and more commonly affecting men), while the new peak comprises largely 'natural' deaths, and seems to affect largely women. It is probable that HIV infection is causing this new peak^{30, 34}.

HIV infection was first noted in South Africa in 1982, with the death of a flight attendant who died of pneumocystis pneumonia³⁵. The epidemiology followed that of the US, with the virus infecting predominantly homosexual men and haemophiliacs. Haemophiliacs, their treatment revolutionised by the wider availability of pooled clotting factor for treatment, were further exposed to a product imported from San Francisco in the United States during a countrywide shortage. This product, pooled from a large number of donors was contaminated with HIV, resulting in the infection of a large number of South African patients. In other southern African countries the epidemic appears to have been spread hetereosexually from the beginning.

The virus appears to have spread rapidly to the heterosexual community in the late 1980s. It was firmly established as a generalized epidemic by 1991, when the first Department of Health – African National Congress survey demonstrated infection of 1% of pregnant women attending antenatal clinics, thus defining the epidemic as being "generalized"³⁶. Prevention strategies at this time focused largely on information-based media campaigns.

The epidemic continued to grow unabated over the next 15 years, although in a geographically inconsistent way. KwaZulu-Natal suffered explosive growth in the epidemic in the 1990s, for reasons ascribed to social disruption due to the political conflict in the province. Other factors included migration, lack of access to condoms, low circumcision rate, poverty resulting in sex work and female economic reliance on men, and gender violence. Other provinces such as Mpumalanga, Free State, Gauteng and North-West province also demonstrated high prevalences, while Limpopo and the Eastern Cape, both very poor provinces, demonstrated significantly lower HIV infections. It appears, however, that many of these lower infection provinces are now rapidly approaching the levels in the other provinces, with the exception of the Western Cape, where the epidemic is predicted to stabilize at a lower level²⁴.

Currently, the Department of Health estimates that 5.54 million South Africans (approximately 10.8% of the population) have been infected with HIV. The estimate by ASSA is of 5.4 million people infected, out of a population of 48 million, giving a prevalence rate of 11%, an incidence rate of 1.2%, and 600 000 people living with AIDS, in mid-2006. The HSRC estimates from its household survey a prevalence of 4.8 million in those over the age of 2 years, Statistics South Africa estimates 4.5 millions, and UNAIDS, using its specific model, between 5.3 and 5.5 million. This level of concordance is remarkable, considering that the information sources in the case of the HSRC are completely independently collated, while the others rely on overlapping data sources^{24, 30-33}.

The ASSA model suggest that prevalence rates are attaining a plateau across all the provinces, albeit at different levels, with KwaZulu-Natal estimated to have the highest prevalence, and the Western Cape the lowest. This plateau refers to the situation where death rates approximate new infection rates. Deaths from AIDS complications in SA are expected to peak in 2015. **Life expectancy** in South Africa in 2006 was estimated to be 49 in men and 53 in women, 13 years lower than they would have been without AIDS. HIV infection further impacts on demographics by removing many women of childbearing potential from the population pool, as well as causing a steady decrease in fertility in women who have HIV infection. The model suggests that after 2011, population growth will settle at 0.5% annually, although a UN report actually suggests that the country would enter negative population growth in 2005³⁶. The proportion of deaths directly attributable to the virus varies from province to province according to prevalence. While 47% of overall deaths in the country in 2006 were HIV-related, this was as low as 30% in the Western Cape, while approaching 60% in higher prevalence (and more highly populated) provinces such as KwaZulu Natal, Mpumalanga and Gauteng²⁴.

Race was measured in the HSRC survey, and despite sampling problems, has allowed fairly accurate predictions of racial vulnerability, with black Africans at highest risk, but with all race groups being heavily affected. Again, both biological and social issues have been advanced as reasons for this, and the likelihood is that complex interplay of the two accounts for the differences^{31, 32}.

Gender and age dynamics play a large role in the spread of HIV infection. Surveys have indicated that young women, especially in the 15 to 24 age groups, are several-fold more vulnerable to HIV infection than their age-matched male counterparts (16.9% vs. 3.7%)^{24, 33}. Deaths of women aged 20–49 years increased 150% between 1998 and 2003

according to analysis of death certificates, despite adjusting for population growth and possible improvement in registration^{30, 34}. The vulnerability of women to HIV infection may aggravate other areas of gender inequality. For instance, illness due to HIV infection may make entry into the already difficult labour pool even more complex. Both social and biological theories to account for this vulnerability have been advanced, and prevention strategies targeting the youth have been a major focus of government programmes. This group is of epidemiological interest, as it represents the most accurate pool of new infections (i.e. incidence), and a decrease in this number may indicate a decrease or delay in the age of infection. This was one of the significant changes that were noted in Uganda, which is often cited as a success in the prevention of HIV infection, where age at sexual debut was significantly elevated amongst women. Disappointingly, however, the HIV infection rate in this group in SA has remained relatively stable in the last few years, probably demonstrating a plateau in the number of new infections^{24, 30}.

Gender violence undoubtedly plays a role in the transmission of HIV. Women who are exposed to violence at home have a higher HIV infection prevalence than those who do not. Sexual assault is associated with a high risk of HIV exposure, with 50% of rapists estimated to be HIV-infected in one provincial police survey. Poor coverage with post-exposure prophylaxis has meant that this seemingly effective measure is only available to a small number of assaulted people^{37, 38}.

The South African government has committed significant resources to **educational HIV prevention and support programmes** over the last decade, and surveys indicate that knowledge about the transmission of the virus is relatively sophisticated, although perceptions of risk are disappointingly low^{31–33}. This failure to effect significant behaviour change has been a major challenge. A further frustration has been the improvement in free male condom distribution throughout the country, again with seemingly little impact on the epidemic²⁴.

Circumcision is a major protective factor in the epidemic, and there is strong epidemiological evidence that it plays a role in SA, and has been used to partially explain the provincial differences noted in HIV prevalence, specifically between KwaZulu Natal and the Eastern Cape^{26, 39}.

Finally, there would be an estimated 505 000 deaths annually from AIDS complications by 2010, in the absence of antiretroviral therapy²⁴. However, the increased accessibility of this highly effective but complex intervention has made this assumption more complex.

The implementation of the **National Comprehensive Plan** of the Department of Health (now strongly reinforced by the **HIV/AIDS and Sexually Transmitted Infections Strategic Plan for South Africa**, **2007 to 2011**) is intended to be focused on provision of antiretroviral therapy (ART), which is highly effective in reversing the immunological deficiency induced by HIV infection. This will annually defer death in approximately

100 000 people with advanced HIV. While the lifespan in people on ART is not yet apparent, mathematical models (based on cohort data that have been available now for over 12 years of ART treatment) suggest average lifespans of over 20 years from the time of initiating medication. This presupposes an uninterrupted drug supply, however, and consistent coverage and adequate health facilities. The original model assumed that over 200 000 people would be on ART by the middle of 2006, and that just over 700 000 were in need of ART. It further suggested that without the provision of widespread ART, life expectancy would drop 19 years by 2015, while with ART it would drop by 16 years^{24, 40–42}. New mass interventions being considered and researched include mass circumcision programmes, HIV vaccines and vaginal microbicides; the last two interventions are years away from demonstrating efficacy, while the first will be complex and costly, although undoubtedly effective. More targeted interventions such as chemical prophylaxis for 'high risk' groups are also being explored.

Children

In 2004, the antenatal HIV infection prevalence amongst pregnant women attending government antenatal clinics was 29.5%⁴³. **Table IV** summarizes HIV prevalence by province and year indicating the lack of apparent leveling-off of the epidemic in reproductively active women. Of great concern is the increase in prevalence in adolescent and young pregnant women, with rates as high as 16% in women less than 20 years of age (**Table V**).

Dravinas	HIV prevalence (95% CI)					
Province	2002	2003	2004			
KwaZulu-Natal	36.5 (33.8–39.2)	37.5 (35.2–39.8)	40.7 (38.8–42.7)			
Gauteng	31.6 (29.7–33.6)	29.6 (27.8–31.5)	33.1 (31.0–35.3)			
Mpumalanga	28.6 (25.3–31.8)	32.6 (28.5–36.6)	30.8 (27.4–34.2)			
Free State	28.8 (26.3–31.2)	30.1 (26.9–33.3)	29.5 (26.1–32.9)			
Eastern Cape	21.7 (19.0–24.4)	23.6 (21.1–26.1)	28.0 (25.0–31.0)			
North West	26.2 (23.1–29.4)	29.9 (26.8–33.1)	26.7 (23.9–29.6)			
Limpopo	15.6 (13.2–17.9)	17.5 (14.9–20.0)	19.3 (16.8–21.9)			
Northern Cape	15.1 (11.7–18.6)	16.7 (11.9–21.5)	17.6 (13.0–22.2)			
Western Cape	12.4 (8.8–15.9)	13.1 (8.5–17.7)	15.4 (12.5–18.2)			
South Africa	26.5 (25.5–27.6)	27.9 (26.8–28.9)	29.5 (28.5–30.5)			

Table IV. HIV infection antenatal prevalence by province 2002–2004⁴³

CI: confidence interval. The true value is estimated to fall within the two confidence limits.

A	HIV prevalence (95% Cl)					
Age group (Years)	2002	2003	2004			
< 20	14.8 (13.4–16.1)	15.8 (14.3–17.2)	16.1 (14.7–17.5)			
20-24	29.1 (27.5–30.6)	30.3 (28.8–31.8)	30.8 (29.3–32.3)			
25–29	34.5 (32.6–36.4)	35.4 (33.6–37.2)	38.5 (36.8–40.3)			
30-34	29.5 (27.4–31.6)	30.9 (28.9–32.9)	34.4 (32.2–36.6)			
35–39	19.8 (17.5–22.0)	23.4 (20.9–25.9)	24.5 (21.9–27.2)			
40+	17.2 (13.5–20.9)	15.8 (12.3–19.3)	17.5 (14.0–21.0)			

Table V. HIV infection prevalence by age group among antenatal clinic attendees, SouthAfrica: 2002–200443

The first national population-based survey conducted in South Africa in 2002 showed that the prevalence of HIV infection in children aged 2–14 years was 5,6% (**Table VI**)⁴³. A second national survey conducted in 2004 showed reported rates of HIV infection in children aged two to four years to be 4.9 % in boys compared with 5.3 % in girls²⁴. There are no national surveillance data available for the prevalence of HIV infection in infants. Based on the prevalence of HIV among pregnant women, however, and assuming varying access to interventions to prevent transmission, it is estimated that between 45 000 to 60 000 children are newly infected annually in South Africa.

Age (Years)	N	HIV-infected (%)	95% CI
Children (2–14)	2 348	5.6	3.7–7.4
Youths (15–24)	2 099	9.3	7.3–11.2
Adults(>25)	3 981	15.5	13.5–17.5
Total	8 428	11.4	10.0–12.7

Table VI. HIV infection prevalence by age group, South Africa, 2002⁴³

Perinatally acquired HIV infection or HIV transmitted from mother to child accounts for the majority of paediatric HIV infections occurring in South Africa³². Mother-to-child

transmission (MTCT) of HIV infection can occur in utero, during labour and delivery or through breastmilk, with the bulk of transmission occurring in the intra-partum period⁴⁴. Transmission rates vary from less than 2% in the developed world due to the use of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART), elective caesarean section and safe replacement feeding, to more than 30% in the developing world without access to antiretroviral prophylaxis and with prolonged breast-feeding⁴⁵. MTCT rates vary in South Africa from 2% to 30% depending on use of interventions to prevent MTCT and the duration and method of breast-feeding⁴⁶. Factors that are associated with MTCT transmission are as follows:

Maternal risk factors

These include advanced maternal disease or surrogate markers thereof, including viral load and CD4⁺ count, viral phenotype and genotype, smoking or other substance abuse, lack of ARV therapy or ARV resistance, sexually transmitted infections (STIs) or other co-infections and sexual behaviour.

Obstetric risk factors

These include vaginal or pre-term delivery, prolonged rupture of membranes, placental disruption or abruption, chorio-amnionitis, invasive fetal monitoring, and episiotomy or use of forceps.

Neonatal risk factors

Major factors include prematurity, oral thrush, gender and exposure to infected breastmilk.

The epidemiology of TB in South Africa

TB continues to be a disease of major public health importance globally, with over 90% of cases occurring in developing countries^{47, 48}. As TB is one of the diseases associated with resource-poor countries, it has historically attracted limited attention and investment into the development of novel and improved drugs, vaccines and diagnostics, all of which are desperately needed. It has often been termed a "neglected disease", along with HIV infection, malaria and other infections common in developing countries. As a result, the prevention and treatment of TB has lagged behind most other diseases that are or were common in developed countries.

TB cases occur worldwide, but predominantly in poor countries (**Figure 3**). This is due to socio-economic factors, such as crowding, poverty, unemployment, malnutrition, HIV infection, poor health standards affecting diagnosis and poor treatment intervention. TB has infected approximately 2 billion individuals worldwide, about a third of the



Figure 3. Estimated tuberculosis incidence – 200349

Source: World Health Organization, September 2003

world's population. Over 8 million new TB cases occur annually and 60% of cases occur in only 10 countries (see **Table VII**). In addition close to 2 million TB-related deaths occur annually; it is responsible for more deaths than any other curable infectious disease. TB is a leading killer of young adults in their most productive years. The WHO estimates that infected adults lose an average 3–4 months of work while recuperating from the disease, while society loses an average of 15 years of economic activity from each adult TB death. The WHO has declared TB to be a global emergency and has called for urgent and extraordinary action⁴⁹.

The global burden of TB is increasing, largely due to the spread of HIV/AIDS. HIVinfected subjects are far more susceptible to TB, are more difficult to diagnose, and in addition, are also more difficult to treat. TB lifetime risk in HIV-uninfected residents of southern Africa is approximately 10%; in HIV-infected people, this approaches 10% per annum. Furthermore, HIV-infected people have a much higher mortality in the period following TB treatment, with 30% dying within a year of diagnosis and treatment. In addition, smear-negative TB is far more common in HIV-infected individuals (estimated to be as high as 50%), requiring sophisticated imaging and laboratory techniques to make the diagnosis⁵⁰.

With the HIV epidemic continuing to spread at alarming rates both nationally and globally, it is anticipated that this will contribute to the increasing numbers of TB cases.

Country	Population	All TB cases	TB cases per	
Country	1000's	1000's	100 000 pop	
1. India	1 087 124	1 824	168	
2. China	1 307 989	1 325	101	
3. Indonesia	220 077	539	245	
4. Nigeria	128 709	374	290	
5. South Africa	47 208	339	718	
6. Bangladesh	139 215	319	229	
7. Pakistan	154 794	281	181	
8. Ethiopia	75 600	267	353	
9. Phillipines	81 617	239	293	
10. Kenya	33 467	207	619	

Table VII. Top 10 high TB burden countries⁴⁹

Source: WHO report 2006: Global Tuberculosis Control

In addition, the **diagnosis of TB** continues to be problematic, particularly in infants and young children. Diagnostic assays for TB have not developed at the pace of diagnostic tests for other disease, and significant investment is urgently needed to improve their sophistication.

The escalation of the TB epidemic worldwide has occurred despite the availability and widespread use of Bacillus Calmette-Guérin (**BCG**) **vaccine** and the use of directly observed therapy short course (DOTS) for persons diagnosed with active disease. BCG is currently the only licensed vaccine. BCG affords ~80% protection against tuberculous meningitis and miliary tuberculosis in infants and in young children, but protection against lung disease, at all ages, and has been variable. DOTS, the global control strategy aimed at controlling TB transmission through prompt diagnosis of symptomatic smearpositive disease, has failed to prevent rising tuberculosis incidence rates in many parts of the world⁴⁹.

Annually, over 250 000 new cases of tuberculosis (TB) occur in South Africa. The estimated annual incidence rate of TB is in excess of 700/100 000 population and in some areas the rate exceeds 1 000/100 000 (1%). In SA, rates vary between provinces with the Western Cape, which accounts for only 10% of the SA population, bearing the brunt of the epidemic, with 25% of the case load (**Figure 4**). Children account for 15–20% of the TB case load. The high burden of childhood TB reflects recent transmission within the





population and is representative of the failure of TB control measures. Children contribute little to the maintenance of the TB epidemic, but they suffer severe consequences such as miliary or disseminated disease and meningitis. TB is currently one of the leading causes of death in adults and children in South Africa and the case fatality rate has increased from 3% in 1993 to 7.4% in 2003. A major reason for the escalation of the TB epidemic in South Africa is the evolution of the AIDS epidemic. It is estimated that approximately 60% of adult TB cases aged 15–49 years are HIV co-infected⁵¹.

In the 1970s, after confirmation that short-course (6 months) TB therapy was highly effective, the prospect of TB eradication led to renewed vigour in tackling TB as a public health issue. Despite the availability of effective therapy, and the implementation of improved directly observed therapy short course (DOTS) programmes in the mid-1990s, southern Africa continues to have a TB problem that is growing, fuelled by a growing HIV epidemic. The WHO advocates treatment of infectious (smear-positive) TB as the

most cost-effective method in tackling TB control. The DOTS programme emphasises five key components, including:

- political commitment
- access to improved sputum microscopy
- access to standardised treatment using quality assured drugs in a monitored environment
- uninterrupted drug supply, and
- improved programme monitoring.

Even in countries with a large commitment to DOTS, such as Botswana, the impact of DOTS on TB numbers has been disappointing. In Peru and China, DOTS appears to have had significant impact, but neither country has a generalised HIV epidemic as is present in southern Africa. The DOTS approach itself is contested, with three trials assessing the effect of the approach showing conflicting results (two showing no effect^{52, 53}, including one done in SA, the third in Thailand⁵⁴ showing significant effect). In developed countries, a modified DOTS approach that includes aggressive patient support and follow-up of defaulters has yielded impressive results, especially in the United States⁵⁴.

Effective treatment of TB is available, but cure rates remain unacceptably low in South Africa, despite clear guidelines and **standardised drug formulations**, including fixed dose formulations. Not a single South African province has attained the 85% cure target set by the WHO⁵⁵. Diagnosis remains challenging, with many areas still relying on unreliable and laborious microscopy techniques developed in the 19th century. The time from onset of symptoms to initiation of treatment in African countries is estimated to be 3–4 months in patients with smear-positive TB. Finally, treatment of TB is estimated by the WHO to be over \$700/patient in SA, significantly more than in other high-TB burden countries, largely owing to the high cost of labour, the cost determines who can provide drug treatment⁵⁵. The indirect economic consequences described above are likely to be far in excess of this figure.

In resource-poor areas, a reliance on the clinical diagnosis of TB leads to confused and inconsistent treatment protocols, and may contribute to the development of **multidrug-resistant (MDR)** TB. The rate of MDR TB, a further problem, made famous by the 1991 outbreak in New York is estimated to be at 1.7% in South Africa (6.6% of retreatment cases), with over 6000 cases annually. Due to South Africa's large TB caseload, this translates into the highest absolute number of MDR TB cases in the world. MDR TB is defined as resistance to at least two of the most effective anti-TB drugs, rifampicin and isoniazid. MDR TB identification requires relatively sophisticated and expensive laboratory facilities. MDR TB treatment is complex, prolonged and very expensive, with a significant failure rate, resulting in further TB mortality. In the case
of HIV, MDR TB appears to be particularly aggressive, and usually progresses rapidly to death, in the absence of antiretrovirals⁵⁶⁻⁵⁹.

A recent outbreak of **extensively drug-resistant** (XDR), (generally known inappropriately as extremely drug resistant) TB has been described in several provinces within South Africa, mainly amongst HIV-infected patients⁵⁹. In addition to resistance to rifampicin and isoniazid, XDR TB is defined as resistance to at least three of the six classes of the drugs available to treat MDR TB. The outbreak was associated with a very high mortality, despite the availability of antiretrovirals in many cases: 52/53 patients in the original report died, with an average time to death of 16 days from sputum collection. While XDR cases have been described previously in South Africa, the sheer number of cases and the high mortality, including deaths of health care workers, attracted significant attention. In the cohort studied, 39% of patients had MDR TB, it associated with significant mortality in both HIV-uninfected and in particular HIV-infected individuals^{56, 60}.

A report on progress of the epidemic revealed successful completion of treatment in only 65% of patients, cure in only half, and a defaulter rate of 11.5 % in 2003. Interestingly, KwaZulu-Natal (completion rate of 55% and cure rate of 35%) and Mpumalanga (50% and 32%), the sites where MDR and XDR have been identified as severe problems, fared worst; both provinces have very high prevalence of drug resistance. Treatment of MDR TB in terms of drug costs alone is estimated at R28 000 per patient^{56, 60}.

Both MDR and XDR TB have at their root poor management of the systems providing treatment to people with TB. In particular, in South Africa poor prescribing practices, interrupted drug supply and poor support to patients attending the clinics, along with poor infection control measures, have fuelled the resistant TB epidemic. The TB programme has often been divorced from the HIV control programme, although it is clear that HIV is a major driver of the epidemic. International efforts to achieve patient-centred case management have had limited success, despite claiming improved coverage of the country with the DOTS approach. The XDR outbreak has brought renewed calls for expansion of laboratory techniques for diagnosis of resistant TB to be made more widely available. A recent editorial in the *Lancet* has by contrast called for a "back-to-basics" approach that emphasizes strengthening of the public health strengthening at a primary care level, rather than a focus on solely improving access to second-line TB drugs and diagnostics⁶⁰.

CHAPTER 3 Evidence-based practice and recommendations

The objectives of this chapter, a narrative review, are firstly to define the concept of scientific evidence-based policy and practice (evidence-based medicine, nutrition and/or health practice); secondly, to review briefly the different types of nutritional studies that could and should be considered and used in gathering the available evidence or standard of proof, indicating both strengths and weaknesses of such studies; and thirdly, to show how the quality of evidence from different types of sources can be evaluated, judged and graded to determine the strength of recommendations for formulation of policy and practice.

Introduction

TB and HIV/AIDS are preventable diseases. In addition to avoiding exposure to the infectious agents, nutrition may play a role in the prevention, reducing the risk of infection, slow progression and in the treatment of these diseases.

The objective of this ASSAf report is to examine the nutritional influences on human immunity to inform policy and practice in South Africa so that existing scientific evidence is used in policies aimed at the prevention and nutritional treatment of TB and HIV/AIDS.

This chapter is motivated by the realisation that nutrition recommendations to the public can often be a drastic intervention in lifestyle and behavioural choices. Also, if food and nutrition aid or assistance forms part of health policy and practice, it is important that resources are spent cost-effectively. These recommendations should therefore be reliable, credible, applicable, and responsible, do no harm, and should be effective. The advice should be ethical, should take the complexity of situations into account, and if followed, should lead to beneficial changes in health. To ensure that nutrition recommendations comply with these criteria, they should be systematically developed, based on the best available evidence or standard of proof.

Evidence-based health policy and practice – definitions

According to Miller and Miller¹ (2005), "Evidence is information – it supports or undermines a proposition, whether a hypothesis in science, a diagnosis in medicine or a fact or point in question in a legal investigation. In medicine, physicians marshal evidence to make decisions on how to best prevent, diagnose and treat disease and to improve health". The quality of evidence indicates the extent of confidence that an estimate of an effect is correct².

Evidence-based medicine is defined by Sackett *et al.*³ (1996) as "*the conscientious, explicit, and judicious use of current best evidence in making decisions about the care of individual patients. The practice of evidence based medicine means integrating individual clinical expertise with the best available external clinical evidence from systematic research. By individual clinical expertise we mean the proficiency and judgement that individual clinicians acquire through clinical experience and clinical practice. Increased expertise is reflected in many ways, but especially in more effective and efficient diagnosis and in the more thoughtful identification and compassionate use of individual patients' predicaments, rights, and preferences in making clinical decisions about their care. By best available external clinical evidence we mean clinically relevant research, often from the basic sciences of medicine, but especially from patient centred clinical research into the accuracy and precision of diagnostic tests (including the clinical examination), the power of prognostic markers, and the efficacy and safety of therapeutic, rehabilitative, and preventive regimens. External clinical evidence both invalidate previously accepted diagnostic tests and treatments and replaces them with new ones that are more powerful, more accurate, more efficacious, and safer".*

Evidence-based nutrition has been defined⁴ as "the application of the best available systematically assembled evidence in setting nutrition policy and practice. It provides an objective framework in which to gather and review all available evidence to help inform policy and clinical practice".

Therefore, evidence-based recommendations should be based on the outcomes of a **systematic process of seeking, evaluating and grading contemporaneous research findings.** Because few clinicians (practitioners) will have time to base individual treatment on such a lengthy process, panels or working groups are often formed that follow the process to develop guidelines and recommendations to inform policy and practice. Many sources^{2, 5, 6} agree that the following basic steps (with many substeps) are needed for a successful process to develop evidence-based guidelines and recommendations:

- Step 1: To prioritise problems, formulate clear questions and to get agreements within the panel or group of all steps of the process.
- **Step 2**: To follow all sub-steps of constructing a systematic review of the relevant literature searches to grouping studies, evaluating the quality and importance of

individual studies, defining the critical outcomes, and profiling the evidence for the defined outcomes.

- Step 3: To evaluate (critically appraise) the evidence for each outcome for quality, validity, importance, and balance of benefits and potential harm: in other words to rate or grade the evidence for specific recommendations.
- Step 4: To formulate recommendations, describe the strength of the recommendations, implement and evaluate the recommendations. The strength of a recommendation will depend on the balance between benefit and harm, the quality of the evidence, the translation of the evidence into specific circumstances, the certainty of baseline risk and the collective costs of implementation².

Applied to the objectives of this ASSAf consensus study on nutritional influences on human immunity, these four steps are as follows:

- Step 1: A working group has been formed, the process agreed upon and the main questions formulated: What is the role of nutrition in the prevention and treatment of TB and HIV/AIDS in South Africa? The population is all South Africans at risk, the exposure is nutrition (dietary patterns, nutrient intakes, food security) and the outcomes are resistance to infections and improvement of clinical profiles (health) of infected persons.
- Steps 2 and 3: How to search and evaluate or judge the available literature, and how to grade the quality of the evidence, will be discussed in the remaining part of this chapter.
- **Step 4**: The implementation of this evidence in policy and practice recommendations, is the topic of the final chapter of this document.

Reviewing the literature

After formulating the question (What is the role of nutrition in the prevention and treatment of TB and HIV/AIDS in South Africa?), the relevant literature has to be gathered, using a structured search strategy, not restricted by language. It should include unpublished literature where possible. Clearly and explicitly defined and transparent criteria should be used to differentiate between different types and qualities of studies. **Tables I and II** shows checklists of questions and appropriate steps to follow when reviewing papers and intervention studies. These checklists are in agreement with the recommendations of the GRADE Working Group² namely that individual study *design* and *quality* should be evaluated, combined with an evaluation of *consistency* (similarities of effects across studies) and *directness* (the extent to which people [experimental subjects], exposures [interventions] and outcome measures are similar to those of interest). It is important to realise that the "quality" of individual studies for selection

to use, as well as a collection of studies for evaluation and grading of the total body of existing evidence are needed.

j.	81.1
Questions	Steps
1. Is the paper of interest?	Read the abstract; if yes, proceed.
2. What was done?	Read the introduction; does it justify why the study was worth doing?
3. What was the purpose of the study?	Are there clear research aims, question and/or hypotheses?
4. How was the research question(s) addressed?	Is the study design appropriate for the question? Is the subject recruitment described fully? (e.g. sampling, frame, inclusion and exclusion criteria, response rate, size and power) Is data collection methods described fully, appropriate methods and measures, validity, quality control, etc? Is there bias in subject recruitment and information? Are the statistical methods appropriate?
5. What are the results?	Read the result section: are results clearly presented?
6. Discussion	Read the discussion: does it reflect the results, the literature and is it self critical?
7. Conclusions, recommendations	Read the conclusions: are they justified? Are recommendations practical, feasible?

Table I. General checklist for reviewing papers⁴.

Some sources add funding or sponsorship as a final item to these checklists because of the possibility that funding or sponsorship of a particular study may introduce bias, which should be considered in evaluating studies. The review process to evaluate available evidence may be of other reviews or of original research papers and reports. Reviews may include narrative reviews and systematic reviews. The latter includes meta-analyses.

- **Narrative reviews:** these may be or are often commissioned papers written by experts, giving their own (potentially biased) viewpoints of a particular topic, quoting only literature supporting their viewpoints.
- Systematic reviews: these are review papers in which a detailed search strategy was used to include all relevant research on the topic (and not only those that suit the writer's point of view), differentiating between different types of studies and bringing together all available evidence on a particular topic so that informed judgements can be made.
- **Meta-analyses:** these are reviews in which data from different studies are pooled and re-analysed statistically⁷. The objective is to combine two or more studies to

decrease confidence intervals and increase statistical power. A meta-analysis may be based on all available studies collected systematically, or it may not, depending on the comparability of studies and data collected. It is often difficult to pool data from nutritional studies because exposure and outcome measures of different studies may not be the same⁴. Nevertheless, meta-analyses have specific advantages for policy makers, providing a single number summary of the overall estimate of an effect. Moreover, a test of heterogeneity may reveal variations between studies that could point to important interactions.

The different types of studies to be used in evaluating evidence about the relationships between nutrition and TB, HIV/AIDS are discussed in the next chapter.

Types of nutritional studies

Corroborative findings from many different kinds of nutritional studies can and should be used to gather sufficient evidence that nutrition is related to a disease⁸. For the purpose of this discussion, nutritional studies examining the relationships between past, present and future dietary or nutrient intake exposures to health outcomes related to TB, HIV/AIDS, will be grouped into either *observational* or *intervention* studies. The *observational* or descriptive studies includes ecological, cross-sectional, case-control and cohort studies and the *intervention* studies, include all experimental studies in which the scientist controls the system by making measured interventions in humans, animals, tissues or cells and compares the outcomes of these interventions to reference, control or placebo situations⁸.

Observational or descriptive studies

The descriptive nutritional epidemiology of TB, HIV/AIDS will include data on the relationships between dietary exposures and incidence, mortality and risk. The different types of descriptive or observational studies that could provide data to be evaluated for policy decisions are as follows:

Ecological or correlation studies

In these studies, population or group indices of dietary intake or nutritional status (exposure) are related to population or group indices of health status (outcome). The unit of analysis is not an individual but a group defined by time (e.g. calendar year, birth cohort), geography (e.g. country, province or city), or sociodemographic characteristics (e.g. ethnicity, religion or socioeconomic status)⁸. An example could be plotting the intake of a specific food, nutrient or marker of nutritional status (such as body mass index) against the incidence or severity (mortality) of TB, HIV or AIDS for each country in Africa.

Ecological studies are helpful when within-group (country or region) variation in exposure as small compared to between-group variation. Ecological studies are ideal to explore newly proposed hypotheses, serving as a basis to develop follow-up studies. They are useful for monitoring national trends in health indicators and the wider environmental (social, cultural and economic) factors that influence health.

The limitations or disadvantages of ecological studies are that they only show associations between exposures and outcomes on group level (never on an individual level). They do not prove causal links. In fact, observed relationships or associations between a dietary exposure and health outcome may be with a different, diet-associated confounding factor (such as a lack of hygienic environment or lack of care). Furthermore, a lack of an association between an aspect of diet and disease may disguise an actual relationship because of possible varying genetic predispositions in different populations⁹.

Cross-sectional studies

Cross-sectional studies measure exposures and outcomes in the present, and at the same time in individuals. These individuals are sampled from the population in such a way as to reflect the population characteristics for both exposure and outcome. If information on other population characteristics are collected (such as age, gender, income, education, etc.), the effects of these factors on the exposure-outcome relationship can also be assessed.

Some characteristics to note of cross-sectional studies to ensure that their results are reliable and usable⁸ are selection bias, information bias, sample size and power. If the source population and sampling frame are not clearly described in the methods, the results may not reflect the source population and may not be generalisable. If a particular sector of the source population is excluded (e.g. individuals too ill to participate), the prevalence estimate and reported associations may be misleading. The sample size must be adequate to provide a reliable estimate of the population prevalence. Sample size must, therefore, be calculated with available formulas and should be reported as part of the methods. There must be sufficient information reported in the methods to evaluate if the exposure, outcome and other variables were measured with the required level of accuracy to answer the question. Therefore, validation and standardisation of methods employed must be reported.

The main disadvantage of cross-sectional studies is that the exposures are not measured before the onset of the outcome: it is therefore not possible to disentangle cause from effect. It could be for example that the illness (HIV infection) changes dietary patterns and nutrient intakes. A measured relationship between dietary patterns and HIV infection will therefore not necessarily reflect any causal relationship between malnutrition and risk of infection.

Case-control (case-referent) studies

In these studies, patients with a disease are compared to controls without the disease. These studies recruit subjects or participants on the basis of their outcome status and then explore past exposure measures. Case-control studies are especially efficient where the outcome is rare and all available cases can be recruited from the population of interest. If the cases are self-selected, for example from people attending clinics, there may be selection bias because some patients, for various reasons, may not attend clinics. Therefore, the paper must report recruitment procedures clearly to be of use in gathering evidence. Controls should be recruited at random from the same population as the cases. After random selection, controls could be matched to cases on certain characteristics (e.g. age, gender, etc.) that are known to influence outcome but of themselves are of no direct interest in the study. Because case-control studies usually rely on past exposure, information bias is possible, especially when past dietary intakes are related to present outcomes. It is therefore important when reviewing these studies to assess if past exposure is reported with the same accuracy and precision in cases and controls. The impact of exposure on outcome in casecontrol nutritional studies is usually expressed as an odds ratio. Participants are ranked and intake grouped into quartiles or thirds of the distribution (e.g. high, medium and low) and risk of outcome assessed according to this distribution. The absolute intake is therefore not necessary. Provided that the ranking of intake is consistent between cases and controls, the estimate of risk will reflect the underlying risk of exposure on outcome⁸.

Case-control studies are suitable to study rare outcomes. They are restricted to assessing one outcome (or at the most subsets of related outcomes) but may be able to assess many different exposures. The biggest problem and disadvantage of case-control studies is the potential of information bias in past exposure dietary recalls⁸.

Cohort (prospective) studies

Cohort studies measure exposure in the present and outcome is assessed at some point in the future. A cohort study can therefore be used to draw causal inferences about the effect of the exposure on outcome because the exposure is measured before the outcome is known. In evaluating cohort studies, it should be noted that the sample is not always selected to represent the distribution within the whole population – it may be weighted to maximise the heterogeneity of exposure, or it might be selected to minimize loss to follow-up. These factors may be considered to be of more importance than representativeness of the sample. The sample size is important: it should be large enough and subjects should be followed up over a sufficient length of time to have sufficient disease endpoints to calculate an estimate of the risk of disease. The biggest disadvantage or concern of cohort studies is loss to follow-up, particularly when this may be differential by level of exposure. Therefore, when reviewing and evaluating cohort studies, one must ensure that the authors have described the drop-out rate and the reasons for loss of follow-up. It is possible that those who were lost to follow-up differed in important ways to those who were not lost. Other disadvantages of cohort studies are that they are often large, take many years to conduct and are expensive.

The biggest advantage of cohort studies is that they provide strong evidence for a causal relationship between exposures and outcomes, because it is unlikely that the measure of exposure is biased, being measured before the outcome is known.

Intervention (experimental, biological) studies

These are studies where the researcher controls or manipulates the exposure. They include human clinical trials (therapeutic, secondary or tertiary prevention), field trials (primary prevention) or field intervention studies. The best known clinical trial design, often used to examine effects of pharmaceutical agents, is the double-blind, placebo-controlled, cross-over, randomised clinical trial. This design is also used to examine effects of dietary interventions in healthy subjects or patients. Intervention studies include experimental studies using animal models or biological material. Human intervention trials provide the most robust test of a causal hypothesis. Human intervention trials are most often conducted at the individual level, but are sometimes conducted at population level. Experimental studies in animal models or other biological material are necessary to provide information on underlying biological mechanisms that could explain relationships between exposure and outcome in humans. It is not always possible, safe nor ethical to test some dietary interventions in humans, especially if the exposure is suspected of causing or increasing risk, or aggravating a disease. There are some general principles that are relevant to all types of intervention studies. Table II gives a checklist based on these principles that should be followed when reviewing intervention studies.

Gray and Gray¹⁰ matched the different types of studies to the types of questions or actions in health (dietetic) practice as follows:

- Cross-sectional study diagnosis;
- Randomised controlled trials treatment;
- Cohort study prognosis;
- Cohort study and case-control study etiology or harm.

This is a rather simplified model (as will be seen in the next chapter), but it does indicate the type of studies needed for evidence to formulate diagnostic and treatment guidelines, to assess etiology and prognosis and whether an intervention may be harmful.

Evaluation of dietary (nutrient) intake reports

When evaluating the literature to gather evidence that nutrition plays a role in immunity, TB and HIV/AIDS, the complexity of human nutrient intake and inter-related relationships between nutrients and between nutrition and health should be considered. The quality of any nutrition study will depend on the quality of information on food and nutrient intakes of participants in both descriptive and intervention studies. The reader is referred to Gibson¹¹ for a detailed description of nutritional assessment methodology. Following is a listing of some of the potential pitfalls and issues that should be kept in mind.

- The foods and drinks we consume daily contain thousands of chemicals. Some are well-known and classified as nutrients (see Table III). Some are identified with known effects on human physiology and disease risk, such as the phytochemicals, but not classified as nutrients; some are little known and unmeasured.
- Dietary intakes are variable: within and between individuals, from day-to-day, during different seasons and through the life cycle.
- There are associations and interactions between the different components in foods, between foods in the diet, and between diets and other behavioural characteristics (e.g. vegetarians often are non-smokers and non-drinkers). Effects will also depend on the duration of any intervention, and compliance to interventions.
- Changing a dietary component in intervention studies, invariably lead to other dietary changes which are not always possible to control for. For example, reducing fat in the diet, one of the other macro-nutrients must be increased to keep energy intake constant; increasing fibre in intervention diets introduce not only the fibre component, but many fibre-associated compounds as well as a dilution and volume factor, which may influence nutrient density, food intake (appetite), gastrointestinal responses to foods, etc.
- Food processing and cooking methods influence the composition of foods and should be reported.
- Illness, especially the infectious diseases under consideration, often change dietary behaviours, appetite, absorption and metabolism of nutrients, as well as nutrient and energy requirements.
- The measurement of dietary patterns, food consumption and nutrient intakes are prone to imprecision and systematic biases. There are different methodologies to measure intakes: each with specific advantages and disadvantages. In evaluating reports on intake, it should be assessed if a suitable and appropriate methodology for a specific study design was followed, whether the measurements were validated and whether appropriate chemical methods or food composition tables were used for nutrient analyses.

In addition to heterogeneity in dietary interventions, studies may differ extensively because of heterogeneity in participating subjects and the endpoints (outcomes) measured.

General principles	Details
Selection of the study population	Needs to be relevant to the study question; exclusion rules may apply, but these should be clear.
Allocation of treatment regimens	Randomisation is essential; a comparison group is essential (either placebo or other treatment). If a community population level experiment, ideally communities should also be randomised.
Length of observation	The study needs to be long enough for the effect of the exposure on outcome to occur, if it is going to.
Observer effects	Ideally should be blinded.
Participant effects	Ideally should be blinded.
Compliance	Should be described to make sure participants did (or did not) get the treatment. In some studies the treatment may be inadvertently shared with the controls, so they may also "benefit" from the treatment and the results would look as though there is no difference between treatment and control, and therefore that the treatment did not work (even though it really did!).
Ascertainment of exposure and outcome	Both need to be measured at baseline and follow-up with required accuracy.
Study size/statistical power	The study needs to be big enough to reduce the potential of a chance null effect. The number required depends on the effect expected and the accuracy of the methods used. If this is not described, beware!
Analysis and interpretation	Should be responsible.

Table II. Checklist for reviewing intervention studies⁸.

Grading (rating) evidence

There are various systems available and in use to rate the quality of scientific evidence^{2, 5, 12}. The quality and grading of evidence will determine the strength of recommendations for policy and practice, and therefore the confidence that adherence to the recommendation will do more good than harm². The American College of Cardiology together with the American Heart Association's Task Force on Practice Guidelines¹³ promote a system of Classification of Recommendations (see **Table IV**) combined with three levels of evidence (see **Table V**) for clinical practice. Probably the most experienced

body to grade evidence from nutritional studies is the panel responsible for the global report on Food, Nutrition and the Prevention of Cancer. In grading the scientific evidence "as a basis for dietary recommendations designed to prevent cancer" the panel used uniform methods and terminology. In their first report the panel used the terms *convincing*, *probable*, *possible* and *insufficient* to summarise a body of evidence. The panel further rated the relative strengths of associations between diet and cancer in individual

Class	Nutrient group	Nutrient/substance
Nutrients	J	-
Macronutrients (Provide energy)	Protein	21 amino acids *saccharides, starch, non-starch, polysaccharides (dietary fibre)
	Carbohydrate	
	Fat	glycerol, cholesterol, fatty acids (different chain lengths, saturation)#
Micronutrients	Water-soluble vitamins	C and B-group
	Fat-soluble vitamins	A, D, E and K
	Minerals	Ca, Fe, Zn, Na, Mg, K, I etc.
	Trace elements	Cu, Se, Mn etc.
Water	Water	Water
Non-nutrients		
	Phytoestrogens	Genistein, daidzein
	Lignans	
Phytochemicals (Thousands of different compounds)	Indoles	
	Phenolic acids	Dithiothiones etc.
	Resveratrol	
	Tannins etc.	
Other non- nutrients	Pigments	
	Alcohol	
	Additives etc.	

 Table III. Chemical substances in foods and drinks to illustrate possible heterogeneity in dietary interventions¹¹.

* Mono-, di-, oligo- and polysaccarides (sugars and starch); non-starch polysaccharides (dietary fibre)

omega-3, -6 and -9 fatty acids (with chain lengths from 12 to 22)

Level	Description
Class I	Conditions for which there is evidence and/or general agreement that a given procedure or treatment is useful and effective.
Class II	Conditions for which there is conflicting evidence and/or a divergence of opinion about the usefulness/efficacy of a procedure or treatment.
Class Ila	The weight of the evidence/opinion is in favour of usefulness/efficacy.
Class IIb	The usefulness/efficacy is less well established by evidence/opinion.
Class III	Conditions for which there is evidence and/or general agreement that the procedure/treatment is not useful/effective, and in some cases, may be harmful.

Table IV. Classification of recommendations for evidence-based clinical treatment¹³

studies as *strong* (relative risk or odds ratio >2.0 or <0.5 and statistically significant), *moderate* (relative risk or odds ratio >2.0 or <0.5 but not statistically significant, or else 1.5–2.0 or 0.5–0.75 and statistically significant) and *weak* (relative risk or odds ratio is 1.5–2.0 or 0.5–0.75 but not statistically significant)⁹.

In their more recent report⁹ the panel added grade 1 to convincing evidence, grade 2 to probable, grade 3 to possible and grade 4 to insufficient evidence. The panel described the requirement for evidence to fall into these grades as follows:

Grade 1 – Convincing evidence

A "convincing" relationship should be robust enough to be extremely unlikely to change over time, as new evidence accrues. The panel required the following characteristics:

- Evidence from more than one study type (epidemiological, experimental or clinical trial), with more than one prospective cohort study of sufficient duration;
- Presence of a plausible biological gradient ("dose response") in the association (such a gradient need not be linear or even in the same direction across the range of exposure);
- Evidence from experimental studies demonstrating one or more plausible mechanisms actually operating in humans;
- No significant qualitative heterogeneity between studies of different types, or in different populations or regions that could not be reasonably explained;
- Good quality studies to exclude with confidence the possibility that the observed association results from residual confounding;
- All reasonable alternate explanations for observed associations to be excluded (that is the relationship found to be specific to the particular exposure and outcome).

All other levels of evidence were defined according to the degree to which the evidence did not meet the above standards. It has not been possible to define precisely the specific deficits which might lead to one or another grading. Failure to achieve a higher grade might result from the accumulation of several small deficits against a number of standards, or from a major lack in one particular aspect of evidence. The definitions below give illustrations of the types of deficit that might lead to an association being judged less likely to be causal.

Grade 2 – Probable evidence

- There must be evidence from more than one study type, but there may be only one prospective cohort study;
- There may be unexplained heterogeneity between study types;
- There may be absence of one of a number of characteristics, e.g. a plausible dose response relationship, or evidence of a plausible mechanism operating in humans;
- There may simply not be a large enough body of good quality evidence to be able to exclude the possibility of residual confounding or other alternate explanations.

Grade 3 – Possible evidence

- There may be evidence from only one type of study, or from different study types but no prospective data;
- There is unexplained heterogeneity especially within but also between study types;
- The quality of studies may be inadequate;
- There may be absence of evidence for a plausible mechanism operating in humans, or there may be evidence for a mechanism unsupported by observational data;
- A dose response may not be observed;
- The body of evidence is inadequate in size or quality to exclude confounding, or other reasons for the observed association.

Grade 4 – Insufficient evidence

- There is insufficient evidence from any study type to draw firm conclusions;
- A plausible mechanism has not been demonstrated to operate in humans;
- Features characteristic of a causal relationship (e.g. dose response, homogeneity, specificity of association) are absent;
- Confounding or other reasons for the observed association remain likely.

This system has been developed to evaluate evidence of relationships between dietary exposures and health outcomes. It seems largely suitable for judging the evidence or the role of nutrition in preventing and treating TB, HIV/AIDS.

Gray and Gray¹⁰ suggested a hierarchy of evidence with 10 subclasses.

Level	Description
А	Data derived from multiple randomised clinical trials.
В	Data derived from a single randomised trial, or non-randomised studies.
С	Consensus opinion of experts (no research studies to support)

Table V. Level of evidence (for recommendations)¹³

Atkins and co-workers⁵, part of the GRADE Working Group, concluded that all of these systems had important shortcomings. The GRADE Working Group² proposed an alternative, simplified system for grading the quality of evidence, namely:

- **High:** further research is **unlikely** to change our confidence in the estimate of effect.
- *Moderate*: further research is *likely* to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and *may* change the estimate.
- **Low**: further research is **very likely** to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and is **likely** to change the estimate.
- *Very low*: Any estimate of effect is very uncertain.

Discussion, conclusions and recommendations

As mentioned at the beginning of the this chapter, the objective of this ASSAf report is to make strong recommendations for policy and practice, based on the existing evidence regarding the role of nutrition in prevention and treatment of TB, HIV/AIDS. This chapter indicated that there is agreement on how the quality of the different observational and intervention nutritional studies can be evaluated for use in an evidence-based approach. There are different systems available and in use to grade scientific evidence. Two of the systems presented here have the potential for application in this report: that of the WCRF and AICR⁹ (1997; 2007) and that of the GRADE Working Group^{2, 5}. The first system⁹ has been developed to examine and grade the evidence of the relationships between diet (nutrients) and a disease (cancer). There is a huge body of literature on these relationships, and the system seems the preferred one if sufficient studies have been done. The second^{2, 5} is a "simplified" system, developed to be applied across a wide range of interventions and contexts. It has been favourably tested against other systems, and seems to be particularly useful when only limited evidence is available. The simplicity of the system favours communication of recommendations. The GRADE system therefore seems to be the system of choice to use in the area of nutritional influences on TB, HIV/AIDS, because at present relative limited information is available. The simplicity of the system should furthermore ease communication of the important recommendations for policy emanating from this report.

Quality	Type of evidence (study designs)
1a (best)	Systematic review of randomised controlled trials
1b	Individual randomised controlled trials with narrow confidence interval
1c	All or none case series (when all patients died before a new therapy was introduced, but patients receiving the new therapy now survive)
2a	Systematic review of cohort studies
2b	Individual cohort study or randomised controlled trials with <80% follow-up
2c	Outcomes research; ecological studies
За	Systematic review of case-control studies
3b	Individual case-control studies
4	Case series
5 (worst)	Expert opinion

Table VI. Hierarchy of evidence¹¹.

Physiology and pathophysiology of nutrition, immunity, HIV infection and active tuberculosis

CHAPTER 4 Human Nutrition

This chapter of the report provides important background information necessary for the contextualisation of following chapters describing nutritional interventions in persons infected with HIV or affected by clinical tuberculosis. Because much of the information is the result over many years of a vast array of studies and conceptual contributions, one or a small number of general references is cited at the level of the title for each part or section of the chapter, rather than assembling an enormous number of original citations. Where specific, usually recent studies are involved, the citations concerned are individually provided.

Food consumption patterns¹⁻⁵

Humans mostly eat to live but they also, to a lesser or greater extent, live to eat. The first is because a living body that is moving around and doing things needs a supply of fuel matched to the activity level and the "idling" consumption, and must replace irreversible losses of body constituents that happen all the time but vary in their individual rates; the second is because humans are social beings for whom the usually pleasurable act of eating and drinking foods is an important ritual in both the social and personal domains. Which foods and drinks, and how much of them, are used by individuals over longer steady-state periods (which is what is almost always the factor that is nutritionally significant) is determined inter-relatedly by culture and by prevailing personal, sometimes even physiological or pathological circumstances. The total consumption can systematically exceed fuel and/or body-replacement requirements, or it can chronically fall short in one or both of these categories.

For purposes of this report, the importance of medium to long-term food consumption, quantitatively and qualitatively, lies in its role as a primary determinant of the nutritional status of the body of each individual in a population. People who are in negative nutritional balance with respect to either fuels and/or replacement nutrients are malnourished in degrees that range from marginal to sub-clinical to overtly clinical; their

bodies respond to this problem in evolved compensatory ways that become progressively more ineffective as the duration and extent of the shortfall in nourishment increases. Supervening incidents such as acute or chronic infections may perturb the body systems of both well-nourished and malnourished people in complex ways (see below).

It is obviously necessary to emphasise that nutritional deprivation can result over time not only from an inadequate intake (itself variably caused by absolute food shortage, the availability only of food of poor nutrient value, and/or poor appetite) but also from poor food retention (e.g. in bulimia), or from poor digestion in, and/or poor absorption from, the gastrointestinal tract. In addition, many disease processes can be associated with increased breakdown of body constituents not compensated for by increased resynthesis, leading to net losses of materials in excretions or secretions.

Digestion and absorption of the macro-constituents of foods

The processes of digestion of simple and complex carbohydrates, fats and proteins are reasonably well-understood, even if many details remain to be discovered. In essence, bulk macromolecular **carbohydrates** such as starches and glycogen (polysaccharides) as well as more complex carbohydrates such as glycoproteins, proteoglycans and mucins, are hydrolysed to the level of free monosaccharides, mostly glucose, partly in the mouth but mostly in the upper small intestine. Some of the indigestible oligosaccharides are broken down in the large intestine by fermentative bacterial action, forming shortchain fatty acids that are used a body fuels (usually about 10% of daily energy intake). Monosaccharides are absorbed through the small intestinal wall by facilitated transport processes, and passed through the portal circulation to the liver, to be stored there as glycogen or passed onto other organs through the systemic circulation, for use as a general fuel or (only in muscles) as a second store of glycogen, this time strictly for local use during physical activity. Small amounts of the carbohydrates reaching body cells eventually serve as replacement molecules for tissue constituents lost during the functional turnover mentioned above. Liver glycogen releases fuel glucose to other organs as soon as the last meal has been fully handled. The brain and the red cell mass in the blood depend completely on the glucose supply for fuel; other organs have a choice of fuel type (see below).

Fats in foods are nearly all in the form of triglycerides, but phospholipids, cholesterol and plant sterols are also present. Digestion occurs after thorough emulsification of the fats in the upper small intestine with the help of bile secreted by the liver; as in the case of carbohydrates, enzymes secreted by the pancreas into this segment of the intestines perform partial hydrolysis so that free fatty acids and residual monoglycerides can be

absorbed in bulk through the intestinal wall and parcelled up in chylomicrons on their way to the liver and from there to the systemic circulation.

The uptake of the circulating dietary fats by different organs, catalysed by lipoprotein lipase, leads to their immediate use as energy source or alternatively to their deposition as stored fuel, mostly in adipose tissue but also in organs such as cardiac and red skeletal muscle. Small amounts of the fats are used in rebuilding tissue constituents such as membrane phospholipids lost during body turnover. Following the handling of the last meal, adipose tissue releases fatty acids into the blood as a primary fuel for many organs and tissues. Dietary cholesterol is absorbed with the triglycerides and utilised at macro-level in membranes as structural constituents, and at micro-level for biosynthesis of steroids in a variety of endocrine and other tissues. Plant sterols are not absorbed by normal human intestines.

Proteins (polymers of a basic set of 21 high-prevalence amino acids) present in foods are initially digested in the churning acid contents of the stomach, after which complete hydrolysis to the level of the constituent amino acids occurs in the upper small intestine, catalysed by enzymes secreted into the bowel lumen by the pancreas. The amino acids are absorbed across the intestinal wall in facilitated fashion by a limited number of carrier molecules, and are then despatched to the liver via the portal circulation. The 20 amino acids undergo a large number of specific and general biotransformations in the liver and in other organs, which they reach through the systemic circulation. Some amino acids or their products are used as organ or tissue fuels, others serve extensively as body replacement molecules, and yet others have a wide variety of specific functions in the cells in which they end up. In this sense, proteins are both macro- as well as micronutrients, because their constituent **amino acids** vary in amount in different foods sources, and some play physiological roles, either as precursors of other compounds or in their own right, that are similar in principle to those played by the recognised micronutrients such as vitamins and trace metals. In fact, at least one "rare" amino acid is a pro-vitamin (tryptophan can be converted to vitamin B, when sufficient amounts are available to the enzyme pathway concerned), while others are precursors of glutathione, a key intracellular anti-oxidant (see below), and yet another (arginine) is the direct precursor of the widespread signalling molecule, nitric oxide. Some amino acids are, or give rise to, important neurotransmitters.

It will be evident from the above account that all the macro food constituents serve as fuels for the working body, but they are also stored for later use, as a fuel supply between meals, so to speak, and used as materials to replace lost body constituents arising from the endless turnover of many of the components of cells and tissues. (There are highly complicated neuro-endocrine mechanisms regulating the processes concerned, reviewed in^{6–8}).

Plasticity of the intestinal tract in macro-nutritional deprivation

The **small intestine** has a huge absorptive area in that the mucosa is thrown up into many tall folds, and each fold is literally covered by a population of absorptive cells, functionally maturing towards the tip; each mucosal (epithelial) cell also has a microscopic "brush border" consisting of tightly packed microvilli, through which the actual absorption takes place. When nutritional demands are generally increased, such as in pregnancy or sustained exercise or cold stress, the intestinal folds become taller and the total number of absorptive cells increases, making the intestine more efficient per unit of its length. This means that there does not have to be a linear increase in food intake as the body demand increases⁹.

When food deprivation is prolonged, the intestine responds adaptively by slowing cell division and the migration of immature new cells up the absorptive folds, effectively shortening the folds but increasing the percentage of actively absorbing mucosal cells; the result is conservation of energy and materials, and an intestine that is still functional in handling such macronutrient loads as are offered to it⁹.

Contribution of (large) intestinal bacterial populations to host macro-nutrition

Healthy adult humans constantly harbour about 1.5 kilograms of bacteria (about 10–100 trillion) in their intestines, some in the small intestine but almost all in the large intestine or colon; the bacteria are established soon after birth, have reached a unique compositional mix by 2 years of age, and are maintained thereafter in what is probably a highly individual pattern of steady-state colonisation¹¹. The gut flora ("microbiota") are highly specialised in that 99% of them are drawn from only two of the 70 divisions of bacteria found in Nature, and only one of the 13 divisions of archaeobacteria. Other organisms, including protozoa and fungi exist in much smaller numbers, and occasionally pathogenic microbes succeed in establishing themselves in the bowel; there are effective mechanisms for detecting these and responding to them (see Chapter 7).

The **gut microbiota** assist in the intestinal processing of fibrous food residues; detoxify (through biotranformations) many residual xenobiotics but may also generate their own toxins; convert hydrogen gas formed by fermentations into methane; and release a number of micronutrients for use by the host human body¹¹. They may also serve other useful symbiotic functions, including supporting normal immune function. The bacterial mass contributes only an estimated 10% of nutrients absorbed from the gut as a whole, even in starvation, but diminution or alteration of the population

can lead to disturbances in gastrointestinal function and metabolic status. There are indications that both local (gut) and systemic immunity can be affected by interactions between "normal" bacteria (non-pathogenic commensals) and the gut epithelium, but experimental evidence is so far mostly restricted to certain probiotics (exogenously introduced beneficial bacteria) and prebiotics (food components that selectively support the outgrowth of beneficial bacteria), both of which appear to be able to modulate immune signalling in the mucosal wall, as well as immune interactions between the gut and the distributed general immune system^{12, 13} (see Chapter 7).

Common disturbances of gastrointestinal function associated with nutritional perturbations

Consumption of available food can be affected when various pathophysiological disturbances occur as a result of one or the other disease. Loss of appetite (anorexia) is the simplest of these, even though the phenomenon may vary from mild and temporary to severe and long-lasting, depending on the precipitating factor(s). Loss of appetite commonly accompanies "inflammation", defined as the systemic response of the body (mediated by cytokines and hormones) to an infection (or, sometimes, another "foreign stimulus "such as an auto-antigen or a cancer), provoking activation of innate and/or adaptive immunity. The cytokine most often responsible for anorexia in inflammatory states is the form of tumour necrosis factor called TNF- α . Appetite, counter-intuitively, is a very imperfect stimulus of a need for nutritional repletion; it can be habitually "abused" by over-eaters (of both the "binging" and the "grazing" type), while starved humans adaptively learn to keep it at bay; it is highly dependent on social cues and/ or the state of the psyche; it is influenced by smell and taste factors that are themselves determined by habit and by temporary local disturbances like nasal colds or mouth/ tooth/throat pathology; it is severely depressed when people feel nauseous (see below); it is ultimately a mostly subjective feeling that is nevertheless usually the single most important determinant of food intake over time in situations where food supply itself is not the determining factor.

Dyspepsia, or discomfort experienced while, or just after, eating food is distressing but not usually a cause of under- or malnutrition unless it is complicated by other phenomena (see below) or adaptively depresses the appetite. **Nausea** is a very uncomfortable subjective state with objective upper gastrointestinal as well as general body symptoms, which prevents or minimises the consumption of food over a short period, or chronically (for example, in patients taking chemotherapy for advanced cancers). Intense nausea often leads to **vomiting**, which is a severely distressing event accompanied by extensive autonomic nerve system activity, and made possible by a combination of concerted abdominal muscle contraction and relaxation of the region of the gastro-oesophageal sphincter. Food that has been taken into the stomach and upper intestine is lost before it can be digested. Vomiting that is short-lived does little harm, and is part of an evolutionarily preserved reaction to potentially (or actually) poisonous food, or to prevent food being added to a stomach or intestine which is temporarily undergoing pathological processes and needs to have time to deal with these. Vomiting that is prolonged, on the other hand, rapidly runs down the body in nutritional terms as it usually forms part of a serious disturbance in which abnormal amounts of hormones and cytokines are circulating in the body, the autonomic nervous system is in disarray, and water and electrolyte balance are both abnormal.

Diarrhoea, like vomiting, can be short-lived and mild, or it can become lifethreatening in diseases such as toxic gastroenteritis, cholera and various dysenteries. Massive loss of water and accompanying electrolytes, in frequently and urgently passed watery stools, is usually associated with severe loss of appetite, and often with nausea and vomiting; nutrition essentially comes to an end as all or most of the food previously ingested is lost with its partially digested products as a result of severe "intestinal hurry", dysfunctional absorption mechanisms, and temporary cessation of new intake. Mild, intermittent but chronic diarrhoea is found in sub-acute disorders of the small and large bowel, as well as the liver and pancreas, and also in HIV infections (see Chapter 7). This may be accompanied by malabsorption of nutrients (usually fats in the case of liver or pancreatic disease), or micronutrients. Fat malabsorption readily leads to deficient absorption of fat-soluble vitamins, while malabsorption arising from primary intestinal disease of medium or long-term duration may additionally affect the uptake by the body of dietary water-soluble vitamins and essential trace metals particularly zinc (see below). The effects of acute and chronic "immunitis" (immune activation in terms of various kinds of cells and release of certain cytokines, and/or depletion of specific lymphocyte populations) on nutrient absorption over time, of obvious importance in HIV-infected persons, has not been adequately studied to date (see Chapter 7).

Whole-body energy metabolism - energy balance

A balance between energy intake and expenditure is achieved when an adult maintains a stable body weight; effective energy intake (that part of all the food ingested which is actually absorbed from the gut) must equal total energy expenditure. Malnutrition, either under- or over-nutrition, results when one side of the equation "outweighs" the other over a substantial period of time. The amount of energy the body needs in order to function appropriately is determined by the basal metabolic rate; the energy expended due to dietary thermogenesis (heat generated by the body when digesting and absorbing the food), and for the maintenance of a constant body temperature; the energy needed to deposit or replace cells and tissues; and the energy expended during physical activity.

The different aspects of energy metabolism are tightly regulated by the **neuroendocrine** system^{6–8}. Electrochemical messages from the nervous system are translated into hormonal messages, delivered to target cells, tissues or organs; in turn, circulating hormones and cytokines act back on neural systems. The hypothalamus, a key component of the neuro-endocrine system, is directly and indirectly involved in energy metabolism. Through direct innervation of the adrenal medulla, it can stimulate the general release and distribution of noradrenaline, resulting in an increased metabolic rate (mobilisation of glucose and fatty acids from tissues; increased heart rate and force). Cortisol may be released into the circulation from the adrenal cortex through the chain effect of the release of corticotropic-releasing hormone (CRH) from the hypothalamus, acting on the pituitary gland causing the release of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH). Cortisol also acts to mobilise fuels, predominately via the breakdown of muscle protein into amino acids and their sunsequent conversion into glucose. Stress and infection are powerful stimuli for the release of cortisol via this neuroendocrine pathway. An example of a stimulus that originates in a peripheral tissue is the release of leptin from adipose tissue in response to an increase in the amount of triglycerides present in the fat cells; leptin's action on the hypothalamus results in decreased food intake and lowered metabolic rate.

Factors affecting energy balance

Appetite is controlled by a complex system of sensations (taste, smell, fullness and satiety) as well as neural and humoral factors. Central control of appetite resides primarily in the hypothalamus and the brain stem. Peripheral control of appetite occurs by means of hormones and peptides released by the gut (ghrelin, cholecystokinin, pancreatic polypeptide and others) and other endocrine tissues (insulin and leptin). During episodes of illness and stress, appetite is decreased (see below). **Digestion and absorption** (see above) affect the actual delivery to the body of ingested food components, and any disruption of the architecture, function and immunity of the intestines (as is the case with HIV infection), is likely to result in intestinal inflammation and/or secondary gastrointestinal infections and consequent malabsorption and diarrhoea, severely reducing the amount of energy available to the body for its functions (see also Chapter 7).

The **basal metabolic rate (BMR)** accounts for 60–75% of total energy expenditure in the absence of (immediate) past, as well as present, physical activity. Measured upon waking after a 12-hour, overnight fast and prior to the ingestion of any food (i.e.in the post-absorptive state), it is indicative of the energy needed to sustain the metabolic activity of cells and tissues and to maintain blood circulation and respiration in the resting but awake state. **Resting metabolic expenditure (REE)** is typically measured

only 3–4 hours after a meal at any time of the day and prior physical activity is not controlled for. While **sleeping metabolic rate** is approximately 5–10% lower than basal metabolic rate, resting metabolic rate is about 10–20% higher than basal metabolic rate.

Basal metabolic rate is dependent on age, gender, body composition, nutritional and health status. An individual's fat-free mass (bones, muscles etc) is composed of the most metabolically active components of the body and is for this reason the major predictor of basal metabolic rate; the decline in BMR that occurs with aging (approximately 1–2% every 10 years in weight-stable individuals) is most likely due to the progressive decrease in fat-free mass and the increase in fat mass that occurs over time.

Thermogenesis is the use by the body of increased metabolic oxidations to generate heat. The conversion of energy from food into the high-energy biochemical compounds that can be used as "chemical energy currency" by the body for various metabolic processes is normally an inefficient process, so that roughly 50% of the ingested potential energy is lost to heat production. The **dietary thermogenic response** to protein consumption (20–30% increase in energy expenditure above BMR) is far greater than the effect caused by the consumption of carbohydrate (5–10% increase in energy expenditure above BMR). The ingestion, digestion and absorption of a typical mixed meal elicit an increase in energy expenditure equivalent to approximately 10% of the kilojoules consumed. Ingestion of caffeine, a sympathetic nervous system stimulant, can increase metabolic rate by 10–30% above baseline for up to 3 hours post ingestion; on a daily basis, a typical caffeine intake can cause up to 3% increase in total energy expenditure.

Growth, pregnancy and lactation are special body states in which energy metabolism adapts upwards to meet the particular extra needs. Infants and children require energy to synthesise and deposit tissue so that their bodies can grow; in the first months of a person's life, the energy required for **growth** accounts for approximately 35% of the total energy required by the body. This energy cost of growth decreases to about 3% of the total energy required by the body after 12 months of life and remains low until puberty, when the energy cost of growth again increases to 4% of the total energy required. During **pregnancy** the basal metabolic rate increases, the energy cost of physical activity due to increased weight-bearing increases by approximately 20% (lessening in advanced pregnancy), and extra energy is required for the deposition of maternal and foetal tissue. The synthesis of breast milk and the process of **lactation** accounts for a 4–5% increase in basal metabolic rate.

Typical amounts of **physical activity** on a daily basis accounts for approximately 20–30% of the total energy expended by an individual, with "fidgeting" making up a surprisingly large fraction of the expenditure. Increasing levels of physical activity, in terms of both intensity and duration, require appropriately increasing amounts of

energy to execute. The body will also continue to require energy once the activity is ceased, proportional to the degree of effort (**post-exercise thermogenesis**). During prolonged, intense exercise the body heat content will rise, mainly due to inability to lose heat quickly enough. During low intensity exercise, fat stores (muscle and adipose triglycerides) are more likely to be utilised, whereas during more intense exercise carbohydrate stores (muscle glycogen and glucose) are utilised.

Activation of the immune system and inflammation: important determinants of energy balance

The body defends itself against the invasion of bacteria or viruses by activating its immune system in ways that entail mobilisation of stored energy-yielding fuels (see below) accompanied by a downward modulation of food intake (anorexia).

The neural, endocrine and immune systems are interlinked in that they produce and respond to a number of common regulatory molecules including hormones, neuropeptides, cytokines and neurotransmitters, an interaction well illustrated in the relationship between inflammation and appetite control. During infection, **proinflammatory cytokines** such as interleukin-1 beta (IL-1 β), interleukin-6 (IL-6) and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) are released by active immune cells (see below); amongst other effects, these cytokines increase the release of **leptin** from adipose tissue and decrease the release of **ghrelin** from the stomach^{14, 15}. Leptin acts as a proinflammatory cytokine and enhances Th 1-dependent T-cell functions (especially in CD4⁺ cells, see below) and increased energy expenditure. Decreased ghrelin levels result in a loss of appetite and decreased anti-inflammatory effects of this hormone. Loss of appetite and increased energy expenditure result in negative energy balance in the medium to long term. **Fever and shivering** often accompany inflammation: polymorphonuclear neutrophils release an endogenous pyrogen whose action on the hypothalamus, via prostaglandins, results in the resetting of the body's thermostat.

The hypothalamus senses that the pre-infection temperature is too low and initiates shivering (involuntary means of increase body temperature through muscle contraction and movement) and vasoconstriction of blood vessels to the skin, both of which effects increase body temperature.

Energy balance when food intake falls

In the face of starvation or prolonged fasting, the various stores of fat, protein and glycogen are mobilised and oxidised in order to meet the body's energy requirements. Varying proportions of these stores can be lost without serious health implications; of 9

kg of body fat, not more than 1 kg is essential, but loss of more than 25% of 10 kg of body protein and 1 kg of carbohydrate results in impairment of body function. Mortality rates increase dramatically with a decrease of 30% of body weight. The primary adaptation of the body to starvation is the preferred utilisation of ketone bodies (a by-product of rapid and energy-intense fatty acid oxidation) instead of glucose; this adaptation halves the rate of loss of body protein.

Energy balance in chronic infections

Prolonged HIV and/or *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (TB) infections, associated with negative energy balance, result in the loss of body protein stores as well as adipose tissue^{16, 17}. Weight loss and wasting, for example, are independent contributing factors to increased morbidity and mortality in HIV infections, but wasting is not an inevitable consequence, as there appears to be a high degree of variability in the extent of weight loss and wasting in HIV-infected individuals and, in most cases, acute weight-loss episodes are associated with secondary infections. Following recovery from secondary infections, HIV-infected individuals tend to gain weight and remain relatively weight-stable ¹⁸. Instances of chronic weight loss in HIV infection are normally associated with gastrointestinal inflammation and/or infection, and associated malabsorption. A very different picture is seen with active tuberculosis, where rates of whole-body protein synthesis and breakdown are less accelerated than in HIV-infected individuals. In addition to this, upon re-feeding the mediators of the immune system appear to block anabolic processes in TB patients, preventing them from regaining weight even when provided with sufficient food^{16, 17}.

The reasons for **HIV-associated weight loss and wasting** are multifactorial. Negative energy balance may be due to an inability of HIV-infected individuals to increase food intake sufficiently to balance the increased resting energy expenditure and/or the decreased absorption of ingested food components due to gastrointestinal disease or virus-related disruption of the intestinal mucosa. **Food security and availability**, particularly in the developing world, is an important aspect of HIV-associated weight loss and wasting; it is usually further complicated by the fact that individuals who are ill are not able to go to work to earn enough money to buy food, nor can they work in their fields which may be the only source of food. **Decreased appetite**, a common complaint of many HIV-infected individuals, is most profound in the later stages of HIV infection, probably due to the anorexic effect that the pro-inflammatory cytokines exert on the body (see below). **Malabsorption** of food is another important contributor to the decreases energy availability in HIV-infected individuals; disruption of the architecture and function of the intestines and consequent malabsorption and diarrhoea are common features of HIV infection, and HIV-infected individuals may decrease their food intake to minimize the episodes and severity of the diarrhoea.

Resting energy expenditure (see above) is indicative of the basal metabolic activity of the body. In HIV infections, resting energy expenditure is expected to be elevated due to increased cytokines linked to on-going viral replicative activity, as well as increased protein turnover and de novo hepatic lipogenesis. Increased REE is usually the result of increased levels of thyroid hormones, catecholamines and cortisol, but in HIV-infected individuals, the levels of these hormones appear to be normal. The findings of a recent meta-analysis investigating resting energy expenditure in HIV-infected individuals were that resting energy expenditure, expressed per kg fat-free mass (REE/FFM), was significantly higher (~11%) in HIV-infected individuals than in healthy HIV-negative controls¹⁹. Sub-group analyses showed that the REE/FFM of symptomatic HIV-infected individuals tended to be higher than that of asymptomatic, weight-stable HIV-infected individuals, although not significantly so. There is also evidence to suggest that the type of secondary infection complicating HIV infection might influence changes in the resting energy expenditure. A number of studies have shown that HIV-infected individuals are not hypermetabolic in terms of total energy expenditure (TEE), even though one would expect them to display an increase in TEE as a result of the increased resting energy expenditure, this was not the case. In fact, TEE was significantly reduced in HIV-infected, rapidly weight-losing men, apparently because they significantly reduced their activity-related energy expenditure. Since total energy input (after digestion and absorption of food) and total energy expenditure are the major determinants of energy balance, net weight loss in HIV infections is associated with greater losses of inputs than of outputs in terms of energy.

A possible reason to look again at obesity

Many obese persons may live on diets that contain inadequate amounts of certain micronutrients; in some cases these may have functionally significant repercussions (see Chapter: Brief from Council). Macrophages in the plentiful fat tissue of such persons are now known to release pro-inflammatory cytokines, primarily but not only TNF- α ; this may be part of the pathophysiology of what is called the "metabolic syndrome" typical of obese individuals⁸. The may well be immunological defecits under these conditions that intersect with HIV associated changes, but little evidence to date has become available. A possibly serious problem for HIV-infected obese individuals may be activated transcription of HIV in infected cells (see Chapters 6 and 7) through the NF- κ B pathway especially if there are simultaneous deficiencies in anti-oxidant vitamins and minerals.

Micronutrients: Vitamins²⁰

Vitamins are organic micronutrients which have been shown to be required in medium to long-term human diets for optimum health and to avoid asymptomatic deficiency states or full-blown diseases. Most of them are precursors of some of the coenzymes of cellular metabolism, while a few have less well-defined but potentially important roles such as antioxidant function. In evolutionary terms, the progression to complex, multi-cellular, multiorgan, predatory animal life (such as that of humans) appears to be have been accompanied by the deletion (or mutational loss-of-function) of many of the genes required for the often multi-step and complex pathways leading to the biosynthesis of many coenzymes. This evolution has occurred either through natural selection or genetic drift, as the foods habitually consumed began adequately to provide what was required by the populations concerned. Frequently, the evolutionary genetic change left in place a variable number of enzymes involved in the final stages of coenzyme biosynthesis, to increase the "catchment" of vitamin materials by enabling food consumers to use a number of prevalent precursors rather than only the finished coenzyme itself; coenzyme molecules in foods need in any case to be partly disassembled to be absorbed during the bulk processes of the digestion and absorption of food. All compounds that can be transformed to the active intracellular coenzymes from food are called the "vitamers" of the vitamin concerned.

The vitamer concept is crucial in nutrition because it partly explains the variable **bioavailability** of vitamins present in food sources of different kinds, subjected to different forms of storage and types of preparation, and mixed with other food constituents. The other main cause of differential bioavailability is the complexity of the physico-chemical environment of the vitamer molecules in the food being ingested – many forms of strong or weak binding to other molecules or structures affect the rates at which they can be made available to intestinal absorptive mechanisms. (An example well-known in pellagra prevention is the binding of vitamin B₃ to a variety of complex polymeric carbohydrates in staple maize products, but rendered freely available to the body by prior treatment with alkaline solutions). Another factor in the bioavailability of some vitamers is the concomitant consumption of certain drugs or alcohol. A key factor in the absorption of fat-soluble vitamins (see below) is the need for fat to be present in the food being ingested, so that co-absorption with the bulk lipid phase can occur.

Because of the enormous complexity and variety of vitamin digestion, absorption, transport, storage and cellular metabolism, vitamin **deficiencies** have necessarily to be seen as the consequence of medium- to long-term negative balance between whole-body intake and loss, in a spectrum of features typical of mild, moderate and severe imbalance. Characteristically, mechanisms exist to protect vital functions, and decreased urinary excretion is often the first indication of a shrinking body pool, blood levels remaining

unchanged. As depletion progresses, still asymptomatically, urinary excretion of vitamins or their inactive metabolites virtually ceases, intestinal absorptive elements may be induced (see above), and blood concentrations of vitamins and their metabolites begin to fall, reflecting lowered content of tissues and decreased metabolic transformation. The next stage is reached when the measurable activity significantly falls of tissue or cell systems dependent on, or actually involving coenzymes derived from vitamins; this may be accompanied by subjective symptoms of ill-health (malaise, anorexia or psychological changes) and/or detectable dysfunction of certain body systems and/or early clinical signs of a **deficiency state**. It is important to remember that vitamin-derived coenzymes are shared inside living cells as co-catalysts by many enzymes, with differing concentrations, affinities and turnover rates: there will invariably be a hierarchy of ways in which functions are lost, and these will differ in different cell types or organs. Eventually, the body's "defence" of its crucial coenzyme supply fails, and severe morphological and functional abnormalities ensue, usually quickly correctable by high doses of replacement vitamins, and more slowly by doses closer to the "recommended daily allowances" (now called the "Average Nutrient Requirement", see below) of the vitamin in question. If uncorrected, the by now severely ill bodies of deficient subjects will develop the serious features of classical deficiency syndromes, which unless reversed by energetic, usually hospital-based therapy, will be followed by death. The above account is necessarily highly generalised, and will vary with different vitamins, populations, individuals and situations, but it is sufficiently applicable to be of considerable value in approaching any given person who may have nutritional inadequacy of any kind, especially in clinical trials involving nutritional interventions (see following chapter).

Causes of vitamin insufficiency in any given subject can thus be one or more of the following sustained states: **primary food shortage**; **diminished food intake**; **decreased absorption**; **increased requirements**; **and increased losses**. The last two reflect the dynamic status of coenzymes and other vitamins or vitamin-derived compounds in different body situations, such as heavy physical activity, pregnancy, lactation, rapid growth and – crucially for our topic – infections which are accompanied both by systemic "inflammation" and by specific pathophysiological disturbances associated with the type and stage of infection concerned (for example, the rapid turnover of lymphocyte populations in long-term HIV infections, or acute illness caused by secondary infections). The capacity of the body to "store" vitamins that can be mobilised in times of shortage consists in some cases of an actual evolved mechanism to create a reserve (for example, special cells in the liver that store vitamin A as retinol esters) but is more often simply a reflection of the complex inter-organ, inter-cell or even intracellular devices, already described above, that serve to protect essential body functions for as long as possible when the total pool of micronutrient falls for any of the above reasons.

Modern understanding of human physiology at the molecular level has begun to reveal extensive **genetic heterogeneity** in populations, not so much rare point mutations giving rise to specific disorders in vitamin-related pathways or processes, but common variant alleles whose frequency during human evolution has reached some kind of genetic equilibrium for reasons that may or may not have been already deciphered. Such alleles may be systematically associated with different rates of gene transcription, in different challenge situations, if the substitution is in the promoter region; alternatively, there may be a structural (and functional) difference between the products of the alternative genes. Important examples of this phenomenon have been elucidated in the field of inflammatory cytokines, haemoglobins and histocompatibility antigens of the HLA system; there is no reason to doubt that similar allelic frequency differences will be found in the case of human vitamin metabolism, and that many conclusions based on the assumption of genetic homogeneity in test or trial populations will be found to reflect composite response behaviours of subsets of the subjects concerned.

The **classification of vitamins** depends on two things: the acceptance by the international nutritional community of particular organic micronutrients as being usually or always essential (though only in small quantities relative to macronutrient needs), in the long-term diets of human populations; and the water- or fat-solubility of the vitamer(s) concerned that is most easily utilised by human bodies (for example, nicotinic acid or nicotinamide in the case of vitamin B_3 , are water-soluble compounds but many of their unprocessed food forms are water-insoluble). Only thirteen vitamins (including all the known vitamers in each case) are recognised in human nutrition – the nine **water-soluble** vitamins are thiamine (B_1), riboflavin (B_2), niacin (B_3), pantothenic acid (B_5), pyridoxine (B_6), vitamin C, biotin, folate, and cobalamin (B_{12}); while the four **fat-soluble** vitamins are vitamins A, D, E and K. Three of these vitamins are really only "conditionally essential" micronutrients, as they can be synthesised in most or all human bodies – vitamin D by the action of sunlight on (pale) skin, and vitamin K made available from intestinal bacteria (niacin can be biosynthesised from the essential amino acid tryptophan provided this is itself provided in the diet in adequate amounts).

Since the dietary intake is a primary determinant of whether a state of vitamin insufficiency may develop in any person, the **stability** of the vitamers present in food before it is eaten is important. Storage losses are proportional to temperature, pH and moisture content (enzymatic decomposition), by light exposure (riboflavin, folate) or bacterial or fungal contamination. Processing losses are caused by the same physical factors, enhanced by physical leaching into cooking water (some processing gains may occur, of course, such as the release of bioavailable niacin from maize foods under alkaline conditions). Modern pre-treatments that inactivate degradative enzymes (for example, rapid heat exposure or pasteurisation) assist materially in conserving the effective vitamin content of many foods.

Vitamin requirements

Because absolute bioavailability is never determinable in any given person for any given diet (for the many reasons already given above), it is very difficult to specify how much of a particular vitamin must be consumed by that person per day, averaged over a period of time. Nutrient-based dietary recommendations used and applied to assess diets and plan nutrition policy, programmes and interventions of individuals and groups, are standards (reference values) proposed for all healthy people. They are based on scientific knowledge of human nutrient requirements (and all known factors influencing these). Recently, the United Nations University, supported by the International Union of Nutritional Sciences (IUNS), the World Health Organisation (WHO) and the Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO), convened a group of international experts to harmonize nutrient-based dietary recommendations²¹. The group inter alia agreed that:

- The umbrella term to describe these recommendations should be Nutrient Intake Values (NIVs); this should replace the USA/Canadian term of Dietary Reference Intakes (DRIs) and the British term of Dietary Reference Values (DRVs);
- The average or mean nutrient requirement, estimated from a statistical distribution of requirements for a specific criterion (e.g. to prevent a deficiency disease or to maintain body stores) for a specific life-stage and gender group (age and sex), should be termed the Average Nutrient Requirement (ANR). (In the USA, Canada and Britain this is known as the Estimated Average Requirement (EAR) and in the European Communities as the Average Requirement Intake (ARI));
- The "Recommended Dietary Allowance" or RDA (USA and Canadian term) known in Britain as the Reference Nutrient Intake (RNI) and in Europe as the Population Reference Intake (PRI), and usually set at two standard deviations above the ANR, should be known as the Individual Nutrient Intake Level (INLx). If the INL is set at two standard deviations above mean intake, it will be shown as INL98. This opens the door for populations to set a lower value if their circumstances or policies do not permit achieving an intake to the 98th percentile for the total population.

These definitions, while operationally useful in nutrition and the food industry, are obviously highly problematic when dealing with an individual who is not "apparently" healthy (for example, in being infected with HIV and/or M.tuberculosis), who may or may not be subject to causes of deficiency other than primary dietary insufficiency, who may or may not have asymptomatic deficiency/ies as described above, and/or who may differ genetically from the majority members of the population.

Assessment of vitamin deficiency status of individuals and populations^{20, 22}

Because dietary history combined with food tables, while important, is not a wholly reliable guide to the nutritional status of individuals, clinical acumen and laboratory tests are mandatory in assessments such as are needed in persons who suffer from subacute or chronic infections, and who may be involved in clinical trials. Clinical features to be looked for include various anthropometric measures, like body weight, body-mass indices and standardised skin-fold thickness, especially valuable if observed over time; symptoms and signs of systemic inflammation, such as fever, muscle pains, anorexia and nausea; indications of intestinal macronutrient malabsorption; and symptoms and signs of all the specific vitamin deficiency syndromes. Laboratory tests that have become preferred for reasons of affordability, feasibility, reliability, relevance and conclusiveness have usually been derived from a detailed understanding of the physiological phenomena underlying the absorption, intravascular transport, organ metabolism and pre-excretory biotransformations of the vitamin concerned; as our knowledge increases, the tests available will undoubtedly become better and more informative, and will include genetic assessments now in their infancy. In general, there is still at present a lack of useful markers for the detailed micronutrient status of individuals. In general, complex and expensive tests that demonstrate functional deficits directly correctable with vitamin administration or addition are superior to simpler and cheaper "snapshot" measurements of the levels in blood, plasma and/or urine of micronutrients or their metabolites. There is no doubt that the ready availability of tests that are both accurate and informative, and affordable and usable in field settings, is a high priority for South Africa, a country where "hidden hunger" (equivalent to functional deficiencies of one or more micronutrients) is very common²³ (see Chapter 10) and where clinical research relies heavily on establishing valid inclusion criteria, baselines and outcomes for nutritional interventions in chronic infectious diseases like HIV infection and clinical tuberculosis.

An example of how improved understanding can lead to better nutritional assessment is especially relevant to the topic of this report. Persons who are in a state of systemic "inflammation" as they respond to pathogen invasions undergo a large-scale, short-term re-direction of hepatic protein synthesis (due to cytokine stimulation) towards making and secreting less albumin, plasma retinol binding protein (RBP), transthyretin and apolipoprotein A1, and much more of the "**acute phase proteins**", C-Reactive Protein (CRP), serum amyloid A (SAA), fibrinogen and alpha-antitrypsin. Recognised "chronic phase proteins" made in elevated amounts are ferritin, alpha-1 chymotrypsin (ACT) and alpha-1 acid glycoprotein (AGP). As a result, certain serum values that are normally
indicative lose much of their value, and even the use of complicated multi-variate analysis incorporating acute phase protein levels have proved problematic because of variations in the impact of the acute phase situation on measured levels of different micronutrients or their proxies²⁴. In HIV-infected subjects, the plasma concentrations and both the fractional and absolute synthetic rates of various positive APPs were all elevated, but the plasma concentration of negative APPs were not consistently reduced and the overall patterns were similar to those of other chronic viral infections²⁵ (see Chapter 5).

A second confounder of laboratory measurement for nutritional assessment in respect of many vitamins is the fact that vitamin-derived coenzymes are present in normal working tissues and organs as a particular optimum percentage of the cell mass concerned. **Catabolic states** such as those found in infection-associated systemic "inflammation" can cause a rapidly progressive fall in the mass of certain bulky tissues, especially skeletal muscle and white fat. While bulk tissue components are broken down to small molecules and re-distributed to cells and tissues needing them in the body's defence (e.g. glutamine from protein catabolism for energy production in lymphocytes, and fatty acids for energy generation in bodies displaying an increased metabolic rate), the surplus vitamin-derived compounds released by the "scale-down" in tissue mass are mostly lost from the body in the urine, sweat and faeces. While this is happening, the concentrations of vitamins and metabolites in body fluids may not reflect the "real" nutritional status of the subjects concerned.

Food-derived vitamins versus synthetic (single or multiple) supplements

Bioavailability is determined by comparing the effectiveness, in terms of a selected measurable parameter(s), of vitamins present in different foodstuffs with synthetic/ pure compounds administered (usually singly) in the same amounts. Multiple-vitamin supplementation is complicated by the fact that the bioavailabilities of the component substances may not equate to those determined individually; some may be lower because of competition for carriers, and others may be higher, for reasons of synergism in absorptive mechanism, for example. In addition, some supplements require additional components for absorption (e.g. bulk fat for fat-soluble vitamins), and natural foods typically contain large numbers of uncharacterised compounds that may also be nutritionally beneficial in as yet unknown ways.

The main reservations about multivitamin supplementation are the huge **cost differentials between natural foods and synthetic pharmaceutical products**, and dosage safety, particularly the possibility that states of **functional hypervitaminosis** may be induced (see the conceptual framework concerning dosage effects, Chapter 1),

or, even more seriously, that surplus vitamins will become involved in **drug interactions** that attenuate the efficacy of therapies (e.g. anti-retroviral drug regimens) or that enhance them by competing for shared disposal pathways and prolonging half-lives in the body.

Micronutrients: inorganic elements²⁶

Inorganic micronutrients are a number of elements present in foods that are required to be present in human diets over medium to long periods, in sufficient quantities to replace the base-line or accelerated net losses from body stores that are unavoidable as a result of excretory and secretory processes such as urination, defaecation and sweating. A subset of these inorganic micronutrients have been shown to be especially relevant to human immunity and resistance to infections, and will be briefly discussed here. In general, they resemble vitamins in being present in **particular food sources** in notable amounts; in varying in **bioavailability** because of differential binding to other food constituents, either in the native food (e.g. phytic acid) and/or or in the digestive mixtures generated in the gut; and in each having extremely complex and highly regulated mechanisms for their absorption, intravascular transport, and tissue uptake. In addition, like most vitamins, they are also bound with varying affinities to intracellular molecules, creating a kind of graduated "storage" system, while their egress mechanisms are often also specialised, all of this reflecting evolved homeostatic devices to "protect" the essential functions subserved by the particular metals or other inorganic elements concerned. Again, depletion of one of the essential inorganic micronutrients from the body (i.e. a steady-state negative balance between intake and losses, over time) leads in most instances to complex compensatory rearrangements throughout the body, which "protect" vital functions by enhancing capture from food, changing transport patterns, prioritising cell-types in terms of supply, and diminishing rates of net excretion. As in the case of most vitamins, the order of events during progressive depletion will usually first consist of diminished urinary/faecal losses without a change in blood levels; next, lowered blood concentration without change in tissue content; next, symptomatic deficiency associated with lowered tissue content; and finally, serious disorder and death.

Assessment of nutritional status with respect to inorganic micronutrients

As in the case of vitamins, this requires a combination of clinical acumen and laboratory measurement ²⁷. Detailed knowledge of the relevant physiology in each case has made it possible to devise feasible, reliable and accurate tests ("deficiency markers") that involve mixes of direct assays of the particular element in body fluids or tissues; indirect

measures based on proteins that bind the substance or are necessary for its transport or uptake, or on the activity of enzymes requiring the substance for their catalytic functioning. The "acute phase" of infections (**systemic "inflammation**"), as in the case of several vitamins, involves perturbations in the relative concentrations of plasma proteins and **bulk tissue catabolism**, that may lead to data being collected in respect of certain metals or other inorganic elements that are misleading in terms of the "true" nutritional status of the persons concerned. **Genetic micro-heterogeneity** in the complex systems responsible for handling inorganic micronutrients is likely to be prevalent in human populations, even if little is as yet known about this factor, apart from the prevalent genetic iron-overload conditions that have been well-characterised.

Specific effects of some vitamins and inorganic micronutrients on human immunity

Vitamin $A^{28, 29}$: This fat-soluble vitamin exemplifies the vitamer concept in that both the pre-formed natural retinoids (retinol/retinaldehyde and retinoic acid) and the provitamin A **carotenoids**, which can be bio-converted into **retinoids** in the intestinal wall. are nutritionally active as vitamin A but differ significantly in their bioavailability, not only intrinsically but also dependent on factors such as whether the food containing them is cooked or not. The absorption of these compounds depends on dietary fat being present and is complex, but in essence leads to the packaging of retinol esters and some unchanged carotenoids into lipid-rich particles called chylomicrons which are distributed to the body tissues via the portal and systemic circulations, leading to loss of their triglyceride fat and the formation in the plasma of residual particles called remnants. These are cleared by the liver, and their retinol content mostly ends up in special stellate cells representing the considerable liver store of the vitamin. The store is drawn on demand by release of free retinol bound to a liver-produced protein, retinolbinding protein (RBP); this circulates in the plasma in association with another protein. The retinol is taken up by retinol-requiring cells through a receptor, and bound to intracellular proteins, some of which convert it to retinoic acid (a form of vitamin A that acts on transcription in cell nucleus like a steroid hormone) while others have special functional roles in different cell types.

The most useful test of vitamin A status in humans uses the storage/supply role of the liver in maintaining a virtually constant plasma retinol level; free RBP accumulates in the livers of vitamin A-deficient subjects, and is released with the newly available vitamin after vitamin A is administered in a standardised way and absorbed. The **relative dose response (RDR)** test is calibrated at +50% indicative of severe depletion, +20-50% marginal depletion, and lower values are normal. RBP measurements are unreliably low in

the "acute phase" of systemic "inflammation". Nutritional factors that may cause or worsen vitamin A depletion are low-fat diets, and severe protein, zinc and vitamin E deficiency.

The effects of vitamin A deficiency on the human immune system are varied, amounting to significantly **depressed immunity**, especially in children^{28, 29}. Both cellmediated and humoral mechanisms mediated primarily by lymphocytes are impaired, natural killer (NK) cells are reduced in number, neutrophils show functional defects, and macrophages become less effective in various ways. The barrier and immune defence functions of mucosal surfaces in the airways, intestines and genital tracts are negatively affected by the replacement of secretory cells in epithelia by keratin-producing cells. Circulating carotenoids have important anti-oxidant activity, which may promote certain immune mechanisms (see below for other anti-oxidants).

Vitamin D³⁰: This is a fat-soluble vitamin that can be supplied from animal-derived foods (especially fish oils) in a form known as D_3 (cholecalciferol) and from plants as D_2 (ergocalciferol); vitamin D_3 can also be synthesised in the body from endogenous precursors through the action of ultraviolet rays in sunlight on the skin.

Only few foods in South Africa are fortified. Infant formulas are vitamin D fortified as are some powder milk preparations and margarines, but in general few of our normal dietary constituents contain more than marginal amounts of vitamin D. Absorption of the equipotent dietary vitamins D₂ and D₃ requires the co-presence of dietary fat, and involves their packaging in chylomicrons, transport to the liver where 25-cholecalciferol is formed, and systemic circulation in the course of which the active form, **1,25-cholecalciferol**, really a hormone, is formed by the kidney. Both of these forms circulate in the blood bound to a specific protein, **D-binding protein (DBP**). The active vitamin (hormone) D affects nuclear transcription rates of specific genes after binding to the **vitamin D receptor (VDR**), an important cellular protein, the amount of which is itself under complex regulation, including positively by the active vitamin D itself. The liver inactivates vitamin D to water-soluble forms lost in the faeces via the bile.

The actions of active vitamin D on the human immune system include enhancement of innate immune reactions through promotion of **macrophage** differentiation; activation of resident macrophages and chemotactic recruitment of monocytes³¹. By contrast, adaptive immunity is suppressed through complex effects on lymphocytes. Of particular interest is that 1,25-cholecalciferol synthesis and VDR induction followed activation of the Toll-like receptors (TLR) of macrophages infected with M.tuberculosis (Mtb), associated causally with the generation of an antibiotic peptide called cathelicidin and **enhanced microbial killing**³². Dark-skinned persons who are less able to synthesise their own vitamin D were found to have systematically lowered serum 25-cholecalciferol levels, compared with matched pale-skinned persons, and their sera were much less active in supporting Mtb killing in vitro³².

Vitamin E^{22, 33, 34}: The third fat-soluble vitamin with effects on human immunity is a mixture of tocopherols and tocotrienols which are especially plentiful in the oils of cereal grains and nuts. While not the most plentiful vitamer in foods, alpha- tocopherol has the highest relative potency in the group and is predominant in plasma and the tissues. Absorption during digestion requires the presence of bulk fats, and diets high in polyunsaturated fats increase the dietary requirements. While there is no specialised storage depot for vitamin E, most of the body's content is dissolved in the triglyceride droplets in adipose tissue. From a functional point of view, the presence of vitamin E molecules lodged in **cellular membranes and plasma lipoproteins** is critically important ("fire-extinguisher role") to protect the constituent unsaturated fatty acids from damage caused by peroxidative "flame-thrower" chain reactions, and thus to keep these lipid-rich structures in "working order" insofar as many of the mechanisms involved in innate and adaptive immunity depend on cell-cell interactions or on complex membrane processes. Work on the possible role of vitamin E in immune reactions in laboratory animals^{22, 32} has revealed a multitude of promotive roles for the vitamin, as would be expected from a membrane-stabilising agent, but low serum vitamin E levels have consistently been found in HIV-infected human populations, and an inverse correlation existed between disease severity and serum levels of vitamin E³⁵.

Vitamin C³⁶: This water-soluble vitamin is present (at high bioavailability) in food sources such as vegetables and fruit, and in human plasma and tissues, in its reduced (ascorbic acid) and oxidised forms (dehydroascorbic acid, DHA). The vitamin is absorbed from the gut and transported in the blood to body tissues which have a highly variable uptake and retention capacity, so that some cell types (adrenal cortex, macrophages, neutrophils, lymphocytes) concentrate the vitamin to a much larger degree than do others, for evolved functional reasons. The redox system of circulating water-soluble vitamin *C* is a front-line defence for plasma lipoproteins and cellular membranes attacked by aqueous-phase oxidants, complementing the role of vitamin E already described. Vitamin *C* as it turns over is mainly excreted in the form of soluble catabolic products in the urine; this is also the route of disposal of surplus vitamin.

The roles of vitamin *C* in human immunity probably reside mainly in its specialised functions in phagocytic cells (in which it becomes even more heavily concentrated during activation than in resting stages); they may possibly also exert redox effects limiting inflammatory cytokine production and even the replication of retroviruses such as HIV (see below).

Vitamin B_6^{37} : Unlike vitamins B_1 , B_2 , B_3 and B_{12} (which while very important in nutrition are not associated with specific roles in immunity, hence their omission together with biotin and pantothenic acid and fat-soluble vitamin K from this chapter), vitamin B_6 nutrition may well be very significant for effective human immunity against pathogens.

The six equally bioavailable low- molecular weight vitamers are pyridoxine, pyridoxal and pyridoxamine, and their respective phosphorylated derivatives, but the main food sources such as whole-grain cereals and vegetables contain mainly carbohydrateconjugated compounds with much diminished bioavailability. Absorption of dietary B₆ in the intestine leads to intravascular transport to the liver and other organs, mostly as pyridoxal phosphate bound to albumin; tissue uptake requires dephosphorylation and subsequent trapping of free pyridoxal by intercellular phosphorylation. Excess vitamin is oxidised and excreted mainly as 4-pyridoxic acid in the urine. Intracellular pools of vitamin B₆ are highly distributed through differential affinities between a host of enzymes using the compound as co-catalyst, and a number of proteins to which pyridoxal phosphate is bound for their structural stability, particularly glycogen phosphorylase in skeletal muscle (which tissue normally contains about 80% of the body content of the vitamin, mostly in this form.) The evolved pathways for compensatory redistribution of vitamin B₆ in human bodies that are undergoing progressive depletion of the vitamin are necessarily highly complex and variable, and the pathophysiological consequences unpredictable, yet they may be very significant. Laboratory assessment of vitamin B₆ status is directly by plasma levels, and indirectly by urinary 4-pyridoxic acid assays, tissue enzyme activity measurements, and a number of metabolic load tests.

The effects of B_6 deficiency on the immune systems of elderly humans have been focused mainly on **T lymphocyte maturation** and cytokine production. A pyridoxal phosphate-dependent enzyme has recently been shown in mice to be involved in creating a sphingosine 1-phosphate gradient across lymph nodes required for the egress of antigen-directed lymphocytes that have homed into the nodes after immune stimulation; B_6 antagonists had a similar action to that of a common food additive which suppressed immunity in this way³⁹. B_6 is needed to maintain cellular anti-oxidant defences through its rate-limiting function in cysteine production, hence glutathione biosynthesis (see below).

Folate⁴⁰ **(and vitamin B**₁₂⁴¹): The vitamers of folate are all derivatives of pteroic acid that display folate activity in humans. Food sources like green vegetables, legumes and nuts contain mainly the dihydro- or tetrahydro reduced forms of the vitamin, which apart from various functionally important one-carbon substituents are conjugated to 5-7 residues of glutamic acid (poly-gamma-glutamyl chains), which are the typical intracellular and/or storage forms of the vitamin; synthetic (supplemental) folate is in the mono-glutamyl form, which is the form in which in the human body the vitamin circulates in the blood and traverse membranes. Digestion requires enzymatic removal of the polyglutamate chain in the intestine (chronic excessive use of ethanol inhibits dietary folate utilisation by lowering the deconjugase activity) and this is followed by absorption using specific carriers. The **bioavailability** of food folate is lower (by about 50%) than

that of the synthetic folate because of the need for digestive removal of the polyglutamate side-chains and physical entrapment of folate in fibrous plant materials. Humans obtain folate both from their diets (small intestine) and from intestinal bacteria (colon). The liver plays a major role in folate disposal and distribution, containing about half the total body store, continuously undergoing rapid metabolic turnover for endogenous purposes and for release of folate to the receptor-rich tissues most requiring it in particular circumstances (e.g. rapid cell division).

Folate is pervasively involved in body metabolism (nucleic acids, nucleotide coenzymes, amino acids) as coenzyme for a very large number of **one-carbon transfer reactions**, such as methylation and formylation. No special effects of folate deficiency on the mechanisms of human immunity have been described, but HIV infection involves the enhanced daily turnover of huge numbers of T-lymphocytes eventually resulting in severe (CD4⁺) T-cell-lymphopenia, which may put special pressure on folate balance in the body (see below)

Although the biochemical pathways were not fully elucidated at the time, it is of interest that the crucial role of folate in biology was first established during the development of the first effective antimicrobial therapeutic agent, sulphanilamide, which inhibited bacterial growth by competing with para-amino benzoic acid for incorporation into the pteroin precursor of folate, a vital step in folate synthesis in bacteria.

Of all the reactions involving folate as coenzyme, perhaps the most relevant for clinical medicine are those involving purine and pyrimidine synthesis. In particular, the synthesis of deoxythymidine monophosphate from its precursor deoxyuridine monophosphate is a rate-limiting factor in *de novo* (as opposed to salvage) pathways of DNA synthesis. Because this reaction is critically dependant on the presence of 5, 10 methylene tetrahydrofolate polyglutamate, folate in this form is thus the major quantitative determinant of adequate rates of DNA synthesis in conditions characterized by high cell turnover. The role of vitamin B_{12} is to demethylate methyl tetrahydrofolate, the form of folate taken up by cells from plasma. Deficiency of vitamin B_{12} thus becomes the other major rate limiting nutritional factor in DNA synthesis under such conditions.

With regard to eukaryotic, and particularly, human, cell biology, deficiencies of folate and B_{12} are common causes of the haematological cytopenias known as the megaloblastic anaemias. Patients are frequently not just anaemic, but exhibit reductions in numbers of white cells and platelets as well, emphasizing the generic role of these vitamins in DNA synthesis, especially when the deficiency is severe. Indeed, the consequences of folate or vitamin B_{12} deficiencies are not restricted to cells of the haemopoietic system, but are also encountered by epithelial cells of the gastrointestinal and genitourinary tracts as well, these tissues also comprising cells with high natural turnover rates⁴². While the natural rate of lymphocyte turnover is not generally at this level, HIV is well known to escalate lymphocyte turnover to a point at which folate or vitamin B_{12} deficiencies might become rate-limiting, perhaps acting synergistically with other causes of lymphocyte destruction.

There is abundant precedent for the emergence of relative folate deficiency in patients experiencing escalated cell turnover rates, such as those occurring in inherited haemolytic anaemias, such as sickle cell anaemia, or in pregnancy, where the development of folate deficiency is so common that it is standard policy to supplement folate in pregnant women. Turning to lymphoid cell turnover, folate inhibition by methotrexate is a standard mechanism of therapeutic immunosuppression, and the mechanism of action of methotrexate is to inhibit dihydrofalate reductase. Moreover, the prototype condition characterized by enhanced lymphocyte proliferation is acute lymphoblastic leukaemia, against which the first effective therapy was aminopterin, also a dihydrofolate reductase inhibitor similar to methotrexate. Finally, lymphocytes cultured from folate-deficient patients show that the addition of folate enhances the incorporation of deoxyuridine into DNA, which implies that folate deficiency is a limiting factor in the *de novo* synthesis of DNA in lymphocytes from such patients. It is thus highly likely that folate deficiency would be limiting for lymphocyte regeneration in states of enhanced lymphocyte turnover, of the kind required to maintain lymphocyte counts in patients with HIV/AIDS.

Iron⁴³: This is an important micronutrient for many bodily functions, but the focus here is on iron's still poorly understood roles in human immunity. Amongst other documented effects in humans are diminished intracellular killing of bacteria in neutrophils and variably altered T-cell functions. Subjects suffering from **iron-deficiciency anaemia** are much more vulnerable to infections of all kinds than are normal individuals, but the exact reasons for this has not been elucidated to date.

Zinc^{22, 44}: A central clinical feature of zinc deficiency in humans, already detectable on marginal regular daily uptakes that are less than the recommended 5–7 mg per day (especially if cereal-rich diets are taken that are rich in phytic acid), is **increased susceptibility to infectious diseases**, through impairment of multiple mediators of immunity ranging from the skin to both cell-mediated and humoral immunity. Apoptosis of T-cells is enhanced, associated with thymic atrophy; plasma thymulin necessary for T-cell maturation and other functions is also inactive. Almost all cell types that contribute to human immunity are negatively affected in zinc deficiency, in both number and activity. Progressively lowered serum zinc levels have in fact been documented in HIV-infected individuals⁴⁵. Zinc administration reverses most or all of the described effects in both laboratory animals and humans, but excessive doses are counter-productive.

Selenium⁴⁶: The physiological role of this trace element (Se) is to become part of a number of important enzymes in the form of active site-located selenocysteine

residues that are necessary for function; these enzymes include glutathione reductase and thioredoxin reductase. The incorporation of these particular residues occurs through a specific process and is coded in the mRNA for the enzyme concerned. Many body proteins also contain selenium in the form of both selenomethionine and selenocysteine, which have been incorporated at methionine- and cysteine-coded sites by simple, concentration-dependent competition with these unselenated residues; these selenoamino acids, being more plentiful, are the main natural source of selenium in the diet.After digestion, some of this selenium is made available (in a highly regulated demand/supply mechanism) for the functionally important selenocysteine incorporation into the enzymes mentioned above. Se is essential for both cell-mediated and humoral immunity, mainly through anti-inflammatory and/or anti-oxidant effects. Bacterial killing in neutrophils and other phagocytes is decreased through diminished action of glutathione peroxidase caused by Se deficiency. Various cytokine receptors necessary for immune signalling are upregulated by Se, as are B-cell antibody-producing processes. Selenoenzymes are important for maintaining an anti-oxidant environment in HIVinfected cells that limits transcriptive generation of new virus genomes and particles, mainly through effects on the pro-inflammatory NF-kappa B system. Excess dietary Se (over 400 ug per day) is toxic to humans and is associated with immunosuppression.

Some additional relevant topics in human immunonutrition

Fatty Acids⁴⁷: The fatty acid mix contained in a daily intake of macronutrient fat varies considerably depending on the type of food consumed; the potentially immunomodulatory long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) are present in quantities that are in the micronutrient range (50–300 mg per day). Only artificially high dietary levels of the longer-chain PUFA, however, exert potent anti-inflammatory effects in humans, reducing phagocyte chemotaxis and the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Eicosanoids (prostaglandins, leukotrienes and thromboxanes) are highly bioactive mediators of which the series generated from arachidonic acid (20:4n-6) is generally significantly more active that that generated from the n-3 (also called omega-3) PUFAs (20:5n-3 and 22:6n-3); this may mean that diets may strongly influence the scope and nature of immune-related mechanisms involving eicosanoid release.

Amino acids: The catabolic state promoted by the pro-inflammatory cytokines during infections is associated with enhanced proteolysis in muscles and elsewhere, generating a pool of amino acids needed as fuel by immune cells and for making various bioactive products. **Arginine**, an essential amino acid that is plentiful in most dietary proteins, now becomes a large-scale precursor of nitric oxide generated for pathogen killing in phagocytes (it has also proved useful in surgical immuno-nutrition for the treatment of septicaemia)^{39, 48}. Glutamine, a non-essential amino acid that represents about 50% of the free amino acid pool in the body and is the most important transport form of amino-nitrogen in varied states of protein turnover, is next to glucose the main energy source of lymphocytes (about 35%) and becomes operationally an essential nutrient in severe catabolic stress, preventing functional immuno-suppression from impairment of lymphocyte functions caused by lack of an adequate energy supply.. The nutritionally essential, sulphur-containing amino acids methionine and cysteine/cystine released by muscle protein breakdown, play modulating roles in concerted anti-oxidant defences following infection, partly through their roles in the formation of the principal intracellular reducing agent, **glutathione**⁴⁹. The loss in the urine of sulphur arising from intensive metabolism of these amino acids is increased in infected persons in states of systemic "inflammation", but less so than that of nitrogen, as they are conserved for their important roles in various defensive mechanisms. Even in asymptomatic HIVinfected subjects, the daily loss of sulphur was found to be 3-4 times that of healthy individuals⁵⁰. Glutathione tempers the potentially destructive effects of systemic "inflammation" by reacting with the oxidants generated inside immune-activated macrophages and lymphocytes, amongst other things limiting the pro-inflammatory transcriptional activation brought about by NF-Kappa B, which may include enhanced transcription of HIV genomes incorporated into the host chromosomes, generating new retroviruses. Working in concert with ascorbic acid and vitamin E, glutathione controls oxidative chains harmful to membranes and many macromolecules. Various therapeutic strategies have been devised to increase the steady-state content of glutathione in leucocytes and other cells needed to fight infections; some of these have been used to improve the clinical status of HIV-infected subjects⁵⁰.

CHAPTER 5 Human immunity

Overall design of the defences against pathogenic organisms¹⁻⁴

The ability of human bodies to avoid becoming infected by pathogens, and to overcome infections if they do happen, is associated with a number of **barrier physical and** chemical functions, on the one hand, and with the immune system, on the other. In the first instance (to be described no further in this chapter), bacteria and fungi, as well as parasites and viruses, are kept out or killed by the tough keratinised integument provided by the skin, supplemented by secretions and sweat containing compounds with microcidal action; by the intense acidity in the stomach encountered by all foods; by tightly contiguous epithelia that do not easily "leak" and by sticky mucus in the various passages opening to the exterior, sometimes (as in the airways) combined with ciliary action carrying particles outwards. In the second case, teams of specialised cells provide non-specific, immediate **innate immunity** through a variety of complementary local and systemic mechanisms; later, members of the same cellular teams, working in conjunction with other types of cells, develop two slower but more powerful supplementary killing systems that both also have the unique quality of being able to "remember" the infection after it has been dealt with, in order to prevent or strongly attenuate second infections by the same pathogens - adaptive immunity.

All cells of the immune system develop from just one cell type in the bone marrow, haemopoietic stem cells. Lymphocytes (and perhaps natural killer (NK) cells) constitute one series, and all the others are from the myeloid series – mononuclear phagocytes, like monocytes, macrophages and dendritic cells; neutrophilic, eosinophilic and basophilic polymorphonuclear phagocytes; mast cells; and megakaryocytes (precursors of platelets).

Pathogenic microorganisms that despite the natural physical and chemical barriers have succeeded in gaining access to, and thereby infecting human bodies, multiply and establish themselves in different ways: some (most, but not all bacteria and some parasites) divide rapidly in body or tissue fluids, outside the host cells which they can damage or kill, but within host tissues that they can disrupt and destroy through the agency of secreted enzymes or toxins. To overcome these pathogens, the body must ensure that they are killed en masse, the resulting residues removed, and the affected tissue architecture restored through healing. Other organisms (all viruses, a minority of bacteria and some parasites) enter target host cells to replicate inside them, in the process often also causing tissue disruption and destruction through host response processes; in these cases, the infection can only be overcome if the infected cells are identified and killed together with their pathogen cargo, or persisting infected cells are sequestered in a complex lesion called a granuloma (as in mycobacterial infections like tuberculosis).

Innate immune responses⁴

Innate immunity is very old in evolutionary terms, is present in humans from birth, and is ready quickly to address every kind of invading pathogen, whatever and wherever it may be. Amongst the cells that take part are the motile phagocytes, polymorphonuclear neutrophils (PMNs), eosinophils and basophils, (collectively called granulocytes), which respond to chemical signals called **chemokines**, engulf pathogenic organisms that have been pre-coated with targeting molecules called **opsonins** (see below), internalise them in phagosomes, and kill them in a two-stage process in which they first release lethal oxidants through the "respiratory burst" ("flamethrower action", see Chapter 1: Conceptual Overview), and then expose the bacteria to powerful hydrolytic enzymes by fusing their lysosomes with the phagosomes to form phagolysosomes, finally to destroy/digest them. The oxidants produced by phagocytes from oxygen are superoxide, part of which dismutates to hydrogen peroxide; in the presence of iron and other free transition metal ions, the highly reactive microbicidal hydroxyl radical is formed, while in the case of polymorphonuclear phagocytes, an enzyme called myeloperoxidase is present that forms hypochlorous acid, another very destructive microbicidal agent. Nitric oxide, formed enzymatically from the essential amino acid arginine, is a product of all phagocytes and can severely damage molecules in invading microorganisms, further enhancing the killing rate⁵. It is important to note that all phagocytes are protected from self-destruction to some extent by their own reducing systems ("fireextinguisher action", see Chapter 1: Conceptual Overview) involving catalase and zinc-dependent glutathione peroxidase, working in conjunction with other antioxidants such as vitamins C and E (ascorbic acid, very plentiful in all phagocytes but especially in macrophages, and alpha-tocopherol, respectively). Despite these resources, polymorphonuclear phagocytes ultimately die in their interactions with invading microorganisms, while macrophages mostly survive.

Macrophages are derived from circulating monocytes and reside in a number of organs and tissues in quiescent mode (resident macrophages), mostly under the lining of body cavities and blood capillaries; each such population displays special distinguishing features, but they all share the property of responding rapidly to specific stimuli (through a set of receptors called "Toll-like receptors", TLRs⁶, which function like barcodes for different kinds of typical microbial components) by becoming inflammatory macrophages, which express additional sets of receptors and secrete many bioactive substances (see below), in addition to taking part in the direct phagocytic killing of microbes as already described. (They may later become activated macrophages as part of adaptive immune responses, see below). Large, non-phagocytic natural killer (NK) cells specifically recognise cells that harbour viruses and other internally replicating pathogens, and kill them (and the pathogens) directly by chemically puncturing their cell membranes. Mast cells are full of membrane-bound granules that upon activation release mainly vasodilatory agents to increase blood flow and increase the ability of proteins and cells to reach infection sites. Platelets can also release vasoactive substances and cytokines (see below).

Humoral contributions to innate immunity are complement, interferons and acute phase proteins. Complement involves over 20 plasma proteins that can become a polyfunctional system on activation⁷, in this case (the "alternative pathway", see below for the "classical pathway" involved in adaptive immune mechanisms) by bacterial cell walls and other foreign surfaces. A controlled cascade of activated proteinase reactions forms bioactive proteins such as C3b (which is an opsonin, coating phagocytes to facilitate phagocytosis, see above), C5a which promotes chemotaxis of phagocytes to sites of inflammation, and C3a which with C5a produces mast cell degranulation. Coating of certain bacteria (mostly of the so-called Gram-negative variety) with C3b also unleashes the complement membrane-attack complex (C5b and C6-9) which causes lysis of the walls and death of the bacteria concerned. Interferons are cytokines secreted by virus-infected cells which confer resistance to viral infection on bystander cells, i.e. uninfected cells in the vicinity. Acute phase proteins (APP)^{8,9} are produced by the liver during infections in such quantities that their concentrations can rise by three orders of magnitude, usually for short periods; the stimulus for the liver to re-direct its usual pattern of protein synthesis are mainly the cytokines, interleukin-1 (IL-1) and interleukin 6 (IL-6), produced by macrophages encountering particular microbial proteins. One of the APP is C-reactive protein (CRP), which is an efficient initiator of the alternative complement activation pathway described briefly above, and which appears also to be present in increased concentrations in chronic viral infections such as HIV¹⁰.

The main processes of **local inflammation** provoked by localised microbial invasion of human tissues thus involve migration of phagocytes (though the epithelium of

87

venules), egress of plasma proteins through hyperpermeabilised venules, and dilatation of arterioles to increase blood flow, together giving rise to redness, warmth, swelling and pain. Mast cells and platelets contribute to these very early changes at the site, as described above; amongst the agents acting at various times are histamine, various prostaglandins and leukotrienes. Resident macrophages become motile inflammatory macrophages, and are soon joined by large numbers of polymorphonuclear neutrophils (PMNs); both are guided to the site by chemotactic agents (chemokines)¹¹. These cells engage with invading microbes, and release many cytokines, as described above. Specific cytokines that act both locally and systemically include interleukins-1 and -6 (IL-1 and IL-6), as well as tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α); these exert powerful effects on the brain (fever and anorexia), liver (production of acute phase proteins), muscles and adipose tissue (catabolic mechanisms to break down proteins and stored fats, and release fuels for the now-active cells of the immune system). This is the state of systemic inflammation, which will subside after local inflammation has been successful in overcoming the infection, or the resistant pathogens have been walled off in a granulomatous focus (see below).

Adaptive (acquired) immunity

Adaptive immunity makes use of specific parts of pathogens, their **antigens**, to direct both **humoral (antibodies)** and/or **cell-mediated attacks (cytolytic lymphocytes)** on invading pathogens that have survived, but are still under attack by, the mechanisms of innate immunity. It is both a powerful second line of defence and a way of priming the body to deal effectively with repeated insults from a particular pathogen through immunological memory.

The key cells of adaptive immunity are CD3⁺ **lymphocytes**, motile, non-phagocytic cells that circulate constantly through the body although they spend most of their time in **lymphoid tissues** including the spleen, gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT), lymph nodes and the thymus. Lymphocytes do not use the handful of about ten generic barcode-type receptors (TLRs) of innate immunity already described, but have receptors on their surface membranes that are completely (or almost completely) specific to a particular antigen (or, more correctly, its **epitope**, the business part of an antigen) that is unique out of literally millions of similar antigens/epitopes. Like quiescent macrophages, lymphocytes are in an inactive, resting state until the specific subsets of these cells which are capable of recognising the antigens present on an invading pathogen are activated during an adaptive immune response when they become significantly larger, as **lymphoblasts**. After a successful response, with elimination of the pathogen concerned, the cells either die or revert in stages (**"recently activated" lymphocytes**) to the resting

Human immunity

state. Some in the latter group will retain the memory of the specific invasion, as **memory cells**, and will be capable of mounting a rapid and powerful adaptive immune response if the same pathogen is again encountered.

There are two types of lymphocytes: B lymphocytes (B-cells) that develop and mature in the bone marrow before they enter the blood and lymphoid tissues, and T lymphocytes (T-cells), which develop up to a point in bone marrow but require a key maturational passage through the **thymus gland** before traversing the blood en route to lymphoid tissues (see below). B-cells are each genetically programmed to make **antibody** molecules with specificity for only one antigen (out of millions); an antibody molecule integrated in the B-cell membrane serves as the receptor for the particular antigen when the pathogen bearing has entered the body, and this leads to multiplication of the B cell concerned, differentiation of the resulting cells into **plasma cells**, and production by the latter of large numbers of antibody molecules (in forms variously called immunoglobulin **M** (IgM, early response), immunoglobulin A (IgA, secreted through mucous membranes), and immunoglobulin G (IgG, later response), all specific for the same antigen. It is important to remember that most pathogens will present many antigens to the immune machinery, some of which will be immunodominant in that they are the ones that generate the largest number of antibodies; the pattern of differential antibody generation in different people is partly determined genetically, by "restriction" through the inherited histocompatibility genes working through the T-cell helper function (see below). Some antibodies have high, others a low affinity for their particular epitopes; some are capable of directly neutralising bacteria or viruses by forming highly cross-linked complexes (neutralising antibodies) while others act as specific "tell-tale agents" for other cells to complete the destruction of the pathogens concerned.

Anatomical arrangement of the inductive immune system

The specialised lymphoid tissues of the immune system serve as primary and secondary depots of cells involved in the immune response. Cells of the immune system migrate from lymphoid tissue to the blood and lymph circulation and back to lymphoid tissue. Bone marrow is the primary lymphoid organ, where the precursors to all mature immunocompetent cells are generated as pluripotential progenitor cells.

T-cells develop into mature immunocompetent cells in the **thymus**, a gland that is very active in newborns and is responsible for the selection and inductive "education" of T-cells in the body that can provide protection against a multitude of foreign antigens/ pathogens during life. The thymus eliminates most, but not all T-cells that are directed against the antigens of host tissues. The remaining T-cells that leave the thymus are 'naïve' cells and have yet to encounter invading antigens/pathogens. Cells specific for each of all the possible individual antigens that could be encountered exist in small numbers only, and each population will need to be massively expanded (clonal expansion) to be effective when particular antigens/pathogens enter the body. During life, the thymus gland becomes smaller and atrophies and until recently it was thought that it became inactive during the third decade. Recent evidence, however, has shown that the thymus is probably active throughout life.

The **lymph nodes** serve as platforms for the elaboration of the proliferative antigen/ pathogen-specific immune responses and are structurally arranged into discrete anatomical compartments of tissue and cells. Cells arrive in a lymph node from the peripheral or lymphatic circulation through the afferent vessels; B-cells develop and encounter antigens within the germinal centres, while T-cells encounter them in the paracortical region. The microenvironment of the lymph node allows B and T-cells to be presented with either whole or pieces of invading pathogens (for presentation mechanisms involving antigen-presenting cells see below), ensuring that the inductive phase of immune responses can occur, and active, specifically targeted effector B and T-cells of both the CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ series generated. Some of the cells are also provided with "homing signals" that will ensure their congregation in particular tissues, such as the lamina propria in the lining of the bowel (see below) .Disruption of the architecture of the lymphoid tissue (as progressively occurs, for example, in HIV-infected individuals), affects the way in which B and T-cells can be primed to deal with new invading pathogens.

Some T CD4⁺ cells are endowed with regulatory functions and are known as CD25⁺ $T_{regs.}$ ("Peacekeeper cells") These are an important minority of the T-cell populations, antigen–specific like the others, but capable of limiting immune activation and inflammation in certain locations¹². Mast cells appear to cooperate with T_{regs} in controlling immune "attacks" in this way¹³. T_{regs} may be particularly active in controlling immune activation in the bowel wall (see below for the significance of this in HIV-infected persons).

Effector functions of immune cells

T-cells thus occur in several types which have effector and /or regulatory functions. **T** helper lymphocytes (CD3⁺, CD4⁺ cells) are central to the immune system and can be thought of as the "conductors" of the immune orchestra; any microbe that impedes or destroys CD3⁺, CD4⁺ T lymphocytes will cause the immune system to lose order and eventually degenerate. Helper T-cells are key "organisers" of both humoral and cell-mediated adaptive immunity, acting mainly through release of a range of cytokines, and inter alia enabling cytotoxic T-cells to do their work, B-cells to differentiate and develop

into plasma cells, and macrophages to destroy pathogens they have ingested through phagocytosis. **Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes (CTL; CD3⁺ CD8⁺ cells**) specifically kill target cells identified in a complex way (see below) as containing an organism bearing a specific antigen. They do this by perforating the target cell membranes by secretion of perforin and cytolysins, and by releasing other cytotoxic substances directly into the dying target cells. In healthy humans, CD3⁺CD8⁺ lymphocytes make up the smaller proportion of CD3⁺ T-cells, but a homeostatic balance exists between CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-cells, in that the size of the total pool of T-cells (as marked by CD3) is apparently maintained by a variety of mechanisms. As mentioned above, **Regulatory T-cells (T**_{regs}, characterised by the surface marker CD25 and previously known as suppressor T-cells) usually but not always limit the extent and may change the nature of certain immune responses, partly through cytokine release, partly through competitive effects and partly through direct cell-cell interactions¹².

The ability of the adaptive immune system to respond to invasion of the body by a pathogen depends critically on events that link the antigens exposed on the surface of the pathogen concerned with the production within a few days of both soluble antibodies (produced by vastly expanded clones of plasma cells derived from activated B-cells) and cytotoxic T-cells (generated likewise by clonal expansion of a subset of T-cells) directed specifically at the foreign antigen set. Some of these events are part of the innate immune response already described, especially those involving the phagocytic action of macrophages; others are associated with the special capabilities of "sentinel cells" called **dendritic cells** located strategically in parts of the body where infections are likely to occur, in mucous membranes of the airways, the gut, genitourinary tract, etc. Both macrophages and dendritic cells are "antigen-presenting cells" (APC) in that they digest complex pathogen-derived macromolecules to fragments, some of which will be the actual antigens or, more correctly, epitopes, to which small subsets of the vast numbers of B and T lymphocytes have specificity. (Sometimes, the presenting cells are coated with the foreign antigenic pathogen, as in the case of HIV - see below). When pathogens have multiplied outside body cells and been ingested by phagocytosis, as previously described, their digestion in the phagolysosomes is the route of antigenic fragment generation, and the processed fragments are bound tightly and stably to the specific peptide-binding cleft found in proteins of the **major histocompatibility complex** (MHC) class II, and lodged in the cell membrane to act as the "presented antigen". When pathogens have gained access to target cells and are replicating inside them, it is the intracellular processing or turnover of their antigenic molecules by the infected cells that generates the epitope-bearing processed fragments which become bound in this case to MHC class I molecules, which after membrane localisation present the specific foreign antigens to the external environment as a tell-tale signal of what is lurking within.

The peptide clefts on MHC proteins of both classes available for binding antigenic fragments, while each possessed of binding rules, are promiscuous enough to make it likely that at least one or more antigens will in fact be presented on the cell surfaces of APC's after any pathogen infection. The limits to this, and the patterns of responsivity that are imposed by the particular MHC gene alleles present in an individual, are called **restriction**, and are extremely important determinants of **host susceptibility** to particular pathogens (a good example is differential susceptibility to HIV infection, and of disease progress, associated with possession of certain alleles of the HLA-B genes in the MHC class I group)¹⁴. Only T-cells through their **unique T-cell receptors** (TCR) can recognise the antigens presented by APCs: cytotoxic T-cells (marked as such by containing the surface co-receptor membrane protein **CD8**) recognise MHC class I-bound antigenic peptide fragments, while T-helper cells (bearing the co-receptor marker **CD4**) recognise antigens bound to MHC class I molecules on presenting cells.

Activation of T-cells (the **inductive phase** of adaptive immunity) is a complex, highly regulated set of processes, to prevent accidental assaults on the body's own tissues (normally completely abrogated by developmental mechanisms not covered here) and to lessen the likelihood that pathogens co-evolving with human populations will find ways of subverting or even eliminating the arsenal of complementary attacking possibilities made possible by the highly evolved human adaptive immune system. The activation or inductive site is lymphoid tissue, whether this be in the intestines (gut-associated lymphoid tissue, GALT), regional lymph nodes or the spleen. Immature dendritic cells are the "professionals" in antigen presentation as described above, continuously sampling with great sensitivity both soluble microbial products (through micropinocytosis) and the whole microbes themselves, recognising the pathogens through Toll-like receptors or because they have been opsonised (see above), and internalising them through phagocytosis for antigen processing and presentation through (MHC class II) or after becoming infected by internally replicating organisms (MHC class I). In either case, they become motile and migratory in their behaviour, so that they very rapidly end up in lymphoid tissue, mainly via lymph drainage pathways. Certain pathogens (e.g. HIV) can also be externally bound to dendritic cells in MHC class I-restricted ways that also cause migration and are stable enough to survive the journey to lymphoid tissue. Maturing dendritic cells secrete cytokines including chemokines, attracting to, and activating other cell types at, the site of infection (see above, innate immunity), while pre-emptively upregulating T-cell co-stimulatory molecules on their surfaces, such as CD4⁺.

Mature dendritic cells once in lymphoid tissue are potent activators of T-cells, each being able to activate 100–3000 T-cells. Productive interaction is initiated when T-cells bear the "correct" TCR encounter and bind to APCs bearing the matching antigenic peptide fragment signalling the presence in the body of a particular pathogen. The

number of co-receptors and adhesion-enhancing molecules provided by both interacting cells increases to intensify the close binding of the two cell types, until, via highly complex signalling pathways, the proliferation and lymphoblastic transformation of the affected T-cells into specific **effector T-cells** of the adaptive immune system is induced. These cells may be of two types, dependent on complex differential cytokine stimulation patterns: Th 1, assisting mainly with cytotoxic reactions, and Th 2, focusing inter alia on B-cell differentiation. Effector CD8+T-cells (cytotoxic T-cells) kill cells bearing MHC class I-bound, pathogen-derived antigenic fragments, as already described. Effector CD4⁺ T-cells (T helper cells) amongst other actions are able to activate macrophages bearing MHC class II-bound, pathogen-derived antigenic fragments, in the presence of interferon-gamma secreted by the engaged T-cells, and by co-stimulation by their CD4⁺. These activated macrophages have greatly enhanced anti-microbial capacity through enhancement of the phagolysosomal pathway, induction of "respiratory bursts" (destructive oxygen radicals- see above), stimulation of nitric oxide formation, and increased formation of antimicrobial proteins such as **defensins**¹⁵. The fact that all this activity is directed by antigen-specific effector T-cells only at macrophages presenting pathogen-derived antigens keeps damage to host tissues potentially caused by secreted immune mediators to a minimum.(It is important, however, to realise that certain chronic infections, like those caused by pathogenic mycobacteria like those which cause tuberculosis and leprosy, can be associated with considerable tissue destruction by immune mechanisms which can become lethal if massive haemorrhages occur or vital structures are affected).

Some highly repetitive pathogen antigens (especially polysaccharide antigens) can stimulate resting B-cells into producing antibodies without the involvement of effector T-cells. Most B-cell responses, however, require T helper functions to enable the full expression of antibody-associated phenomena needed in humoral adaptive immune responses, including the ability to switch the kind of antibody molecule being produced (important for mucous membrane-lined cavities in the body where immunoglobulin A, IgA, is needed as a transmucosally acting secretory antibody capable of attacking pathogens at their site of entry¹⁶). Resting B-cells internalise such pathogen-derived antigen-immunoglobulin complexes as are formed in the initial, relatively ineffective stages of a humoral response, and peptide fragments presented on MHC class II molecules are then recognised by T-cells with specificity towards the same antigen; this, in the presence of co-receptors and cytokines, results in B-cell activation, differentiation into plasma cells, and production of high-affinity antibodies, all as already described. The T-cell stimulation also permits affinity maturation to take place, so that the antibodies formed at the height of the infection, and "remembered" in memory cells, are the most effective ones. Antibodies are powerful agents of anti-pathogenic defence: they bind to and neutralise

soluble products (e.g. toxins) released by pathogens, to form (often) insoluble complexes that can be removed by phagocytes; they bind to target antigens on microbial surfaces, efficiently opsonising the particulate organisms for phagocytic attack; they potentiate the action of natural killer cells by identifying and tagging cells harbouring replicating infecting agents; and they abet complement attack (see above).

Activated lymphocytes are generally shortlived and undergo apoptosis as a naturally occurring mechanism limiting the immune responses concerned. Some survive, however, and continue life as CD62⁺ memory cells, able to mature into a proliferated population of specifically targeted effector cells as soon as the offending antigen/pathogen is again encountered in the body. In chronic infections such as HIV and tuberculosis, however, the effector CTLs fail to clear the body of the infecting organism and progressively dwindle in number and effectiveness – they become exhausted. A surface protein called PD-1 accumulates in these circumstances and responds to a circulating cytokine PD-1L to produce the "exhausted" phenotype. Fortunately, interrupting the PD-1D-1L interaction (with an antibody) can "revive" the lymphocytes¹⁷, as has been shown in HIV-infected subjects¹⁸.

The "hormones" of immunity, acting locally and systemically^{9, 19}

The crucial roles of cytokines in human immunity have been high-lighted throughout the above account. They are secreted by many of the cells in the immune system, in different combinations, amounts and sequences, are generally short-acting, both locally and systemically, and exert their often multiple and interactive effects by binding to specific receptors on target cells. They amplify reactions, and distribute them spatially. They inhibit some reactions and enhance others; their effects are the resultant of their own concentrations and those of their receptors. Some are chemokines (causing motile cells to move along a chemical gradient of cytokine concentration; others inhibit local viral infectivity (interferons), while others act at a distance on large organs to affect macro-metabolic changes to support the local immune processes (pro-inflammatory cytokines). Cytokines accompany and modulate inter-cellular interactions during immune responses, in an indispensable way, at very low effective concentrations; their rapid turnover nevertheless means that the total energy cost to the body of full-blown "cytokine storms" can be high. The total mass of lymphoid tissue in the adult human body has been estimated to be over 1 kg; while much of this is not necessarily active in an infection with one pathogen, because of the specificity of adaptive immune responses, cells dealing with the multiple antigens present in every infection do predominate as a result of clonal proliferation, and increase the requirements of the active and enlarged

immune cells for fuel (in the form of glucose and glutamine at approximately 2:1, both provided in adequate amounts as part of the cytokine-stimulated "inflammatory state") and for precursors of nucleic acids (and folate coenzymes as well as Zn ions) for cell proliferation, and newly synthesised proteins for vital immune functions. In addition, the hostile chemical environment created by the elaboration of toxic microbicidal agents has to be countered by increased supplies of cell-protective reducing agents like vitamins C and E, as well as sulphur-containing amino acids (see above).

Biomarkers of immune function for nutritional studies and interventions in human subjects

Considerable progress has been made in evaluating immune responsivity and the impact of long-term nutrient supply and/or deficiencies²⁰. The necessarily concise description that has been given above of the integrated innate and adaptive immune systems will leave no doubt that exhaustive and precise tests and analyses will in the main be both complex and expensive. This fact should not, however, serve to prevent as good a bank of standardised, feasible and informative tests as can be developed to become widely available for the support of effective health care in South Africa.

A large number of *ex vivo* measures already exist for the assessment of bloodderived cells as well as, in some cases, cells collected from mucosal surfaces by lavage techniques²¹. These include measurements of phagocytosis/killing of bacteria, yeast cells or sheep red blood cells; assays of respiratory burst/microbial killing rates; NK and CTL activity on virally infected cells; lymphocyte proliferation rates under stimulation by mitogens; stimulated cytokine production, or gene expression in whole cells; IgG (total and specific) production rates; cell-surface expression of HLA molecules or cytokine receptors (flow cytometry). *In vivo* measures include the size of lymphoid organs (e.g. ultrasound in the case of the thymus); cytology of lymphoid tissue; numbers and types of circulating immunocytes of various kinds, inclusing cell-surface expression of defined molecules; circulating thymulin; general plasma immunoglobulins as well as specifically targeted ones; secretory IgA in mucosal washings; circulating cytokines; delayed-type hypersensitivity (DTH) responses to antigens already experienced by subjects; resistance to infectious diseases, progression and outcomes. Widespread inter-individual and intergroup variations can be expected (see above for genetic and other causes of this).

A highly useful study was performed by the European branch of the International Life Sciences Institute (ILSI Europe) to identify the most reliable, cost-effective generally useful markers to assess the impact of nutrition on immune function in humans, including those associated with the intestine (see Chapter 7)²². A number of systematic potential confounding subject-specific factors were listed, including age-dependence

of immune function, sex differences, physical and psychological stress, drug history, smoking, and vaccination history. Technical confounding factors were identified as study designs, sample collection times (circadian rhythms), seasonal variations, meals and/or depleting wash-out periods, and the length of the intervention period. Immune function assays commonly in use were rated as to their biological relevance (e.g. known correlation with clinical end-points), sensitivity (within- and -between subject variation), and practical feasibility. Methods that were rated highly suitable were:

- i. vaccine-specific serum antibody production;
- ii. delayed-type hypersensitivity responses;
- iii. vaccine-specific or total secretory IgA in saliva, and
- iv. the response to attenuated pathogens.

Markers with medium suitability were NK cytotoxicity, oxidative bursts in phagocytes, lymphocyte proliferation, and cytokine patterns produced by stimulated cells. The authors suggested using a mix of highly and medium suitable markers for general use. While this very careful and detailed work is doubtlessly valid in a European setting, no similar study under South African/African conditions has apparently ever been done, despite the crying need in a country where the public is constantly exhorted to consume a plethora of mostly untested or poorly tested, (expensive) proprietary "immunomodulators" and the like²³.

The issue of life-long programming of the immune system by fetal or perinatal experience

One of the most controversial but potentially influential theories of human development is that nutritional, toxicological or virological "insults" prior to birth, especially in key phases of neonatal organ growth, may cause life-long programming of body systems such as immune responses, metabolic patterns and cardiovascular functioning that deviates from the norms of a population²⁴. Careful studies conducted in the Gambia, where annual subsistence-type food production lends itself to a recurrent pattern of periods of general hunger and satiety in local communities, have suggested that temporary malnutrition of pregnant women may produce off-spring with enhanced susceptibility to infectious diseases prevalent in the population late in their lives²⁵, associated with stunted thymic growth and under-functioning. Other factors, such as mycotoxins also prevalent in the diminishing stored food supply during hungry periods, may, however, be partly or wholly responsible for the findings. It is clear that proper studies of South African communities need to be performed to help assess the importance of this possibly quite general phenomenon within the general context of the much greater prevalence here of "hidden hunger" (micronutrient deficiencies) rather than protein/energy starvation.

CHAPTER 6 Pathogenesis of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection in humans

It has been 25 years since the HIV epidemic rekindled research interest in tuberculosis (TB) in the developed world. Remarkable progress has been made since that time in elucidating the mechanisms by which *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* causes human disease^{1, 2}. Nonetheless, much remains to be learned about this ancient scourge of humankind. In this chapter, the current understanding of the critical steps in the pathogenesis of pulmonary TB will be reviewed.

Mycobacterium tuberculosis (M.tb.) – the Captain of all the Men of Death

The bacterium that causes tuberculosis (TB) is a slow-growing organism that has probably co-evolved with modern humans to become so successful that about one-third of all living humans are stably and dormantly infected; it is the triggering of dormant infection or transmission of organisms in large doses from one individual to another that causes active or "clinical" TB (see below). There are many strains of the organism distributed in different geographic regions, and useful genetic markers have been developed to detect local infection patterns³. The genome of a laboratory strain of *M.tb.* was sequenced in 1998, revealing much information about the specialised lipid and polysaccharide metabolism concerned with the formation of the thick cell envelope, large-scale biosynthesis of biologically active substances called polyketides, and even highly prevalent proteins that have highly repetitive, variable sequences, possibly permitting a source of antigenic variation over time⁴. The genome has over 4 million base pairs and codes for around 400 genes⁴. An attenuated strain (Bacillus Calmette Guerin, BCG) is used worldwide as a vaccine, effective mainly against childhood forms of TB.

Susceptibility to active TB varies in the human population

The genetic (as opposed to environmentally determined) factors that render some people susceptible to *M.tb.* infection are very poorly understood, but a recent discovery has

revealed that a receptor on human dendritic (antigen-presenting) cells (see Chapter 5) called DC-SIGN has common polymorphisms that are more common in Eurasian than in African populations and appear to be associated with considerable resistance to the development of active TB⁵. As more such factors are expected to be discovered, the likely genetic heterogeneity of populations used to study nutritional interventions must be taken into account in study designs.

Pulmonary TB

The commonest infection route for tuberculosis is inhalation of a very small number of droplet nuclei containing virulent tubercle bacilli⁶. Documentation of the failure of some chronically exposed individuals (e.g. household contacts of a TB patient) to develop an infection indicates that the inhaled organisms may be inactivated before an immune response (i.e. conversion of the PPD skin test) is induced⁷. In most exposed individuals who are otherwise healthy, however, an infection does develop. The immune response controls the replication of the bacilli and the individuals remain disease-free until some immunosuppressive event later in life (e.g. HIV infection, immunosuppressive drug therapy, advanced age) induces endogenous reactivation TB⁸. This chronic infection is referred to as "**latency" or "persistence**" and is estimated to affect one-third of the world's population⁹.

The conditions under which *M.tuberculosis* remains alive in the tissues for decades, and the factors which trigger its reactivation, remain unsolved mysteries^{10, 11}. Much has been learned, however, about the mechanisms by which mycobacteria subvert the antimicrobial functions of macrophages and persist in the face of adverse conditions in the host^{12, 13}. Recent attempts to study the gene expression profiles of mycobacteria exposed to adverse conditions, either in vitro or in vitro, and signature-tagged mutagenesis approaches to identifying mycobacterial genes necessary for persistence in experimental animal models, are beginning to shed some light on these important questions^{14, 15}. Pulmonary TB may also develop following exogenous re-infection in a previously infected person¹⁶. The relative contributions of primary TB, endogenous reactivation TB, and exogenous re-infection TB to the spectrum of disease appear to vary widely in different geographical settings.

In primary pulmonary TB, the inhaled mycobacteria likely encounter the alveolar macrophage as their initial host target cell². Direct infection of alveolar (Type II) epithelial cells may also occur, however, the contribution of epithelial cells to the initial host-pathogen interaction is not clear¹⁷. Mycobacterial constituents are known to serve as ligands for the binding and internalisation of tubercle bacilli, and for various pathogen-recognition receptors (e.g. Toll-like receptors) on macrophages, leading to the activation of those cells

and the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g. TNF- α) and chemokines¹⁸⁻²¹. The roles of various adhesion proteins, chemokines, and chemokine receptors in the trafficking of immune cells into infectious foci are topics of intense investigation²². Other cells of the innate host defense system, such as natural killer (NK) cells, may also play a role in promoting activation of alveolar and blood-borne monocyte-macrophages in this early phase of the infection²³. During the ensuing inflammatory response and following initial replication in the alveolar macrophages, mycobacteria are taken in the draining lymph to the regional lymph nodes, where they replicate further. It is in the lymph nodes where mycobacterial antigens are first presented to naive CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-cells, likely by infected dendritic cells which are capable of stimulating a CD4⁺ Th1 effector cell response^{24, 25}. After a short period of replication in the pulmonary lymph nodes, viable mycobacteria leave the nodes in the efferent lymph, enter the blood stream via the thoracic duct, and appear in the spleen and other organs²⁶. Concomitant with extra-pulmonary dissemination, which apparently occurs in all infected individuals, the host begins to express evidence of a CD4⁺ T-cell-mediated immune response (e.g. PPD skin test conversion). Eventually, viable bacilli make their way back to the lung in the bloodstream where they infect all lung lobes uniformly in a process known as "haematogenous re-seeding"²⁷. Thus, the lung of every infected individual receives two inocula of mycobacteria; the initial implantation from the airway, and a second shower of bacilli from the blood. The blood-borne organisms establish so-called "secondary" granulomas, in which the organisms persist in the face of a very active immune response²⁸. It is one of these secondary granulomas which are thought to be the "reactivatable site" in post-primary TB²⁹.

Following the induction and expansion of CD4⁺ Th1 effector cell populations in the pulmonary lymph nodes, these effector cells leave the nodes and home to the inflamed sites of active infection in the lungs and other tissues. There, the Th1 cells are activated to produce their signature cytokines, including IFN α^{30} . The combination of IFN α from the Th1 cells and TNF- α from activated phagocytes likely act synergistically to activate macrophages to inhibit the growth of the mycobacteria^{1, 32}. While TNF- α is apparently essential for resistance to TB³⁰, it is also responsible for local tissue destruction, central necrosis of the granuloma, and impairment of Type 1 T-cell immunity³⁴. Successful modulation of the intense inflammatory response in the granulomas by anti-inflammatory cytokines such as TGF- α , and IL-10 allows the host to control mycobacterial replication without compromising lung function. These cytokines are, however, also known to suppress Type 1 immunity³⁵. Apparently, CD8^{*} T-cells may also play a role in resistance to TB, by producing macrophage-activating cytokines are unclear³⁶.

The anti-mycobacterial mechanisms expressed by activated macrophages, including the identification of essential effector molecules, remain to be elucidated. The ability

of the activated macrophage to overcome the pathogen-induced block of endosome maturation and phagosome-lysosome fusion is undoubtedly important^{37, 38}. Induction of the receptor (VDR) for the **vitamin D** metabolite, 25-hydroxycholcalciferol (25-HCC), as well as the hydroxylase which then forms 1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol (1,15-DHCC), appears to be part of the mechanism which help the cells to destroy the intracellular pathogen, combined as it is with the generation of the antibiotic peptide, cathelicidin (see Chapter 4, Vitamin D). **Reactive oxygen intermediates** (e.g. hydroxyl radical, singlet oxygen, hydrogen peroxide, etc) are also involved, while the role of nitric oxide (NO) is much less clear in humans than in murine models of TB^{39, 40}.

Co-infection with HIV changes the above scenario dramatically. While there is little evidence that HIV infection predisposes an individual to increased risk of primary *infection*, it clearly increases the risk of progression from infection to *disease* by orders of magnitude⁴¹. This is likely due to the adverse effects of HIV on the CD4⁺ T-cells which are essential for control of mycobacterial growth, as well as defects in macrophage and other cell functions which are known to accompany HIV infection.

CHAPTER 7 Pathogenesis of Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) infection: moving from older to newer thinking

HIV-1 infection of cells of the human immune system¹

The predominant circulating Human Immunodeficiency Virus type 1 (HIV-1) causing HIV/AIDS in South Africa belongs to clade C and is a small RNA virus (two molecules per virus particle, or virion) packaged with a small number of proteins (both virus-coded and host-derived) within a protein-lipid membrane coat mostly physically "borrowed" from infected host cells from which it was released during productive infection. The virions prominently present on their surfaces many "studs" made up of the virus-coded HIV coat protein, gp120, anchored in the membrane coat by gp41. Much of the surface of the "studs" is covered with a dense forest of carbohydrate side-chains. The cell-surface receptor for infection of new cells by free viruses is a protein called CD4, which normally serves other important functions in a specific array of cells playing various roles in the immune system, mainly by resting and activated helper T lymphocytes, macrophages and dendritic cells (see Chapter 5). A co-receptor is required for successful infection; this can be one of the chemokine receptors CCR5 (R5 viruses) exclusively used in early stages of HIV infections, or CXCR4 (X4 viruses) sometimes used in late infective stages; one unique aspect of clade C HIV infections in South Africa, however, is that there very few X4-using viruses have been detected during the course of the disease, and most virus infectivity occurs through the use of the CCR5 co-receptor.

Internalised virus particles are unscrambled in the cellular cytoplasm and the RNA molecules transcribed into DNA versions by an error-prone and unstable, virus-derived **Reverse Transcriptase** (RT). Transcribed virally derived pro-DNA can then be stably inserted into the host chromosomal DNA through the action of another virus-derived enzyme, **integrase**, and can remain dormant there for long periods, surviving cell division through mitotic processes. The sequences can also be transcribed, by host RNA polymerase, to form large numbers of new RNA virus molecules; this re-start of

virus production is prompted by signals of which only some are known, for example the transcriptional factor NF-kappa beta which becomes active as a result of cytokine action in inflammatory states of the body, especially when the cellular redox status is poised to oxidation (see Chapter 5) or during an attack of malaria². The virus RNA molecules are themselves messenger RNAs which are each translated by host ribosomes into polyproteins that are then neatly and specifically cut by a virus-derived specific protease to form an array of proteins, including gp120 and its stalk protein gp41, which polymerise to form the studs on the surfaces of the new virions, once each of these have been fully assembled through release from the cell membrane, taking parts of the latter with it. Other proteins formed by cutting up of the primary polyprotein are either packaged with the virus RNA molecules into released virions (e.g. Reverse Transcriptase) or remain in the infected cell as "virus-support agents" (accessory proteins), mainly working to evade host immune attack in a variety of ways. One of these ways is to downregulate the amounts of specific sub-types of HLA class I molecules at the cell surfaces, effectively attenuating the tell-tale signal of virus infection normally associated with the peptide fragments presented to CTLs targeting ("hunting down") cells presenting those epitopes. The subtypes of HLA molecules that through their presence prevent cell destruction by NK cells (see Chapter 4) are not affected, so the chances of the infected cells to avoid killing by the main killer cells of both innate and adaptive immunity are significantly enhanced.

Early events in a typical HIV infection (vaginal route)³

In the first hours and days of a typical heterosexual infection, a few virus particles in the semen of an infected male escape the destructive fate of countless others by gaining access to the vaginal or cervical submucosal space in the uninfected female; here they infect activated or "recently activated" CD4⁺ T lymphocytes as well as dendritic cells and resident macrophages, all of which begin to produce new virus particles. Together, the viruses and infected cells migrate to nearby lymph nodes in increasing numbers, and from there they are disseminated to the lymphoid tissues of the whole body. When the "signal" (dose) of virus is strong enough, adaptive immune responses begin to be launched by the host, but the rate at which susceptible cells are productively infected by virus becomes enormous, bringing about a characteristically high **viraemia** (nearly always experienced by the newly infected subject as a "flu-like illness" lasting a few days), and causing the destruction of a very large proportion of the CD4⁺ CCR5⁺ T-cells in the body, most of them resident in the mucosal tissues of the bowel wall (see below). Most of the soluble antibodies initially directed at the HIV particles are unable to neutralise the latter because of the extensive shielding of the target epitopes by the

carbohydrate "forest" on the gp120 coat protein; attacks by NK cells are attenuated by virus-induced surface changes (see above) and those of specific CD8⁺ CTL by similarly evasive surface changes, the adaptive response essentially coming "too little and too late" decisively to control the infection, but nevertheless creating breathing space by lowering the rate of new attacks on the remaining CD4⁺ T-cells, which are themselves activated as part of the on-going adaptive response and therefore susceptible to virus infection (see below).

The immune response to HIV infection

The acquired immune response to HIV (specifically HIV) has been studied extensively⁴ and the course of adaptive immunological events from the time of transmission can be divided into the acute, early and chronic phases of infection. The two greatest challenges that HIV presents to host immunity is the selective infection and depletion of CD4+ T lymphocytes and the extensive viral genetic variability due to accumulated mutations in, and recombinations of the viral genome. After 25 years of extensive study, systematic correlates of immune protection still remain elusive, which in part is related to a still-limited full understanding of HIV pathogenesis. After acute HIV infection, the robust cellular immune responses do contribute to the greater than 100–1000-fold drop in viraemia from the typical acute levels of several million viral RNA copies/ml plasma. This is coincident with the generation of primary cellular responses of virus-specific CD8⁺ cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL)⁵ and it seems logical to assume that these cells are most important in the apparent "control" of the infection and the preservation of the residual pool of CD4⁺ T-cells. In children, a different scenario occurs after in utero, peripartum or postnatal transmission, in that systemic viraemia peaks several logs higher than in adults, and there a slow decline of viraemia over the first 4 years of life. The immature nature of immunity in neonates along with a greater number of CD4+ T-cells probably accounts for this larger viral burst and slower decline. It is known that high peak or set-point levels of viraemia, after the acute high viraemia has subsided, are associated with a more rapid course of infection leading to AIDS⁶, where it is known that the overall status of immune activation is related to the resurgent viraemia which then occurs.

In addition to virus-specific CD8⁺ T-cells, CD4⁺ T-cells appear also to be critical for immune control⁷. Monkey models of chronic SIV infections have established that virus-specific CD4⁺ T-cells play an essential role in maintenance of effective immunity⁸. It is likely that the immune response to HIV in humans has these same requirements, and enhanced proliferation of HIV-specific CD4⁺ T-cells in individuals who maintain long-term control of HIV replication⁹ and in patients treated for acute infection with potent

antiretroviral therapy^{9–11}, reflects the functions of these cells in helping to control virus replication. Functionally competent HIV-specific CD4⁺ T-cells secrete cytokines and influence/enhance both CD8⁺ T-cell and B cell-dependent antibody responses. A large number of CD4⁺ cells are infected in the bowel wall, mainly because the bulk of the total body CD4⁺ pool resides within lymphoid tissue around the gastrointestinal tract (see below). In subtype C HIV infection, it is rare to find anything other than a CCR5-using viral population, and preferential infection therefore occurs of CCR5-bearing CD4⁺ T-cells and macrophages. Direct killing of CCR5⁺ CD4⁺ T-cells within the gut^{12, 13} and memory CD4⁺ T-cells in multiple tissues¹⁴ by HIV has been postulated as the main mechanism for the depletion of these cells during SIV infection in monkeys. This situation also applies to HIV-induced depletion of CD4⁺ cells within the human gut¹⁵.

The swiftest and probably the most effective immune response in an individual infected with HIV is a robust CD8⁺ T-cell response, where these cells have a specificity directed at numerous virus epitopes. Experiments that have used various species of monkeys have shown that when CD8⁺ T-cells are depleted during acute infection with SIV, persistent high viraemia results¹⁶. When CD8⁺ T-cells have been depleted during chronic, or established, infection, this is associated with a sudden increase in viral load and set point^{16, 17}. The relationship between the initial drop in viraemia during acute infection and the appearance of CD8⁺ class I restricted CTL^{18, 19} is a very strong indication of the antiviral effect of CD8⁺ T-cells and provides compelling evidence for this as the probably dominant effector mechanism of reducing viraemia at the acute stage of infection. Indeed, in vitro studies have shown that CD8⁺ CTL can lyse infected cells before new virions are produced, thus inhibiting virus replication^{20, 21}, and they also release soluble factors with anti-HIV properties²²⁻²⁴. A critical role for CD8⁺ T-cell responses is also inferred from population data demonstrating evidence of HIV adaptation to HLA class I restricted responses²⁵.

In addition to the rapid cellular immune responses to primary HIV infection, active humoral immunity becomes apparent through increased titres of anti-Gag antibodies, which are used to measure seroconversion to the HIV-infected state. Some neutralizing antibodies, or functional antibodies, are able to block HIV entry into CD4 bearing cells; they mainly target the highly variable V3 loop of gp120, its CD4 binding domain, or the more conserved gp41 transmembrane protein²⁶. Although high titres of such neutralizing antibodies have been shown to prevent infection in animal models, the role of these responses in viral containment in HIV-infected people is questionable²⁷. During acute infection, these responses appear following the initial drop in viraemia, while abrogation of B-cells during SIV infection leads to delayed emergence of neutralizing antibodies but no change in early viral kinetics. Passive transfer of neutralizing antibodies in monkeys can, however, protect against

intravenous and mucosal challenge of SIV²⁸. Virus sub-populations that can infect new hosts appear to be more susceptible to neutralising antibodies in vitro than are the predominant populations in the infecting donor, but subsequent mutational changes in the virus in its new host mostly nullify this factor²⁹. Neutralising antibodies raised by vaccination could thus in principle be important for prevention of viral infection, but antibodies are relatively ineffective in countering a new HIV infection as it becomes established.

The micro-evolution of HIV in a single human body³⁰

HIV as an infecting RNA virus is subject to the compulsory step of reverse transcription catalysed by its self-encoded, highly error-prone Reverse Transcriptase, RT (about one base per thousand is mis-coded to form a mutant viral DNA-genome). In addition, RT uses both infecting virus RNA molecules (and possibly more, if the cell is super-infected by more than one virus particle) to complete a single DNA copy for integration into the host genome, often switching from one strand to the other (recombination). Host RNA polymerase is also subject to errors, so more mutations may be generated in multiple daughter transcripts which are made when the latent integrated virus is activated for replicative production of many new virions (see above). A further cause of rapid microevolution of HIV is the defensive role of a host-derived protein (called APOBEG 3G) which may be packaged into the virions released from productively infected cells and functions as an RNA-cytosine deaminase to alter the sequences within individual free virions ³¹. All these processes ensure that new viruses are constantly generated (and proportionately to the rate of overall replication), to be instantly tested for selection in the hostile host immune environment. Antibody and CTL attacks, as well as antiretroviral drugs, drive the micro-evolutionary processes by allowing resistant virus sub-populations rapidly to "grow out" in the vast crowd of wild-type and mutant HIV particles, probably differentially in various locations in the body. The microevolution of HIV within a single infected subject is what brings about resistance to anti-retroviral drugs, special types of pathophysiology in organs such as the skin and the brain, and general persistence of infection- everything that happens is "directed" to surviving the immune attacks of the host. There are indications that it is only a (small) sub-population of HIV particles that retains the competence to infect new hosts, thus preserving the basic model of the virus-human interaction over long periods. HIV infection has been called a "soap opera" in that "a lot happens but fundamentally everything stays the same" - the virus as a human pathogen retains its main features as a slow, chronic, ultimately fatal infection spread by direct contact with different body fluids at different rates.

Humans are differentially susceptible to HIV infection and its rate of progression³²

Amongst the millions of people who have been infected with HIV since 1980, a spectrum of infection prevalence and progression rates has clearly emerged. Within any population, and between different populations, there are individuals with increased susceptibility and others with increased resistance, who may in either group progress to AIDS slowly or quickly. Generally, however, increased susceptibility to becoming infected has accompanied the trait of more rapid progression to AIDS. Many gene loci have been found that variously affect virus entry and intracellular replication, host innate immunity and especially adaptive immune processes.

The widely distributed "host resistance factors" so far identified include specific deletion variants in the co-receptor CCR5; gene dosage variations of one of its natural chemokine ligands; restriction factors that inhibit virus-handling pathways in the cell; the cytosine deaminase system based on APOBEG 3G (see above); controlling factors for NK effectiveness. Additionally, is has been shown that specific Human Leukocyte Antigen (HLA) types, which are genetically governed by X-linked genes, are associated with rapid or delayed progression of disease. HLA are fundamental to all T-cell and NK cell activity, where the presence or absence of expression will dictate immune responses through virally-derived epitope presentation on the surface of HIV-infected or antigen presenting cells. It has been shown that HLA-B27, -B57 or a variant of -B58 (B5801) are associated with long term non-progression or delayed onset of AIDS, and better clinical outcomes³³. One of the likely reasons for this association is that these specific HLA can present epitopes that cause a higher level of T-cell function than other epitopes, which leads to better viral control and preservation of CD4⁺ T cell counts. These epitopes may also be found in regions of the HIV genome that are invariant and that do not undergo mutations in response to immune pressure.

In the context of this report, these genetically determined variations in host susceptibility are important because they will constitute "background noise" in any clinical trial or other investigation of clinical HIV progression. Fortunately, the laboratory means to establish the nature of possible resistance or susceptibility genes in human subjects are being created through active research and will impact positively on this problem.

The link between HIV infection, CD4⁺ T cell depletion and lymphoid tissues

The important components of an immune response to HIV are good functional CD4 $^{\circ}$ T-cells, active HIV-specific CD8 $^{\circ}$ T-cells, and (possibly) broad levels of neutralising

antibodies. This represents a classic view of anti-viral immunity and is mainly derived from investigations of peripheral blood. Despite detailed knowledge, however, we do not fully understand pathogenesis and which aspects of immunity correlate with protection or, conversely, which aspects of immunity are absent that result in progression to AIDS.

Following the above-described immune response during the acute stage of infection in adults, there is a gradual loss of CD4⁺ cells from the peripheral blood that may take several years to reach the low levels (less than 200 cells/ml) that are currently used to signify the onset of AIDS. Initially, it was thought that HIV was directly killing CD4+ T-cells which accounted for the loss. This is controversial; however, because there was always much more virus detectable than the actual number of HIV-infected CD4* cells, or the percentage of infected CD4⁺ cells in the blood. This led to proposals for indirect models of CD4⁺ cell depletion, including apoptosis and/or immune activationinduced cell death. In the latter model, HIV infection as a process leads to increased T-cell activation in primarily the lymphoid tissues, which is where the bulk of HIV is sequestered after infection; the activated CD4+ T-cells not only become targets for HIV infection, but are mostly (physiologically) short-lived even if uninfected, leading to the eventual depletion of the population. (The molecular overlap of the binding site on CD4⁺ for MHC II and HIV gp120 might account for this activation-induced depletion³⁴, as CD4⁺ is an integral component of the array of signalling molecules required for T-cell activation.) The residual memory cells are recruited into activated state, over and over, by chronic antigen persistence. This model can account for CD4⁺ cell depletion in the face of the large numbers of CD8⁺ T-cells which are present in the same lymphoid tissues, because HIV gp120's affinity for CD4⁺ would be expected to corrupt CD4 – but not CD8 - mediated cellular activation, leading to CD4⁺ cell apoptosis exclusively.

Incidentally, chronic alcohol consumption by monkeys' leads to impaired control of SIV replication, mainly as an "escape effect" associated with lowered numbers of CTLs and higher relative numbers of virus-susceptible CD4⁺ T cells in the gut wall³⁵.

HIV infection and changes in gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT)

The lymph nodes serve as the platform for the induction of immune responses, and are structurally arranged into discrete anatomical compartments of tissue and cells (see Chapter 5). Naïve cells arrive in regional lymph nodes in lymph through lymphatics, or in central nodes through the peripheral blood circulation, entering through afferent vessels, whereafter B-cells encounter antigen within the germinal centres and T-cells do so in the paracortical region (see Chapter 5). The microenvironment of lymph nodes allows B and T-cells to be presented with epitopes derived from invading pathogen, ensuring that adaptive immune

responses can occur. While **GALT** constitutes the majority proportion of lymphoid tissue in the body, and contains the majority of immunocompetent cells, its inductive foci, the discrete lymphoid follicles also called Peyer's patches, are available to "sample" only locally encountered foreign organisms and/or antigens. The proximity of such extensive lymphoid tissue along the intestines reflects the special nature of the hugely folded internal surface as a key interface between the host and an environment that contains not only vast numbers of microorganisms but is also subject to the continual passage of a large mass of heterogeneous food-derived material. That this is a continual on/off "battlefield" is attested to by the fact that the effector arm of the immune system is extensively distributed throughout the submucosal space in the entire bowel, in the lamina propria. In this way, approaching two-thirds of the body's entire immune system is arranged defensively along the entire intestinal wall³⁶.

One of the main functions of the intestinal immune system is thus to discriminate on the part of the host body between harmful and harmless/beneficial organisms and antigens. "Oral tolerance" is a concept that suggests that the host as here defined may extend to more than the human tissues of a person but include substantial numbers of bacterial species or other microorganisms that are symbiotic for the true human host (reviewed in³⁷, also see Chapter 5). Strong protective immunity around the gut is essential to prevent invasion by pathogens or dietary proteins, or to normally tolerated commensal organisms, that can lead to acute, subacute or chronic infectious, inflammatory or allergic disease³⁸. The processes of exclusion of "unwanted" elements are based mainly on the continual action of secreted mucosal antibodies (IgA and IgM) in the mucus-covered surface layer, and to a lesser extent within the epithelial cells and the submucosa, together with constant sampling of intestinal contents by specialised M-cells in the lymphoid follicles, leading to priming of B-cells and dendritic cells within the follicles, migration of these through lymphatic drainage to regional lymph nodes, and circulation in the peripheral blood to central lymphoid tissues. The effector cells finally "home" to the lamina propria of the gut, where the B-cells secrete IgA and IgM antibodies, and the CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells engage with such organisms and antigens as may have succeeded in entering the submucosa. There is evidence that cytokine-mediated inflammation is normally kept to a minimum during this low-level "policing" of the extensive "border", possibly through the controlling influence of T $_{regs}^{39}$ and the involvement of cytokine-stimulated mast cells⁴⁰.

GALT events and progression of HIV infection

Studies from SIV infection in monkeys, used as a proxy for understanding HIV infection and pathogenesis, has shown that SIV rapidly and selectively infects and destroys memory CD4⁺ T-cells co-expressing the HIV-co-receptor CCR5 in the gut lamina propria of the gut^{12, 13, 41.44}. Similarly, loss of intestinal memory CD4⁺CCR5⁺ T-cells has been shown in humans in HIV infection^{14, 44}. Many mechanisms of CD4⁺ depletion during SIV and HIV infection have been proposed, the majority of which, in addition to direct viral killing of infected cells, propose additional indirect mechanisms of CD4+ killing, involving a variety of mechanisms including "bystander apoptosis" and/or immune activation³. An interesting proposal is that multiple HIV particles preferentially bind CD4⁺ molecules on cell surfaces and interrupt late signalling steps in T-cell activation by antigen-presenting macrophages or dendritic cells, inducing apoptotic death pathways⁴⁵. The finding that massive CD4⁺ depletion occurs in the gut during acute SIV/HIV infection has raised the possibility that persistent CD4⁺ depletion after HIV infection is due to the irreparable loss of the greater part of the large CD4+CCR5+ T-cell pool in GALT, and that continued destruction of replacement CD4⁺ T-cells is possibly the likely reason for the overall CD4⁺ T cell decline also reflected in the blood. Further studies in Macaque monkeys have shown that the rate of memory CD4+ T-cell turnover in mucosal tissue, after SIV challenge, directly determines the rate of disease progression, and suggest that maintenance of a gut mucosal CD4⁺ memory T-cell population adequate to control HIV and other infections is vital for longest-possible viral control⁴⁴. This is a key concept for understanding the role of memory T-cells in chronic HIV infection and in the context of associated gut disturbances and diet (see below).

There are two, not mutually exclusive ways of examining the issue of gut integrity in HIV infection and in relation to diet and nutrition. The first is that HIV infection itself, for example through direct viral effects³⁶, may result in negative perturbations of normal gut integrity and of the immunosurveillance function of GALT, leading to gut malfunction (chronic "sterile" and/or infective diarrhoea) and associated malabsorption of food and/ or loss of micronutrients. The second is that dietary factors damaging the gut epithelium may lead to increased susceptibility to HIV infection, specifically through the gut wall portal believed to be used by the virus in neonates. "Abrasions" of the gut have been postulated as one mechanism by which breast-milk mixed with formula feeding of their infants by HIV-infected mothers leads to increased transmission of HIV to the child⁴⁶: the study concerned showed that exclusive breast-feeding carried a significantly lower risk of HIV transmission than mixed feeding, and a risk similar to that associated with no breast-feeding at all. The two approaches merge in the unresolved issue (see below) as to whether dietary "insults" in HIV-infected adults may aggravate virus-induced bowel malfunction or accelerate net losses of memory T-cells from the lamina propria.

A synthesis of HIV infection and impaired intestinal immunity

In Figure 1, the stages of intestinal lymphoid tissue are shown to depict events that may follow in the wake of HIV infection. In (A), normal intestinal lymphoid tissue, naïve

Figure 1: Anatomical arrangement of the inductive site of normal immune responses in Peyer's patches and lymphoid follicles in GALT and CD4+ T cell distribution in the lamina propria upon HIV infection (adapted from Veazey & Lackner⁴⁹ and Cohen⁵⁰.


CD4⁺ T-cells reside in the inductive sites of the lymphoid follicles. Immune responses are initiated in the follicles and mesenteric lymph nodes (MLNs), where T-cells are unavoidably exposed to small but significant quantities of a variety of antigens normally found in the intestinal tract, such as dietary and microbial antigens. The CD4+ T-cells become activated, co-express CCR5, and ultimately (see above) migrate to the effector sites in the lamina propria, where they reside in large numbers³⁶. It has recently been shown that the Vitamin A metabolite, retinoic acid, can facilitate this cell migration to the effector sites and aid immunity in the intestine^{47, 48}. In acute HIV infection (B), the activated CCR5⁺ CD4⁺ T-cells are targets for HIV infection and replication and die either through direct infection or powerful bystander effects that coincide with peak viraemia in the plasma and the emergent rise of CD8⁺ virus-specific in the circulation. The eventual rapid decline in plasma viraemia may not be principally caused by the effector CD8⁺ T-cells, as previously thought, but rather to the greatly diminished numbers of target CCR5⁺ CD4⁺ T-cells residually resident in the gut wall. As HIV infection progresses to the chronic stage, which is for a time characterized by persistent viral infection more-orless counter-balanced by replacement of new T-cells migrating into the bowel wall, net loss of CCR5⁺ CD4⁺ T-cells (C) ensues when the rate of T-cell activation, in the face of the immune suppressive effects of T $_{_{\rm rees}}$ in the lamina propria against the background of a general "oral tolerance regime" of a normal bowel wall, provides enough targets for viral replication and associated apoptotic T-cell deaths to overcome the defences, so to speak, and usher in the slow or rapid decompensating phase of grossly immune-deficient AIDS, leading to death from repeated, progressively more serious opportunistic infections or cancers in various locations.

The widely held notion that robust T-cell immunity to HIV in the peripheral circulation, as outlined earlier in this chapter, may exert strong pressure on viral replication such as to maintain a steady-state of viral replication resulting in a set-point of viraemia, may now well turn out be a misplaced judgement. Indeed, recent data from Reynolds, *et al*⁵¹ have shown that the identified strong CD8⁺ virus-specific responses in monkeys after they were given SIV were minimal or not found in GALT, but rather occurred mostly in the cervico-vaginal tissues. The conclusions made were that specific strong CD8⁺ T-cell immunity initiated by the host cannot prevent the huge CD4⁺ T-cell depletion occurring in gut tissue, and the responses identified in the peripheral circulation are too late and too little to obviate viral persistence in this location, and disease progression as described above. **Steady-state T cell activation within the effector sites of the GALT, due to continued gut-derived antigen encounter, may be the single most important factor which maintains a pool of CD4⁺ T-cell targets for HIV infection and replication, supporting viral persistence and the eventual failure of viral control by the body**.

Microbial translocation in the gut during chronic HIV infection has now been shown to be one of the major driving forces behind immune activation and maintaining the pool of activated CD4⁺ T-cells that can be productively infected by the virus⁵². The levels of plasma lipolysaccharide (LPS, an endotoxin to the human body derived from Gram-negative bacteria resident as part of the gut flora), in HIV-infected individuals during the chronic stage of disease and during AIDS have been found to be much higher than in healthy HIV-negative controls or in subjects newly infected with HIV. Plasma LPS appeared to be derived from bacteria crossing into the blood circulation from the intestine and colon during HIV infection, probably as a result of mucosal malfunction induced by the virus, directly or indirectly. Similar types of bacterial translocation have also been observed in patients receiving radiation therapy and in those that suffer from inflammatory bowel disease. Concomitant with increased plasma LPS was increased plasma soluble CD14, a receptor molecule found on the surfaces of monocytes and shed upon in vivo activation by LPS. Interestingly, HIV-infected individuals who were able to control viral replication and appeared clinically healthy had higher levels of endotoxincore antibodies that seemed to neutralize the chronic inflammation-activating effects of LPS in the systemic circulation. Along with data to show that provision of antiretroviral drug treatment resulted in lowered plasma LPS levels as well as lowered T-cell activation, the study has provided evidence that it may be the continuing presence of HIV in GALT that causes regular microbial translocation resulting in a degree of immune activation that maintains viral replication in susceptible cells and ultimately drives the slow collapse of the immune system, as described above. The plasma levels of an acutephase (inflammatory) protein , C-reactive Protein (CRP), has recently been positively associated with progression time to AIDS in HIV-infected subjects⁵³. The crucial link that needs to be made is whether different nutrients/dietary components affect gut mucosal integrity in HIV-infected individuals in systematic or individually different ways, which could influence or determine the course of HIV pathogenesis through effects on the basic processes of viral persistence and net CD4+ T-cell depletion, by influencing the rate of microbial translocation.

The notion that chronic HIV infection may manifest as a form of inflammatory bowel disease urgently requires the bringing together of two, possibly three major fields on enquiry in the health sciences in HIV medicine/biology, clinical/scientific gastroenterology (specifically where it relates to chronic inflammatory disorders), and nutrition (specifically where this relates to the burgeoning field of probiotics and prebiotics (see Chapter 4).

Much is now known, for example, about the underlying molecular and genetic basis of Crohn's Disease⁵⁴, and therapy involving drugs such as 5-aminosalicylic acid⁵⁵ and elemental or polymeric diets (in children) is well-characterised⁵⁶. It may be relevant that

5-aminosalicylates, which have become a standard, effective therapy for inflammatory bowel disease, have also successfully been used in the context of HIV-related enteropathy⁵⁷. Beneficial effects of probiotics and/or prebiotics in numerous clinical situations⁵⁸⁻⁶⁰ may well be replicable in chronic HIV infection.

It is possible that the topic of diet and nutrition in relation to the HIV pandemic may acquire a new and exciting dimension that goes beyond traditional pre-occupations with nutrient deficiencies actively to explore therapeutic approaches aimed at the optimum functioning of the intestines in infected subjects, generated in a productive, interdisciplinary environment.

Special considerations of infancy and childhood

CHAPTER 8 Nutrition, HIV infection and active TB in infants and children

HIV and TB are infectious diseases that contribute significantly to infant and child morbidity and mortality in developing-country settings. The pathogenesis of HIV infection may depend on both virological factors (viral strain and phenotype) and host factors (genetic and nutritional). Nutritional deficiencies may play a role in the pathogenesis of HIV infection partly because of the role of some micronutrients as anti-oxidants and/or in immune function (see Chapter 7).

Nutrition, infection and immunity in infants and children

Any nutrient deficiency, if sufficiently severe, will impair resistance to infection¹. The relative immaturity of the immune system in infants, and to a lesser extent in children²⁻⁴, means that the relationship between immunity and nutrition is more complicated than in adults. The possibility that lifelong programming of the immune system can result from nutritional and/or other insults during fetal development have been discussed in Chapter 5. One of the known effects of foetal malnutrition is defective thymic growth, which may never be reversed postnatally and exerts long-range effects in later life. Diets for infants that are deficient in calories, protein, vitamin A, pyridoxine, biotin and zinc can result in a de novo loss of thymic cellularity⁵. In children with kwashiorkor and marasmus, there is a defect in T cell maturation, with a preferential loss of helper/inducer T4 cell subsets⁵. Protein-energy malnutrition results in a reduced number and function of T cells as well as phagocytic cells, and the secretory immunoglobulin A (IgA) antibody response is reduced. Zinc deficiency is associated with impairment of cell-mediated immunity, as revealed by lowered lymphocyte stimulation responses, decreased circulating CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-cells, and decreased chemotaxis of phagocytes⁶ (see Chapter 7).

Breast-feeding and mucosal/adaptive immunity⁷

Human foetuses acquire maternal antibodies (mainly IgG) passively via the placenta from the mother, and perhaps also from swallowed amniotic fluid via gut IgG receptors,

but the ability to take up antibodies from the gut stops variably after birth (up to 2 years), following the so-called "gut closure" of the receptor-based route concerned. Immediately after birth, the mucosal surfaces, only one cell layer thick, are bombarded by many microorganisms and protein antigens (especially if bottle-feeding is used). The **passive immune protection** afforded by residual maternal antibodies (lost by catabolism in the first two months) is key to the protection of the newborn infant at this stage.

Infants become very dependent on **breast-feeding** after loss of the maternal IgG stock, particularly the rich supply of **secretory IgA (SIgA) and IgM (SIgM)** (12g/l and 0.6 g/l respectively in colostrum, and about a quarter of this in breast-milk). The specificities of these soluble antibodies integratedly reflect antigenic stimulation of the mother, including pathogens in both airways and intestines, and are therefore particularly protective against the same pathogens likely to be encountered by the infant. Factors of **innate immunity** are also provided, including lysozyme, lactoferrin, peroxidase and mucins. Small numbers of immune cells of various types are also secreted in breast-milk, and may play a role in the immune stabilisation of the gut mucosa in the infant, possibly by secretion of cytokines, some of which are present in the milk as secreted, together with growth factors.

After passive immunity has ceased, and while breast-feeding continues (or is replaced by formula-feeding) the infant depends on its own **adaptive immune response** to fend off microorganisms. At the mucosal surface this is expressed mainly as the production and subsequent transepithelial secretion of SIgA and SIgM by activated B-cells and plasma cells which are capable of "immune exclusion" of pathogenic microbes, i.e. preventing these from gaining access to the submucosa or from establishing a productive infection there. This highly effective humoral immunity is supported by cell-mediated responses, mainly through the critical roles played by antigen-presenting dendritic cells and macrophages, as well as helper T-cells in initating humoral, antibody-based responses. The colonisation of the intestines by microbial flora is highly contributory to the development of well-functioning gut-associated lymphoid tissue.

HIV acquisition in infants and children

HIV transmitted from mother to child accounts for the majority of paediatric HIV infections occurring in South Africa^{8, 9}. Mother-to-child transmission (MTCT) of HIV can occur in utero, during labour and delivery, or through postnatal consumption of breast milk¹⁰, with the bulk of transmission events currently occurring in the intrapartum period^{11–13}. Transmission rates vary from less than 2% in the developed world (mainly due to the use of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART), elective caesarean section and adequate formula-feeding) to more than 30% in the developing world where there

is no or little access to antiretroviral prophylaxis and where prolonged breast-feeding is standard¹⁴. MTCT rates also vary in South Africa from 2% to 30%, depending on use of interventions to prevent MTCT and the duration and method of breast-feeding¹⁵⁻²¹.

Role of nutrition in MTCT

Low birth weight is the most important general determinant of infant mortality and morbidity^{22, 23}. Compared with the pregnancy outcomes of uninfected women, HIV-infected women are more likely to display intra-uterine growth retardation, preterm delivery and low birth weight. Adverse pregnancy outcomes become even more pronounced in women with symptomatic HIV infection²⁴. Actual weight loss during pregnancy, as compared with women who gained 167 g/week or greater, increases the risk of intra- and early post-partum transmission of HIV and adverse pregnancy outcomes²⁵.

Anaemia and low plasma levels of vitamin A have been associated with increased rates of MTCT of HIV²⁶, but it is still unclear whether nutritional deficiencies play a specific role in the aetiology of HIV transmission. Antenatal vitamin A supplementation of HIV-infected women increased birth weights as compared with a control group, decreased the incidence of low birth weight, and decreased the proportion of infants who were anaemic at 6 weeks old, but did not affect perinatal HIV transmission²⁷. However, a different study demonstrated an increased risk of HIV transmission through breast-feeding in women who received vitamin A supplementation²⁸. There are no data on the effects of vitamin A supplementation when antiretroviral prophylaxis for MTCT is used.

Zinc supplementation of HIV-infected pregnant women has not been found to affect perinatal HIV transmission or any other birth outcomes, but impacted negatively on haemoglobin levels, red blood cell counts and packed cell volumes^{29, 30}. In HIV-infected women, low plasma selenium levels were associated with increased risks of fetal death, child death and intrapartum HIV transmission³¹.

Role of breast-feeding in HIV transmission

HIV can be transmitted from mother to child through breastmilk ^{19, 20, 32-34}, and while some studies have addressed this question^{35, 36} the exact mechanism by which transmission occurs is not fully understood. For example, it is unclear whether infection takes place through entry of cell-free virions or entry of cell-associated HIV (both forms of HIV have been detected in colostrum and breast-milk), or whether the portal is the tonsils or the upper intestine itself. Cell-free virus could penetrate the mucosal lining of the gastrointestinal tract of infants by infecting inter-epithelial dendritic cells and be sampled by M cells of the Peyer's patches, or it could enter the submucosa directly by the kinds of mechanisms that allow intact

proteins to traverse the immature mucosal barrier. Alternatively it could penetrate through damaged mucosal foci. An *in vitro* study showed that HIV-infected immunocytes stimulated enterocytes to engulf HIV particles present on their surfaces³⁶, and it appears there may be both cell-associated and cell-free mechanisms of transmission.

Breast-feeding as opposed to formula-feeding approximately doubles the risk of vertical transmission, and in populations where breast-feeding continues into the second year, the additional risk is a further 15–20%³⁷. The risk of transmission through breast-feeding depends on the age of complete cessation of breast-feeding, the stage of maternal disease, breasthealth, and the modality of feeding. In the Breastfeeding and HIV International Transmission Study (BHITS), 42% of HIV-infected children had been infected via breast-feeding when they had reached 4 weeks of age³⁸.

Factors affecting disease progression in children

Progression of HIV infection in children may depend on the timing of transmission³⁹, the inoculum size of the virus^{40, 41}, the phenotype of the virus⁴², and immune functioning⁴³. Among the host factors that affect the pathogenesis of HIV infection is nutritional status involving either free radicals and/or more general nutritional/immunological factors.

Activated macrophages and neutrophils play a role in the killing of micro-organisms through the generation of reactive oxygen intermediates such as superoxide radicals; hydrogen peroxide and hydroxyl radicals⁴⁴ (see Chapter 7). These reactive oxygen intermediates oxidise nucleic acids, create chromosomal breaks, peroxidise lipids in cell membranes, and damage structural proteins and enzymes. The generation of reactive oxygen intermediates by immune-effector cells or injured tissues is counteracted by the anti-oxidant defence system: oxidative stress occurs when there is an imbalance between pro-oxidants and anti-oxidants, and the overproduction of reactive oxygen intermediates result in pathology. Nuclear factor κB (NF- κB) is a transcriptional promoter of proteins that are involved in the inflammatory response and acute-phase reaction. NF- κ B is bound to factor I κ B in the cytoplasm in its inactive form, but various factors such as tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) and reactive oxygen intermediates can cause the release of NF- κ B from IKB, after which NF-KB translocates to the nucleus and binds to promoter sequences in DNA, amongst them those that regulate the transcriptional activation of HIV (see Chapter 7). The cellular anti-oxidant glutathione inhibits the activation of NF- κ B, and may thereby dampen HIV replication: HIV-infected adults with low levels of glutathione in their CD4+ T-cells have decreased survival⁴⁵, providing some rationale for the use of N-acetylcysteine (an oral pro-drug form of glutathione) in HIV infection.

As discussed in Chapter 10, **micronutrients** such as vitamins A and E and zinc are involved in normal immune function, and micronutrient deficiencies may compromise

host immunity to HIV infection and associated infections and thereby hasten disease progression. Vitamin A plays a central role in children in the growth and function of T- and B-cells, antibody responses, and maintenance of mucosal epithelia, including that of the respiratory, gastrointestinal and genitourinary tracts⁴⁶. Zinc plays an important role in the growth and development and function of neutrophils, macrophages, natural killer cells, and T and B lymphocytes⁴⁷. Vitamin E influences the function of T-cells, B-cells and phagocytic cells, and may also protect immune effector cells against oxidative stress⁴⁸. Vitamin B₆⁴⁹, selenium⁵⁰ and folate⁵¹ may also influence immune function, but further work is needed regarding the role of these micronutrients in the pathophysiology of paediatric HIV infection (see Chapter 4).

The effects of infant feeding on survival

Because HIV can be transmitted through breast-feeding, all HIV-infected women who are pregnant need to be informed of this risk and that avoidance of breast-feeding should be recommended if replacement feeding is acceptable, feasible, affordable, safe and sustainable. If replacement feeding is deemed to attribute a greater risk of mortality than the risk of HIV acquisition via breast-feeding, exclusive breast-feeding with early weaning (4-6months) can be recommended. In certain settings, non-breast-fed infants have been found to have a greater risk of dying than infants who were predominantly or exclusively breast-fed⁵². Recently, in a non-randomised observational study⁵³ conducted in slums in New Delhi, India; shanty towns in Lima, Peru; and rural villages in the Kintampo district of Ghana demonstrated that infants who were not breast-fed or who were partially breast-fed were more likely to die from gastroenteritis and respiratory infection than predominantly breast-fed infants. This study also showed that infants who were not breast-fed were at a substantially higher risk of all-cause hospitalisation. The impact of HIV on mortality and morbidity was not assessed in this study.

Infant feeding in the context of HIV

Studies conducted in Africa among infants born to HIV-infected mothers, have demonstrated no increases in mortality in infants who have been formula-fed⁵⁴. In Nairobi, a randomised clinical trial of breast-feeding versus formula-feeding⁵⁵ to prevent MTCT of HIV found similar mortality rates among infants who were formula-fed as compared with those who were breast-fed, even after adjusting for HIV infection status; in addition, this study found that the rates of diarrhoea or pneumonia were similar in infants assigned to be formula-fed or breast-fed. In a recent randomised clinical trial in Botswana⁵⁶, the mortality distributions at 18 months were not significantly different

between the infants who were breast-fed or formula-fed. At 7 months, however, the cumulative infant mortality was higher in the formula-fed group than in breast-fed group. The PETRA study²¹, conducted in Tanzania, South Africa and Uganda, demonstrated a significantly lower an infant mortality rate that was significantly lower in South African than East African sites; in the South African sites, only 53% of women breast-fed, as opposed to 97% of women in the East African sites. In a study conducted in Soweto¹⁹ in a population of HIV-infected mothers, 2.2% of all breast-fed infants and 3.8% of all the formula-fed infants died before 12 weeks of age (no statistical difference). In the same study, when comparing overall transmission from HIV-infected mothers to their infants, the rate of being infected at 12 weeks was 14.8% in the breast-fed group as opposed to 9.4% in the formula-fed group (log-rank test: p-value = 0.007), suggesting that the excess risk of acquiring HIV postnatally through breast-feeding was about 5%.

Models have been applied to assess the impact on mortality of various infant-feeding strategies implemented for the prevention of MTCT of HIV in various settings. Formula feeding appeared to be highly effective in settings with high HIV seroprevalence and reasonable levels of child survival, but dangerous when infant mortality rates were high (>50/1000) or the protective effects of breast-feeding substantial⁵⁷. In another modelling exercise, three categories of breast-feeding (optimal breast-feeding, complete avoidance of breast-feeding, and early cessation of breast-feeding) were compared in terms of HIV transmission and infant mortality⁵⁸; the lowest frequency of adverse outcomes appeared to occur if none of the HIV-seropositive women breast-feed their infants but all HIV-seronegative women breast-feed optimally, given that infant mortality rates were below 100/1000, and the relative risks of dying were set at 2.5 for non-breast-feed compared with optimally breast-feed infants.

Most recently, a non-randomised cohort intervention study on a large number of births to HIV-infected mothers in KwaZulu-Natal has shown that when such mothers breast-fed exclusively, their babies had a lower risk of postnatal HIV infection than did babies who also received replacement liquids, and especially so when solids were included in the feeds⁵⁹. The infant mortality in breast-fed babies was also half that of replacement-fed babies. Importantly for policy, a large proportion of the cohort of mothers was able to achieve exclusive breast-feeding for 6 weeks (82%) and 3 months (67%), aided by well-designed and effective counselling and others forms of support.

Natural history of paediatric HIV infection

In the developed world, before the use of HAART, a bimodal distribution of survival of HIV-infected children was described, with approximately 10–20% of children being "rapid progressors" (usually dying of AIDS before 4 years of age), while the remaining

80–90% had survival patterns typical of adults with AIDS, with a mean survival of approximately 9–10 years⁶⁰. Before the use of HAART, 17–25% of infants died within the first 8 months after birth, with 75% of children still being alive at 6 years of age, and 50% still alive by 9 years of age⁶⁰.

The survival of children infected with HIV in Africa appears to be much shorter than that in Europe or the USA. In Uganda, the mortality rate of children with a laboratory diagnosis of HIV was 336/1000⁶¹. Median survival was 21 months, with 66.2% of children dying by 36 months of age. In Malawi, the mortality rate per 1000 person-years of observation in HIV-infected children was 339.3 as opposed to 46.3 among uninfected children born to HIV-infected women⁶². In Zimbabwe, HIV-infected women had a perinatal mortality rate 2.1 times greater than uninfected women, a still-birth rate 1.6 times greater, and a neonatal mortality rate 2.7 times greater⁶³. Neonates born to HIV-infected women (40/1000) in Abidjan⁶⁴, and a decreased 12-month survival rate in Brazzaville⁶⁵. In a pooled analysis from Africa, it was found that by one year of age, 35.2% of HIV-infected infants and 4.9% of HIV-exposed but uninfected infants had died⁶⁶.

Data on survival of HIV-infected children in South Africa are available in the case of detailed birth-cohort studies. In Durban, 35% of children who were infected perinatally died in their first year of life⁶⁷, while in a study conducted in Soweto¹⁹, 6.9% of HIV-infected infants died within 100 days after birth compared with 1.5% of HIV-exposed but uninfected infants (p<00001)⁵². At Tygerberg Hospital in Cape Town, 16.8% of HIV-infected children died over a 5-month period; in this cohort, most children were malnourished, with those under 2 years of age having significantly lower growth indicators than those over 2 years of age⁶⁸.

The role of nutrition in childhood HIV infection

A combination of insufficient macro- and micronutrient intake resulting from anorexia, nausea, vomiting, diarrhea and malabsorption, associated with impaired storage and altered metabolism of nutrients as well as elevated energy expenditure during secondary bacterial and/or systemic opportunistic infections often leads to both wasting and micronutrient malnutrition during HIV infection in children⁶⁹. One-third of symptomatic HIV-infected children displayed carbohydrate malabsorption⁷⁰. Deranged metabolism associated with HIV infection has included increased hepatic lipogenesis⁷¹, increased protein turnover⁷² and increased insulin sensitivity⁷³. Unlike starvation, which is associated with a predominant loss of body fat, HIV infection is predominantly associated with a loss of protein as measured by lean body mass⁷⁴, which

has been associated with increased mortality^{75, 76}. Excessive loss of protein, coupled with inadequate intake and absorption, as well as an increase in the body demand for protein related to cellular proliferation in the immune system readily results in a vicious cycle of protein imbalance in rapidly growing children. This predisposes to immune deficiency resulting in intercurrent infections, which further exacerbate the shortfall of protein required for sustaining cellular integrity and function.

Mechanisms for malnutrition in HIV-infected children

Malnutrition and nutritional problems in HIV-infected infants and children can be the consequence of a number of mechanisms, often operating simultaneously or synergistically⁷⁷. **Loss of appetite and poor dietary intake** are regarded as among the most important causes of growth failure or weight loss associated with HIV infection, but HIV also increases the body's nutritional needs.

Upper gastrointestinal ulcers due to viruses or of idiopathic origin are common, and decrease food intake because they cause pain during eating⁷⁸. Inflammation and ulceration of the upper gastrointestinal tract has been found in up to 70% of HIV-infected children undergoing endoscopies⁷⁹, and is often related to opportunistic infections that lead to anorexia because of odynophagia, dysphagia, or abdominal pain that is associated with eating. Primary anorexia may also contribute to inadequate intake; although the role of cytokines as mediators of anorexia is controversial⁸⁰ (there is evidence that increased cytokine production (e.g. interferon-alpha, interleukin-1, interleukin-6 and TNF- α) may be associated with anorexia⁸¹. TNF- α also delays gastric emptying which can also increase anorexia⁸². HIV encephalopathy, present in up to 16% of children with HIV infection⁸³ may also reduce energy intake considerably. Many medications that HIV-1-infected children are required to take may result in gastric irritation, vomiting, nausea and diarrhoea⁸⁴.

Gastrointestinal mucosal dysfunction because of local HIV infection or from secondary enteric infections can lead to **malabsorption** of both macro- and micronutrients. Several studies have reported impaired carbohydrate, fat and protein absorption in patients with HIV/AIDS^{85, 86}, with the extent of malabsorption not always correlated with the degree of malnutrition⁸⁷. Furthermore, while the impaired absorption may not always be clinically evident, it may imperceptibly contribute to worsening of the disease. Fat malabsorption and protein-losing enteropathy in HIV-infected children are usually the result of severe enteritis caused by secondary infections. Many micronutrients are also malabsorbed in children with AIDS-related gastrointestinal disease, including zinc, selenium, calcium, magnesium, vitamins A and B₁₂, folic acid, thiamine and vitamin D. Diarrhoea resulting from infection may be persistent (lasting more than 14 days), predisposing to severe

malnutrition and death. (Diarrhoea may also be caused by antiretroviral therapy and other medications, particularly antibiotics). Gastrointestinal bleeding due to mucosal ulcerations leads to loss of nutrients secondary to blood loss. Opportunistic infections affecting the gastrointestinal tract, including the hepatobiliary system and the pancreas, may also result in various types of malabsorption.

Increased energy utilisation in children with HIV is related both to viral load and to coinfections and comorbidities. Asymptomatic chronic viral infections can predispose patients to secondary infections, which can significantly alter energy utilisation patterns. There are, however, few good studies of energy expenditure in HIV-infected children. Available data show no differences in resting energy expenditure or of total energy expenditure between children with growth failure and those with normal growth rates⁸⁸⁻⁹⁵.

Psychosocial factors^{96–98} may also contribute towards malnutrition in HIV-infected children, who often live with ill parents or aged relatives with limited access to social services and support. An unstable home environment and inadequate emotional and social support has been shown to influence growth negatively in both HIV-infected and uninfected children by many mechanisms, including growth hormone deficiency. Caregivers can influence the functional status of HIV-infected children positively and/ or negatively.

Growth patterns in HIV-infected children⁹⁹⁻¹¹⁵

A number of abnormal growth patterns occur in HIV-infected children, ranging from symmetrical retardation of weight and height to severe wasting (low height-for-weight) with normal height. These differences in growth patterns can probably be explained by the variable clinical disease patterns occurring in HIV-infected children, related to factors such as viral load and the frequency and severity of coinfections. Higher HIV viral load increased the risk of growth failure in children. Factors such as lower CD4* T-cell count, infectious complications such as pneumonia and diarrhoea, (prior) maternal drug use during pregnancy, and exposure to antiretroviral therapy (non-protease inhibitor) have been associated with growth problems. Cytokines may be responsible for some of the growth, metabolic and immunological effects associated with HIV infection. Factors that contribute to wasting syndrome (defined as a net weight loss of at least 10% of body mass) include hypermetabolism, opportunistic infections and associated anorexia, increased protein catabolism, gastrointestinal disease, malabsorption, and imbalance between the pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines produced by mononuclear cells.

Regarding the growth of HIV-infected children, a study conducted in Durban examined children born to HIV-1-seropositive women, followed up in respect of growth parameters from birth to early childhood¹¹⁴. Mean Z-scores were calculated for weight-

for-length, weight-for-age and length-for-age and, if they were low, the children were regarded as wasted, malnourished or stunted, respectively. At the end of the study, there were 48 infected and 93 uninfected children under observation. While there were no significant differences between the two groups at birth, the infected group had early and sustainedly lower mean Z-scores for length-for-age and weight-for-age but not for weight-for-length, reaching statistical significance at ages 3, 6 and 12 months for length-for-age, and at 3, 6 and 9 months for weight-for-age. Infected children who died early had more severe stunting, wasting and malnutrition than did infected children who survived. Infected children born to HIV-infected women have early and sustained stunting and are malnourished but not wasted. Generally, children with rapidly progressive disease had both stunting and wasting, and were more severely affected.

A study conducted in Cape Town looked prospectively at anthropometric and micronutrient indicators of 60 stable, HIV-infected children (median age 25 months) in an economically deprived setting¹¹⁵. Investigations included CD4⁺ counts, anthropometry and plasma levels of albumin, transthyretin, retinol-binding protein (RBP), vitamins A, B₆, E and B₁₂, as well as folate, zinc and copper. Thirty-two per cent had mild, 48% moderate and 20% severe clinical features, and 80% were moderately or severely immunosuppressed. Twenty-eight per cent had a weight Z-score <-2.0 and 58% a height Z-score <-2.0. Many children had biochemical features of micronutrient deficiencies: low albumin (70%), transthyretin (100%), RBP (85%), vitamins A (80%), B₆ (37%), E (37%) and B₁₂ (5%), zinc (20%) and copper (25%). Sixty-two per cent had two or more trace element or vitamin deficiencies. There was a weak association between micronutrient status and disease status. Micronutrient concentrations did not correlate with chronological age, height-forage or weight-for-age. Plasma CRP was elevated in 53% but this did not correlate with any of the micronutrient concentrations. Micronutrient deficiencies were more common and micronutrient concentrations lower in children over 24 months of age.

The evidence to support the theory of inadequate energy intake being responsible for poor childhood growth in an outpatient setting is surprisingly inconclusive. A large, cohort study found that stable HIV-infected children whose growth rate was below that of a control group received well over the recommended daily allowance of energy and protein, similar to the non-infected control children (higher intake was, however, associated with improvement in weight and fat mass). Other smaller studies have shown differences in energy intake between HIV-infected and non-infected children, suggesting that inadequate intakes may relate to growth differences.

Children infected with HIV show progressive declines in lean body mass over time, while measures of fat stores remain constant, yet low. Although clinical manifestations may take time to appear, the onset of growth changes begin soon after birth (within the first 1 to 3 months). Sequential follow-up has showed that growth in HIV-infected

children remained below that of age- and gender-matched uninfected children. Because growth failure often precedes secondary infections in HIV-infected infants and children, inadequate protein deposition may be an early manifestation of infection by the virus; children with HIV infection, but without secondary infection, have negative protein balance because of an inability to down-regulate protein catabolism. Furthermore, the acute-phase protein (APP) response elicited by HIV infection is characterised by higher concentrations and synthesis rates of positive APPs without lower concentrations of some negative APPs (see chapter 4).

Poor growth is associated with an increased risk of mortality in HIV-infected children. In one study, HIV infection appeared to be a stronger predictor of mortality among children hospitalised with pneumonia, and who were wasted, than in those who were not. Nutritional status therefore needs to be assessed at regular intervals as part of the management of HIV infection in children, to prevent stunted growth and development. The simplest approach to assessment to date has been serial weight measurement, with the more comprehensive nutritional assessment including (1) anthropometric measurements of body composition; (2) biochemical measurements of serum protein, micronutrients, and metabolic parameters; (3) clinical assessment of altered nutritional requirements and social or psychological issues that may preclude adequate intake; and (4) measurement of dietary intake (see Chapter 4).

The effects of tuberculosis on HIV infection¹¹⁶⁻¹³⁴

The importance of tuberculosis as a cause of childhood morbidity and mortality is controversial only because of limitations in the tools available for diagnosing pulmonary tuberculosis in children. Tuberculosis is a leading cause of death in children under 5 years of age in sub-Saharan Africa¹¹⁶. HIV-infected individuals are at an increased risk of developing TB; immunocompetent adults have a 10% lifetime risks of developing TB after infection with Mycobacterium tuberculosis compared with an annual risk of 10% among HIV-infected adults. Among immunocompetent children infected with M. tuberculosis the risks of developing TB disease and of developing the most severe forms of TB disease (miliary and meningeal disease) are much higher than among adults. In general, the younger the child with TB infection is, the greater the risk of progression to disease117. Most cases of pulmonary TB among South African children (both HIV-infected and HIVuninfected) occur in children under two years of age (median ages of 12 and 14.5 months, respectively)¹¹⁸. In 2004, at least 50% of children aged 0–9 years in a peri-urban township in South Africa who developed TB disease were also found to be HIV-infected¹¹⁹. In a study conducted at a primary health care level in Cape Town, HIV-infected children were more likely to have complicated Ghon focus and disseminated disease than non HIV-infected

children (OR 10.9, 95% CI 3.2–35.9)¹²⁰. In a study conducted in clinics in Johannesburg and Cape Town, the overall incidence of TB in HIV-infected children was found to be 3.2/100 person-years (95% CI 2.0–4.9). In HIV-infected children receiving antiretroviral therapy, the incidence of TB was reduced (8.3/100 person years) as compared with those children not on antiretroviral therapy (14.4/100 person-years), despite those on therapy being initially far more immuno-compromised¹²¹.

Although there are no data available regarding the risk of development of TB disease in children coinfected with TB and HIV, it would seem reasonable to assume an even higher risk than that observed in adults, particularly for those children living in countries with a high prevalence of TB¹²². Among TB patients in South Africa, the HIV seroprevalence rates among in those younger than 18 months old and those between 10 and 14 years old were 52% and 14.7%, respectively¹²³. It is possible that these variations reflect the increasing HIV seroprevalence rates among young children, as the older children may have been born at a time when overall national (South African) seroprevalence rates were lower. Data from Zambia indicate that approximately 69% of children hospitalised with clinical TB were co-infected with HIV¹²⁴. TB was the fifth most common diagnosis among hospitalized children at this institution, with five percent of children admitted having TB. Similarly, in a study in Cote d'Ivoire, 23.4% of children with TB were co-infected with HIV¹²⁵. At a time when approximately 4% of the birth cohort in South Africa were estimated be to be HIV-infected, 42% of all children in whom TB was diagnosed had concurrent HIV infection¹²⁶.

M. tuberculosis is also increasingly being recognised as an important cause of severe acute pneumonia in children in sub-Saharan Africa; it was isolated in 8% of children hospitalised for acute pneumonia in three separate studies among HIV-infected and uninfected children¹²⁷⁻¹²⁹. TB can aggravate the immunological deterioration of HIVinfected individuals, and thus hasten HIV disease progression¹³⁰. Globally, the case fatality rate from TB is estimated to be 23%, but it exceeds 50% in regions such as Africa where the prevalence of HIV infection is extremely high¹³⁰. There are conflicting data regarding the importance of tuberculosis as a cause of death based on post-mortem studies performed in Africa: while pulmonary tuberculosis was identified in 4-12% of HIV-infected children who died in South Africa and Botswana^{132, 133}, more recently a study from Malawi associated tuberculosis with 20% of all deaths¹³⁴. The proportion of deaths due to tuberculosis was particularly high after 12 months of age. Tuberculosis was the second most common pathology in children dying between 12 and 17 months of age and was identified in 31.6% and 36.8% of HIV-infected and uninfected children, respectively. Additionally, tuberculosis was the most common associated cause of death in HIV-uninfected children older than 18 months of age, and the second leading cause of death in HIV-uninfected children across all age-groups.

Clinical evidence

CHAPTER 9 The effects of nutritional interventions in HIV/AIDS: Macronutrients

In this chapter we consider the evidence from human studies on the effects of nutritional intervention on clinical outcomes in people infected with HIV. The first part of this chapter focuses on the potential benefits of macronutrients (i.e. carbohydrates, proteins and fat which are required by the body in large amounts). This is followed by a review of the evidence concerning micronutrients (i.e. essential elements, such as vitamins and minerals, required in small quantities). We emphasise findings from randomised controlled trials as these provide the most reliable evidence on the effects of treatment highlighting other types of studies where relevant (See Chapter 3: Evidence-based policy and recommendations).

Background

HIV/AIDS has many faces. There are major differences between HIV-infected individuals in developed and developing countries with regard to income level, availability of adequate nutrition and access to basic healthcare or life-prolonging antiretroviral treatment. In addition, patients vary in terms of their response to the virus, stage of the disease, susceptibility to secondary infections, nutritional status and individual response to the various treatments received. These complexities must be taken into account when formulating recommendations and guidelines on nutrient and energy supplementation for HIV-infected individuals.

HIV-associated weight loss and wasting

Weight loss and wasting, two features commonly associated with HIV infection, are independent contributing factors to poor clinical outcomes in people living with HIV/ AIDS¹. A 10% or greater loss of body weight over a year is not uncommon in HIV-infected people, but there is a high degree of variability in the extent of weight loss and wasting. In most cases, acute weight-loss episodes are associated with secondary infections².

Once the secondary infections are successfully treated and energy intake is increased sufficiently, patients are able to regain weight and remain weight-stable³. Instances of chronic weight loss are normally associated with secondary gastrointestinal infections and subsequent malabsorption² (see Chapter 7).

Alterations of the metabolic system commonly occur in people with HIV infection. **Whole-body protein turnover** is up to 25% higher in untreated HIV-infected individuals than in HIV-negative controls⁴. The increased protein turnover is positively correlated with resting energy expenditure (REE)⁵ and increased protein turnover, with net protein loss, results in cachexia. This condition is characterised by the loss of body cell mass, the "work-generating" tissues in the body. Insulin clearance and sensitivity are also increased in untreated HIV-infected individuals⁶, while those on HAART develop insulin resistance. Furthermore, lipid metabolism is altered in HIV-infected individuals, particularly those on antiretroviral treatment. Fat oxidation is increased in both treated and untreated HIV-infected people.

In uncomplicated starvation the body slows down its metabolic processes, with minimisation of resting energy expenditure (REE) and total energy expenditure (TEE), and conservation of the body's protein at the expense of the fat stores. By contrast, in HIV infection resting energy expenditure is increased in asymptomatic, and even more so in symptomatic patients^{7, 8}, with both fat and protein stores being oxidised to fuel the body's energy requirements. A recent meta-analysis found that **resting energy expenditure**, expressed per kg fat free mass (REE/FFM), was significantly higher (~11%) in HIV-infected individuals than in healthy HIV-negative controls⁹. Sub-group analyses showed that the REE/FFM of symptomatic HIV-infected individuals tended to be higher than that of asymptomatic weight-stable HIV-infected individuals, although the difference was not statistically significant⁹. There is also some evidence to suggest that the type of secondary infection might influence changes in the resting energy expenditure¹⁰.

Despite the observed increase in REE/FFM in HIV-infected individuals, **total energy expenditure (TEE)** was found to be significantly reduced in HIV-infected, rapidly weight-losing men^{7, 11}; the finding of decreased TEE in a group of obviously very ill individuals must be interpreted with caution, however, as this outcome may not hold true in asymptomatic HIV-infected individuals. Nonetheless, if TEE is decreasing, or at the very least not changing, the cause of the weight loss and wasting seen in HIV-infected people requires explanation.

Scarcity of food (particularly in the developing world), loss of appetite, and decreased absorption of energy appear to be crucial factors associated with HIV-related weight loss and wasting. In areas of the world where food security is an issue it is important to ensure that all individuals and in particular those who are HIV-infected, are provided with sufficient nutritious food. In such areas those most vulnerable are people who are too ill to go to work to earn money for food or to tend their crops or livestock. In this context the provision of adequate food, may contribute to patients maintaining their weight and facilitate the use of antiretroviral drugs.

Decreased appetite, a common complaint of many individuals living with HIV, is most profound in the later stages of infection¹². The precise physiological reason behind this response is not clear, although it is probably related to the anorexic effect that the proinflammatory cytokines exert on the body (see Chapter 4)¹³.

Malabsorption and diarrhoea, secondary to disruption of the architecture and function of the intestines, are also frequently encountered in people with HIV infection (see Chapter 7). These individuals may further decrease their food intake to minimise the episodes and severity of the diarrhoea^{14, 15}. Carbohydrate malabsorption, (particularly in children)¹⁶ and fat malabsorption are commonly reported in HIV infection. Malabsorption of nutrients and the associated decrease in energy intake thus further contribute to the observed weight loss.

Nutrition and immunity in HIV-infected individuals

The relationship between nutrition and immunity is well established and individuals with poor nutrient status are known to be more susceptible to infections. The interplay between nutrition and immunity is particularly evident in HIV-infected individuals. In this context, poor nutrient status worsens an already compromised immune system increasing vulnerability to opportunistic infections, which in turn leads to deterioration in nutrient status. Malnutrition therefore acts as both a cause and a result of HIV disease progression.

A balanced diet provides the macronutrients (and its constituent parts, for example amino acids and triglycerides and fatty acids), micronutrients and energy required for optimal growth and development (see Chapter 4). Macronutrients (i.e. carbohydrates, proteins and fat), required by the body in large amounts (i.e. tens to hundreds of grams), provide the body with energy and essential building blocks for the construction of cell membranes, organelles and proteins. In a balanced diet the total energy requirements should consist of approximately 50–55% carbohydrates (for example, fruit, vegetables, breads, cereals, rice and pasta), 10–20% protein (for example, chicken, fish, beans and peas, nuts and seeds) and 30–35% fat (oil, butter, cheese). Nutrient and energy requirements will vary depending on age, gender, level of physical activity, pregnancy and lactation needs and health status.

In order to ameliorate weight loss and wasting, HIV-infected individuals should ensure that the basic nutrient and energy requirements are met. On the basis of the findings that REE/FFM of HIV-infected individuals is increased by approximately 10%⁹, one might assume that in order to prevent weight loss and wasting, food intake should be increased accordingly to meet these increased energy demands. Furthermore, REE/FFM has been shown to increase dramatically in HIV-infected individuals with secondary infections. The appropriate amount and type of food to eat during or post infection is not yet known with certainty, but it is considered prudent to monitor patients' body weight carefully during this period providing adequate nutritious food as needed.

Evidence for the benefits of macronutrient supplementation

It is reasonable, in principle, to assume that nutritional interventions administered to people with HIV infection will maintain or enhance defence against infection (decrease the risk of infection), promote recovery from opportunistic infection and improve quality of life and survival. Various nutritional interventions including food (high energy, protein or fat diets), oral supplements with specific nutrients, enteral and total parenteral therapy, appetite stimulants and anabolic hormones (growth hormone) have accordingly been recommended for HIV-infected individuals.

In this section we summarise the available evidence on whether oral nutritional supplementation with macronutrients is effective for reducing negative clinical outcomes in HIV-infected individuals. As discussed in Chapter 3, such evidence should ideally be informed by blinded (masked) randomised controlled trials with adequate patient follow-up. Furthermore, the studies should be of sufficient power to detect differences between experimental and control groups in clinically important endpoints. While randomised studies will provide the most reliable evidence on what does or does not work, the results obtained will apply to specific patient groups and settings, and care will be needed in extrapolating their findings to different populations. In the absence of randomised trials, well-conducted, non-randomised trials and observational studies or expert opinion may provide guidance on what nutritional interventions may be of value but these methods are less reliable as they are more susceptible to bias.

Randomised, placebo-controlled trials

A recent Cochrane systematic review* has evaluated the evidence concerning the effects of orally administered macronutrients (in the form of a balanced diet or dietary

^{*} Mahlungulu S, Grobler LA, Visser MME, Volmink J. Nutritional Interventions for reducing morbidity and mortality in HIV infected individuals (Cochrane review in press)^{53,57}.

supplements high in protein, fat or carbohydrate) in reducing morbidity and mortality in HIV-infected individuals¹⁷. Despite an exhaustive search for randomised trials, only eight small studies, with a total of 486 participants, could be found that met the pre-specified inclusion criteria. While none of the trials directly assessed the effects of macronutrients on overall or HIV-related mortality, morbidity or disease progression, findings for surrogates of these outcomes were evaluated and are provided below.

Meta-analysis found that macronutrient supplementation regardless of type (with or without nutritional counselling) significantly improved total energy intake (5 trials; weighted mean difference (WMD) 367 kcal/day; 95% CI: 217.1 to 516) and total protein intake (3 trials; WMD 17 g/day; 95% CI: 8.37 to 26.34) compared with no nutritional supplementation or placebo (with or without nutritional counselling). No evidence of an effect on body weight, fat free mass, fat mass, HIV-viral load or CD4⁺ count was noted in this broad comparison.

More specifically, balanced nutritional supplements (consisting of 50–60% carbohydrate, 15–30% protein and 20–30% fat) aimed at improving energy intake by 600–960 kcal/day, compared with no nutritional supplements, significantly increased energy (4 trials; WMD 407 kcal/day; 95% CI: 250.2 to 563) and protein intake (2 trials; WMD 23 g/day; 95% CI 12.97 to 33.7). In comparison with various nutritional placebos, specific nutritional supplements such as an amino acid mixture containing arginine, glutamine and β -hydroxy- β -methylbutyrate¹⁸, monohydrated L-ornithine α -ketoglutarate¹⁹ and L-glutamine and antioxidant nutrients (ascorbic acid, α -tocopherol, β -carotene, selenium and N-acetyl cysteine)²⁰ significantly increased body weight (3 trials; WMD 1.93 kg; 95% CI: 0.15 to 3.71) and decreased HIV-viral load (2 trials; WMD –0.45 log₁₀ copies/ml; 95% CI: –0.86 to –0.04) of HIV-infected participants.

As stated by the Cochrane authors, these findings must be interpreted with caution for a number of reasons. First, the studies involved are all relatively small (sample size 128 to 178 participants), raising the possibility that the play of chance may account for the results obtained. There are also concerns regarding the methodological quality of some of the trials, especially in terms of randomisation and exclusions from analysis. Variations in the nutritional composition of active supplements and control interventions across studies, as well as differences in disease stage of the participants in various studies (which can significantly affect intake and absorption of food) further complicate interpretation of the existence evidence.

It is worth noting that patients with opportunistic infections – the category most prone to weight loss and who, in theory, are most likely to benefit – were not assessed in any of the trials. Nonetheless, if the finding of increased energy and protein intake is valid this would be important given that decreased energy intake and accelerated protein turnover is common in people with HIV/AIDS.

The generalisability of the findings of the Cochrane review to subjects in developing countries must also be carefully considered. All of the trials were conducted in the north hemisphere and evaluated males between 30 and 50 years old who were reasonably well nourished in terms of their body mass index and most of whom were receiving antiretroviral therapy. These observations highlight some challenges in applying the trial findings to people in developing countries where nutritional status is generally poor and access to antiretroviral therapy is limited.

Two randomised, placebo-controlled trials that did not meet the inclusion criteria of the Cochrane Review investigated the effect of specific amino acid supplementation on the immune parameters of HIV-infected individuals^{21, 22}. The administration of 600 mg of the amino acid N-acetyl cysteine over a period of 7 months resulted in a significant increase in immune function, both in combination with antiretroviral therapy and without antiretroviral therapy in HIV-infected adults with a CD4⁺ count between 200 and 500, compared with a placebo²¹. A non-significant increase was noted in the supplemented group's viral load, despite the favourable changes in immune parameters. A similar effect was noted in a small pilot study in which participants (N=11, age: ±38, CD4⁺:376-588) received either 19.6g arginine per day or equivalent placebo tablets, for 14 days. Although none of the changes were significant, the viral load of supplemented participants increased compared with that of the placebo group, despite there being an increase in the supplemented group's natural killer cell activity²². Both of these trials were small and the results reported are likely to have occurred due to chance.

In summary, randomised controlled trials conducted in high-income countries provide limited evidence that targeted supplementation of the diet with macronutrients compared with placebo or no supplementation increases protein and energy intake in HIV-infected patients on antiretroviral therapy. However, the effects of nutritional supplementation on mortality, morbidity, body weight and immunological parameters remain unclear.

Controlled trials with active controls

A number of additional randomised and quasi-randomised, controlled studies have compared two or more oral nutritional supplements with each other. The majority of these studies were conducted in the USA²³⁻²⁹, with three studies conducted in Africa^{30–32} and one study each conducted in Germany³³, Switzerland³⁴ and Spain³⁵, respectively. The effects of various nutritional supplements on outcomes such as body weight, body composition, dietary intake, HIV-associated diarrhoea, immune parameters, viral load, quality of life and progression of the disease have been investigated in HIV-infected adults and children. The studies are grouped by intervention investigated and discussed below.

Balanced nutritional supplements

Three small, randomised trials^{23, 24, 35} compared the effects of supplementation with standard nutritional formula (ENSURE®) and a peptide-based formula (ADVERA®) in adults (age: ±38 years, CD4*: 178–561, BMI: ±21), for time periods ranging from 6 weeks²⁴ to 6 months²³. The peptide-based formula used has a higher caloric density, 4% more protein and 15% more fat (as a percentage of the total calories), and is enriched with n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. Two out of the three studies provided nutritional counselling to all participants^{23, 35}.

After 6 weeks of supplementation no significant difference was noted in nutrient intake, body weight or body composition between the two groups²⁴. However, both nutritional formulas significantly increased total energy (ENSURE® mean difference 15% of needs.day⁻¹, p<0.05; ADVERA® mean difference 7% of needs.day⁻¹, p<0.05) and total protein intake (ENSURE® mean difference 15% of needs.day⁻¹, p<0.05; ADVERA® mean difference 15% of needs.day⁻¹, p<0.05; ADVERA® mean difference 17% of needs.day⁻¹, p<0.05; ADVERA® mean difference 10% of needs.day⁻¹, p<0.05; ADVERA® mean diff

After three months of supplementation an increase in body weight from baseline values was noted for both formulas (ENSURE® 3.2%, p<0.05; ADVERA® 3.1%, p<0.05); although this was mainly due to an increase in fat mass³⁵. Compared with baseline values, CD4⁺ count remained stable in the standard formula group and increased significantly in the peptide-based formula group (576±403 vs 642±394 cells.mm⁻³, p<0.05)³⁵.

After 6 months of supplementation, participants receiving the peptide-based formula gained a significantly greater amount of weight compared with those receiving the standard formula (mean difference between the two groups, post intervention = 5.5kg; 95% CI: 4.97 to 6.03). Furthermore, those receiving the peptide-based formula had significantly fewer unscheduled hospitalisations compared with the standard formula group (ADVERA® 0 visits vs ENSURE® 36 visits, p<0.05)²³.

Medium-chain fatty acid-containing triglycerides (MCT) and long-chain fatty acid-containing triglycerides (LCT)

Two small, randomised controlled trials compared the effect of 12 days of supplementation with MCT- and LCT-based formulas on fat absorption and body weight in participants (age: 32–38 years, CD4⁺: 63–179, BMI: ±19) in the USA^{26, 27}. Compared with ingestion of LCT formula, ingestion of MCT formula significantly increased fat absorption, in both studies (4.3±5.8 vs –1.1±5.8 g.day⁻¹ fat absorption, p<0.04,²⁶; 5.4±0.6 vs 12±2.6 g.day⁻¹ faecal fat excretion, p<0.01,²⁷). No significant change in body weight was noted in any of the participants in either of the studies.

A further trial compared the effect of supplements containing either peptides and MCTs or whole proteins and LCTs on body weight and body cell mass of HIV-infected individuals²⁵. Throughout the 4 months, both the supplemented groups and the non-

supplemented control groups received a multivitamin and mineral supplement. No differences in percent change in body weight or body cell mass were noted within or between either of the groups.

Specific amino acids and polyunsaturated fatty acids

In a quasi-randomised, controlled trial, a six-week supplementation with fish oil bars enriched with n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids, compared with safflower oil supplementation, resulted in a non-significant decrease in CD4⁺ cell count in HIV-infected individuals²⁹. In a randomised, controlled trial, six months supplementation with either a standard nutritional supplement or a standard nutritional supplement enriched with arginine and n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids resulted in an increase in total energy intake, body weight and fat mass³⁴. No change was noted in immune or viral parameter over the six months in either of the groups³⁴.

In a controlled, crossover phase trial, HIV-infected adults (N=10, age: 44 ± 3.5 , CD4⁺: 286±47, BMI: 22.3±0.8) receiving a standard formula (liquid formula containing 500 kcal/500ml of which 17% protein, 25% fat and 53% carbohydrates) enriched with arginine, α -linoleic acid and ribonucleic acid for 16 weeks gained a significantly greater amount of weight compared with those receiving the standard formula alone (mean difference in weight between the two groups post intervention 3.4kg 95% CI: 1.51 to 5.29)³⁶. While no significant changes were noted in circulating lymphocytes, serum concentrations of tumor necrosis factor-alpha receptors, sTNFR 55 (mean difference 0.63 ng.ml⁻¹; 95% CI: 0.39 to 0.87) and sTNFR 75 (mean difference 1.26 ng.ml⁻¹ 95% CI: 0.48 to 2.04), were significantly elevated following supplementation with the enriched formula compared with the standard formula³⁶. While serum concentrations of sTNFR reflect TNF release and levels increase with HIV disease progression, sTNFR also act as neutalising agents limiting the systemic catabolic effects of TNF³⁶.

In a randomised crossover trial, malnourished (HIV-infected participants (age:37±12 yrs, BMI: 18.6±1.3, CD4*: 176±203) were supplemented with a polymeric diet (consisting of whole proteins rather than specific amino acids) and regular food for two consecutive 45-day periods. Compared with regular food, supplementation with the polymeric diet resulted in significant improvements in body weight (mean difference 2.9kg 95% CI: 0.61 to 5.19) and fat-free mass (mean difference 1.59kg 95% CI: 0.09 to 3.09). No significant changes were noted in CD4* or CD8* cell count or plasma albumin levels³⁷.

Ready-to-use therapeutic food in African children

The effect of ready-to-use therapeutic food has been investigated in malnourished HIV-infected and non-infected African children. Ready-to-use therapeutic food is an energy-dense liquid paste made from peanut butter, milk powder, oil, sugar, vitamins

and minerals. In a quasi-randomised, controlled trial, ready-to-use therapeutic food (energy content: 175kcal/kg/day) was compared with a ready-to-use therapeutic food supplement (energy content: 500kcal/day) and a blended maize/soy flour mix (energy content: 175kcal/kg/day) in severely malnourished (weight-for-height Z score: \pm –1.8 to –2.8) HIV-infected children in Malawi (N=93, age: \pm 24 to 27 months)³⁰. Fifty-six percent of the children reached 100% weight-for-height (by weight-for-height Z score standards based on children's height at admission), with those receiving ready-to-use therapeutic food gaining weight more rapidly and being significantly more likely to reach 100% weight-for-height (RR 1.62 95% CI: 1.01 to 2.59) than those receiving the ready-to-use therapeutic food supplement or the maize/soy flour mix. In an earlier quasi-randomised, controlled trial imported and locally produced ready-to-use therapeutic food was similarly effective in treating severe malnutrition (weight-for-height Z score: \pm –2.1 to –2.2) in HIV-infected (N=78) and non-infected children (N=182)³².

In Zambia, 4 weeks supplementation with infant formula feed (Neocate, SHS International, Liverpool, United Kingdom) containing amino acids, maltodextrin and a combination of safflower oil, coconut oil and soya oil (energy content: 70 kcal/100ml; vitamin and mineral content similar to that of breastmilk) resulted in significantly greater weight gain (weight-for-height Z score) in malnourished HIV-infected (N=106; mean difference 1.0 95% CI: 0.87 to 1.13) and non-infected children (N=90; mean difference 0.39 95% CI: 0.28 to 0.5), compared with those in the control group³¹. The control group received a liquid feed containing a mixture of skimmed milk, sugar and vegetable oil (energy content: 100kcal/100ml; vitamin and mineral content not specified) for the first two weeks, following which they were fed a high-energy protein porridge (energy content: 400kcal/100ml).

Intervention trials without controls

Increased cytokine activity is believed to be responsible for the metabolic disturbances and subsequent weight loss associated with HIV infection. Dietary n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids have been proposed as potential inhibitors of the cytokine-mediated weight loss. In one study, however supplementation with dietary fish oil (18g/day of MaxEPA), typically rich in n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids, for 10 weeks did not alter food intake, body weight or body composition in stable AIDS patients (N=20, age: 41±2, BMI: 21±2, CD4*: 188±74)³⁸.

Stack *et al.* (1996)³⁹ investigated the effect of high-energy, high-protein oral, liquid, nutritional supplementation and nutritional counseling, administered for 6 weeks, on the body weight of HIV-infected adults with or without secondary infections (N=17, age: 38 ± 9 , BMI: ±21 , CD4⁺: 99 ± 110). The intervention either improved (10 patients; mean weight gain \pm SD=2.9 ±1.2) or maintained (2 patients) the body weight of most

participants. Four out of the five participants who lost weight had developed secondary infections after enrollment in the study.

In a group of HIV-infected outpatients (N=54) receiving intensified oral nutritional intervention, weight maintenance and weight gain was achieved in 57% and 33% of the group, respectively⁴⁰. A 3-month supplementation with a polymeric (whole protein-based) diet, designed to provide 1000–1500 kcal/day, did not have any effect on the body weight of malnourished, clinically stable HIV-infected individuals (N=34)⁴¹. Sixty-six percent of the participants were lost to follow up, primarily due to intolerance of the diet.

Cross-sectional studies

Weight loss of greater than 5% body weight⁴¹ and a loss of body cell mass greater than 30%⁴² are both associated with disease progression and mortality in HIV-infected individuals. Cross-sectional studies, however investigating the relationship between energy intake and weight loss in HIV-infected individuals have shown varying results. For instance, a significant positive correlation between energy intake (r=0.67, p<0.01) and weight (r=0.48, p<0.01) and CD4⁺ count in HIV-infected men (N=35) was noted indicating that a decline in weight and energy intake is associated with HIV/AIDS disease progression⁴³. In contrast, Woods *et al*, 2002⁴⁴ reported a significant inverse relationship between energy intake and CD4* cell count in a large cohort of HIV-infected men and women (N=516; r = -0.16, p = 0.001): men and women with the lowest CD4⁺ counts (<200/mm³) had the highest energy intake. Despite their increased energy intake, this group had the lowest body weight and body mass index (BMI) compared with that of the higher CD4⁺ count categories. The group may have increased energy intake in an attempt to compensate for this weight loss. An increase in viral load or the presence of an opportunistic infection may explain the decrease in CD4* cell count. Furthermore, the therapeutic regime of the participants was not reported. Owing to the numerous unknowns and confounders characteristic of cross-sectional study designs, these findings must be interpreted with caution. Luder et al. 1995⁴⁵ found no correlation between weight loss and nutrient intake, CD4⁺ cell count or absolute lymphocyte count in HIV-infected individuals (N=56). The major discrepancies of the above studies may be due to the limitations of cross-sectional study design (see Chapter 4 on Evidence-based policy and recommendations).

In a cross-sectional study of weight-stable HIV-infected men (N=467, age: 40±8.2, CD4⁺: 104±58), body weight, height, muscle-building activity and protein intake were all positively correlated with body cell mass (p<0.001 for all)⁴⁶. Age, number of AIDS-related disease events and carbohydrate intake had a significantly negative correlation with body cell mass (p<0.05 for all). This finding suggests that HIV-infected individuals might benefit from a high-protein diet by minimising the loss of body cell mass.

Cohort studies

Cohort studies investigating the relationship between energy intake and weight loss in HIV-infected individuals have also shown conflicting results. Some studies failed to show a correlation between HIV-associated weight loss and energy intake⁴⁷⁻⁴⁹, while other studies reported a significant inverse correlation between weight loss and energy intake^{7, 15}.

The relative contribution of energy intake and malabsorption on body weight loss in HIV-infected individuals was assessed by comparing the oral intake and malabsorption in HIV-infected men and women (with or without chronic diarrhoea) with HIV-negative individuals with chronic malabsorption due to small-bowel resection or disease⁵⁰. When the level of malabsorption was controlled for, HIV-infected individuals had a significantly lower energy intake compared with individuals with chronic malabsorption (p<0.02). Furthermore, only in the HIV-infected group was body mass index significantly correlated with energy intake (r=0.33, 95% CI: 0.12 to 0.51). These results reiterate the importance of energy intake in HIV-associated weight loss and wasting.

A small cohort of clinically stable AIDS patients (N=5) demonstrated that progressive wasting is not an inevitable consequence of AIDS. By maintaining an adequate energy intake (comparable with that of HIV-negative individuals, N=11) and by down-regulating basal metabolic processes (primarily by decreasing physical activity) this group maintained body cell mass and remained weight-stable for 6 weeks⁵¹. In a retrospective cohort study, nutritional intervention consisting of dietary assessment, intake analysis, appropriate counselling, follow-up and the provision of supplements as needed, significantly increased body weight gain in a greater proportion of participants than in those who did not receive the intervention^{*}. These results of an increased change in body weight must be interpreted with caution, however, as the initial mean body weight of each group was not presented by the investigators.

Conclusions and recommendations

Relevant to policy:

I. In people infected with HIV, weight loss and loss of body cell mass are strong predictors of poor prognosis. These features are associated with increased resting

^{*} Mahlungulu S, Grobler LA, Visser MME, Volmink J. Nutritional Interventions for reducing morbidity and mortality in HIV infected individuals (Cochrane review in press)⁵³⁻⁵⁷.

energy expenditure, accelerated protein turnover, decreased energy intake, diarrhoea and malabsorption.

- II. There is limited evidence from randomised, placebo-controlled trials that macronutrient supplementation is of benefit in HIV-infected individuals. Targeted interventions with balanced nutritional supplements seem to increase energy and protein intake. There is also preliminary evidence that specific dietary supplements, such as amino acid mixtures, increase body weight and reduce HIV viral load.
- III. Evidence from small trials comparing two or more nutritional supplements suggests that balanced supplementation increase body weight and that supplementation with medium-chain triglycerides is more effective than long chain triglycerides in reducing HIV-associated intestinal dysfunction and fat malabsorption. Supplementation with a whole-protein diet has been found to increase body weight and fat-free mass in HIVinfected adults. Specific amino acids and polyunsaturated fatty acids may increase energy intake, body weight and fat-free mass. Finally, ready-to-use therapeutic food is effective in reversing the poor nutritional status found in severely malnourished HIV-infected and non-infected African children.
- IV. Evidence-based advice on the use of macronutrient supplementation in HIV-infected individuals in developing countries is constrained by the fact that the few randomised trials that exist have mainly been conducted in high-income countries where most patients are well nourished and have access to life-prolonging antiretroviral therapy. Further, existing trials have focused on intermediate endpoints (such as energy intake) and most have been too small to assess important clinical outcomes (such as death and morbidity). There are also substantial variations in the nutritional composition of the experimental and control interventions, the use of dietary counselling, disease stage and treatment status of the participants across studies.

Relevant for research:

- I. High-quality, adequately powered randomised controlled trials investigating the effects of macronutrient interventions on important clinical outcomes such as morbidity and mortality in HIV-infected individuals in developing countries are urgently needed.
- II. Interventions should be well defined and directed at specific target populations defined by age (adults and children), CD4⁺ cell count, viral load, treatment status (presence and absence of treatment; type of antiretroviral therapy) and baseline nutritional status (undernourished, adequately nourished or overnourished).
- III. A multi-disciplinary, collaborative approach will ensure that nutritional findings from basic science research are evaluated in well-targeted clinical studies and that effective interventions are implemented with minimum delay.

CHAPTER 10 The effects of nutritional interventions in HIV/AIDS: Micronutrients

More than 60% of the estimated 43 million persons with HIV/AIDS worldwide live in sub-Saharan Africa, where poverty, social insecurity, food shortages and malnutrition are major problems. In 2005, an estimated 3.2 million people in the region were newly infected with HIV, while 2.4 million adults and children died of AIDS¹. In children under the age of 5 years who live in developing countries, malnutrition has been associated with half of the 10.8 million deaths caused mainly by neonatal disorders, diarrhoea, pneumonia, malaria and HIV/AIDS². Micronutrient deficiencies are widespread and are associated with increased morbidity and mortality, particularly in relation to infectious diseases³. This review focuses on the interaction between micronutrients and HIV/AIDS and discusses recent research findings that may have important public health implications for the management of the HIV/AIDS pandemic.

Importance of micronutrients in general

Micronutrients are vitamins and trace elements and essential to all microorganisms, plants and animals (see Chapter 4). They play an important role in gene expression, cellular differentiation and immune function. In addition, many exhibit anti-oxidant properties. Micronutrients are therefore essential for human health and development.

Of all the micronutrients, zinc and vitamin A deserve special mention. Deficiencies of both are widespread in developing countries and contribute to the morbidity and mortality from infectious diseases.

A pooled analysis of randomised placebo-controlled trials has shown that prophylactic zinc supplementation in children was associated with a 41% reduction in the incidence of pneumonia and an 18% reduction in the incidence of diarrhoeal disease⁴. Zinc also has a therapeutic benefit in sick children through promoting recovery from acute and persistent diarrhoea, and from severe pneumonia⁵.

Community-based studies conducted in various developing countries have demonstrated that periodic vitamin A supplementation (in most instances 6-monthly)

or fortification reduces all cause child mortality by at least 23% in children aged 6-60 months⁶. In addition, vitamin A supplementation in children hospitalised with severe measles significantly reduced mortality rates⁷.

Effective and sustained control of micronutrient deficiencies, in particular vitamin A deficiency and zinc deficiency, have the potential to be among the most cost-effective and efficacious child-survival interventions in sub-Saharan Africa⁸. These interventions could make a large contribution toward the attainment of the Millennium Development Goal for the reduction of child mortality rates by two-thirds between 1990 and 2015.

Micronutrients and HIV/AIDS

The hallmark of AIDS is immune suppression, resulting in acute, recurrent and chronic opportunistic infections. While HIV is the main cause for the immune suppression, other factors may contribute. These include concomitant malnutrition, including micronutrient deficiencies, and opportunistic infections, in particular tuberculosis.

Micronutrient deficiencies are common in persons with HIV infection and AIDS in both developing and developed countries⁹. They occur as a consequence of a number of factors, including reduced intake as a result of the anorexia associated with AIDS and opportunistic infections, and excessive losses in the stools in patients with diarrhoea, malabsorption and parasitic infestations¹⁰. These deficiencies are more pronounced in individuals with advanced disease and in situations where diets are inadequate in meeting the recommended daily requirements of micronutrients.

Recent studies have highlighted significant multiple micronutrient deficiencies in South Africans. Sixty-two percent of stable, HIV-infected children in Cape Town had two or more trace element or vitamin deficiencies; most were vitamin A deficient¹¹. Another study reported significant vitamin A and zinc deficiency in adults. Levels tended to be lower in individuals with stage 3 and 4 disease, and there was a positive correlation with CD4⁺ counts¹².

Micronutrients are essential to immune function and deficiencies may therefore act as cofactors in HIV disease transmission and progression. Deficiencies of vitamins A, B_6 , B_{12} , C and E, beta-carotene, zinc, copper, selenium, magnesium and iron have all been reported to occur in association with HIV infection^{13–15}.

Several observational studies have shown an inverse correlation between micronutrient intake (including vitamins B and C) or multivitamin supplementation and clinical progression of HIV disease in adults^{16–20}. Higher intakes of niacin, and vitamins B₁, B₂ and B₆ were associated with a significant 40–48% slower progression to AIDS¹⁷ and 40–60% significant reductions in the risk of death after 8 years of follow-up¹⁸. Among South African men and women, daily supplementation with B-complex vitamins was

associated with lower risks of disease progression (median duration to AIDS: 72.7 vs. 32.0 wks; p=0.004; median survival: 264.6 vs. 144.8 wks; p=0.001)²⁰.

Dietary and supplement intake of **vitamin A** between 9000 and 20 000 IU per day in HIV-infected American men was associated with lower risk of disease progression compared with intakes below 9000 IU/day (RR=0.55; 95% CI: 0.35–0.88)¹⁷. Vitamin A deficiency has been associated with increased morbidity and mortality in children²¹, with increased mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1²² and subsequent infant mortality²³, and increased mortality in HIV-infected injection drug users²⁴.

In the United States, daily multivitamin use among 296 HIV-infected men was associated with a 30% reduction in progression to clinical AIDS (RR=0.69; 95% CI: 0.46 mother-to-child 1.03), and a significantly reduced risk for low CD4 counts (RR=0.6, 95% CI=0.4, 0.9)¹⁶.

Excessive **zinc** losses occur in diarrhoeal disease leading to loss of the gastrointestinal epithelial integrity and absorptive power²⁵. Another consequence of zinc deficiency is impaired thymolymphoid integrity and reversible immune dysfunction, particularly of T-lymphocyte cell-mediated immunity, and hence deficiency may contribute to infectious morbidity. Zinc deficiency has been associated with increased mortality in a cohort of HIV-infected American men²⁶. In a prospective cohort study of 281 asymptomatic HIV-infected men in the US, however, increased dietary zinc intake was associated with faster HIV/AIDS disease progression (RR for highest vs. lowest quartiles = 2.06, 95% CI 1.16–3.64)¹⁷ and higher mortality (RR for any zinc vs. none = 1.49; 95% CI 1.02–2.18)¹⁸. Conversely, a nested case-control study within the same cohort found that lower serum zinc predicted disease progression independently of baseline CD4⁺ level, age, and calorie-adjusted dietary intakes of copper and zinc²⁶.

Selenium deficiency is associated with reduced immune function in animal studies²⁷. Low plasma selenium levels have been described early in the disease process and are associated with faster disease progression and higher mortality in HIV-infected children²⁸, and higher mortality and risk of TB in drug users^{29, 30}. Among HIV-1-infected pregnant women, each 0.1 µmol/l increase in plasma selenium was related to a 5% (95% CI: 0%–9%) decreased risk of mortality³¹.

The contribution of copper and manganese to immune function is not clear, but children with overt copper deficiency (Menkes' syndrome) are prone to infection³². The equilibrium in iron homeostasis is delicate; both deficiency and excess negatively affect immune function. As in other groups of HIV-infected subjects, anaemia is a common finding in South African HIV-infected children³³ and may enhance disease progression and increase mortality³⁴. Although iron supplementation is recommended for preventing and treating anaemia in young children (0–59 months), there is no experimental evidence for HIV-infected children and very little for HIV-infected adults³⁵.

Inference from the above studies that micronutrient supplementation is beneficial for reducing HIV transmission or disease progression is problematic, however. In many observational studies valid markers of micronutrient status are lacking, especially in individuals with infections. Furthermore, confounding by other micronutrients is likely, as most studies only assess the status of one or a few micronutrients even though micronutrient deficiencies usually coexist. Studies assessing micronutrient intake, rather than status, may therefore be better able to account for multiple micronutrient effects³⁶.

Effects of micronutrients supplemented in HIV/AIDS

Recent systematic reviews of randomised controlled trials published in The Cochrane Library have evaluated the evidence for the effectiveness and safety of micronutrient supplements in HIV-infected children and adults, and of vitamin A for reducing the risk of mother-to-child transmission (MTCT) of HIV. Irlam *et al.*³⁷ appraised and summarised the evidence from 18 trials of single and multiple micronutrient supplements in adults, children, and pregnant or lactating women, but did not perform a meta-analysis due to substantial clinical heterogeneity across the trials. Additionally, a systematic review and meta-analysis by Shey Wiysonge *et al.*³⁸ included four trials in HIV-infected pregnant women. We draw extensively on the findings of these Cochrane reviews and provide supplementary evidence from studies not included in the reviews.

Single micronutrient supplements

Five small randomised, placebo-controlled trials (sample size 21 to 120 participants) of vitamin A or beta-carotene in adults^{39–43} and one moderately sized trial of vitamin A (n=400 women)⁴⁴ found no significant benefits or adverse effects on morbidity (HIV-associated and AIDS-defining infections), mortality, viral load, or immunological markers. A small Canadian trial of large doses of daily vitamin C (1000mg) and vitamin E (800 IU) for three months showed a non-significant reduction in mean plasma viral load (–0.45 log) versus placebo (0.5 log increase)⁴⁵.

A meta-analysis of four randomised placebo-controlled trials of vitamin A supplementation in HIV-infected pregnant women in Africa found no evidence of an overall effect of vitamin A supplementation on MTCT of HIV in 3 of the trials (2022 participants; OR 1.14, 95% CI 0.93 to 1.38)³⁸. A trial in Tanzania, however showed an increased risk of MTCT (OR 1.53, 95% CI 1.15 to 2.04 at 24 months)⁴⁶. The subsequently-published results from the fourth trial, in Zimbabwe (ZVITAMBO), demonstrated no effect of either maternal or neonatal supplementation on post-natal MTCT⁴⁷.

The ZVITAMBO trial used a factorial design to compare the effect of four regimens of single-large-dose supplements of postpartum maternal (400 000 IU)/ infant (50 000 IU)
vitamin A/ placebo among 14110 mother-infant pairs. There was no significant effect on overall mortality between baseline and 24 months, but there was a reduction of 28% in supplemented infants who were HIV-uninfected at baseline but HIV-infected at 6 weeks. All three vitamin A regimens were associated with an approximate doubling of mortality in infants who were HIV-uninfected at 6 weeks (p <= 0.05)⁴⁷.

In two randomised trials in HIV-infected children high-dose vitamin A supplementation (200 000 IU on two successive days) compared with placebo improved immune function (a 16% increase in CD4⁺ counts, p=0.03)⁴⁸, and reduced immune activation following influenza vaccination (viral load mean change at 14 days: vit. A: -0.13 + -0.09 log copies/ml vs. placebo: +0.14 + -0.08; p=0.02)⁴⁹. Intermittent supplementation with vitamin A in a placebo-controlled trial in Durban, South Africa, halved diarrhoeal disease morbidity (OR=0.51; 95% CI: 0.27, 0.99) in a subgroup of 28 children infected with HIV⁵⁰. High-dose vitamin A supplements (50 000 IU before 6 months, 100 000 IU between 6 and 11 months, and 200 000 IU every six months from age 1 to 5 years) given 6-monthly compared with placebo reduced all-cause mortality over two years in an HIV-infected subgroup (n=58) of children hospitalised with pneumonia in a Tanzanian trial (RR=0.37; 95% CI: 0.17, 0.84)⁵¹. A regimen of vitamin A (60mg retinol equivalent) every 3 months from 15 to 36 months among 181 Ugandan children halved mortality (OR=0.54; 95% CI: 0.30, 0.98) compared to placebo⁵².

Zinc supplementation in a trial of HIV-infected adults on ART has shown potential benefit in reducing candida and pneumocystis-related infections, increasing CD4⁺ counts (p<0.05), and improving or stabilising body weight (p<0.01), without any adverse effects⁵³. This trial did not use a random method of allocation however, and was therefore excluded from the review by Irlam *et al.*³⁷

Supplementation with zinc for 6 months in a randomised trial of 120 HIV-infected children in Durban, South Africa, was safe and reduced the incidence of acute diarrhoea diagnosed at clinic visits (RR = 0.51; p=0.001)⁵⁴. In another trial among HIV-infected South African children in Cape Town, 3mg of zinc daily for 6 months reduced the frequency of both acute respiratory tract infections and episodes of diarrhoea. The effect of zinc on diarrhoea and acute respiratory tract infections was greater than that of a multiple micronutrient mixture, which was itself no better than placebo (unpublished data, Heloise Buys 2006). A placebo-controlled trial in 159 Peruvian adults with HIV and persistent diarrhoea found no effect of dietary zinc supplementation on the persistence and severity of diarrhoea at two weeks⁵⁵.

A randomised trial of zinc supplementation compared with placebo given to Tanzanian women daily from 12 to 27 weeks of gestation until 6 weeks after delivery demonstrated no effect on pregnancy outcomes or immunological indicators⁵⁶. In this study there was a rise from baseline to 6 weeks postpartum in haemoglobin, red blood

cell count and packed cell volume in women in both groups, but these increases were all significantly lower in the group receiving zinc group than in those on placebo.

In a further placebo-controlled trial, daily selenium supplements of 200 μ g for 12 months among 186 drug users decreased the risk of CD4⁺ counts declining below 50 cells/ μ l (p=0.01), and reduced the hospitalisation rate for opportunistic infections, HIV-related conditions and psychiatric disorders combined (overall RR=0.40; 95% CI: 0.21–0.75)⁵⁷. Hurwitz *et al.* evaluated a similar regimen for 9 months in a placebo-controlled trial of 262 HIV-infected adults, and found that greater serum levels predicted decreased type 1 viral load (p<0.02), which predicted increased CD4⁺ count (p<0.04)⁵⁸.

Multiple micronutrient supplements

A randomised placebo-controlled trial of high doses of vitamins A, C and E, zinc, and selenium daily for 2 weeks in Zambian adults showed no effect on the response to albendazole of persistent diarrhoea⁵⁹. The patients had advanced HIV disease with diarrhoea-wasting syndrome, however, and absorption of the micronutrients may therefore have been inadequate.

In Thailand a randomised trial in 481 HIV-infected outpatients of a commercial supplement containing 18 micronutrients and taken twice daily for 48 weeks was associated with a non-significant reduction in mortality compared with placebo, which was most pronounced in the subgroup of 96 participants with a low CD4⁺ count (<200 cells/mm³) (HR=0.37; 95% CI: 0.13, 1.06)⁶⁰. There were no effects on CD4⁺ count or viral load, however, suggesting that the reductions in mortality could be due to reductions in the risks of other infections or the maintenance of lean body mass³⁶.

A large randomised factorial-design trial among 1078 pregnant and lactating Tanzanian women found that high-dose multivitamins (mainly vitamins B, C and E and excluding vitamin A) reduced the risk of progression to stage 4 disease or AIDS-related mortality by 29% over the entire 4–8 year supplementation and follow-up period (RR = 0.71; 95% CI: 0.51 to 0.98) compared with no multivitamins (vitamin A only or placebo). Mean CD4⁺ counts were significantly higher by 48 cells/mm³ (95% CI: 10 to 85) in the multivitamin-supplemented versus placebo group, and viral load significantly lower (–0.18 log; 95% CI: -0.32 to -0.03)⁶¹, which probably also accounted for the reductions in episodes of HIV-related morbidity. Vitamin A alone had no effect on the above outcomes. Multivitamins improved weight gain during pregnancy (mean difference during the third trimester = 304 g; 95% CI: 17 to 590)⁶², and reduced the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes, including foetal loss (RR=0.61; 95% CI: 0.39 to 0.94), prematurity (RR=0.61; 95% CI: 0.38 to 0.95 for severe preterm births), and low birth weight (RR=0.55; 95% CI: 0.38 to 0.81)⁶³. Children born to mothers receiving multivitamin supplementation during pregnancy had higher CD4 counts (mean difference = 153 cells/µl; 95% CI: 67.6

to 238.4) and less diarrhoea (RR=0.83; 95% CI: 0.71 to 0.98 at 24 months)⁶⁴, as well as improved growth during the first two years of life (weight-for-age: mean difference = 0.42; 95% CI 0.07 to 0.77)⁶⁵ compared with placebo. Mortality was reduced among the children of supplemented women with low lymphocyte counts (<1340/ mm³) (RR=0.30; 95% CI: 0.1 to 0.92 at 24 months)⁴⁶.

A randomised, placebo-controlled trial among Zimbabwean women found that multimicronutrient supplementation was associated with higher birth weight overall (49 g; 95% CI: -6 to 104). The effect was greater for the third of the population that was HIV-infected than among the HIV-negative women, although the interaction was not significant⁶⁶.

Potential adverse effects of micronutrient supplements

Vitamin A supplementation has been associated with a 50% increased risk of HIV vertical transmission in a Tanzanian trial in pregnant and lactating women, who were randomly assigned to vitamin A or multivitamins excluding vitamin A⁴⁶, and a reduction in the benefits of micronutrient supplementation⁶¹. The findings of a more recent Zimbabwean trial of vitamin A in mother-infant pairs, which showed higher mortality in infants who were HIV-negative at 6 weeks, has raised further concerns about the safety of universal maternal or neonatal vitamin A supplementation in HIV-endemic areas⁴⁷.

In general high-dose vitamin A supplements are safe in children. Minor adverse effects have included vomiting and bulging fontanelle in children born to HIV-infected women⁵⁰, and a risk of acute diarrhoea in normally nourished (RR=1.37; 95% CI: 1.06–1.79) and in growth-stunted children (RR=1.84; 95% CI: 1.16–2.90) hospitalised with pneumonia⁵¹. Modest adverse effects after 3 days have been reported in HIV-uninfected children recovering from pneumonia⁶⁷. In this randomised placebo-controlled trial, children receiving vitamin A (n=48) had lower blood oxygen saturation, higher prevalence rates of retractions, and auscultatory evidence of consolidation, and were more likely to require supplemental oxygen than children in the placebo group (n=47). No differences were seen in duration of hospitalisation or in chest x-ray changes 14 days after admission. No deaths occurred, and toxicity of vitamin A was not seen. These findings have not been reported in clinical trials of vitamin A therapy in HIV-infected children, however.

Experimental data suggest that vitamin A increases viral replication *in vitro*⁶⁸, which provides a rationale for the adverse effects reported in these studies. It is reassuring to note, however, that a number of clinical studies comparing vitamin A with placebo that have monitored viral load and CD4⁺ counts have not demonstrated such an effect^{49, 43, 69}. The presence of effect modifiers such as iron supplementation, malaria treatment

and prophylaxis, dietary intake of other nutrients, and other infections has been suggested³⁶ as an explanation for the increased risk of MTCT associated with vitamin A supplementation in the Tanzanian trial.

There is also a concern that zinc may potentiate HIV replication, since the HIV-Tat protein and the HIV nucleocapsid NCp7 proteins are strongly zinc-dependent⁷⁰. Evidence from one observational study suggested that high-dose zinc supplementation was associated with increased HIV/AIDS disease progression and mortality in HIV-infected adults¹⁸. Two studies in children demonstrated no adverse effects in terms of increase in viral load or reduction in CD4⁺ counts, however⁵⁴ (unpublished data, Heloise Buys, 2006).

Conclusions and recommendations

Relevant to policy:

- Micronutrient deficiencies are common in people with HIV/AIDS and are more pronounced in individuals with advanced disease and in those with inadequate diets. Such deficiencies may hasten disease progression, increase mortality, and facilitate MTCT of HIV.
- II. Observational studies have shown a direct correlation between micronutrient intake (especially vitamins A and B, multivitamins, zinc and selenium) and favourable clinical outcomes in patients with HIV infection. However, observational studies lack valid markers of micronutrient status, and the effects of micronutrient deficiencies are prone to confounding by other factors, including micronutrient interaction.
- III. Based on limited evidence from randomised trials, supplementation with vitamin A/beta-carotene does not seem to have any significant beneficial or adverse clinical effects in HIV-infected non-pregnant adults. In HIV-infected children receiving vitamin supplements, reductions in morbidity and mortality have been reported, but these conclusions are based either on small trials or subgroup analyses. Vitamin A possibly increases the risk of vertical transmission in HIV-infected pregnant and lactating women, and the risk of mortality in infants of supplemented mother-infant pairs.
- IV. The concerns about the safety of universal maternal and neonatal supplementation in HIV-endemic areas may have important policy implications for South Africa.
- V. There is sound evidence that multivitamin supplementation (excluding vitamin A) in HIV-infected pregnant women reduces the risk of disease progression, AIDS-related mortality and adverse pregnancy outcomes.
- VI. Results derived from a few small trials indicate that zinc supplements given to HIV-infected children are safe and effective in reducing morbidity, but zinc

supplementation in HIV-infected pregnant women seems to have no benefit and may be harmful to the women.

VII.Finally, the evidence-base on the effects of micronutrient supplementation in people with HIV is remarkably limited. It seems reasonable at this stage to support the recommendations of the WHO that everything possible should be done to promote and support adequate dietary intake of micronutrients at Individual Nutrient Intake Level (INL98) levels⁷¹, while recognising that this may not be sufficient to correct nutritional deficiencies in all HIV-infected individuals. In situations where micronutrient deficiencies are endemic, these nutrients should be provided through food fortification or micronutrient supplements where available that contain at least 1–2 INL98s.

Relevant to research:

- I. There is a critical need for adequately powered studies to answer questions related to the efficacy and safety of micronutrient supplements in people with HIV infection in both the medium and long term. Apart from vitamins, attention should be given to other promising interventions, such as zinc and selenium.
- II. Research should focus on both asymptomatic HIV-infected individuals and those with more advanced disease (with and without ART therapy) and should take into account the special needs of children and adults, including pregnant women. It is important to determine how the effects of micronutrients in immunocompromised individuals differ from those in people with normal immune function
- III. Future research should determine whether HAART initiation restores micronutrient concentrations, independent of inflammatory markers, and whether micronutrient supplements affect HIV-related outcomes in HIV-infected persons receiving HAART⁷²
- IV. The optimal composition and dosage of various supplements requires investigation, as preparations can vary considerably and may not have equivalent effects.
- V. All nutritional interventions to improve the health and well-being of persons living with HIV/AIDS need to be optimised and research into identifying optimal interventions and operational strategies is therefore required. Such research should not be to the detriment of antiretroviral treatment, as this remains the one intervention to date that has consistently been shown to reduce morbidity and mortality associated with HIV/AIDS.

CHAPTER 11 The influence of nutrition on the risk and outcomes of tuberculosis

This chapter critically reviews the scientific data supporting the contention that malnutrition is an important risk factor for TB, and that nutritional intervention in conjunction with appropriate chemotherapy may contribute to improved clinical outcomes in malnourished patients. It focuses principally on published observations in humans, with occasional reference to appropriate studies conducted in highly relevant animal models.

Introduction

Mycobacterium tuberculosis is a highly evolved human pathogen. Over millennia, this pathogen and its human host have adapted to each other to an astonishing degree, resulting in an impasse in which the organism can reside for decades within the tissues of most infected individuals¹. While the cellular and molecular determinants of this stand-off have not been elucidated, it is clear that a successful immune response is able to keep the microbe in check in most individuals, albeit without eliminating it completely². Any immunosuppressive condition, such as HIV infection, malnutrition, aging, etc., may tip the balance in favor of the pathogen, resulting in reactivation tuberculosis (TB)³. Nutritional deficiencies, in particular, are known to affect adversely precisely those immunological mechanisms that are crucial for successful control of mycobacteria, namely the functions of T-lymphocytes and a variety of phagocytic cells⁴. This chapter therefore focuses on the relationship between malnutrition and TB.

A priori, one could hypothesise several ways in which nutritional deficiencies could affect the prevention and management of TB. Malnutrition has cognitive and behavioural consequences that could increase the risk of primary infection, i.e. consequences that would respond to nutritional rehabilitation – apathy, intellectual impairment, inactivity, etc. Therefore, while we tend to concentrate on the molecular and cellular mechanisms by which malnutrition can affect the risk of TB, we must also keep in mind that malnutrition may affect TB risk in other ways.

Theoretically, malnourished individuals might exhibit increased susceptibility to primary, pulmonary infection with M. tuberculosis. It is clear that not all individuals exposed to an infectious case of TB (e.g. household contacts) become infected as indicated by a conversion of their tuberculin (purified protein derivative, PPD) skin test to positive, raising the possibility that innate mechanisms of resistance may be impaired by nutritional insufficiency⁵. Innate resistance may involve the enhanced anti-mycobacterial functions of alveolar macrophages or lung dendritic cells which are activated via Tolllike or other pathogen receptors⁶ and which could, at least theoretically, be impacted by nutrient deficiencies. However, there is little evidence that the intrinsic susceptibility to infection is altered by nutritional status. Evidence to support the contention that malnutrition may not affect the establishment of primary infection comes from studies of chronically protein-deficient guinea pigs that demonstrated no alteration in the number of tubercles resulting from low-dose aerosol exposure to virulent M. tuberculosis: the same number of inhaled, retained bacilli resulted in pulmonary granulomas in both well-nourished and malnourished guinea pigs⁷. This conclusion must be tempered by the fact that malnourished individuals are more likely to be anergic. PPD skin test reactivity is likely to underestimate their prevalence of infection.

In populations residing in countries with endemic bovine tuberculosis, malnutrition may affect the risk of gastrointestinal tuberculosis following the consumption of unpasteurised dairy products. Deficiencies of protein and calories have a profound impact on the gastrointestinal mucosa, e.g. flattening of microvilli, atrophy of Peyer's patches, which could facilitate mycobacterial invasion of the mucosal barrier and increased risk of peritoneal TB, scrofula, mycobacteraemia and disseminated TB. This is another condition that would respond to nutritional rehabilitation.

Another way in which malnutrition could alter the pathogenesis of TB would be to increase the risk of progression from infection to primary disease in the short term, or to increase the risk of reactivation disease in the long term. This aspect of pathogenesis appears to be most profoundly affected by nutritional deficiencies. The progression from infection to disease is prevented in most healthy individuals by a successful adaptive immune response involving cooperation between populations of T lymphocytes and phagocytes⁸. Malnutrition is known to impair precisely these immune responses⁴, hence allowing sub-clinical infection to develop into full-blown clinical illness. Several epidemiological studies relating specific nutrient deficiencies to clinical tuberculosis are reviewed below.

Nutritional status also may affect progression from TB infection to disease by altering the availability of essential nutrients to meet the metabolic requirements of the pathogen as well as the person. For example, increased severity of TB (and HIV) has been observed in persons with hemochromatosis due to drinking traditional beer fermented in iron

vessels⁹. *M. tuberculosis* requires iron and obtains it within the host by means of various iron scavenging mechanisms that must compete with highly avid host iron-binding proteins (e.g. lactoferrin, transferrin) to be effective^{10, 11}. Depending upon the relative availability of iron to the pathogen and host, the effect of iron deficiency or excess may be beneficial for the microbe or the patient. Iron chelation therapy has even been suggested for TB patients and HIV-infected individuals with iron overload¹². Although not as well studied, the consequences of the availability to the pathogen of other essential nutrients in a malnourished individual could provide a non-immunological mechanism by which nutritional deficiencies alter progression from infection to disease in TB.

Still another way in which nutritional deficiencies could impact on TB is by interfering with appropriate chemotherapy in diseased individuals. Current anti-mycobacterial drug regimens are highly effective if given properly to individuals infected with drug-sensitive strains of *M.tuberculosis*¹³. However, concurrent malnutrition could blunt the effects of these antibiotics, which must be administered for several months to cure the patient. Since malnutrition-induced loss of some immune functions is reversed rapidly upon correction of the nutritional deficiency¹⁴, nutritional intervention in conjunction with appropriate chemotherapy could improve the outcome in malnourished TB patients. Several intervention trials have been conducted and are summarised below.

Finally, malnutrition could interfere with the protective efficacy of BCG vaccine, thus increasing the disease burden in vaccinated populations suffering from nutritional deficiencies. BCG vaccine is thought to work by inducing the same array of protective T lymphocyte responses which are responsible for preventing the progression from infection to disease in non-vaccinated individuals^{15, 16}. Nutrient deficiencies could therefore also impact on vaccine-induced immunity. Unfortunately, no clinical studies of the effect of nutrient deprivation on BCG vaccine efficacy have been conducted. Most of the information related to the loss of BCG-induced protection in malnutrition comes from experimental animal studies¹⁷, reviewed below.

Tuberculosis causes malnutrition

A clear understanding of the relationship between malnutrition and TB, particularly in establishing a cause-and-effect link between nutrient deficiencies and clinical disease, is complicated by the so-called "chicken vs egg" conundrum. Malnutrition may predispose to TB; however, TB also causes malnutrition. Some of the cardinal signs and symptoms of TB (e.g. wasting, anemia, loss of lean and fat mass, etc) are also signs of malnutrition. Patients with concurrent HIV infection tend to be even more malnourished¹⁸. Many cross-sectional and case-control studies of nutritional status in TB patients are therefore confounded by the fact that some of the nutritional aberrations observed are the result of,

rather than the cause of, the mycobacterial disease^{19, 20}. Tuberculosis results in anorexia, cachexia, and asthenia produced, in part, by the fever and other consequences of exorbitant production of tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF– α) and other pro-inflammatory cytokines produced by a well-intentioned immune system in the face of persistent infection with *M. tuberculosis*²¹. In addition, TB is often associated with other co-morbid conditions that also affect nutritional status and disease risk, such as HIV, diabetes mellitus²² and alcoholism²³. The challenge of distinguishing between predisposing nutritional deficiencies and disease-induced malnutrition is therefore formidable.

Nutritional deficiencies are thus generally associated with increased risk and severity of tuberculosis.

Ecological studies

Research on the interaction of nutrition and TB before 1950 was reviewed by Rich²⁴ and in the exhaustive treatise by Scrimshaw, Taylor, and Gordon published in 1968²⁵. Many of the early studies in humans had flaws in sampling, sample size, measurement and definition of nutritional deficiency, assessment of infection, unmeasured confounding variables, and analytical methods. Most of them were ecological studies which, while suggesting a connection between malnutrition and TB, could not confirm causality. Nutritional deficiency in populations is linked to many other adverse circumstances that may be strong, independent risk factors for TB. With that caveat, several published studies have demonstrated a link between the risk of TB and malnutrition in populations affected by famine, war, natural disasters, poverty, mass migration, and confinement in prisons or ghettos. These studies reveal the difficulties of conducting controlled studies of TB and malnutrition in human populations, and take advantage of historical circumstances. The results suggest putative causal links that can be investigated further. These ecological studies do not attempt to distinguish deficiencies of specific nutrients; rather, they address the multiple simultaneous nutritional deficiencies that commonly afflict malnourished humans. However, the effects of malnutrition cannot be distinguished from the effects of confounding variables such as poor housing, overcrowding, lack of medical care, poor hygiene, massive social disruption, etc.

For example, sharp increases in TB morbidity and mortality in Paris²⁶ and Germany during the two World Wars^{27–29} cannot be ascribed solely to pervasive malnutrition, but may have been due to loss of public health infrastructure, crowding, and psychosocial stresses that were part of these wars. Similarly, the heroic studies carried out by Jewish physicians in the Warsaw ghetto during the Second World War do not control for the extreme crowding, psychological stress, and catastrophic social circumstances^{30–32}. While the role of malnutrition independent of other circumstances cannot be isolated

in these studies, they constitute a large body of observation that supports the contention that inadequate nutrition adversely influences either the incidence or the severity of TB, or both.

Three of these ecological studies strongly suggest that nutrition, isolated from other circumstances, played a direct role in TB morbidity and mortality. During most of the First World War, neutral Denmark exported the bulk of its meat, fish, poultry and dairy products to the extent that the local diet suffered. Tuberculosis rates climbed during that time in Denmark. However, subsequent to the German blockade of Denmark in 1918, these foods became available to the Danes and TB rates plummeted in comparison with the neighbouring countries still in conflict³³. The second study reported that the unusually high rate of TB among the recruits at the Trondheim, Norway, Naval Training School in the early 20th century decreased dramatically when their diet was fortified with dairy products, cod liver oil, whole-wheat bread, and fresh fruits and vegetables. Tuberculosis morbidity dropped to the prevailing level for free-living young adults in the same population³⁴. The third study documented a striking difference in TB morbidity between British and Russian prisoners of war (POW) held in German camps during the Second World War. The British POW received Red Cross food supplements amounting to 30 g protein and 1000 kcal per day and exhibited a TB rate of only 1.2% compared to the Russian POW, who had a TB rate of 15% to 19%. Both groups shared the same living and working conditions and, presumably, risk of infection. In the malnourished prisoners, the onset of disease was more rapid, the clinical course was more severe, and mortality was common³⁵.

Finally, McKeown suggested that the decline in TB mortality in England and Wales from 1770 to 1900 was probably due to the improvement in the nutritional status of the population³⁶. The death rate from TB at the beginning of the 19th century was approximately 40/1000 person-years, and it declined to 14/1000 by the end of the century. After excluding alternative explanations (i.e. advances in medicine, natural selection), McKeown concluded that a change in the environment over more than a century was responsible for the decrease in TB, and that diet was the most likely environmental factor³⁷. This contention is supported by a report showing that while TB mortality decreased in England and Wales during the period of 1850–1910, mortality due to cholera and dysentery did not. During this interval, income increased slightly but crowding did not change³⁸.

Case series

Documenting the correct temporal sequence between the onset of malnutrition and the development of TB would provide evidence supporting a cause-and-effect relationship.

Patients undergoing gastrointestinal bypass surgery for morbid obesity experienced rapid weight loss and malabsorption due to their shortened bowel. During the post-surgical period, the incidence of TB was much higher (1–4%) in patients than the expected incidence among historical or concurrent population control groups^{39–44}. Partial gastrectomy for ulcer disease led to malnutrition and predisposed men to TB (in that temporal order)⁴⁵. Subsequently, a number of studies have documented gastrectomy-induced malnutrition as a risk factor for TB^{46–48}.

A similar increase in TB incidence has been observed in patients with inflammatory diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis who received treatment with various TNF- α blocking agents⁴⁹. As pointed out above, exorbitant production of TNF- α in clinical TB results in wasting in patients, but it is also known to be an essential cytokine for the containment of mycobacteria in the host. Neutralising the pro-inflammatory effects of TNF α reduces symptoms and signs of autoimmune diseases and probably improves the nutritional status of treated patients. However, blocking TNF- α activity also reactivated latent infection and may have increased the progression to TB disease in exogenously infected individuals, depending upon the nature of the anti-TNF α agent utilised⁵⁰.

Cross-sectional and case-control studies

In cross-sectional and case-control studies, patients with and without active TB are compared in terms of their concurrent nutritional status^{51–61}. However, as stated above, TB itself *causes* physiological and metabolic changes resembling malnutrition. Such studies *do not* prove that pre-existing malnutrition contributes to the development of TB because there have been no accurate measurements of antecedent nutritional status in comparable cases and controls, but they do demonstrate the nutritional aberrations that accompany TB.

Several studies examined micronutrient status in TB patients and compared them with healthy individuals in a cross-sectional design, or before and after chemotherapy in a prospective design. In some studies, the effect of HIV status on micronutrient levels within the TB patients was examined. Karyadi *et al.*⁶² reported that TB patients were more anemic and had lower plasma concentrations of retinol and zinc than controls, and these abnormalities were exacerbated in patients with other indices of general malnutrition (e.g. low body mass index [BMI]). In a study in Ecuador, Koyanagi *et al.*⁶³ observed that TB patients had significantly lower serum concentrations of zinc, retinol and selenium associated with an acute phase reponse. Similar observations were made in Malawi⁶⁴, where more than 800 TB patients demonstrated deficiencies in circulating selenium, carotenoids and vitamin A, and these deficiencies were exacerbated in the most severely wasted group (BMI<16). Interestingly, there were no significant differences in plasma micronutrient concentrations between the HIV-infected and HIV-uninfected

TB patients. A second paper from the same research group⁶⁵ confirmed that low plasma selenium levels were associated with anemia in TB patients, as were high HIV loads and elevated IL-6 concentrations.

A similar cross-sectional study was carried in out in Ethiopia⁶⁶ in 155 TB patients, 74 of whom were co-infected with HIV. HIV co-infection was associated with lower serum zinc and selenium concentrations and an elevated copper/zinc ratio compared with TB patients without HIV. After the intensive phase of antibiotic therapy, serum levels of both selenium and zinc had improved in both patient groups. A beneficial effect of anti-mycobacterial therapy was also reported in a study of paediatric TB patients in India⁶⁷. Prior to therapy, these children had markedly reduced levels of plasma zinc, irrespective of their general nutritional status, and there was significant improvement after 6 months of anti-TB therapy. Turkish investigators⁶⁸ also observed a significant improvement in serum zinc (which increased) and copper/zinc ratios (which decreased) after 2 months of anti-TB therapy in 22 adult patients.

Anti-oxidant vitamins have been associated with clinical TB in several recent crosssectional studies. A study of Ethiopian TB patients, with and without HIV, reported that serum concentrations of vitamins C, E and A were significantly lower in patients than in healthy controls. High malonaldehyde concentrations, an indicator of overall oxidant stress, were associated with increased clinical severity of TB, and these parameters were exacerbated in co-infected individuals⁶⁹. Similar results were obtained in 159 Russian TB patients, who were found to have reduced dihydroascorbic acid levels compared with control patients with pneumonia⁷⁰. Wiid *et al.*⁷¹ observed significantly lower total antioxidant status (TAS) in TB patients compared with community controls, and TAS values increased during anti-mycobacterial chemotherapy. Similar results were seen with vitamin A and zinc levels, but not with vitamin E. The vitamin A status of 100 HIV-infected and HIV-uninfected TB patients was studied in Tanzania before and after the intensive phase of anti-TB therapy⁷². The authors reported that vitamin A levels were low in TB patients and improved with therapy in HIV-negative, but not in HIVinfected patients. HIV infection was also associated with low vitamin A status in healthy controls. In India, Ramachandran et al.73 observed low serum vitamin A levels in 47 newly-diagnosed TB patients compared with household contacts and healthy controls. Their vitamin A status improved significantly following anti-TB therapy without the need for vitamin A supplementation. Reduced serum concentrations of vitamin A were observed in HIV-infected, TB patients in Rwanda, and were lowest in patients who had experienced recent wasting. Unfortunately, no HIV-uninfected TB patients or healthy control groups were included in that study⁷⁴.

Another vitamin that has been linked to TB is **vitamin D** because of its importance as a macrophage-activating hormone. Two cross-sectional studies examined the dynamics

vitamin D in lymphocytes and macrophages from patients with TB compared with controls. T lymphocytes, predominantly CD4⁺ cells obtained by bronchoalveolar lavage from TB patients, expressed specific receptors for the directly bioactive hormonal form (i.e. 1,25(OH), vitamin D₃), but not its precursor 25(OH)D₃⁷⁵. Purified T lymphocytes from all patients with TB produced 1,25(OH),D, which correlated closely with that produced by lavage cells. Since 1,25(OH),D, can improve the capacity of macrophages to kill mycobacteria, the authors concluded that macrophage activation by vitamin D may contribute to anti-tuberculosis resistance⁷⁶. In addition, a few studies have detected vitamin D receptor genetic polymorphisms that are associated with vitamin D deficiency and increased incidence of TB. Two studies demonstrated that TB patients of Asian and African origin in the United Kingdom were significantly vitamin D deficient⁷⁷, and that vitamin D receptor polymorphisms were found among vegetarians from Gujarati, India⁷⁸. Two additional studies, one in India⁷⁹ and the other in Africa⁸⁰ also found vitamin D deficiency associated with receptor polymorphisms in TB patients. Recently, in vitro studies of human macrophages have begun to reveal the mechanisms that may underly the link between vitamin D deficiency and TB. Cellular immune functions that depend on vitamin D include the induction of important innate macrophage functions via Toll-like receptor ligation of mycobacterial cell surface molecules⁸¹, the mycobacteriaspecific activation of T lymphocytes by infected macrophages⁸², and the critical fusion of phagosomes containing mycobacteria with lysosomes within infected macrophages⁸³ (see also Chapter 4: Human Nutrition).

Cohort studies

The unique strength of cohort studies is that nutritional status is measured prior to the onset of TB. Only two cohort studies, both assessing vitamin C, examined the relationship between micronutrients and TB incidence. Getz *et al.*⁸⁴ examined 1100 men for the onset of TB by clinical, radiographic and laboratory criteria for up to 5 years. Plasma levels of both vitamins A and C were low in most men who developed active TB compared with those who did not. Investigators in Finland⁸⁵ randomised 26.975 healthy males to supplementation with tocopherol, beta-carotene, both or neither, to determine the impact of these anti-oxidants on cancer, and followed up the subjects for a mean 6.7 years. The data were analysed for a relationship between the intake of vitamin C and vitamin C-rich foods and a diagnosis of TB. Increased intake of vitamin C and fruits and vegetables was associated with an adjusted relative risk of TB of 0.4 (95% confidence interval 0.2–0.7).

Indicators of general nutritional status were analysed as part of the long-term follow-up of participants in the large-scale BCG vaccine trials in Georgia and Alabama.

Comstock and Palmer reported that the incidence of TB was 2.2 times higher in children with 0-4 mm subcutaneous fat than in those with >10 mm subcutaneous fat⁸⁶. Cegielski et al. examined the relationship between under-nutrition and the incidence of TB based on data from a nationally representative population of adults in the US from 1971 to 1987. Baseline data on nutritional status were derived from the first National Health and Nutrition Examination (NHANES-1), a cross-sectional survey of the US population from 1971 to 1975, after excluding persons with previous TB. The NHANES-1 Epidemiological Follow-up Study (NHEFS) followed up more than 95% of the adult subjects of NHANES-1 for a median of 9 years to relate health outcomes to baseline characteristics. Individuals with a BMI, average skin-fold thickness, or upper arm muscle area in the lowest decile of the population suffered an increased risk of TB from six- to ten-fold, controlling for other known risk factors⁸⁷. Of all the cohort studies, this is the only one that was (1) based on a representative sample of any national population, (2) excluded patients who had TB before enrollment (or that developed shortly after enrollment), and (3) used multivariable analysis to isolate the effects of nutritional status independent of other known risk factors for TB. In later analyses of these data, the BMI cut-off point for under-nutrition in the US at the time these data were collected (<20.0 vs. >20.0) was compared with the cut-off point that is currently used in the US (<18.5 vs. >18.5) and the same results were obtained. Defining under-nutrition in absolute terms rather than in relative terms may make these results more broadly applicable to populations outside of the US.

Palmer *et al.*⁸⁸ studied the relationship of TB incidence to PPD hypersensitivity in 68,754 US Navy recruits from 1949 to 1951. During 4 years of follow-up, 109 developed TB. These investigators related the risk of TB to a weight-height index calculated from the entrance medical examination on a stratified random sample of 1138 subjects. TB incidence was 75/100 000 for those 15% or more below the median weight for their height and decreased to 19/100 000 for those at least 5% overweight for their height (p< 0.01). The trends were the same regardless of the degree of tuberculin sensitivity. Edwards *et al.*⁸⁹⁻⁹⁰ extended Palmer's study to over 823 000 Navy recruits, and found that TB developed three times more often in young men 10% or more below their ideal body weight than those 10% or more above it. Despite some methodological flaws⁹¹, these studies are important because of the large sample size and consistency of the findings. Curiously, these authors did not interpret low weight-for-height as an indication of malnutrition. Rather, they concluded that there was an association between "body build" and risk of TB disease^{88–90}.

Although ignoring the obvious implications of low weight-for-height as an indicator of malnutrition seems counter-intuitive, the concept of body build as an independent risk factor for tuberculosis has been reported by others⁹². A mass radiography screening programme for TB in Norway⁹³ covered 42% to 85% of the population depending upon the

age group. Height and weight were measured accurately for nearly 80% of those screened, and over 1.7 million individuals were followed up for a mean of 12.1 years. The incidence of pulmonary, but not extrapulmonary, TB declined logarithmically with increasing BMI. The age-adjusted incidence of new pulmonary TB was five times higher in the lowest BMI category than in the highest. The author argued that this association was a function of body build and did not discuss nutrition. Comstock⁹⁴ suggested that body build may affect pulmonary mechanics and, thereby influence susceptibility to pulmonary TB, but no data are available to support this hypothesis. It seems unlikely that body build by itself predisposes to or protects against TB with no link to general nutritional status.

Intervention trials

Intervention trials, especially randomised, placebo-controlled trials (RCT) of the effect of specific nutritional supplements on the response to conventional TB chemotherapy, provide the strongest evidence of a nutritional effect on TB and suggest a practical manner in which to apply this knowledge. One caveat in the interpretation of such trials of nutrients as adjuncts to anti-TB therapy is that the drugs exert a rapid and dramatic effect on bacillary loads and, therefore, on clinical status. Modest improvements resulting from the correction of a nutritional deficiency during therapy may be difficult to detect statistically. Under these circumstances, the fact that significant effects of nutritional intervention have been documented is remarkable.

Downes95 reported the results of a controlled trial among the families of African-American TB patients in New York City between 1941 and 1946. One hundred and ninety four families were allocated alternately (i.e. non-randomly) to receive vitamin and mineral supplements (treated group) versus no supplements (control group) along with the health department's intensive nutrition education programme. The two groups were similar in prior attack rates and mortality from TB, prevalence of primary and re-infection TB at the start of the study, sputum smear positivity among the index cases, and relation of the index case to the rest of the family. In addition, the groups did not differ in terms of their income, the degree of crowding, and food habits. After 5 years of follow-up, the risk of TB in the control group was 2.8 times the risk in the vitamin and mineral-supplemented group. However, when only those who actually took the supplements for the entire follow-up period were included in the analysis, the risk of TB in the control group was 5.9 times higher than the treated group. Therefore, vitamin and mineral supplementation appear to have substantially reduced the risk of TB among family contacts of active tuberculosis cases. A discussion that factors which support even a stronger conclusion in favor of a beneficial effect of dietary supplementation from this study has been published previously⁹¹.

More recently, a number of trials of nutritional intervention during conventional chemotherapy of TB patients have been published. In one RCT⁹⁶, 80 Indonesian patients with TB were found to have significant indices of malnutrition, including low BMI, and low plasma retinol and zinc. They were assigned to receive both retinol and zinc supplements (treated group) and placebo in addition to their standard anti-TB drugs. Significant improvements in sputum conversion and resolution of radiographic abnormalities were observed in the treated group, in association with a significant increase in plasma retinol after 6 months of therapy. Beginning at 2 weeks post-therapy, the percentage of patients with negative sputum smears was significantly higher (p<0.01) in the micronutrient-treated group (23%) compared with the placebo group (13%). Mean reduction in lesion area as determined radiographically was significantly greater in the micronutrient-treated group after two months of therapy (p<0.01). Furthermore, plasma retinol concentrations were correlated inversely with a reduction in mean lesion area at 6 months (r=-0.367; p=0.02). Another RCT in a large (n=499) population of TB patients in Tanzania^{97, 98} examined the effect of supplementation with either zinc alone, multiple micronutrients (MMN, vitamins A, B, C, D, E and minerals Se, Cu), MMN + zinc, or a placebo. Approximately 43% of each group was HIV-infected, and all received standard anti-mycobacterial chemotherapy. After 8 weeks of therapy, neither supplement had a significant effect on sputum culture positivity: however, the patients receiving the MMN experienced a significant improvement in body weight. HIV status had no influence on the outcome⁹⁷. In a later publication on the same study, the authors reported that after 8 months of therapy, the group receiving the combined nutritional supplements (zinc + MMN) had a significantly reduced mortality (RR=0.29; CI: 0.10-0.80), but only in TB patients who were co-infected with HIV98.

Hanekom *et al.*⁹⁹ conducted a RCT of vitamin A supplementation in 85 South African children with TB who were not co-infected with HIV. Children were given either 200 000 IU of retinyl palmitate or placebo on day 0 and day 1 after initial clinical evaluation and then followed up during 3 months of conventional anti-TB therapy. Nearly two-thirds of the patients were vitamin A-deficient at the beginning of the study, and the deficiency was more pronounced in children with extra-pulmonary disease. Vitamin A status improved in both groups during chemotherapy, but supplementation had no significant effect on the outcome of therapy as measured by weight gain, radiological improvement, serum biochemical parameters, etc. In a subsequent publication from the same RCT¹⁰⁰, these authors reported that vitamin A supplementation did decrease significantly the circulating levels of CD30, a protein biomarker of a type 2 cytokine response. Plasma CD30 concentrations were decreased by a factor of 0.99+/-0.02 in vitamin A-supplemented children, compared with 1.05+/-0.02 in the placebo group (p=0.02). These results indicate that vitamin A supplementation may promote the establishment of a beneficial type 1 cytokine profile in children with TB.

Three other RCTs examined the impact of supplementing zinc, iron or vitamin D on the outcome of chemotherapy in TB patients. In the first study¹⁰¹, 66 HIV-infected TB patients in Singapore who were receiving antiretroviral and anti-TB therapies were assigned to 28 days of oral zinc sulfate supplements or placebo. The authors examined several parameters of TB-specific immunity, including PPD-stimulated IFNy production, and found no significant effect of zinc supplementation. Perhaps this is not surprising since nearly all (94%) of the subjects exhibited normal plasma zinc levels at baseline. In another study¹⁰², 117 adult, male TB patients in India with anaemia were enrolled in an RCT of iron supplementation during the first 2 months of conventional anti-TB therapy. Follow-up assessment was conducted at 1, 2 and 6 months after initiation of the trial. The authors reported improvement in haematological status as the TB disease improved, but supplemental iron appeared to have no additional beneficial effect on treatment outcome as determined principally by degree of radiographic abnormality that was still present after 6 months of standard chemotherapy. Finally, 24 newly diagnosed paediatric TB patients in Egypt were enrolled in an RCT to examine the effect of vitamin D supplementation (1000 IU/day for 8 weeks) on the outcome of anti-TB therapy¹⁰³. Although the authors reported that most of the children were vitamin D-deficient at baseline and serum levels of 1,25 (OH),D, improved in both groups during chemotherapy, supplementation did not affect this parameter. However, the supplemented group showed significant radiological and clinical improvement at follow-up compared with the placebo group. Body weights of vitamin D-supplemented children increased significantly at 8 weeks after treatment (3.3 kg) compared with the placebo group (2.2 kg) (p<0.05).

Inducible nitric oxide (NO) is a critical proximal mediator of anti-mycobacterial resistance in rodent models of TB¹⁰⁴. The central role of NO in human TB remains controversial; however, some supportive evidence has been published recently¹⁰⁵. Since the amino acid arginine is a precursor in the biosynthetic pathway of NO production, a case can be made for the value of arginine supplementation to improve infectious disease outcomes¹⁰⁶. An RCT of oral arginine supplementation was conducted in 120 HIV-infected and HIV-uninfected Ethiopian TB patients¹⁰⁷. The patients received either 1 g/day of arginine or placebo daily for 4 weeks along with standard anti-TB therapy and clinical outcomes were assessed at 8 weeks. Arginine supplementation resulted in significant improvement in serum arginine levels, weight gain, sputum conversion rate, and reduction of symptoms compared with the placebo group, but only in HIVuninfected patients. The percentage of patients with cough was reduced significantly (p<0.05) in the arginine-supplemented group (25%) compared with the placebo group (65%). The percentage of patients with negative sputum smears was significantly higher in the supplemented patients (100%) compared with the placebo group (85%) (p<0.05). No treatment effect was observed in HIV co-infected patients.

Two additional recent RCTs of macronutrient supplementation during TB therapy may be worth noting, although both were quite small. Paton *et al.*¹⁰⁸ gave a high-energy oral nutritional supplement (600-900 kcal/day) for 6 weeks to 19 HIV-uninfected TB patients in Singapore in conjunction with standard anti-TB therapy. Compared to 17 control TB patients who received nutritional advice but no supplements, the treated group exhibited significant increases in weight gain, total lean body mass, and grip strength. Unfortunately, no disease-specific results were reported in this publication, so the effect of supplementation on the outcome of TB treatment cannot be assessed. In a second small RCT¹⁰⁹, investigators in Mexico City compared the clinical responses of 10 HIV-uninfected TB patients who received a cholesterol-rich diet (800 mg/day) with those of a group of 11 TB patients who consumed a control diet containing 250 mg/day of cholesterol during the first 8 weeks of standard anti-TB chemotherapy. Respiratory symptoms improved in both groups: however, the rate of sterilisation of sputum cultures increased significantly and sputum production decreased significantly in the patients consuming a high-cholesterol diet. At two weeks, the proportion of patients with negative sputum samples on the high-cholesterol diet (91%) was much higher than in the placebo group (20%) (p<0.002). The bacillary load in the sputum (measured in log10 colonyforming units per ml) was much lower in the cholesterol-supplemented patients (0.05) than in the placebo patients (3.4) (p<0.0002). The cholesterol content of the membranes of macrophage vesicles (i.e. phagosomes, lysosomes) has been shown to affect the ability of the phagocytes to suppress the intracellular growth of mycobacteria¹¹⁰, although the authors did not measure that parameter in cells from their patients.

Nutritional deficiencies and TB chemotherapy – a bidirectional interaction

Many of the studies reviewed above document the fact that a substantial proportion of TB patients are malnourished at diagnosis, especially in high-burden countries, either because of pre-existing nutritional deficiencies or because of the adverse metabolic effects of the disease itself. Furthermore, malnutrition has clearly been shown to increase the risk of death early in the course of treatment in spite of the institution of appropriate chemotherapy. For example, Leimane *et al.*¹¹¹ demonstrated, among patients with multi-drug resistant (MDR) TB, worse outcomes of chemotherapy in patients with a BMI < 18.5, independent of other factors. Although low BMI may be a sign of worse disease, these authors controlled for disease severity by multivariable logistic regression.

Several of the aforementioned intervention trials support the conclusion that dietary supplementation with specific macro- and micronutrients can have a significant beneficial

impact on both nutritional status and treatment outcomes in TB. The goal of nutritional interventions should be to provide adequate energy and protein to compensate for the elevated resting energy expenditure and catabolic state associated with TB with or without HIV, to support the extensive cellular proliferation and protein production associated with the anti-mycobacterial immune responses, to allow repair of tissue damage in the lungs and elsewhere, and to replenish somatic reserves. In addition, as the studies above clearly show, supplementation with specific nutrients (e.g. vitamin A, vitamin D, zinc, arginine) may be required to correct specific deficiencies and to promote proper immune cell functions.

There are other ways in which nutritional status can interact with TB chemotherapy, however. For example, an essential first-line anti-TB drug, isoniazid (INH) interferes with vitamin B₆ metabolism by blocking the formation of the coenzyme form of the vitamin¹¹². In the absence of vitamin B₆ supplements, a significant proportion of TB patients treated with INH-containing regimens will experience peripheral neuritis, particularly persons otherwise predisposed to peripheral neuropathy such as those with diabetes and those who consume excessive alcohol¹¹³. Patients treated with cycloserine, an important second-line drug used in the treatment of MDR TB, should also receive supplemental vitamins because of central nervous system side-effects (psychosis, depression) also related to pyridoxine metabolism¹¹⁴. Other anti-TB drugs, such as ethionamide and para-aminosalicylic acid, frequently cause gastrointestinal disturbances, including nausea, vomiting and anorexia, which can impact negatively on the patient's nutritional status. In addition, several TB drugs, including INH, rifampicin, and pyrazinamide, can cause hepatitis characterised by symptoms of anorexia, nausea and vomiting and decreased nutrient intake. In its more severe forms, hepatitis results in disturbances in carbohydrate, protein and lipid homeostasis that clearly impact on the patient's metabolic status and, indirectly, their nutritional status¹¹⁵.

Nutritional deficiencies interfere with the protective efficacy of BCG vaccine

The protective efficacy of BCG vaccine varies widely in countries around the world, with the lowest degree of protection often seen in high-burden tropical counties¹¹⁶. It has been suggested that malnutrition might impair the ability of BCG to protect against pulmonary TB¹¹⁷. Although no clinical trials to test this hypothesis directly have been conducted to date, several prospective studies have evaluated the effects of malnutrition on the delayed-type hypersensitivity (DTH) responses following BCG vaccination. While there is considerable controversy over the validity of DTH as a quantitative biomarker of vaccine-induced resistance, there is general agreement that failure of the vaccine to induce T-lymphocyte-mediated immunity suggests the host response is suboptimal.

Satyanarayana *et al.*¹¹⁸ showed that milder grades of malnutrition did not affect the DTH response to PPD 6 months after immunisation with BCG, but that children with kwashiorkor were skin test negative. Chandra and Newberne demonstrated that the DTH response to PPD and other antigens was impaired by protein energy malnutrition in children and adults¹¹⁹. Among TB patients in that study, the degree of PPD skin test reactivity was directly proportional to serum transferrin levels, a sensitive indicator of protein status. Similarly, malnourished individuals did not develop skin test responses to PPD as frequently after BCG vaccination, nor were the reactions as large as those observed in well-nourished, BCG-vaccinated children. Importantly, this negative effect on BCG vaccine-induced cell-mediated immune responses was observed even in modest protein energy malnutrition^{120–121}.

Perhaps the strongest evidence for malnutrition-induced loss of BCG vaccine protective efficacy has come from studies conducted in a highly relevant guinea pig model of low-dose pulmonary TB¹²². The pathogenesis of TB in this model following the deposition of a few virulents, M. tuberculosis into the alveolar spaces by means of a specially designed aerosol chamber mimics essentially all of the important aspects of tuberculosis in humans¹²³. Moderate, chronic protein deficiency in guinea pigs results in a dramatic loss of T-cell functions following BCG vaccination, including much smaller PPD skin tests and reduced lymphocyte responses in vitro¹²⁴. More importantly, following pulmonary challenge with virulent M. tuberculosis, protein-deficient guinea pigs were unable to form mature, well-circumscribed granulomas in the lungs¹²⁵ and expressed significantly less BCG-induced resistance in the lung and spleen¹²⁶. It should be noted that the profound loss of T-cell-mediated resistance that accompanies chronic dietary protein deprivation in this model is substantially and rapidly reversible. BCGvaccinated guinea pigs maintained on a low-protein diet during the entire 6-week period post-vaccination, but given a normal diet beginning on the day of virulent pulmonary challenge, displayed PPD skin test reactivity and vaccine-induced control of bacillary loads in the lungs and spleens 2-4weeks later that were indistinguishable from BCGvaccinated animals that had never been protein-deficient¹²⁷.

Conclusions and Recommendations

Relevant to policy:

- I. Findings from observational studies suggest that nutritional support of undernourished populations at high risk of TB (e.g. young children, household contacts of TB patients, health care workers, institutionalised populations, the elderly) may reduce the incidence of TB in such groups in both low-burden and high-burden countries.
- II. Although the risk of TB in severe malnutrition may be higher than in mild or moderate malnutrition, severe malnutrition occurs in a very small fraction of the population

even in poorer countries, except in famine, war, or natural disaster-type situations. Mild to moderate proteinenergy malnutrition or micronutrient deficiencies may affect large fractions of the population at risk for TB so that prevention efforts will not be highly successful if they target only severely undernourished groups.

- III. There is limited evidence from randomised controlled trials (RCTs) that supplementation with particular macronutrients (to meet energy and protein needs) and micronutrients (such as vitamin D, arginine and protein) during conventional anti-TB therapy are of value, especially in patients who are demonstrably deficient in those nutrients. Some RCTs have shown clear improvements in nutritional and general health status in nutrient-supplemented patients receiving appropriate TB chemotherapy, while others have also demonstrated more rapid recovery from TB in supplemented patients. Recent evidence about the role of subclinical vitamin D deficiency in weakening resistance to progressive *M.tb* infection at the level of macrophages provides a biologically plausible basis for a potentially effective preventive and therapy-supportive measure in certain susceptible populations.
- IV. It is clear that malnutrition *per se* is a condition that impacts health on negatively on so many levels that a justification to feed malnourished people on the basis of their increased risk of any single disease (e.g. TB) is only a small part of the rationale. Unfortunately, however, it is not realistic to imagine that country-wide (much less worldwide) nutritional deficiencies will be addressed effectively in the foreseeable future. Therefore, scarce resources in TB-endemic countries must be focused where they are needed most, or under circumstances where they will have the greatest impact. One could debate whether nutritional intervention on a population basis (among malnourished people at risk for TB, as noted above) or on a clinical basis to improve outcomes of TB treatment (i.e. among TB patients) would be the most effective use of the available resources in high-burden countries. The data supporting the former are compelling, while the argument for the latter remains somewhat equivocal. A recommendation for providing nutritional support to undernourished contacts of TB patients and for patients with MDR and XDR TB therefore seems warranted on the basis of available scientific evidence.

Relevant to research:

- I. Given a disease as old as tuberculosis, the lack of research on the specific nutrients that are most beneficial and the conditions under which nutritional interventions are warranted, in terms of cost and effectiveness, is truly astonishing.
- II. Prospective studies should also facilitate the validation of biomarkers of malnutritioninduced immunosuppression in TB during both disease onset and recovery. The development of valid nutritional biomarkers will allow the identification of the

subset of at-risk individuals most in need of dietary intervention either to prevent progression from TB infection to disease or to maximise the response to therapy in those already diseased. Scarce resources could thus be expended where they are most likely to produce a beneficial health outcome.

Recommendations for policy and research priorities

CHAPTER 12 Recommendations for policy and practice

Many international guidelines and policies, including those of the World Health Organization, have acknowledged the important interfaces between nutrition, poverty, HIV and TB. In 2001, the South African National Department of Health produced the first "National guidelines on nutrition for people living with TB, HIV and AIDS, and other chronic debilitating conditions", and in 2006, in the face of new developments and scientific information; the Department developed new guidelines for comment and input. The comprehensive HIV Plan that was approved by the South African Cabinet in 2003 recognised the importance of nutrition in the care of people living with HIV. Building on this, the newly developed National Strategic Plan for HIV has in 2007 also prioritised food security and nutrition in its recommendations.

Unfortunately, recent public debates about the value of certain foodstuffs and supplements in the management of HIV and AIDS, as well as claims of benefit and cure arising from unproven diets and therapies, have caused confusion within communities and among health care workers about what really is best nutritional practice for people living with HIV or TB. The objective of this ASSAf report is to examine nutritional influences on human immunity and HIV and TB, and in so doing to inform policy and practice in South Africa in an evidence-based way. In this chapter, the evidence scrutinised through this scientific review has been translated into policy recommendations for consideration by policy makers, managers, clinicians, and people living with HIV and TB. South Africans represent a population widely varying in nutritional and immunological status, both in terms of current/recent situations and long-term pre-histories, some of which may leave their mark for decades, even lifelong. In addition, there is increasing evidence of genetic heterogeneity amongst individuals and groups, which may alter response to nutritional interventions. All of these factors will influence the outcomes of nutritional interventions at both the individual and the population levels and make it imperative that major recommendations for interventions are properly monitored and evaluated.

The optimum diet or food combinations, as well as specific nutrient needs of HIV- or TB-infected persons, are not yet sufficiently well understood and known. This

review has alarmingly revealed a striking dearth of strong evidence to support detailed nutritional recommendations with any degree of conviction. For this reason, the policy recommendations have of necessity to be general and limited in scope and should be read together with the research recommendations in Chapter 13. The recommendations for policy can nevertheless be regarded as the evidence-based consensus views of this expert committee, which generally concur with the expert views from a variety of WHO consultations where these are available.

Summary of findings in this Report that are relevant to policy and guidelines

With respect to macronutrients:

- 1. In people infected with HIV, weight loss and loss of body cell mass are strong predictors of poor prognosis. These features are associated with increased resting energy expenditure, accelerated protein turnover, decreased energy intake, diarrhoea and malabsorption.
- 2. A systematic review of randomised, placebo-controlled trials found that macronutrient supplementation is of benefit in HIV-infected individuals. Targeted interventions, with balanced nutritional supplements, seem to increase energy and protein intake. There is also **limited** evidence that specific dietary supplements, such as amino acid mixtures, increase body weight and reduce HIV viral load.
- 3. Evidence from small trials comparing two or more nutritional supplements suggests that balanced supplementation increases body weight and that supplementation with mediumchain triglycerides is more effective than long-chain triglycerides in reducing HIV-associated intestinal dysfunction and fat malabsorption. Supplementation with a whole-protein diet has been found to increase body weight and fat-free mass in HIV-infected adults. Specific amino acids and polyunsaturated fatty acid may increase energy intake, body weight and fat-free mass. Finally, there is **some** evidence that ready-to-use-therapeutic food is effective in reversing the poor nutritional status found in severely malnourished HIV-infected and non-infected African children.
- 4. Overall, evidence-based advice on the use of macronutrient supplementation in HIV-infected individuals in developing countries is constrained by the fact that the few randomised trials that exist have mainly been conducted in high-income countries where most patients are well nourished and have access to life-prolonging antiretroviral therapy. Further, existing trials have focused on intermediate endpoints (such as energy intake) and most have been too small to assess important clinical outcomes (such as death and morbidity). There are also substantial variations in the nutritional composition of the experimental and control interventions, the use of dietary counseling, disease stage and treatment status of the participants across studies.

With respect to micronutrients:

- 1. Micronutrient deficiencies are common in people with HIV/AIDS and are more pronounced in individuals with advanced disease and in those with inadequate diets. Such deficiencies may hasten disease progression, increase mortality, and facilitate mother-to-child transmission (MTCT) of HIV.
- 2. There is evidence from observational studies of a direct correlation between higher micronutrient intake (especially vitamins A and B, multivitamins, zinc and selenium) and slower progression to AIDS. Observational studies lack valid markers of micronutrient status: however, and the effects of micronutrient deficiencies are prone to confounding by other factors, including micronutrient interactions.
- 3. Systematic reviews of randomised, placebo-controlled trials have evaluated the effectiveness and safety of micronutrient supplements in HIV-infected children and adults, and of vitamin A for reducing mother-to-child transmission of HIV. Supplementation with vitamin A/ beta-carotene does not seem to exert any significant beneficial or adverse clinical effects in HIV-infected non-pregnant adults. In HIV-infected children receiving vitamin supplements, reductions in morbidity and mortality have been reported, but this evidence is based on small trials or subgroup analyses. Vitamin A possibly increases the risk of vertical transmission in HIV-infected pregnant and lactating women, and the risk of mortality in infants of supplemented mother-infant pairs.
- 4. There is evidence from a large randomised trial that multivitamin supplementation (excluding vitamin A) in HIV-infected pregnant women reduces the risk of disease progression, AIDS-related mortality and adverse pregnancy outcomes.
- 5. There is evidence, derived from a few small randomised trials that zinc supplements given to HIV-infected children are safe and effective in reducing morbidity, but zinc supplementation in HIV-infected pregnant women seems to have no benefit and may be harmful to the women.
- 6. Finally, the evidence-base on the effects of micronutrient supplementation in people with HIV is remarkably limited. It seems reasonable at this stage to support the recommendations of the WHO that everything possible should be done to promote and support adequate dietary intake of micronutrients at Individual Nutrient Intake Level (INL98) levels, while recognising that this may not be sufficient to correct nutritional deficiencies in all HIV-infected individuals. In situations where micronutrient deficiencies are endemic, these nutrients should be provided through food fortification or micronutrient supplements where available that contain at least 1–2 INL98s.

With respect to nutrition and TB:

1. There is evidence from observational studies in both low-burden and high-burden countries that nutritional support of undernourished populations at high risk of TB (e.g. young children, household contacts of TB patients, health care workers, institutionalised populations,

the elderly) who receive nutritional support have a lower incidence of TB than those who do not.

- 2. Although the risk of TB in severe malnutrition may be higher than in mild or moderate malnutrition, severe malnutrition occurs in a very small fraction of the population even in poorer countries, except in famine, war, or natural disaster-type situations. Mild to moderate protein energy malnutrition or micronutrient deficiencies may affect such large fractions of the population at risk for TB that prevention efforts will not be highly successful if they target only severely undernourished groups.
- 3. There is evidence from randomised controlled trial that supplementation with particular macronutrients (to meet energy and protein needs) and micronutrients (such as vitamin D, arginine and protein) during conventional anti-TB therapy is of value, especially in patients who are demonstrably deficient in those nutrients. Some trials have shown clear improvements in nutritional and general health status in nutrient-supplemented patients receiving appropriate TB chemotherapy, while others have also demonstrated more rapid recovery from TB in supplemented patients.
- 4. It is clear that malnutrition per se is a condition that impacts health on negatively on so many levels that a justification to feed malnourished people on the basis of their increased risk of any single disease (e.g. TB) is only a small part of the rationale. Unfortunately, however, it is not realistic to imagine that countrywide (much less world-wide) nutritional deficiencies will be addressed effectively in the foreseeable future. Therefore, scarce resources in TB-endemic countries must be focused where they are needed most, or under circumstances where they will have the greatest impact. One could debate whether nutritional intervention on a population basis (among malnourished people at risk for TB, as noted above) or on a clinical basis to improve outcomes of TB treatment (i.e. among TB patients) would be the most effective use of the available resources in high-burden countries. The data supporting the former are compelling, while the argument for the latter remains somewhat equivocal. A recommendation for providing nutritional support to undernourished contacts of TB patients and to patients with MDR and XDR TB therefore seems warranted on the basis of available scientific evidence.

The policy context

The Policy Environment

The HIV/AIDS and TB epidemics in South Africa are associated with widespread poverty, unemployment, hopelessness and despair, resulting in early morbidity and mortality of potentially economically productive adults, AIDS orphans, HIV-infected children, households headed by children and elderly grandparents forced into caregiver roles. Nutritional interventions should target all stages of the life-cycle, should include efforts to improve food and nutrition security on both national and community levels, should include education on healthy food choices leading to balanced diets, and, at the individual level, should include therapeutic or medical nutritional care of primary and secondary infections. It is clear that malnutrition *per se* is a condition that impacts health on negatively on so many levels that a justification to feed malnourished people on the basis of their increased risk of any single disease is only a small part of the rationale.

The issue of food security and poverty alleviation is recognised as a cornerstone of the government's 2007 National Strategic Plan for HIV and AIDS. The Department of Health recognised the need for a multisectoral approach to food security in their 2005 operational plan for "Comprehensive HIV/AIDS care, management and treatment." Resources and knowledge to implement such care are still limited, however.

There is **no high-level scientific** evidence that good nutrition will influence transmission of HIV infection, but there is **some evidence** (mainly indirect and circumstantial) that optimal nutritional status in infected individuals may slow the rate of progression of HIV to AIDS. The same level of evidence suggests that responses to drug treatment (including ARVs) for HIV infection and for both primary and secondary infections and side effects of drugs can be improved by therapeutic nutritional support of undernourished populations at high risk of TB (e.g. young children, household contacts of TB patients, health care workers, institutionalised populations, the elderly) may reduce the incidence of TB in such groups in both low-burden and high-burden countries. **There is, however, no evidence and no biological reason to suspect that any diet, food, nutrient, non-nutrient (phytochemicals) or combinations of these can replace the proper use of orthodox drug treatment for either TB or HIV.**

Public confusion about the role of nutrition in the management of HIV and TB General access to antiretrovirals in South Africa commenced in 2004, but despite enormous efforts to roll out treatment it is estimated that at best one-quarter of those requiring ARVs are currently receiving them. There are several reasons for this delay, including fear of HIV testing, fear of taking ARVs fostered by adverse publicity, and infrastructure and human resource constraints within health services. While there are fewer stigmas associated with TB infection, nonetheless only two-thirds of individuals on TB treatment complete their course of therapy. As the numbers of HIV- and TB-infected patients continue to rise, the potential to exploit frightened people with claims of disease protection or cure has increased. The marketplace has been flooded with claims that various foodstuffs, food supplements and micronutrients can prevent, alleviate or cure HIV or TB, or strengthen the immune system. Senior community and political leaders have expressed concern about potential toxicities of ARVs, while simultaneously promoting alternative nutritional therapies for benefit or cure of HIV. Within communities and for individuals infected with HIV and TB, this has created enormous confusion and lack of trust in orthodox health practitioners and in orthodox medicines. While there is widespread support for further research into indigenous medicines or plants that might have a therapeutic role, little has been done to support such recommendations. An effectively dual system of approval of medicinal claims has developed, in which orthodox medicine is evaluated with all the rigour of the regulatory environment, while traditional medicines and alternative therapies continue to claim efficacy without being properly evaluated by the responsible legal and regulatory institutions.

Uncertainity among healthcare workers

Against the background of confused nutritional messages, health care workers at all levels have found themselves unclear about what basic nutritional advice to offer patients and communities, as well as what nutritional interventions they should be prescribing as part of an integrated approach to treatment. Health care workers are not being trained about nutrition, and lack confidence when it comes to giving nutritional advice or to prescribing food supplements or micronutrients. There is a national shortage of nutritionists and dieticians, which further impedes the delivery of comprehensive clinical services, as well as limiting support to the development and implementation of integrated programmes.

The panel cannot emphasise strongly enough that in the especially problematic context of HIV infection and active TB it is unethical and unacceptable to recommend any treatment for which there is no proof that it would be beneficial and no convincing proof that it would do no harm.

Policy recommendations

Noting that impaired growth in children is common and related *inter alia* to food insecurity of pregnant mothers, infants and children, it is recommended that the implementation of the existing integrated nutrition programme of the Department of Health is evaluated and that it is adequately resourced for implementation to address undernutrition in all vulnerable groups, but especially in women and very young children¹. It also is recommended that the possibility of augmenting the Primary School Nutrition Programme (PSNP) of the Department of Education and other childhood feeding schemes with ready-to-use fortified, therapeutic foods, as an integral part of their feeding regimens, be explored in terms of effectiveness, cost, feasibility and general logistic requirements.

The issue of pregnant and breast-feeding mothers is currently in flux. The current WHO recommendation (2005) states that "HIV-infected mothers are advised to avoid all breast-feeding and use replacement feeding when it is acceptable, feasible, affordable, sustainable and safe to do so. Otherwise, exclusive breast-feeding is recommended during the first months of life and should then be discontinued as soon as it is feasible and replacement feeding can be provided safely." The WHO mentions, however, that "the mother's choice should always be respected and supported". A recent study from rural and semi-rural KwaZulu-Natal has shown that HIV transmission is significantly lower in mothers who exclusively breastfeed compared with those who use mixed feeding, it would seem that while the safe exclusive bottle-feeding may be a safe food option for more sophisticated areas and/or populations, initial exclusive breast-feeding may be a safer option for rural or impoverished areas. It is recommended that an urgent national expert consultation is convened to develop national guidelines for the feeding of infected infants that take into account all relevant studies especially but not only the Paediatric Food-Based Dietary Guidelines for South Africa for all children by the SA Nutrition Society.

Noting that there is evidence that nutritional support of undernourished populations at high risk of TB (e.g. young children, household contacts of TB patients, health care workers, institutionalised populations, the elderly) may reduce the incidence of TB in such groups in a high-burden country, it is recommended that resources are directed to ensure food security based on locally available, affordable and traditional foods to vulnerable populations.

Noting that there is evidence that macronutrient supplementation is of benefit in HIVinfected individuals, the nutritional care of people infected with HIV should focus on diversified diets including locally available, affordable and traditional foods, complemented by appropriate, locally acceptable macronutrient supplements.

While the evidence-base on the effects of micronutrient supplementation in people with HIV is remarkably and alarmingly limited, **it is recommended that everything possible should be done to promote and support adequate dietary intake of micronutrients at INL98 levels**, while recognising that this may not be sufficient to correct nutritional deficiencies in all HIV-infected individuals. In situations where micronutrient deficiencies are endemic, these nutrients should be provided through food fortification or micronutrient supplements, where available, that contains at least 1–2 INL98s.

Noting that there is evidence that multivitamin supplementation (excluding vitamin A) in HIV-infected pregnant women reduces the risk of disease progression, AIDS-related

mortality and adverse pregnancy outcomes; it is recommended that HIV-infected pregnant women are offered multivitamin supplementation (without Vitamin A) at INL98 levels.

Noting that there is evidence that supplementation with particular macronutrients and micronutrients during conventional anti-TB therapy are of value, and that there is evidence that nutrient-supplemented patients receiving appropriate TB chemotherapy show clear improvements in nutritional and general health status, and that supplementation may contribute to more rapid recovery from TB, it is recommended that the nutritional care of individuals with active TB should focus on adequate diversified diets including locally available, affordable and traditional foods. In addition, the use of appropriate, locally acceptable macronutrient supplements is recommended, especially for those patients who are demonstrably deficient in these nutrients. Nutritional interventions for patients with TB should extend to their close contacts and families as well (see recommendation 3).

Noting that there are false and/or unproven medicinal claims being made about the potential of certain products to prevent or treat HIV or TB, it is recommended that the existing legislation and regulations are enforced for all products claiming medicinal benefit with respect to HIV or TB.

Noting that there may be potential for certain traditional or herbal products to be developed for therapeutic benefit in the prevention, treatment or symptomatic relief of HIV or TB, it is recommended that government identifies accessible, ethical and scientifically valid ways to accelerate the investigation of such products.

Noting that there is a general lack of knowledge or confidence among health care workers with regard to giving advice to those infected with or at risk of contracting HIV or TB, it is recommended that many more nutritionists and dietitians should be trained and employed and utilised in all programmes addressing the two epidemics, than is the case currently, and that the nutritional knowledge of all health care workers in community, clinic and hospital settings should be improved and extended.

CHAPTER 13 Recommendations for research

The ever-increasing global store of evidence-based knowledge is the key to rational action and effective policy, but it must be used with caution. Simply transferring the conclusions of studies and insights gained in settings that differ from one's own may turn out to be misleading, yet points of departure that incorporate such information are likely to be very helpful in achieving understandings and recommendations that are in fact locally valid and appropriate. South Africans represent a population widely varying in nutritional and immunological status, both in terms of current/recent situations and long-term pre-histories, some of which may leave their mark for decades, even lifelong. In addition, there is increasing evidence of genetic heterogeneity among individuals and groups, some of which are becoming amenable to laboratory characterisation.

An important conclusion (and point of debate) arising from the heterogeneity of the population is that epidemiological and/or interventional studies ideally should aim to take into account possible "hidden" stratifications of the population concerned, even when care has been taken in terms of selected inclusion criteria, thereby permitting what is called in epidemiology "clean evaluations". Such an approach is designed to ensure that the recommended studies are "conventionally" sound but also include design parameters based on the best possible characterisation of underlying heterogeneities (i.e. "**explanatory trials**").

While explanatory trials are doubtlessly valuable from a scientific point of view, they may often not be feasible (due to the high cost of screening and selecting study participants). They may also not be useful clinically due to the rarified setting in which studies are often conducted and their tendency to small sample sizes, which may preclude the evaluation of "hard outcomes". Health care decision-makers need to know whether an intervention makes a difference to outcomes that are important to patients (typically death and quality of life measures), not only to scientists (who often study surrogate markers only). There is therefore a need to go beyond explanatory studies to "**pragmatic trials**" (i.e. trials with more liberal selection criteria, conducted under real world conditions and evaluating important clinical outcomes).

The best solution to the dilemma of choosing between explanatory and pragmatic trials is to embed the essence of explanatory trials in the design of pragmatic trials, by ensuring, as far as is possible, that the internal stratifications are detected within the "liberally included" sample, so that the benefits of both approaches can be derived.

These considerations highlight the need for a progression from bench research, to observational and "proof of concept" clinical studies, to large-scale effectiveness trials, in coordinated programmes. This approach serves as a framework for organizing the Study Panel's **recommendations for research**:

1. Well-designed and informative clinical and epidemiological studies are urgently needed to generate and test hypotheses in relation to nutritional support for HIV-infected subjects (both those not being treated with antiretrovirals, and those that are), and patients exposed to, or suffering from active tuberculosis. Large pragmatic, randomised trials, should be conducted in which explanatory designs are embedded as far as is possible. The studies should separately target adults, children and pregnant women.

The Study Panel is frankly appalled by the dearth of reliable and truly informative studies of nutritional influences/interventions on the course and outcomes of the pandemic chronic diseases addressed in this report. Even in the rare cases when the high-level study designs have been theoretically satisfactory, and therefore have been included in the analyses, flaws can almost always be detected in the underlying detail, either as hidden (but in principle detectable) stratifications within cohorts, or as omissions of key measurements needed to understand mechanisms and facilitate interpretations.

Remediation of this major problem is a high priority, and will require a broad and multi-faceted intervention across the entire system. We cannot accept with equanimity the finding that a handful of studies/trials in an area as deservedly high-profile and pervasive important as nutrition in relation to HIV infection and clinical TB co-exists with a veritable plethora of clinical trials conducted worldwide and nationally in the case of drugs used to produce incremental improvements in the treatment, for example, of common chronic cardiovascular or allergic conditions.

We have discussed approaches to evidence that are likely to be most useful in this country for strengthening the evidence on which to base public policy and practice in the focus area of this report (Chapter 3). This has obvious implications for the optimal study designs and scope of further investigations that are so urgently needed, as briefly mentioned above and described in the rest of this chapter. We believe that the approval and funding of proposals should in future take these considerations into account (see Policy Recommendations, Chapter 12) and that a deliberate and concerted attempt
should be made to energise and educate researchers who will participate in this national endeavour, and to coordinate their work as far as this is compatible with effective practice and performance at the coalface.

A critical requirement is for skilled and informed scientific input into clinical and epidemiological studies and into the enormously important area of translating research findings into practicable, affordable reliable and robust concepts and tools at the coalface of patient support and treatment. This report shows how an understanding of advances in nutritional and immunological knowledge is essential both to study design and to interpretation, and subsequently to implementation and monitoring in field situations of all kinds.

Apart from the fundamental relationships between theory and study design, all other aspects of clinical and epidemiological investigation will also urgently need to be strengthened – from people capable of designing and running adequately powered trials to improved regulatory mechanisms, to translational skills to turn valid findings into implementable policies and practices in the field. Since a number of large-scale vaccine trials will be done in South Africa during the next decade some nutritional input into their design is highly desirable, if only to establish a basis for "nested" controlled studies (see above).

With the above in mind, we proceed systematically to list the studies or programmes of research that we think are necessary to permit effective and affordable nutritional interventions to be applied in South Africa to stemming the tide of the "three epidemic" described in Chapter 2.

2. The indicators of both vitamin and inorganic micronutrient depletion and repletion in individuals and populations need to be much better defined.

Examination of the much of the evidence-base included in this report reveals that many, perhaps most of the studies have proceeded without a reasonable understanding of the actual nutritional status of the subjects included in the studies concerned, nor has the complexity of what is meant by "nutritional status" been adequately explored.

"Because of the enormous complexity and variety of vitamin digestion, absorption, transport, storage and cellular metabolism, vitamin deficiencies have necessarily to be seen as the consequence of medium- to long-term negative balance between whole-body intake and loss, in a spectrum of features typical of mild, moderate and severe imbalance. Characteristically, mechanisms exist to protect vital functions, and decreased urinary excretion is often the first indication of a shrinking body pool, blood levels remaining unchanged. As depletion progresses, still asymptomatically, urinary excretion of vitamins or their inactive metabolites virtually ceases, intestinal absorptive elements may be induced (see above), and blood concentrations of vitamin and their metabolites begin to fall, reflecting lowered content of tissues and decreased metabolic transformation. The next stage is reached when the measurable activity significantly falls of tissue or cell systems dependent on, or actually involving coenzymes derived from vitamins; this may be accompanied by subjective symptoms of ill-health (malaise, anorexia or psychological changes) and/or detectable dysfunction of certain body systems and/or early clinical signs of a deficiency state. It is important to remember that vitaminderived coenzymes are shared inside living cells as co-catalysts by many enzymes, with differing concentrations, affinities and turnover rates: there will invariably be a hierarchy of ways in which functions are lost, and these will differ in different cell types or organs. Eventually, the body's 'defence' of its crucial coenzyme supply fails, and severe morphological and functional abnormalities ensue, usually quickly correctable by high doses of replacement vitamins, and more slowly by doses closer to the 'Recommended Daily Allowances' (now called the 'Average Nutrient Requirement'), of the vitamin in question. If uncorrected, the by now severely ill bodies of deficient subjects will develop the serious features of classical deficiency syndromes, which unless reversed by energetic, usually hospital-based therapy, will be followed by death. The above account is necessarily highly generalised, and will vary with different vitamins, populations, individuals and situations, but it is sufficiently applicable to be of considerable value in approaching any given person who may have nutritional inadequacy of any kind, especially in clinical trials involving nutritional interventions." (quoted from Chapter 4).

The big problem for investigators, which needs to be addressed in the design and execution of their studies, is therefore to distinguish between the effects of supplemental micronutrients in repleting actually deficient cellular supplies of crucially important metabolites on the one hand, and effects which amount to simply repleting the wholebody supply situation on the other. In the first case, one is likely to see improved functioning (including fighting infection and minimising its deleterious effects), while in the second, beneficial effects in respect of infection are unlikely to ensue as the supplementation mainly brings the body's reserves up to the steady state. This generalised view has to be modified when there is no steady state, for example when extensive losses of micronutrients are occurring on a regular basis as a result of chronic diarrhoea. It must also be remembered that each of the micronutrients will have an individualised effect on the spectrum of depletion-repletion. In pioneer studies, where all the stops have to be pulled out in order to establish the mechanisms involved in an intervention, for later simplification in the implementation phases, such information is essential.

It is evident that antiviral treatment of HIV infection, which almost always has markedly positive effects on the state of well-bring of the subject, with increased appetite, decreased bowel disorder and associated malabsorption, etc., will itself bring about a "repletion process" if there was deficiency at the time when treatment was started and if an adequate diet is being taken. Careful characterisation of this kind of wholebody process would be useful in developing comprehensive dietary guidelines.

Obesity is common in South Africa despite the frequency of below-par micronutrient intakes; research is needed to assess possible interaction between low-grade "inflammation" now known to occur in apparently healthy obese persons, micronutrient deficiencies and HIV infection at various stages

In cases where micronutrients are not precursors of cellular coenzymes, such as the vitamins which act as antioxidants in various locations, the above-described model of a depletion/repletion spectrum has to be modified, as the dose-response curves are not likely to be saturational, but rather continuously linear or (more usually) peaking to a maximum benefit before becoming toxic (see Chapter 1). There may be cases, such as vitamin A (see below) where there is a mix of both kinds of systems due to a multiplicity of pathways and active metabolites.

These considerations apply similarly to the case of inorganic micronutrients:

"Inorganic micronutrients are a number of elements present in foods that are required to be present in human diets over medium to long periods, in sufficient quantities to replace the baseline or accelerated net losses from body stores that are unavoidable as a result of excretory and secretory processes such as urination, defaecation and sweating. Subsets of these inorganic micronutrients have been shown to be especially relevant to human immunity and resistance to infections. In general, (they) resemble vitamins in being present in particular food sources in notable amounts; in varying in bioavailability because of differential binding to other food constituents, either in the native food (e.g. phytic acid) and/or in the digestive mixtures generated in the gut; and in each having extremely complex and highly regulated mechanisms for their absorption, intravascular transport and tissue uptake. In addition, like most vitamins they are also bound with varying affinities to intracellular molecules, creating a kind of graduated 'storage' system, while their egress mechanisms are often also specialised, all of this reflecting evolved homeostatic devices to 'protect' the essential functions subserved by the particular metals or other inorganic elements concerned. Again, depletion of one of the essential inorganic micronutrients from the body (i.e. a steady-state negative balance between intake and losses, over time) leads in most instances to complex compensatory rearrangements throughout the body, which 'protect' vital functions by enhancing capture from food, changing transport patterns, prioritising cell-types in terms of supply, and diminishing rates of net excretion. As in the case of most vitamins, the order of events during progressive depletion will usually first consist of diminished urinary/faecal losses without a change in blood levels; next, lowered blood concentration without change in tissue content; next, symptomatic deficiency associated with lowered tissue content; and finally, serious disorder and death"(quoted from Chapter 4).

The assessment situation is also not very different from that of vitamins, when inorganic micronutrients are in question:

"As in the case of vitamins, assessment of inorganic micronutrient status requires a combination of clinical acumen and laboratory measurement. Detailed knowledge of the relevant physiology in each case has made it possible to devise feasible, reliable and accurate tests ('deficiency markers') that involve mixes of direct assays of the particular element in body fluids or tissues; indirect measures based on proteins that bind the substance or are necessary for its transport or uptake, or on the activity of enzymes requiring the substance for their catalytic functioning. The 'acute phase' of infections (systemic 'inflammation'), as in the case of several vitamins, involves perturbations in the relative concentrations of plasma proteins and bulk tissue catabolism, that may lead to data being collected in respect of certain metals or other inorganic elements that are misleading In terms of the "true" nutritional status of the persons concerned. Genetic micro-heterogeneity in the complex systems responsible for handling inorganic micronutrients is likely to be prevalent in human populations, even if little is as yet known about this factor, apart from the prevalent genetic iron-overload conditions that have been well characterised." (also quoted from Chapter 4).

The above-described considerations reinforce the overall conclusion that the degree to which health care personnel are able to determine where exactly their patients/consultees are situated with respect to individual micronutrients, must be substantially improved, through a major research effort and concomitant public policy development.

As stated in Chapter 5:

"Because dietary history combined with food tables, while important, is not a wholly reliable guide to the nutritional status of individuals, clinical acumen and laboratory tests are mandatory in assessments such as are needed in persons who suffer from subacute or chronic infections, and who may be involved in clinical trials. Clinical features to be looked for include various anthropometric measures, such as body weight, body mass indices and standardised skin-fold thickness, especially valuable if observed over time; symptoms and signs of systemic inflammation, such as fever, muscle pains, anorexia and nausea; indications of intestinal macronutrient malabsorption; and symptoms and signs of all the specific vitamin and mineral deficiency syndromes. Laboratory tests that have become preferred for reasons of affordability, feasibility, reliability, relevance and conclusiveness have usually been derived from a detailed understanding of the physiological phenomena underlying the absorption, intravascular transport, organ metabolism and pre-excretory biotransformations of the vitamin or mineral concerned; as our knowledge increases, the tests available will undoubtedly become better and more informative, and will include genetic assessments now in their infancy. In general, there is still at present a lack of useful markers for the detailed micronutrient status of

individuals. Complex and expensive tests that demonstrate functional deficits directly correctable with vitamin administration or addition are superior to simpler and cheaper 'snapshot' measurements of the levels in blood, plasma and/or urine of micronutrients or their metabolites."

This leads naturally to the following conclusion:

"There is no doubt that the ready availability of tests that are both accurate and informative, and affordable and usable in field settings, is a high priority for South Africa, a country where 'hidden hunger' (equivalent to functional deficiencies of one or more micronutrients) is very common (see Chapter 10) and where clinical research relies heavily on establishing valid inclusion criteria, baselines and outcomes for nutritional interventions in chronic infectious diseases like HIV infection and clinical tuberculosis." (quoted from Chapter 5).

In addition, the confounding of measured blood levels by marked changes in the various acute-phase proteins, as well by losses of lean tissue mass, needs to be understood and better evaluated in South African populations. The chronicity of the situation must also be determined in order to sharpen the assessment, as must the assessment of protein/ energy nutritional status before the onset of the infection concerned. Both of these factors strongly colour the interpretation of the findings.

A good example of an obvious need in the system is the full exploration of the possibility that improvements in nutritional status because of better food security have, on balance, been negated by the impact of widespread HIV/AIDS; a thorough re-assessment, with finer grain tools, of the current and evolving situation with respect to population nutritional status in the light of the HIV/AIDS and TB epidemics is urgently necessary."

The Panel accordingly attaches prime importance to the rapid development of knowledge-based, affordable, available and reliable tests of actual status with respect to individual micronutrients, applicable both to individuals and to populations, especially in interventional studies where study designs can be improved and interpretational difficulties overcome. This cannot be done without encouraging relevant basic research and teamwork in clinical studies, plus energetic attempts to produce national consensus guidelines to best practice, supported by the necessary attention to human resource capacity, as well as access and affordability issues.

3. Reliable and accessible biomarkers are urgently needed to assess immune function in nutritional studies and in interventions in human subjects.

Malnutrition has been generically associated with "poor immunity" since pioneer studies were conducted in the 1950s–60s; reasonably specific immunodeficiency syndromes arising for example from severe protein-energy deficiency have later been detected by a variety of available immunological investigations (see Chapters 5 and 11). The field of

immunology has advanced by leaps and bounds since then, however, and a huge variety of test and measurements have become possible. To some extent, their very multiplicity has become a problem, as any of the isolated *in vivo* or *ex vivo* measurements available can be linked to effects observed in clinical studies or trials, as "evidence of immunomodulation". The integrated functioning of the immune system in terms of both innate and adaptive immunity has become difficult to assess as its observed complexity increases. The Panel recommends that strenuous efforts should be made to end the situation where any and every effect is thought/said to be significant and "proof of benefit":

"Considerable progress has been made in evaluating immune responsivity and the impact of long-term nutrient supply and/or deficiencies... Precise tests and analyses will in the main be both complex and expensive. This fact should not, however, serve to prevent as good a bank of standardised, feasible and informative tests as can be developed to become widely available for the support of effective health care in South Africa.

A large number of *ex vivo* measures already exist for the assessment of bloodderived cells as well as, in some cases, cells collected from mucosal surfaces by lavage techniques¹⁹. These include measurements of phagocytosis/killing of bacteria, yeast cells or sheep red blood cells; assays of respiratory burst/microbial killing rates; NK and CTL activity on virally infected cells; lymphocyte proliferation rates under stimulation by mitogens; stimulated cytokine production, or gene expression in whole cells; IgG (total and specific) production rates; cell-surface expression of HLA molecules or cytokine receptors (flow cytometry). *In vivo* measures include the size of lymphoid organs (e.g. ultrasound in the case of the thymus); cytology of lymphoid tissue; numbers and types of circulating immunocytes of various kinds, including cell-surface expression of defined molecules; circulating thymulin; general plasma immunoglobulins as well as specifically targeted ones; secretory IgA in mucosal washings; circulating cytokines; delayed-type hypersensitivity (DTH) responses to antigens already experienced by subjects; resistance to infectious diseases, progression and outcomes. Widespread inter-individual and intergroup variations can be expected..." (quoted from Chapter 5).

The Panel has noted with interest the efforts made in Europe to address the problem of providing the broad health community with an idea of what tests are actually most appropriate, reliable, affordable and informative:

"A highly useful study was performed by the European branch of the International Life Sciences Institute (ILSI Europe) to identify the most reliable, cost-effective generally useful markers to assess the impact of nutrition on immune function in humans, including those associated with the intestine. A number of systematic potential confounding subject-specific factors were listed, including age-dependence of immune function, sex differences, physical and psychological stress, drug history, smoking, and vaccination history. Technical confounding factors were identified as study designs,

sample collection times (circadian rhythms), seasonal variations, meals and/or depleting wash-out periods, and the length of the intervention period. Immune function assays commonly in use were rated as to theirbiological relevance (e.g. known correlation with clinical end-points), sensitivity (within and between subject variation), and practical feasibility. Methods that were rated highly suitable were:

- i. vaccine-specific serum antibody production;
- ii. delayed-type hypersensitivity responses;
- iii. vaccine-specific or total secretory IgA in saliva; and
- iv. the response to attenuated pathogens.

Markers with medium suitability were NK cytotoxicity, oxidative bursts in phagocytes, lymphocyte proliferation, and cytokine patterns produced by stimulated cells. The authors suggested using a mix of highly and medium suitable markers for general use. While this very careful land detailed work is doubtlessly valid in a European setting, no similar study under South African/African conditions has apparently ever been done, despite the crying need in a country where the public is constantly exhorted to consume a plethora of mostly untested or poorly tested, (expensive) proprietary 'immunomodulators' and the like". (quoted from Chapter 5)

The Panel accordingly recommends that a nationally coordinated effort is made in South Africa to determine the optimum *in vivo* and *ex vivo* methods reliably and informatively to assess the general status of the immune system in nutritional interventions, in addition to the specialised tests such as CD4⁺ counts which are in standard use in relation to HIV infection. The results of the investigation should be published as national guidelines, including translation into practicable field tools, supported by enabling measures in the National Laboratory Health Service (NHLS) and the system generally. Regular updating will obviously be necessary.

4. A major effort must be made to integrate and deepen our understanding of the functional interactions between HIV infection, gut immune mechanisms and the intestinal microbiota.

Spectacular progress has recently been made in locating the most extensive and significant aspects of HIV infection in the intestinal wall. The low-grade but relentless immune battlefield in the mucosa seems to be a key site both of continuing viral replication and the source of varying but chronic systemic inflammation. Bringing the skills of research gastroenterologists and dieticians/nutritioniststo bear on these issues will be extremely valuable, with possible new ameliorating or even therapeutic agents in the offing. To quoted from Chapter 8:

"Microbial translocation in the gut during chronic HIV infection has now beenshown to be one of the major driving forces behind immune activation and maintaining the pool of activated CD4+ T-cells that can be productively infected by the virus. The levels of plasma lipolysaccharide in HIV-infected individuals during the chronic stage of disease and during AIDS have been found to be much higher than in healthy HIVuninfected controls or in subjects newly infected with HIV... Concomitant with increased plasma LPS was increased plasma-soluble CD14, a receptor molecule found on the surfaces of monocytes and shed upon in vivo activation by LPS. Interestingly, HIVinfected individuals who were able to control viral replication and appeared clinically healthy had higher levels of endotoxin-core antibodies that seemed to neutralise the chronic inflammation-activating effects of LPS in the systemic circulation... The plasma levels of an acute-phase (inflammatory) protein, C-reactive protein (CRP), have recently been positively associated with progression time to AIDS in HIV-infected subjects. The crucial link that needs to be made is whether different nutrients/dietary components affect gut mucosal integrity in HIV-infected individuals in systematic or individually different ways, which could influence or determine the course of HIV pathogenesis through effects on the basic processes of viral persistence and net CD4+ T-cell depletion, by influencing the rate of microbial translocation."

Much can already be said for the burgeoning field concentrating on the gut microbiota and the possibility of extensive influences on human health, as well as new approaches to countering gut-sourced inflammation. To quote from Chapter 7:

"There are indications that both local (gut) and systemic immunity can be affected by interactions between 'normal' bacteria (non-pathogenic commensals) and the gut epithelium, but experimental evidence is so far mostly restricted to certain probiotics (exogenously introduced beneficial bacteria) and prebiotics (food components that selectively support the outgrowth of beneficial bacteria), both of which appear to be able to modulate immune signalling in the mucosal wall, as well as immune interactions between the gut and the distributed general immune system."

We advocate an extensive national programme of research capacitation in this multi-disciplinary area of focus, now considered crucial to HIV infection and its complications, and to a lesser extent also to (rare) forms of tuberculosis and obviously also to malnutrition in all its manifestations. This would include:

- bringing together gastroenterologists, immunologists and nutritionists/dieticians in joint studies, and sharpening up and expanding diagnostic tests of intestinal function;
- ii. developing the capacity to characterise the microbiota present in both the small and the large intestines of individuals and populations, quantitatively and

qualitatively, and to determine longitudinal responses during follow-up and treatment scheduling;

- iii. understanding the systematic relationships between diets of various kinds and the intestinal microbiota, as well as gut function and inflammation;
- iv. establishing why there may be malabsorption of specific nutrients in asymptomatic HIV-infected individuals, whether this is selective, and whether compensatory change in the bowel micro-architecture/biochemical physiology take place, and with what significance for morbidity and mortality;
- v. characterising the short- and long-term effects of selected probiotics and prebiotics, of various kinds and at various dose levels, on gut microbiota in various kinds of subjects, including those with and without HIV infection;
- vi. performing controlled clinical trials of the possible therapeutic value of selected probiotics and/or prebiotics on HIV-infected subjects at varying stages of the disease and with varying intestinal symptoms and complications;
- vii. examining the possible therapeutic value in HIV-infected subjects of specific antiinflammatory agents (such as 5-aminosalicylic acid) and/or specialised diets that have proved to be effective in chronic inflammatory bowel disease;
- viii. improving the reliability and informativeness of direct or proxy tests of immune functioning in the intestinal mucosa;
- ix. documenting the relationships between intestinal symptoms and signs, on the one hand, and the progression of HIV infection to its final end-stages, on the other; and
- x. ensuring that the role of already well-accepted opportunistic intestinal pathogens is better understood in the context of newer conceptual frameworks of local immune defences and accompanying systemic changes.

The discovery that the gastrointestinal tract is the probably major site of the critical reactions that maintain HIV productively in its host has opened up an entirely new front in the nutrition and HIV debate, with the emphasis broadening from nutritional themes based on "classic" macro- and micronutrients to promising new areas of food composition and supplementation. The Panel believes that South African scientists should be able to contribute much that is beneficial to its enormous HIV-infected population by exploring a new frontier that holds enormous promise.

5. We need to establish the precise physiology and (possibly competitive) pharmacokinetics of food-derived versus synthetic vitamin and/or mineral intakes/supplements, the latter singly or as multi-component preparations.

There is a natural and well-tried suspicion in medicine of polypharmacy and "shotgun" approaches to therapy, yet many manufacturers are marketing "multivitamins" that

contain an enormous variety of organic and inorganic nutrients and other supplements, purportedly restoring lost energy, lost years, and lost immune function, as the claim may be. The Panel is of the opinion that the widespread use of these convenient but usually expensive supplements justifies investigations aimed at detailed scientific understanding of the consequences of their regular ingestion:

"Bioavailability is determined by comparing the effectiveness, in terms of a selected measurable parameter(s), of vitamins present in different foodstuffs with synthetic/ pure compounds administered (usually singly) in the same amounts. Multiple-vitamin supplementation is complicated by the fact that the bioavailabilities of the component substances may not equate to those determined individually; some may be lower because of competition for carriers, and others may be higher, for reasons of synergism in absorptive mechanism, for example. In addition, some supplements require additional components for absorption (e.g. bulk fat for fat-soluble vitamins), and natural foods typically containing uncharacterised compounds that may also be nutritionally beneficial in as yet unknown way" (quoted from Chapter 4).

The Study Panel therefore believes that attention has urgently to be given to finding out in some detail how synthetic vitamins are handled by human bodies in different situations and in different contexts. This applies especially to the many components in commonly available (and strongly promoted) multivitamin preparations. Are the consequences of self-administration of (commonly available) multivitamin preparations properly understood in terms of interactions between constituent compounds and body constituents? Are the individual bioavailability patterns affected by bulk ingestion? Do different preparations differ in their effects/effectiveness? Are measurable parameters of immune function altered when multivitamin preparations are taken by uninfected persons? What about HIV-infected persons?

Dosage safety is a key consideration in many guidelines for nutritional supplementation, especially in HIV-infected persons, and it is not easy to see how an injunction to take not more than "one INL98" of an entire set of micronutrients can be followed by individuals also taking in the same materials as mixes of vitamers in naturally occurring foods. Such persons may also be partaking of a variety of drugs with which the metabolism of the vitamins concerned may intersect (by becoming involved in drug interactions that attenuate the efficacy of therapies or that enhance them by competing for shared disposal pathways and prolonging half-lives in the body). Some persons may be showing signs of body "inflammation" involving pro-inflammatory cytokines. In addition, the pre-history of an individual subject may include a massive loss of tissue mass, altering the dynamics of micronutrient utilisation.

Consumption of multiple INL98s of vitamins appears to be highly problematic in terms of what our review of the available evidence has revealed. Everything mentioned

above becomes more cogent at higher and less well-controlled dosages, with enhanced risks of deleterious hypervitaminoses and/or toxic states of trace element excess.

We need to understand all these possible risks much better, through appropriate research efforts, and to turn the knowledge thus gained into optimised public policy and more effective individual care.

6. A better understanding is needed of the significance of lifelong programming of the human immune system arising from fetal "insults"

One of the most controversial but potentially influential theories of human development is that nutritional, toxicological and/or virological "insults" prior to birth, especially in key phases of neonatal organ growth, may cause lifelong programming of body systems such as immune responses, metabolic patterns and cardiovascular functioning that deviates from the norms of a population. The Panel believes that the evidence for a systematic, programmed "stunting" of the immune system of malnourished people through this mechanism is not yet firm enough to become an accepted part of thinking in the field. The apparent association of chronic degenerative and metabolic diseases in middle-aged adults with fetal malnutrition (the "Barker Hypothesis") is one thing; maintaining that the immune system of an adult will "under-perform" in the face of concurrent adequate nutrition and general health care is another. Nevertheless, it is clear that proper studies of South African communities need to be performed to help assess the importance of this possibly quite general phenomenon within the general context of the high prevalence here of "hidden hunger" (micronutrient deficiencies) as opposed to protein/energy starvation.

7. Recent developments in the understanding of some micronutrients are so important that they merit thorough study and further interventional trials.

Vitamin A

The physiological transformations, translocations and and diverse roles of this vitamin (or, better, vitamer complex) increasingly resemble "metabolic maps"; their actions being multiple, complex and highly variable, and dependent on a plethora of cellular proteins. A relevant example is the very recent discovery of a specific and obligatory action of dendritic cells in the gut wall in forming retinoic acid as a mediator (together with cytokines) of B and T lymphocyte differentiation and homing to the gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT); vitamin A-deficient mice failed adequately to perform these essential immune defence functions in respect of both humoral (mucosal secretion of IgA) and cell-mediated immunity (see Chapter 7).

The fact that active vitamin A repletion has proved helpful in many childhood diseases, including HIV infection, and (potentially) unhelpful in preventing mother-to-

child transmission of the same virus, points to the need more fully to understand the exact situation with respect to this vitamin-"protohormone" in the bodies of subjects included in clinical trials, on the one hand, or in clinic-going populations, on the other.

Vitamin D

This is another vitamin-"protohormone" which has an immensely complex network of pathways and actions throughout the body, including 1,25-cholecalciferol synthesis and vitamin D receptor (VDR) induction followed activation of the Toll-like receptors (TLR) of macrophages infected with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (Mtb), associated causally with the generation of an antibiotic peptide called cathelicidin and enhanced microbial killing. We need to know whether many South Africans are unable to synthesise enough of their own vitamin D, with possible lowering of serum 1,25-cholecalciferol levels and increased susceptibility to tuberculosis. Do dietary intakes have a bearing on this? The relationship between this nutritional factor and other genetic susceptibility factors such as alternate DC-Sign alleles needs further study.

Randomised controlled clinical trials of vitamin D supplementation are obviously necessary in active tuberculosis, making sure the design includes the detection of subjects with sub-clinical hypovitaminosis, and, if there are such, determining if possible the reasons for this status. Intersections with calcium intake and status will need to be established

Folate

The consequences of folate deficiency are not restricted to cells of the haemopoietic system, but are encountered by epithelial cells of the gastrointestinal and genitourinary tracts as well, these tissues also containing cells with high natural turnover rates. HIV infection involves adaptive or compensatory T-cell proliferation which may reach a point at which folate deficiency becomes factor, perhaps acting synergistically with other causes of lymphocyte destruction.

The Study Panel therefore recommends careful studies of folate metabolism in HIV-infected persons, to detect abnormalities, and to establish increased demand and/or decreased absorption (specifically of conjugated folate forms) due to intestinal aberrations.

Zinc

A central clinical feature of zinc deficiency in humans, already detectable on marginal regular daily uptakes, and well documented especially in children, is increased susceptibility to infectious diseases, through impairment of multiple mediators of both cell-mediated and humoral immunity. The Panel recommends a special focus on zinc

in prospective well-controlled and randomised clinical trials, as it constitutes a good example of the main precept that such trials should be firmly based in an understanding of the prior and ongoing depletion-repletion status of each participant.

Selenium

The role of this trace element is to become part of a number of important enzymes in the form of constituent seleno-methionine or seleno-cysteine residues (these are also the forms of selenium that are ingested as effectively micronutrient components in protein foods) acting mainly in anti-inflammatory and/or anti-oxidant mechanisms. Because seleno-enzymes are important for maintaining an anti-oxidant environment in HIV-infected cells sufficient to limit transcriptive generation of new virus genomes and particles, carefully designed trials are needed to assess their possible significance in the nutritional support of those HIV-infected persons who are deficient in the element. The cause of the toxicity of excess dietary selenium must also be better understood in this specific context.

8. We need to factor into population-directed studies the genetically difference to susceptibility to HIV and TB infection of different members of the population

A pitfall of many clinical trials is the acceptance of a "blank slate" model of the population under study. We must take into account the fact that a spectrum of infection prevalences and progression rates has emerged in the case of both HIV and *M.tb* infections. Within any population, and between different populations, there are individuals with increased susceptibility and others with increased resistance, who may in either group progress to AIDS or develop TB slowly or quickly. Generally, however, increased susceptibility to becoming infected with HIV has accompanied the trait of more rapid progression to AIDS. Many gene loci have been found that variously affect virus entry and intracellular replication, host innate immunity and especially adaptive immune processes, and affect the clinical course of the infection accordingly.

The widely distributed "host resistance factors" include HLA markers that are associated with long-term non-progression or delayed onset of AIDS, and better clinical outcomes, while other markers have the reverse effects. Determination of the HLA marker status of subjects in a trial is feasible in a good research design. In the case of susceptibility to tuberculosis, DC-SIGN alleles can be determined that can be associated with a seven-fold variation in disease incidence, other things being equal. In the context of this Report, these genetically determined variations in host susceptibility are important because they will constitute "background noise" in any clinical trial or other investigation of clinical HIV progression. Fortunately, the laboratory means to establish the nature of other possible resistance or susceptibility genes in human subjects are being created through active research and will impact positively on this problem. 9. The elevation of the research agenda to the national level in the field of nutrition and immunity means that this focus must be given special attention in the current (strategic) enhanced resourcing of science and technology in South Africa.

There can be no doubt but that the national interest requires a deliberate and coordinated focus on pandemic infectious diseases and their nutritional components. This means that research chairs, centres of excellence, special training programmes (as in astrophysics and information technology), international collaborations, etc. should include in their calls for proposals the priority that this critically important field enjoys (see Chapter 12).

CHAPTER 14

Collation of existing guidelines from the World Health Organization, the Southern African HIV Clinicians Society and the National Department of Health

The consideration of the available evidence in this report about the role of nutrition in HIV/AIDS and TB, leading to the above recommendations for policy and research, has highlighted the gaps in our knowledge of the effects of exposure to specific diets, foods, nutrients, combinations of nutrients, nutrient supplements and other substances (especially in plant foods) on the health outcomes in infected people. The report further showed that these knowledge gaps are partially related to the difficulties in designing appropriate studies because of the complexities of dietary interventions and heterogeneities in infected subjects and controls, as well as a lack of comparable measurements of health outcomes.

These gaps in our knowledge (and therefore in available evidence), further exacerbated by the stigmatisation of HIV/AIDS, should however, not prevent the formulation of recommendations to health professionals, people living with the infections, and those in households, families and communities responsible for the care of infected people, on how to apply nutritional principles as part of this care. Three "authoritive" bodies have made such recommendations: the World Health Organization¹, the Southern African HIV Clinicians Society², and the South African National Department of Health, Nutrition Directorate³. All three organisations have based their recommendations on the limited literature about the role of nutritional status in HIV/AIDS and active TB, as well as general knowledge about the role of nutrition in health and disease, especially the relationships of nutrients with immune function. The latter two sets of recommendations (2, 3) also include practical advice on food security, food safety (hygiene) and therapeutic care of patients with secondary infections and those on medication for primary and secondary infections. Both these sets of recommendations use the South African Food Based Dietary Guidelines⁴ with appropriate additions and amendments, to promote healthy, balanced nutrition. The Department of Health has gone one step further and included advice on the use of traditional herbal treatments and remedies, with an acknowledgement that their effects are largely unknown and a warning that they should be used in moderation. The Department of Health recommendations also include specific advice on how to cope with nutrient-drug interactions and how to minimise side-effects of drug treatment.

The purpose of this Chapter is not to give detailed, practical nutrition recommendations for people infected with HIV and/or with active TB (since that has been done in the three reports mentioned), but rather to focus on the principles that should underlie nutritional recommendations for practice, originating from the careful considerations of all available evidence in this report as well as the realities of the South African situation.

Principle 1

Optimum nutrition at the population (public health) level is necessary for prevention of the spread of HIV/AIDS and TB, and at the level of individuals to improve health, quality of life and response to drug treatment, but it cannot directly prevent transmission of these infections or cure them or supervening infections

There is widespread acceptance that malnutrition is part of a vicious cycle of poverty, underdevelopment, lack of education, and an intergenerational lack of development of cognitive skills and "human capital", all factors collectively contributing to the HIV/AIDS and TB pandemics. To break this cycle, these factors should be addressed simultaneously and in concert, and nutritional interventions should focus on all stages of the life cycle, but especially aim to improve the nutritional status of expecting mothers and their unborn babies. There is no direct, hard scientific evidence that good nutrition will influence transmission of the infections, but (so far mainly indirect and circumstantial) evidence does indicate that the arte of progression of HIV to AIDS will be slower in individuals with optimum nutritional status. The same level of evidence suggests that responses to drug treatment of both primary and secondary infections and side-effects of drugs can be improved by therapeutic nutritional interventions. There is, however, no evidence and no biological reason to suspect that any diet, food, nutrient, nonnutrient (phytochemicals) or combinations of these can replace the judicious use of drug treatment of these infections.

Principle 2

Recommended nutritional interventions should do more good than harm.

The already mentioned lack of evidence and gaps in our knowledge, combined with unreported, unpublished results from clinical experience and traditional practices, as well as the desperation of critically ill people suffering from stigmatised diseases, have spawned a plethora of recommendations regarding the beneficial effects of specific foods, traditional plants and their extracts, herbs and spices, as well as supplements, in the prevention and treatment of HIV/AIDS and active TB. These "alternative or dissident" recommendations, often expressed by political leaders and by practitioners claiming positive results from their treatments, have received wide press coverage at home and abroad. It may well be that there are unknown and unrecognised substances in edible and medicinal plants with these unproven putative beneficial effects. However, until these suggested remedies have been proven to do more good than harm the panel cannot support their use. For example, the putative beneficial effect of garlic in "strengthening" the immune system may well be true, but the SA HIV Clinicians Society² warns that "various deleterious side effects are associated with the use of garlic supplements" in HIV/AIDS. Other unconventional treatment strategies identified by the Society² that "might be beneficial" but with a concern that "they could be harmful" are virgin olive oil, African potato, onion, spirulina, Sutherlandia frutescens, and several phytosterols. The Department of Health's recommendations³ list 12 commonly used herbs and spices with putative benefits, advice on how to use them, and cautions about amounts and when not to use them (e.g. cinnamon in pregnancy). The list also advises against the use of garlic by people who are taking antiretroviral drugs, as garlic may inhibit absorption of these drugs³.

The same principle is also valid for micronutrient supplements in excess; therefore, except for vitamin A in children, all three sets of nutrition recommendations (1–3) advise that upper limits of recommended nutrient intake levels should not be exceeded. Therefore, even in the light of limited evidence, recommendations to the public should be responsible. In the special problematic context of HIV infection and active TB, it is unethical to recommend any treatment of which there is no proof that it would be beneficial and no convincing proof that it would do no harm.

Principle 3

Nutritional interventions to address the HIV/AIDS and TB pandemics should be part of a holistic, comprehensive, integrated approach, including both public health and therapeutic nutrition strategies and actions.

The HIV/AIDS and TB epidemics in South Africa are associated with widespread poverty, unemployment, hopelessness and despair, resulting in early morbidity and mortality of potentially economically productive adults, AIDS orphans, HIV-infected children, households headed by children and elderly grandparents forced into caregiver roles. Nutritional interventions should therefore target all stages of the lifecycle, should include efforts to improve food and nutrition security at national and community level, should include education on healthy food choices leading to balanced diets, and, at the individual level, include therapeutic or medical nutritional care of primary and secondary infections. The Department of Health³ recognised this multisectoral approach in their operational plan for "comprehensive HIV/AIDS care, management and treatment". Resources and knowledge to implement such care are limited, however. The practical implications are that many more nutritionists and dietitians should be employed and utilised in all programmes addressing the epidemics, and that the nutritional knowledge of all health care workers in community, clinic and hospital settings should be improved and extended.

Principle 4

Nutritional care of people infected with HIV and/or with active TB should focus on diversified diets including locally available, affordable and traditional foods. The widespread micronutrient deficiencies endemic to South Africa, the characteristic wasting of infected persons, and the known effects of the infections on food intake and nutrient turnover (absorption, metabolism and losses) dictate the use of fortified foods, however, as well as macro- and micronutrient supplements at safe levels.

There is agreement in the three sets of the above-mentioned nutrient recommendations that a food-based, diversified diet approach is the first choice. The "optimal" specific nutrient needs of infected persons are still not totally clear; there are for example indications from an epidemiological study which included asymptomatic HIV-infected subjects^{5, 6} that the mainly plant-based, prudent diet recommended as the optimal diet to prevent both underand overnutrition (in which saturated fat is largely replaced by unsaturated fats) may not be the optimal diet for infected persons. Nevertheless, the aims of dietary recommendations are to improve and maintain the best nutritional status possible, of as many persons as possible. Wasting of infected persons (involuntary weight loss $\geq 10\%$ of initial body weight) and impaired growth in children indicate that the actual needs for energy-providing macronutrients (protein, fat and carbohydrate) are not being met. A food-based approach should be accompanied by the use of appropriate, locally acceptable macronutrient supplements. All three sets of guidelines¹⁻³ also promote the use of multimicronutrient supplements with practical advice in two^{2, 3} on how much and when to take them.

Principle 5

Established, well-described steps and protocols should be followed in public health nutrition interventions and in the therapeutic nutritional care of patients.

There is an extensive literature on the reasons why many well-meaning food and nutrition interventions at the public health level fail. The ways to ensure success have also been described, including following established protocols of assessment of existing situations, analyses of all contributing factors, appropriate actions, evaluation of effects and outcomes of these actions, and adjustments of actions when necessary. Similarly, there are established protocols and algorithms for the therapeutic nutritional care of patients, starting with nutritional screening that will guide follow-up actions. It is unnecessary to emphasise that these protocols and frameworks should be followed in the case of HIV-infected and TB-infected persons, and appropriate support from families and communities is a given. However, because these diseases are still stigmatised in South Africa, health care workers should be sensitive on how to involve households, families and communities and how to mobilise social support for affected individuals.

Principle 6

HIV-infected pregnant women, lactating mothers and their babies need special advice and nutritional care to ensure best possible outcomes.

The Department of Health³ gives detailed advice for the nutritional care of pregnant and lactating women based on the acknowledgement that "nutritional care and support for the pregnant and lactating mother infected with HIV may minimise the impact of the disease, delay disease progression and allow mothers to remain productive and able to take care of themselves and their families". As in non-infected women, weight gain during pregnancy of infected women, especially during the second and third trimesters, should be carefully monitored (to ensure an approximately 1 kg gain per month during this period). Increased needs for calcium, iron, vitamin C and folic acid should be addressed with a diversified food-based approach where possible and appropriate supplements if not feasible. The Department advises that all HIV-infected pregnant women should be provided with a daily multi-micronutrient supplement at one nutrient intake value (they express it as one INL98), and warns that high-dose vitamin A supplements should not be given to pregnant women as they "can cause birth defects."

The evidence of mother-to-child transmission of HIV during breast-feeding has been systematically reviewed in this report (see Chapter 8). The dilemma is that breastfeeding as opposed to formula-feeding (replacement feeding) creates a risk of post-natal transmission but replacement feeding in resource-poor countries contributes to high infant mortality. Therefore, the WHO¹ has to date recommended that "HIV-infected mothers are advised to avoid all breast-feeding and use replacement feeding when it is acceptable, feasible, affordable, sustainable and safe to do so. Otherwise, exclusive breast-feeding has been recommended during the first months of life and should then be discontinued as soon as it is feasible and replacement feeding can be provided safely." The WHO¹ mentions, however, that "the mother's choice should always be respected and supported". The Department of Health³ recommends either exclusive breast-feeding (for 6 months) or exclusive replacement feeding, and leaves the choice with an informed mother: "If the mother is HIV-infected she should be provided with the correct information for her to make the best feeding choice for the health of her child in order to reduce the risk of mother-to-child transmission of HIV"³.

HIV-infected women who are pregnant should receive infant feeding counselling that aims to empower them to decide on the best infant feeding practice for her, her infant and her family and should take into consideration amongst other things, access to clean water and an uninterrupted supply of formula and primary health care support. Women should be supported in their infant feeding choices. The modeling exercises to assess the impact on mortality of various infant feeding strategies discussed in Chapter 8, showed the lowest frequency of adverse outcomes if no HIV-infected mother breast-fed and all non-infected mothers breast-fed optimally, given that infant mortality rates were below 100 per 1000 live births and relative risks of dying set at 2.5 for non-breast-fed compared with optimally breast-fed infants. The feeding solution in a well-resourced setting would be to provide safe, ready-to-use replacement feeding to infants of HIV-infected mothers. In most resourcedcontrainst South African setting, however, exclusive initial breast-feeding of infants for as long as possible, preferably for at least 3-4 months (corresponding to the maternity leave period usually available for working mothers) appears to be the general aim. What is undesirable according to the most recent definitive finding is the initial mixed feeding post-natally especially when combined with solids (see Chapter 8). An urgent national expert consultation is obviously needed (see Chapter 12) as well as revision of the WHO guidelines (the WHO has already issued an amended advice). The national consultation should be part the AIDS National Strategic Plan NSP) Process that is already ongoing.

Nutrition and pathogenesis of HIV and active TB in infants and children have been extensively discussed in Chapter 8 of this report; the Department of Health guidelines³ give detailed advice on care and feeding of infants and older infected children. The principles are basically the same as those for adults, with an understanding that small children cannot take care of themselves. This emphasises the need to educate caregivers, which often would be older children or grandparents in HIV-affected households.

Conclusions

Optimising the nutritional status of individuals and populations will probably help to stem the spread of the HIV/AIDS and TB pandemics. It will improve the health and quality of life of infected persons by minimising the effects of the infections on nutritional status, improving responses to drug treatment and improving adherence to these drugs through minimising side-effects. The optimum diet or food combinations, as well as specific nutrient needs of infected persons, are not yet sufficiently well understood and known. It is acknowledged that the gaps in our knowledge, leading to perhaps "over-careful," general, and limited practical recommendations, but this may improve with more appropriate research (see Recommendations in Chapter 12). The above approach should be updated and adjusted as this knowledge become available.

Concluding section

CHAPTER 15 The way forward – concluding remarks

The Panel at one stage considered giving its report the title "**Knowing and Helping**" to help emphasise the enormous importance of applying relevant and reliable knowledge in order to help the large number of people in South Africa afflicted by the triple epidemic of malnutrition, HIV infection and active TB. The Study Panel has discovered to its intense disappointment and alarm that **the base of reliable evidence relating to nutritional influences on the course of the two rampant infectious diseases is woefully small**. This contrasts dramatically with the huge cloud of often acrimonious controversy that hangs over the subject and has become a source of widespread concern in, and about, the government, both within and outside the country. To adapt Henry Kissinger's remark about academic conflicts being so bitter because the stakes are so small, it seems that the controversy about nutrition and the two pandemic chronic infections has been so bitter because the (actual) knowledge base was so small. Without **knowledge**, and specifically knowledge that is based on reliable evidence obtained within the local, relevant context, the suffering people, and the extended nation of which they are so large a part, cannot be effectively **helped**.

Since an Academy has to be careful not to be seen to prescribe from an apparently pure ivory tower, let us admit that the failure to establish a knowledge base that can properly guide policy must lie to a large extent with the knowledge-producing sector itself. Instead of setting up perfectly feasible and obviously necessary high-powered interventional trials in the (regrettably) large population of affected subjects, most clinical investigators are spending their time repeating clinical trials already done many times elsewhere, on new drugs with (possibly) incremental benefits within a competitive market replete with other effective drugs. Thus, to our surprise, **the loudness of the controversy about nutritional approaches to HIV infection has not elicited a wave of well-designed local studies that would have given this Panel the right grist for its mill.**

Some of our recommendations for research involve cooperative action to establish and use benchmarks for detecting and assessing functionally significant micronutrient deficiencies, and for assessing functionally significant immune deficits in people who are chronically malnourished, with or without infections. This kind of cooperation is really quite common in groups of specialised health-care professionals who regularly generate and publish consensus guidelines for the treatment of asthma, hypertension or duodenal ulcers. Here we seek a more advanced degree of cooperation in which the tools to establish an evidence base have first to be cooperatively generated, so that soundly conducted trials, of both the pragmatic and explanatory kind, can be used to build a consensus on guidelines informed by local context and feasibility considerations, and equitably implemented in the whole affected population.

The Study Panel has been unable to give its full attention to the issue of nutritional support and therapy for HIV-infected people who are on long-term, probably lifelong antiretroviral therapy. The WHO Technical Reports of 2005 provide excellent evidence-based guidelines based on the aggregate world literature and experience; South African caregivers are in a good position to develop collective insights into local conditions and considerations in this area, which will assume evergreater importance as the roll-out of antiretroviral therapy is extended to the great majority of those who need it. As in the case of anti-tuberculosis therapy, more and more food-drug interactions are likely to be observed, but we must emphasise that this factor is vastly outweighed by the sustained and beneficial effects of the drugs on the overall functioning of nearly all treated subjects, including better food intake, less malabsorption, less whole-body inflammation, and normalised caloric balance.

The Panel has also not been able to give attention to the vast and complicated field of biologically active phytochemicals that may or may not exert positive effects on one or the other aspect of the pathophysiology of HIV or M.tb. infection. We are committed to an evidence-based approach, while accepting the good advice of those who have pointed out that no controlled, randomised clinical trial has yet been performed to prove conclusively that people stepping out of an aeroplane flying at altitude will perish if they don't have a parachute strapped onto them. The reliable evidence base on the possible efficacy of assorted phytochemicals in infected subjects appears to date to be vanishingly small; this obviously needs to be corrected in the light of the history of (some) traditional (unpurified) medicines that have turned out to contain powerful drugs of proven efficacy and safety, as confirmed through unbiased, controlled and repeated testing of the pure active principles. Advances in plant biochemistry are revealing the enormous complexity of micro- and macro-constituents of individual plant species, and the evolutionary basis for the presence of so many compounds with biological activities of such varied kinds, primarily for the purposes of the continued existence of the plants themselves and not to assist a very distantly related, unspecialised primate species. We would be wise

to keep an open but critical mind about the many claims made in this field, and encourage their thorough testing, using the agreed parameters of nutritional-related dysfunction and immune functionality that we have recommended should urgently be set up by means of cooperative programmes and studies, and sound and reliable trial methodologies (see Research Recommendations, Chapter 13). In five years time a separate Consensus Study may be feasible to review the hard evidence yielded by such studies, to take us all further.

Nutrition is a difficult science because everybody can be an "expert" (and is likely to be an assertive expert), while even the most learned and experienced authority cannot easily cope with the enormous extent of human (group and individual) variation in the composition of the regular diet, in the detailed genetic make-up, and in the particulars of the life situation. Yet the formal science of nutrition, built up over the last century or more through the skilled gathering and interpretation of publicly reported evidence, has brought us enormous benefits, has eradicated or greatly reduced much human suffering, and has made it possible to make sensible policy for many nations, including our own. Well-planned and executed food fortification schemes and policies, well-run and -resourced Primary School Nutrition Programmes, and high-priority food security policies in general, show that the bewildering complexity of the "system" can be reduced to manageable proportions with considerable societal benefit.

Finally, the question must be answered as to why and how a science academy (which, in the words of Mr Krushchev in referring to the extent of the Pope's authority, while certainly merit-based has no army of divisions, let alone battalions) should engage with nationally controversial policy questions such as have been covered in this Report. The Study Panel believes that the adoption in South Africa of a model of science-based advice to the nation that is provided through rigorous review of all available evidence by a multi-disciplinary team of scholars free as far as possible of vested interest or previously declared positions, in a professionally managed independent process, is a sound and wise step, and has been humbly pleased to have undertaken one of the first exercises in this direction in this country.

Giving advice and making recommendations is one thing; implementing them and making them work to best effect, is another. Science academies in developed countries have shied away from involvement in the implementation of their recommendations, believing this to be best left to government and/or the "relevant authorities". We are not sure that this model is optimal for developing countries like our own, and that careful, continued and appropriate engagement with certain implementation processes may well be justified. The form that this involvement should take is likely to be in the realm of further science-based policy advice where this turns out to be necessary in an unpredictable and ever-changing environment.

References to all chapters

Opening Section

Reference – Preface

1. Jansen J, Gevers W, Mati X, eds. Evidence-based Practice: problems, possibilities and politics. Tshwane/Pretoria, *Academy of Science of South Africa*, 2006.

Introduction and Background

References – Chapter 1: Conceptual Overview

- 1. Cole ST, Brosch R, Parkhill J, *et al.* Deciphering the biology of Mycobacterium tuberculosis from the complete genomic sequence. *Nature* 1998; 393: 537–544.
- Heeney JL. Dalgleish AG, Weiss RA. Origins of HIV and the evolution of resistance to AIDS. Science 2006; 313: 462–466.
- 3. Braunstein M, Espinosa BJ, Chan J, *et al.* SecA2 functions in the secretion of superoxide dismutase A and in the virulence of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Mol Microbiol* 2003; 48: 453–464.
- 4. Albers R, Antoine J-M, Bourdet-Sicard R, *et al*. Markers to measure immunomodulation in human nutrition intervention studies. *Brit J Nutr* 2005; 94: 452–481.
- Wang JH, Meijers R, Xiong Y, et al. Crystal structure of the human CD4 N-terminal two-domain fragment complexed to a class II MHC molecule. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2001; 98: 10798– 10804.

References – Chapter 2: Three South African epidemics

- 1. World Food Programme. Facts and Figures. Available at: http://www.wfp.org/aboutwfp/facts/ hunger_facts.asp
- 2. De Onis M, Blössner M, Borghi E, Frongillo E, *et al.* Estimates of global prevalence of childhood underweight in 1990 and 2015. *JAMA* 2004; 2: 2600–2606.
- 3. World Health Organization. Nutrition for Health and Development. Available at: http://www.who.int/nmh/donorinfo/nutrition/nutrition_helvetica.pdf

- 4. Harvest Plus: Breeding Crops for Better Nutrition. Available at: http://www.harvestplus.org/ micronut.html
- 5. Saloojee H, De Maayer T, Garenne M, *et al.* What's new: Investigating risk factors for severe childhood malnutrition in a high HIV prevalence South African setting. Scand J Publ Health (in press).
- Chhagan MK, Kauchali S. Comorbidities and mortality among children hospitalized with diarrheal disease in an area of high prevalence of human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Pediatr Infect Dis* J 2006; 25: 333–338.
- 7. Blanc AK, Wardlaw T. Monitoring low birth weight: an evaluation of international estimates and an updated estimation procedure. *Bull World Health Organ* 2005; 83: 178–185.
- 8. Pattinson RC. Saving Babies 2002: Third Perinatal Care Survey of South Africa. Pretoria: Department of Health 2003.
- 9. Labadarios D, Steyn NP, Maunder E, et al. The National Food Consumption Survey (NFCS): Children aged 1–9 years, South Africa, 1999. Pretoria: Department of Health 2000; 1–1259.
- South African Vitamin A Consultative Group (SAVACG). Anthropometric, vitamin A, iron and immunization coverage status in children aged 6–71 months in South Africa, 1994. S Afr Med J 1996; 86: 354–357.
- Department of Health, Medical Research Council. South African Demographic and Health Survey 1998. Demographic and Health Surveys Macro International Inc. Preliminary Report. 1999.
- 12. World Health Organization. Use and interpretation of anthropometric indicators of nutritional status. *Bull of the World Health Organ* 1986; 64: 929-941.
- Statistics South Africa; October Household Survey (South Africa), 1999; Pretoria, South Africa: Statistics South Africa (producer); Pretoria: South African Data Archive (distributor), 2001.
- 14. Children count abantwana babalulekile: facts about children. Available at: http://www.childrencount.ci.org.za/content.asp?TopLinkID=11&PageID=38
- 15. Reddy SP, Panday S, Swart D, et al. Umthenthe Uhlaba Usamila The Sout African Youth Risk Behaviour Survey 2002. Cape Town: South African Medical Research Council 2003.
- Vorster HH, Oosthuizen W, Jerling JC, et al. The Nutritional Status of South Africans. A review of the literature from 1975–1996. Durban: Health Systems Trust, 1997: Vol 1: 1–48; Vol 2: 1–122.
- Steyn NP. Nutrition and chronic diseases of lifestyle in South Africa. In: Steyn K, Fourie J, Temple N eds. Chronic diseases of lifestyle in South Africa 1995–2005. *Technical Report Cape Town: South African Medical Research Council.* 2006: 33–34.
- MacIntyre UE, Kruger HS, Venter CS, *et al.* Dietary intakes of an African population in different stages of transition in the North West Province, South Africa: the THUSA study. *Nutr Res* 2002 ; 22: 239–256.
- 19. Puoane T, Steyn K, Bradshaw D, *et al.* Obesity in South Africa: The South African demographic and health survey. *Obes Res* 2002; 10: 1038–1048.
- 20. Caballero B, Popking BM, eds. The Nutrition Transition. Diet and disease in the developing world.

London: Academic Press, 2002: 1–261.

- Levitt NS, Lambert EV, Norris SA. Early life origins of adult chronic diseases: A South African perspective: In: Steyn K, Fourie J, Temple N, eds. *Chronic Diseases of Lifestyle in South Africa 1995–* 2005. Technical Report Cape Town: *South African Medical Research Council* 2006: 58–64.
- 22. World Health Organization. Global status on alcohol 2004. Geneva, WHO. 1–88 plus compact disk (CD) with country specific data. 2004.
- 23. De Waal A, Whiteside A. AIDS: A Darwinian Event? In: Denis P, Becker C, eds. *The HIV/ AIDS Epidemic in Sub-Saharan Africa in a Historical Perspective*. Online edition, 2006 (Harvard University)
- 24. Dorrington RE, Johnson LF, Bradshaw D, *et al. The Demographic Impact of HIV/AIDS in South Africa: National and Provincial Indicators for 2006.* Cape Town, Centre for Actuarial Research, South African Medical Research Council and Actuarial Society of South Africa, November 2006. http://www.assa.org.za
- 25. Fauci AS. The AIDS epidemic. Considerations for the 21st century. N Engl J of Med 1999; 34: 1046–1050.
- 26. UNAIDS Report on Global AIDS Epidemic, 2006. Available at: http://www.unaids.org
- Gray RH, Wawer MJ, Brookmeyer R, et al. Probability of HIV-1 transmission per coital act in monogamous, heterosexual, HIV-1-discordant couples in Rakai, Uganda. Lancet 2001: 357 (9263): 1149–1153.
- Cohen MS, Pilcher CD. Amplified transmission new approaches to the prevention of HIV infection. J Infect Dis 2005; 191: 1391–1393.
- 29. Department of Health. National HIV and Syphilis Antenatal Seroprevalence Survey in South Africa. Pretoria: Department of Health, 2005 http://www.doh.gov.za/docs/pr/pr0721-f.html
- Statistics South Africa: Mortality and causes of death in South Africa, 1997 2003: Findings from death notification P0309.3: Pretoria, Statistics SA, 2005.
- Shisana O, Nelson Mandela/HSRC Study of HIV/AIDS. South African National HIV Prevalence, Behavioural Risks and Mass Media: Household Survey, 2002 http://www.hsrcpublishers.co.za/ hiv.html
- 32. Shisana O, Rehle T, Simbayi LC, et al. South African National HIV Prevalence, HIV Incidence, Behaviour and Communication Survey. Cape Town: HSRC Press, 2005.
- Pettifor AE, Rees HV, Kleinschmidt I, *et al.* Young people's sexual health in South Africa: HIV prevalence and sexual behaviors from a nationally representative household survey. *AIDS* 2005; 23: 19 (14): 1525–1534.
- 34. Bradshaw B, Laubscher R, Dorrington R, *et al.* Unabated rise in the number of adult deaths in South Africa. *S Afr Med J* 2004; 94: 278–279.
- Friedland I, Snipelisky M. Vertically transmitted HIV-1 infection in children. SAMJ 1991; 79: 157–159.
- 36. United Nations Secretariat, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. The

impact of AIDS, ESA/P/WP.185, 2003

- Annual Report of the National Commissioner of the South African Police Service, 1 April 2002 to 31 March 2003. Avialable at: http://www.saps.gov.za/areport03/index.htm
- Martin LJ. Forensic evidence collection for sexual assault: a South African perspective. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2002; 78 Suppl 1: S105–110.
- Auvert B, Taljaard D, Lagarde E, et al. Randomized, controlled intervention trial of male circumcision for reduction of HIV infection risk: The ANRS 1265 trial. PLoS Med 2005; 2 (11): e298.
- 40. South African Department of Health. Full Report of the Joint Health and Treasury Task Team Charged with Examining Treatment Options to Supplement Comprehensive Care for HIV/AIDS in the Public Health Sector, 2003. Available at: http://www.gov.za/issues/hiv/careplan19nov03.htm
- 41. Monitoring Review Issue 1: Operational Plan for Comprehensive HIV and AIDS Care, Management and Treatment for South Africa, 2004. http://www.doh.gov.za/docs/hivaids-progressrep.html
- 42. Coetzee D, Hildebrand K, Boulle A, *et al.* Outcomes after two years of providing antiretroviral treatment in Khayelitsha, South Africa. *AIDS* 2004; 18: 887–895.
- Department of Health. Summary report: National HIV and Syphillus antenatal sero-prevalence survey in South Africa. 2005. Available at: http://www.aids.org.za/downloads/hiv-syphilis_ survey2005.pdf
- 44. Leroy V, Newell ML, Dabis F, *et al.* International multicentre pooled analysis of late postnatal mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1 infection. Ghent International Working Group on Mother-to-Child Transmission of HIV. *Lancet* 1998; 352 (9128): 597–600.
- Chersich M, Gray G. Progress and emerging challenges in preventing mother-to-child transmission. *Curr Infect Dis Rep* 2005; 7 (5): 393–400.
- Coutsoudis A, Pillay K, Kuhn L, *et al.* Method of feeding and transmission of HIV-1 from mothers to children by 15 months of age: prospective cohort study from Durban, South Africa. *AIDS* 2001; 15 (3): 379–387.
- 47. Dye C, Scheele S, Dolin P, *et al.* Consensus statement. Global burden of tuberculosis: estimated incidence, prevalence, and mortality by country. WHO Global Surveillance and Monitoring Project. *JAMA*1999; 282: 677–686.
- World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Control: Surveillance, Planning, Financing. WHO Report 2003. Geneva: WHO, 2002. http://www.who.int/gtb/publications/globrep/
- World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Control: Surveillance, Planning, Fi nancing. WHO Report 2006. Geneva; WHO, 2006 (WHO/HTM/TB/2006.362)
- 50. Corbett EL, Watt CJ, Walker N, *et al.* The growing burden of tuberculosis: global trends and interactions with the HIV epidemic. *Arch Intern Med* 2003; 163: 1009–1021.
- 51. Hussey G, provided the figure.
- Zwarenstein M, Schoeman JH, Vundule C, *et al.* Randomised controlled trial of self-supervised and directly observed treatment of tuberculosis. *Lancet* 1998; 352: 1340–1343.

- 53. Walley JD, Khan MR, Newell JN, *et al.* Effectiveness of the direct observation component of DOTS for tuberculosis: a randomised controlled trial in Pakistan. *Lancet* 2001; 357: 664–669.
- 54. Kamolratanakul P, Sawert H, Lertmaharit S, *et al.* Randomized controlled trial of directly observed treatment (DOT) for patients with pulmonary tuberculosis in Thailand. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* 1999; 5: 552–557.
- 55. Ahlburg D. The Economic Impacts of Tuberculosis. Geneva; World Health Organization, 2000 (document WHO/CDS/STB/2000.5). http://www.stoptb.org/conference/ahlburg.pdf
- 56. Department of Health. National TB Control Programme: MDR and XDR. Pretoria: Department of Health 2006. http://www.doh.gov.za/docs/mxdr-tb.pdf
- 57. Weyer K, Lancaster J, Brand J, *et al. Survey of tuberculosis drug resistance in South Africa*, 2001–2002. Pretoria: Medical Research Council 2004.
- Aziz MA, Wright A, De Muynck A, et al. Anti-tuberculosis drug resistance in the World. Report No. 3: The WHO/IUATLD Global Project on Anti-Tuberculosis Drug Resistance Surveillance 1999–2002. Geneva: WHO 2004. http://www.who.int/gtb/publications/drugresistance/2004/
- Gandhi NR, Moll A, Sturm AW, *et al.* Extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis as a cause of death in patients co-infected with tuberculosis and HIV in a rural area of South Africa. *Lancet* 2006; 368 (9547): 1575–1580.
- Van Rie A, Enarson D. XDR tuberculosis: an indicator of public-health negligence. Lancet 2006; 368 (9547): 1554–1556.

References – Chapter 3: Evidence-based practice and generation recommendations

- 1. Miller DW, Miller CG. On evidence, medical and legal. J Am Phys and Sur, 2005; 10 (3): 70-75.
- GRADE Working Group. Grading quality of evidence and strength of evidence and strength of recommendations. BMJ 2004; 328: 1490–1497.
- Sackett DL, Rosenberg WMC, Gray JAM, et al. Evidence based medicine: what it is and what it isn't. British Medical Journal, 1996; 312 (7023): 71–72.
- Margetts BM, Vorster HH, Venter CS. Evidence-based nutrition. SA J Clin Nutri, 2002a; 15 (2): 7–12.
- Atkins D, Eccles M, Flottorp S, *et al.* Systems for grading the quality of evidence and the strength of recommendations 1: Critical appraisal of existing approaches. The GRADE Working Group. *BMC Health Services Research* 2004; 4: 38–44.
- Rosenberg WD. Evidence based medicine: an approach to clinical problem solving. *British Medical Journal*, 1995; 310 (6987): 1122–1126.
- Vorster HH, Venter CS, RL Thompson, *et al.* Evidence-based nutrition using a meta-analysis to review the literature. *South African Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2003; 16 (2): 43–47.
- 8. Margetts BM, Vorster HH, Venter CS. Evidence-based nutrition review of nutritional epidemiological studies. *South African Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 2002b; 15 (3): 68–73.

- World Cancer Research Fund and American Institute for Cancer Research (WCRF and AICR). Food, nutrition and the prevention of cancer: a global perspective. 1997; http://www.aicr.org/ research/second_wcrf_aicr_report.lasso AICR, Washington DC: 1–670.
- 10. Gray GE, Gray LK. Evidence-based medicine: applications in dietetic practice. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 2002; 102: 1263–1272.
- Gibson R. Principles of Nutritional Assessment Second Edition, Oxford University Press 2005, Oxford, New York p1–908.
- Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ). Systems to rate the strength of scientific evidence. Evidence Report/Technology Assessment: number 47. www.ahrq.gov/clinic/epcsums/ strengthsum.htm, 2003.
- American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association (ACC/AHA). Guideline writing committees. Section II: Tools and methods for creating guidelines. www.acc.org/clinical/manna/ manual_IIstep6.htm, 2006.

Physiology and Pathophysiology of nutrition, immunity, HIV infection and active TB

References – Chapter 4: Human Nutrition

- 1. Gibney MJ, Vorster EHH, Kok FJ. Introduction to Human Nutrition. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing 2002.
- Gibney MJ, MacDonald IM, Roche HM. Nutrition and Metabolism. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing 2003.
- 3. Gibney MJ, Elia M, Ljungqvist O et al. Clinical Nutrition. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing 2002.
- 4. Gibney MJ, Margetts BM, Kearney JM et al. Public Health Nutrition. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing 2004.
- (Various). Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism: Abstracts 18th International Congress of Nutrition, Durban, South Africa. South African J Clin Nut 2005; 49: S1: 1–440.
- Murphy KG, Bloom SR. Gut hormones and the regulation of energy homeostasis. Nature 2006; 444: 854–859.
- 8. Hotamisligil G. Inflammation and metabolic disorders. Nature 2006; 444: 860-67.
- Rosen ED, Spiegelman BM. Adipocytes as regulators of energy balance and glucose homeostasis. Nature 2006; 444: 847–853.
- Ball GFM. Background physiology and functional anatomy. In: Vitamins: their Role in the Human Body. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing 2004: 37–38.
- 11. Gill SR, Pop M, DeBoy RT, *et al*. Metagenomic analysis of the human distal gut microbiome. *Science* 2006; 312: 1355–1359.
- Gill HS, Cross ML. Probiotics and immune function. In: Nutrition and Immune Function, eds. Calder PC, Field CJ, Gill HS. Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing 2005: 251–272.

- 13. Mazmanian SK, Kasper DL. The love-hate relationship between bacterial polysaccharides and the host immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2006; 6: 849–858.
- Dixit VD, Taub DD. Ghrelin and immunity: a young player in an old field. *Exp. Gerontol* 2005; 10: 900–910.
- 15. Otero M, Lago R, Lago F, Casanueva FF, *et al*. Leptin, from fat to inflammation: old questions and new insights. *FEBS Lett* 2005; 579: 295–301.
- 16. Macallan DC, Noble C, Baldwin C, *et al.* Energy expenditure and wasting in human immunodeficiency virus infection. *N Engl J Med*1995; 333: 123–124.
- Macallan DC, McNurlan MA, Milne E, *et al.* Whole-body protein turnover from leucine kinetics and the response to nutrition in human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1995; 61: 818–826.
- 18. Melchior JC. Metabolic aspects of HIV: associated wasting. Biomed Pharmacother 1997; 51: 455-460.
- Macallan DC. Sir David Cuthbertson Prize Medal Lecture: Metabolic abnormalities and wasting in human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Proc Nutr Soc* 1998; 57: 373–380.
- 19. Batterham MJ. Investigating heterogeneity in studies of resting energy expenditure in persons with HIV/AIDS: a meta-analysis. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2005; 81: 702–713.
- 20. Ball GFM. Vitamins their role in the human body. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing, 2004.
- 21. Vorster HH, Murphy SP, Allen LH, King JC. Application of nutrient intake values (NIVs). *Food and Nutrition Bulletin* 2007; 28 (1): S116–S122.
- 22. Calder PC, Kew S. The immune system: a target for functional foods? *Br J Nut* 2002; 88: S165–176.
- 23. Vorster HH, Kruger A, Margetts B, *et al.* The nutritional status of asymptomatic HIV-infected Africans: direction for dietary intervention. *Public Health Nut* 2004; 7: 1055–1064.
- 24. Tomkins A. Assessing micronutrient status in the presence of inflammation. J Nut 2003; 133: 1649S–1655S.
- 25. Jahoor F, Gazzard B, Phillips G, *et al*. The acute-phase protein response to human immunodeficiency virus infection in human subjects. *Am J Physiol* 1999; 276: E1092–1098.
- Keen C L, Uriu-Adams, J Y, Ensensa, J L, et al. Trace elements/minerals and immunity. In: Gershwin, M E, Nestel, P, Keen, C L. Handbook of Nutrition and Immunity. New Jersey, USA: Humana Press 2004: 117–148.
- 27. Hendricks M and Hussey G. Field assessment of nutrition. In: Gershwin, M E, Nestel, P, Keen, C L. Handbook of Nutrition and Immunity. NewJersey, Humana Press, 2004.
- Ball GFM. Vitamin A- retinoids and carotenoids. In: Ball GFM. Vitamins: their Role in the Human Body. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing 2004: 133–187.
- Semba, R D. Vitamin A: infection and immune function. In: Nutrition and Immune Function, eds. Calder PC, Field CJ, Gill HS. Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing 2002: 151–169.
- Ball GFM. Vitamin D. In: Vitamins: their Role in the Human Body. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing 2004: 188–233.

- Bar-Shavit Z, Noff D, Edelstein S, et al. 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ and the regulation of macrophage function. *Calcified Tissue International* 1981; 33: 673–676.
- 32. Liu PT, Stenger S, Li H, et al. Toll-like receptor triggering of a vitamin D-mediated human antimicrobial response. *Science* 2006; 311: 1770–1775.
- Ball GFM. Vitamin E. In: Ball GFM. Vitamins: their Role in the Human Body. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing 2004: 234–255.
- Meydani SN, Beharka AA. Recent developments in vitamin E and immune response. Nut Rev 1998; 56: S49–58.
- 35. Tang AM, Graham NMH, Semba RD. Association between serum vitamin A and E levels and HIV-1 disease progression. *AIDS* 1997; 11: 613–620.
- Ball GFM. Vitamin C In: Ball GFM. Vitamins: their Role in the Human Body. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing 2004: 393–420.
- Ball GFM. Vitamin B₆. In: Ball GFM. Vitamins: their Role in the Human Body. Oxford, Uk: Blackwell Publishing 2004: 310–325.
- Schwab SR, Pereira JP, Matloubian M, *et al.* Lymphocyte sequestration through S1P lyase inhibition and disruption of S 1P gradients. *Science* 2005; 309: 1735–1739.
- 39. Grimble RF. Immunonutrition. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 2005; 21: 216-222.
- 40. Ball GFM. Folate. In: Vitamins: their Role in the Human Body. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing 2004: 347–382.
- Ball GFM. Vitamin B₁₂. In Ball GFM. Vitamins: their Role in the Human Body. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing; 2004: 383–392.
- 42. Davidson GP, Townley RR. Structural and functional abnormalities of the small intestine due to nutritional folic acid deficiency in infancy. *J Paediatr* 1977; 90: 590–594.
- 43. Kuvidibila S, Baliga BS. Role of iron in immunity and infection. In: Nutrition and Immune Function, eds. Calder PC, Field CJ, Gill HS. Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing 2002: 209–228.
- 44. Prasad AS. Zinc, infection and immune functions. In: Nutrition and Immune Function, eds. Calder PC, Field CJ, Gill HS. *Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing* 2002: 193–208.
- 45. Falutz J, Tsoukas C, Gold P. Zinc as a co-factor in human immunodeficiency virus-induced immunosuppression. J Am Med Assoc 1988; 259: 2850–2851.
- McKenzie RC, Arthur JR, Miller SM, *et al.* Selenium and the immune system. In: Nutrition and Immune Function, eds. Calder PC, Field CJ, Gill HS. Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing 2002: 229–259.
- Calder PC, Field CJ. Fatty acids, inflammation and immunity. In: Nutrition and Immune Function, eds. Calder PC, Field CJ, Gill HS. Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing 2002: 57–92.
- Duff MD, Daly JM. Arginine and immune function. In: Nutrition and Immune Function, eds. Calder PC, Field CJ, Gill HS. 2002; Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing 2002: 93–108.
- 49. Grimble RF. Sulphur amino acids, glutathione and immune function. In: Nutrition and Immune Function, eds. Calder PC, Field CJ, Gill HS. Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing 2002: 133–150.
50. Breitkreutz R, Pittack N, Nebe CT, *et al.* Improvement of immune functions in HIV infection by sulfur supplementation: two randomised trials. *J Mol Med* 2000; 78: 55–62.

References – Chapter 5: Human immunity

- 1. Male D, Brostoff J, Roth D, et al. Immunology, 7 th Ed. Boston, USA: C V Mosby; 2006.
- 2. Janeway C, Travers P. Immunology the Immune System in Health and Disease, 5 th Ed. New York, USA: *Garland Publishing* 2006.
- Kindt T, Osborne B, Goldsby R. Immunology the International Edition. San Francisco, USA: W H Freeman 2006.
- 4. Kaufmann, SHE, Medzhitov R, Gordon, S eds. The Innate Response to Infection. *Washington DC*, USA: ASM Press 2004.
- Bogdan C. Reactive oxygen and reactive nitrogen metabolites as effector molecules against infectious pathogens. In: The Innate Immune Response to Infection, eds Kaufmann SHE, Medzhitov R, Gordon S. Washington DC, USA: ASM Press 2004: 357–396.
- 6. Takeda K, Kaisho T, Akira S. Toll-like Receptors. Ann Rev Immun 2003; 21: 335–376.
- Verschoor A, Carroll MC. Complement and its receptors in infection. In: The Innate Immune Response to Infection, eds Kaufmann SHE, Medzhitov R, Gordon, S. Washington DC, USA: ASM Press 2004: 219–240.
- Clark C, Stehle T, Ezekowitz A, *et al.* Collectins and the acute phase response. In: The Innate Immune Response to Infection, eds Kaufmann SHE, Medzhitov R, Gordon S. *Washington DC, USA:* ASM Press 2004: 199–218.
- 9. Tomkins A. Assessing micronutrient status in the presence of inflammation. J Nut 2003; 133: 1649S–1955S.
- 10. Lau B, Sharratt AR, Kingsley LA, *et al.* C-reactive protein is a marker for human immunodeficiency virus disease progression. *Arch Int Med* 2006; 166: 64–70.
- Moser B. Chemokines. In: The Innate Response to Infection, eds. Kaufmann SHE, Medzhitov R, Gordon, S. Washington, DC, USA: ASM Press 2004: 397–416.
- Fehervari Z, Sakaguchi S. Peacekeepers of the immune system. Scientific American 2006; 295: 34–41.
- 13. Waldmann H. Protection and privilege. Nature 2006; 442: 987–988.
- 14. Kiepiela P, Leslie AJ, Honeyborne I, *et al*. Dominant influence of HLA-B in mediating the potential co-evolution of HIV and HLA. *Nature* 2004; 432: 769–774.
- Ganz T, Lehrer RI. Antimicrobial proteins. In: The Innate Immune Response to Infection, eds. Kaufmann SHE, Medzhitov R, Gordon, S. Washington, DC, USA: ASM Press 2004: 397–416.
- Brandtzaeg P. Role of local immunity and breast-feeding in mucosal homoeostasis and defence against infections. In: Calder PC, Field CJ, Gill, HS, eds Nutrition and Immune Function. Wallingford, UKCABI Publishing 2002: 273–320.
- 17. Williams MA, Bevan MJ. Exhausted T-cells perk up. Nature 2006; 439: 669-670.

- Day CL, Kaufmann DE, Kiepiela P, *et al.* PD-1 expression on HIV-specific T cells is associated with T-cell exhaustion and disease progression. *Nature* 2006; 443: 350–354.
- 19. Arai K, Miyajima A, Miyatake S, et al. Cytokines: coordinators of immune and inflammatory responses. Ann Rev Biochem 1990; 59: 783–836.
- Cunningham-Rundles S. Evaluation of the effects of nutrients on immune function. In: Nutrition and Immune Function, eds. Calder PC, Field CJ, Gill HS. Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing 2002: 21–39.
- 21. Calder PC, Kew S. The immune system: a target for functional foods? *Br J Nut* 2002; 88: S165–S176.
- 22. Albers R, Antoine J-M, Bourdet-Sicard R, *et al*. Markers to measure immunomodulation in human nutrition intervention studies. *Br J Nut* 2005; 452–481.
- 23. Mills E, Cooper C, Seely D, *et al.* African herbal medicines in the treatment of HIV: *Hypoxis* and *Sutherlandia*. An overview of evidence and pharmacology. *Nut J* 2005; 4: 19 (1–6).
- Barker DJP. The developmental origins of chronic adult disease. *Acta Paedr Suppl* 2004; 93: 26–33. Moore SE, Collinson AC, N'Gom PT, *et al.* Early immunological development and mortality from infectious disease in later life. *Proc Nut Soc* 2006; 65: 311–318.

References – Chapter 6: Pathogenesis of Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection in humans

- 1. Young DB. Ten years of research progress and what's to come. *Tuberculosis* (Edinb) 2003; 83: 77-81.
- Schluger NW. The pathogenesis of tuberculosis: the first one hundred (and twenty-three) years. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2005; 32: 251–256.
- Gey van Pittius NC, Sampson SL, Warren RM, *et al.* Genome variation in Mycobacterium tuberculosis. S A Journal of Sci 2004; 100: 465–470.
- 4. Cole ST, Brosch R, Parkhill J, *et al.* Deciphering the biology of Mycobacterium tuberculosis from the complete genomic sequence. *Nature* 1998; 393: 537–544.
- 5. Barreiro LB, Neyrolles O, Babb CL, *et al.* Promoter variation in the DC-SIGN-encoding gene CD209 is associated with tuberculosis. *PLoS Med* 2006; 3: e20: 0230–0239.
- Smith I. Mycobacterium tuberculosis pathogenesis and molecular determinants of virulence. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 2003; 16: 463–496.
- van Crevel R, Ottenhoff TH, van der Meer JW. Innate immunity to Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Clin Microbiol Rev 2002; 15: 294–309.
- Lillebaek T, Dirksen A, Baess IB, et al. Molecular evidence of endogenous reactivation of Mycobacterium tuberculosis after 33 years of latent infection. J Infect Dis 2002; 185: 401–404.
- 9. Stewart GR, Robertson BD, Young DB. Tuberculosis: a problem with persistence. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 2003; 1: 97–105.
- Cosma CL, Sherman DR, Ramakrishnan L. The secret lives of the pathogenic mycobacteria. Annu Rev Microbiol 2003; 57: 641–676.

- 11. Gomez JE, McKinney JD. M. tuberculosis persistence, latency, and drug tolerance. *Tuberculosis* 2004; 84: 29–44.
- Boshoff HI, Barry CE. Tuberculosis metabolism and respiration in the absence of growth. 3rd. Nat Rev Microbiol 2005; 3: 70–80.
- Zahrt TC. Molecular mechanisms regulating persistent Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. Microbes Infect 2003; 5: 159–167.
- Nguyen L, Pieters J. The Trojan horse: survival tactics of pathogenic mycobacteria in macrophages. *Trends Cell Biol* 2005; 15: 269–276.
- Schnappinger D, Schoolnik GK, Ehrt S. Expression profiling of host pathogen interactions: how Mycobacterium tuberculosis and the macrophage adapt to one another. *Microbes Infect* 2006; 8: 1132–1140.
- 16. Rachman H, Strong M, Ulrichs TL, *et al.* Unique transcriptome signature of Mycobacterium tuberculosis in pulmonary tuberculosis. *Infect Immun* 2006; 74: 1233–1242.
- 17. van Rie A, Warren R, Richardson M, *et al.* Exogenous reinfection as a cause of recurrent tuberculosis after curative treatment. *N Engl J Med* 1999; 341: 1174–1179.
- Bermudez LE, Goodman J. Mycobacterium tuberculosis invades and replicates within type II alveolar cells. *Infect Immun* 1996; 64: 1400–1406.
- Fenton MJ, Schlesinger LS. Receptor-mediated recognition of Mycobacterium tuberculosis by host cells. In: Cole ST, et al. (eds). Tuberculosis and the Tubercle Bacillus, ASM Press, Washington DC. 2005; 405–426.
- 20. Koul A, Herget T, Klebl B, *et al.* Interplay between mycobacteria and host signalling pathways. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 2004; 2: 189–202.
- Means TK, Wang S, Lien S, *et al.* Human toll-like receptors mediate cellular activation by Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *J Immunol* 1999; 163: 3920–3927.
- 22. Reiling N, Holscher C, Fehrenbach A, *et al.* Cutting edge: Toll-like receptor (TLR)2- and TLR4-mediated pathogen recognition in resistance to airborne infection with Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *J Immunol* 2002; 169: 3480–3484.
- 23. Peters W, Ernst JD. Mechanisms of cell recruitment in the immune response to Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Microbes Infect* 2003; 5: 151–158.
- 24. Zhang R, Zheng X, Li B, *et al.* Human NK cells positively regulate gammadelta T cells in response to Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *J Immunol* 2006; 176: 2610–2616.
- Bodnar KA, Serbina NV, Flynn JL. Fate of Mycobacterium tuberculosis within murine dendritic cells. *Infect Immun* 200; 69: 800–809.
- Tascon RE, Soares CS, Ragno S, et al. Mycobacterium tuberculosis-activated dendritic cells induce protective immunity in mice. *Immunology* 2000; 99: 473–480.
- Chackerian AA, Alt JM, Perera TV, et al. Dissemination of Mycobacterium tuberculosis is influenced by host factors and precedes the initiation of T-cell immunity. *Infect Immun* 2002; 70: 4501–4509.

- Ho RS, Fok JS, Harding GE, *et al.* Host-parasite relationships in experimental airborne tuberculosis.
 VII. Fate of Mycobacterium tuberculosis in primary lung lesions and in primary lesion-free lung tissue infected as a result of bacillemia. *J Infect Dis* 1978; 138: 237–241.
- McMurray DN. Hematogenous reseeding of the lung in low-dose, aerosol-infected guinea pigs: unique features of the host-pathogen interface in secondary tubercles. Tuberculosis 2003; 83: 131–134.
- 30. Balasubramanian V, Wiegeshaus EH, Taylor BT, *et al.* Pathogenesis of tuberculosis: pathway to apical localization. *Tuber Lung Dis* 1994; 75: 168–178.
- Chackerian AA, Perera TV, Behar SM. Gamma interferon-producing CD4⁺ T lymphocytes in the lung correlate with resistance to infection with Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Infect Immun* 2001; 69: 2666–2674.
- 32. Co DO, Hogan LH, Kim SI, *et al*. Mycobacterial granulomas: keys to a long-lasting host-pathogen relationship. *Clin Immunol* 2004; 113: 130–136.
- Keane J, Gershon S, Wise RP, et al. Tuberculosis associated with infliximab, a tumor necrosis factor alpha-neutralizing agent. N Engl J Med 2001; 345: 1098–1104.
- 34. Zganiacz A, Santosuosso M, Wang J, *et al.* TNF-alpha is a critical negative regulator of type 1 immune activation during intracellular bacterial infection. *J Clin Invest* 2004; 113: 401–413.
- 35. Othieno C, Hirsch CS, Hamilton BD, *et al.* Interaction of Mycobacterium tuberculosis-induced transforming growth factor beta1 and interleukin-10. *Infect Immun* 1999; 67: 5730–5735.
- 36. Sud D, Bigbee C, Flynn JL, *et al.* Contribution of CD8⁺ T cells to control of Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. *J Immunol* 2006; 176: 4296–4314.
- Via LE, Fratti RA, McFalone M, *et al.* Effects of cytokines on mycobacterial phagosome maturation. *J Cell Sci* 1998; 111: 897–905.
- Schaible UE, Sturgill-Koszycki S, Schlesinger PH, et al. Cytokine activation leads to acidification and increases maturation of Mycobacterium avium-containing phagosomes in murine macrophages. J Immunol 1998; 160: 1290–1296.
- Nathan C. Inducible nitric oxide synthase in the tuberculous human lung. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2002; 166: 130–131.
- 40. Nathan C, Shiloh MU. Reactive oxygen and nitrogen intermediates in the relationship between mammalian hosts and microbial pathogens. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2000; 97: 8841–8848.
- Nunn P, Williams B, Floyd K, et al. Tuberculosis control in the era of HIV. Nat Rev Immunol 2005; 5: 819–826.

References – Chapter 7: Pathogenesis of Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) infection: moving from older to newer thinking.

- 1. Hope TJ, Trono D. Structure, expression and regulation of the HIV genome. 2000; http://hivinsite.ucsf.edu/InSite?page=kb-02-21-02.
- 2. Abu-Raddad LJ, Patnaik P, Kublin JG. Dual infection with HIV and malaria fuels the spread of

222

both diseases in Sub-Saharan Africa. Science 2006; 314: 1603-1606.

- Haase AT. Perils at mucosal frontlines for HIV and SIV and their hosts. Nat Rev Immunol 2005; 5: 783–792.
- 4. Korber BTM, Brander C, Haynes BF, *et al.* HIV Molecular Immunology. 2005; Los Alamos: Theoratical Biology and Biophysics, Los Alamos National Laboratory. 2002; 846–847.
- Lyles CM, Dorrucci M, Vlahov D, *et al.* Longitudinal human immunodeficiency virus type 1 load in the Italian seroconversion study: correlates and temporal trends of virus load. J Infect Dis 1999;180: 1018–24.
- 6. Picker LJ, Maino VC. The CD4⁺ T cell response to HIV-1. Curr Opin Immunol 2000; 12: 381–386.
- Day CL, Walker BD. Progress in defining CD4⁺ helper cell responses in chronic viral infections. J Exp Med 2003; 198: 1773–1777.
- 8. Rosenberg ES, Billingsley JM, Caliendo AM, *et al.* Vigorous HIV-1-specific CD4⁺ T cell responses associated with control of viremia. *Science* 1997; 278: 1447–1450.
- Malhotra U, Berrey MM, Huang Y, et al. Effect of combination antiretroviral therapy on T-cell immunity in acute human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Infect Dis 2000; 181: 121– 131.
- Oxenius A, Price DA, Easterbrook PJ, *et al.* Early highly active antiretroviral therapy for acute HIV-1 infection preserves immune function of CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T lymphocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 2000; 97: 3382–3387.
- 11. Veazey RS, Lackner AA. HIV swiftly guts the immune system. Nat Med 2005; 11: 469-470.
- 12. Li Q, Duan L, Estes JD, *et al.* Peak SIV replication in resting memory CD4⁺ T cells depletes gut lamina propria CD4⁺ T cells. *Nature* 2005; 434: 1148–1152.
- Mattapallil JJ, Douek DC, Hill B, et al. Massive infection and loss of memory CD4⁺ T cells in multiple tissues during acute SIV infection. *Nature* 2005; 434: 1093–1097.
- Mehandru S, Poles MA, Tenner-Racz K, *et al.* Primary HIV-1 infection is associated with preferential depletion of CD4⁺ T lymphocytes from effector sites in the gastrointestinal tract. *J Exp Med* 2004; 200: 761–770.
- Schmitz JE, Kuroda MJ, Santra S, et al. Control of viremia in simian immunodeficiency virus infection by CD8⁺ lymphocytes. Science 1999; 283: 857–860.
- Jin X, Bauer DE, Tuttleton SE, *et al.* Dramatic Rise in Plasma Viremia after CD8 (*) T Cell Depletion in Simian Immunodeficiency Virus-infected Macaques. *J Exp Med* 1999; 189: 991–998.
- Koup RA, Safrit JT, Cao Y, *et al.* Temporal association of cellular immune responses with the initial control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 syndrome. *J Virol* 1994; 68: 4650–4655.
- Borrow P, Lewicki H, Hahn BH, *et al.* Virus-specific CD8⁺ cytotoxic T-lymphocyte activity associated with control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Virol 1994; 68: 6103–6110.
- 19. Yang OO, Kalams SA, Trocha A, et al. Suppression of human immunodeficiency virus type

1 replication by CD8⁺ cells: evidence for HLA class I-restricted triggering of cytolytic and noncytolytic mechanisms. *J Virol* 1997; 71: 3120–3128.

- Van Baalen CA, Schutten M, Huisman RC, *et al.* Kinetics of antiviral activity by human immunodeficiency virus type 1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) and rapid selection of CTL escape virus in vitro. *J Virol* 1998; 72: 6851–6857.
- 21. Yang OO, Sarkis PT, Ali A, *et al.* Determinant of HIV-1 mutational escape from cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *J Exp Med* 2003; 197: 1365–1375.
- Cocchi F, DeVico AL, Garzino-Demo A, et al. Identification of RANTES, MIP-1 alpha, and MIP-1 beta as the major HIV-suppressive factors produced by CD8⁺ T cells. *Science* 1995; 270: 1811– 1815.
- Geiben-Lynn R, Brown N, Walker BD, *et al.* Purification of a modified form of bovine antithrombin III as an HIV-1 CD8⁺ T-cell antiviral factor. *J Biol Chem* 2002 277: 42352–42357.
- 24. Zhang D, Shankar P, Xu Z, *et al.* Most antiviral CD8 T cells during chronic viral infection do not express high levels of perforin and are not directly cytotoxic. *Blood* 2003; 101: 226–235.
- 25. Moore CB, John M, James IR, *et al.* Evidence of HIV-1 adaptation to HLA-restricted immune responses at a population level. Science 2002; 296: 1439–43.
- 26. Burton DR, Desrosiers RC, Doms RW, et al. HIV vaccine design and the neutralizing antibody problem. Nat Immunol 2004; 5: 233–236.
- Schmitz JE, Kuroda MJ, Santra S, *et al.* Effect of humoral immune responses on controlling viremia during primary infection of rhesus monkeys with simian immunodeficiency virus. *J Virol* 2003; 77: 2165–2173.
- 28. Mascola JR, Stiegler G, VanCott TC, *et al.* Protection of macaques against vaginal transmission of a pathogenic HIV-1/SIV chimeric virus by passive infusion of neutralizing antibodies. *Nat Med* 2000; 6: 207–210.
- 29. Derdeyn CA, Decker JM, Bibollet-Ruche F, *et al.* Envelope-constrained neutralisation-sensitive HIV-1 after heterosexual transmission. *Science* 2004; 303: 2019–2022
- Martin D, Williamson C. Human Immunodeficiency Virus one of Nature's greatest evolutionary machines. South African Journal of Science 2004; 100: 479–482
- 31. Kewal-Ramani VN, Coffin JM. Weapons of mutational destruction. Science 2003; 301: 923-925
- 32. Heeney JL, Dalgleish AG, Weiss RA. Origins of HIV and the evolution of resistance to AIDS. *Science* 2006; 313: 462–466.
- 33. Kiepiela P, Leslie AJ, Honeybourne I, *et al.* Dominant influence of HLA-B in mediating the potential co-evolution of HIV and HLA Nature 2004; 432: 769–774.
- Wyatt R, Sodroski J. The HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein fusogen, antigen and immunogen. *Science* 1998; 280: 1884–1888.
- 35. Poonia B, Nelson B, Bagby GJ, *et al.* Chronic alcohol consumption results in higher Simian Immunodeficiency Virus replication in mucosally inoculated Rhesus Macaques. *AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses* 2006; 22: 589–594.

- 36. Kotler DP. HIV infection and the gastrointestinal tract. AIDS 2005; 19: 107-117.
- Brandtzaeg P. Role of local immunity and breat-feeding in mucosal homoeostasis and defence against infections. In: Calder PC, Field CJ, Gill, HS, eds Nutrition and Immune Function. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK: 2002; 273–320.
- Mowat AM. Anatomical basis of tolerance and immunity to intestinal antigens. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2003; 3: 331–341.
- Fehervari Z, Sakaguchi S. Peacekeepers of the immune system. Scientific American 2006; 295: 34–41
- 40. Waldmann H. Protection and privilege. Nature 2006; 442: 987-988.
- 41. Veazey RS, DeMaria M, Chalifoux LV, *et al.* Gastrointestinal tract as a major site of CD4⁺ T cell depletion and viral replication in SIV infection. *Science* 1998; 280: 427–431.
- 42. Chase A, Zhou Y, Siliciano RF. HIV-1-induced depletion of CD4⁺ T cells in the gut: mechanism and therapeutic implications. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 2006; 27: 4–7.
- Picker LJ, Hagen SI, Lum R, *et al.* Insufficient production and tissue delivery of CD4⁺ memory T cells in rapidly progressive simian immunodeficiency virus infection. *J Exp Med* 2004;200: 1299–314.
- 44. Brenchley JM, Schacker TW, Ruff LE, *et al.* CD4⁺ T cell depletion during all stages of HIV disease occurs predominantly in the gastrointestinal tract. *J Exp Med* 2004; 200: 749–759.
- 45. Mehandru S, Poles MA, Tenner-Racz K, *et al.* Lack of mucosal immune reconstitution during prolonged treatment of acute and early HIV infection. *PlosMedicine* 2006; 3: 0001–0014.
- 46. Coutsoudis A, Pillay K, Spooner E, et al. Influence of infant-feeding patterns on early mother-tochild transmission of HIV-1 in Durban, South Africa: a prospective cohort study. South African Vitamin A Study Group. Lancet 1999; 354: 471–476.
- Iwata M, Hirakiyama A, Eshima H, *et al* Retinoic acid imprints gut-homing specificity on T cells. *Immunity* 2004; 21: 527–538.
- 48. Mora JR, Iwata M, Eksteen B, *et al.* Generation of gut-homing IgA-secreting B cells by intestinal dendritic cells. *Science* 2006; 314: 1157–1160.
- 49. Veazey RS, Lackner AA. Getting to the guts of HIV pathogenesis. J Exp Med 2004;200: 697–700.
- Cohen P. Beast in the belly. A new focus on early HIV infection in the gut and other mucosal tissues may generate novel strategies to study, treat, and prevent infection. IAVI Rep 2006;10: 1–5.
- Reynolds MR, Rakasz E, Skinner PJ, *et al.* CD8⁺ T-lymphocyte response to major immunodominant epitopes after vaginal exposure to simian immunodeficiency virus: too late and too little. *J Virol* 2005; 79: 9228–9235.
- 52. Brenchley JM, Price DA, Schacker TW. Microbial translocation is a cause of systemic immune activation in chronic HIV infection. *Nature Medicine* 2006; 12: 1365–1371.
- 53. Lau B, Sharrett AR, Kingsley LA, *et al*. C-reactive protein is a marker for human immunodeficiency virus disease progression. *Arch Int Med* 2006; 166: 64–70.

- 54. Koyabashi KS, Chamaillard M, Henegariu O, *et al.* Nod2-dependent regulation of innate and adaptive immunity in the intestinal tract. *Science* 2005; 307: 860–861.
- 55. Rousseaux C, Lefebvre B, Dubuquoy L, *et al.* Intestinal antiinflammatory effect of 5-aminosalicylic acid is dependent on peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma. *J Exp Med* 2005; 201: 1205–1215.
- 56. Gassull MA, Fernández-Bañares F, Cabré E, *et al.* European Group on Enteral Nutrition in Crohn's Disease. Fat composition may be a clue to explain the primary therapeutic effect of enteral nutrition in Crohn's disease: results of a double blind randomised multicentre European trial.*Gut* 2002; 51: 164–168.
- 57. Rodriguez-Torres M, Rodriguez-Orengo JF, Rios-Bedoya CF, *et al.* Double-blind pilot study of mesalamine vs. placebo for treatment of chronic diarrhea and nonspecific colitis in immunocompetent HIV patients. *Dig Dis Sci* 2006; 51: 161–167.
- Gibson GR, Rastall, RA. When we eat, which bacteria should we be feeding? ASM News 2004; 70: 224–231.
- 59. Rastall RA, Gibson GR, Gill HS, *et al.* Modulation of the microbial ecology of the human colon by probiotics, prebiotics and synbiotics to enhance human health: an overview of enabling science and potential applications. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 2005; 52: 145–152
- 60. Sonnenburg JL, Chen CTL, Gordon JI. Genomic and metabolic studies of the impact of probiotics on a model symbiont and host. *PlosBiology* 2006; 4: e431.

Special considerations of infancy and childhood

References – Chapter 8: Nutrition, HIV infection and active TB in infants and children

- Scrimshaw NS, SanGiovanni JP. Synergism of nutrition, infection and immunity: an overview. Am J Clin Nutr 1997; 66: S464–S477.
- McDonald TT, Spencer J. Development of gastrointestinal immune function and its relationship to intestinal disease. *Curr Opin Gastroenterol* 1993; 9: 946–952.
- Holt PG. Postnatal maturation of immune competence during infancy and childhood. *Pediatr* Allergy and Immunol 1995; 6: 59–70.
- Holt PG, Jones CA. The development of the immune system during pregnancy and early life. Allergy 2000; 55: 688–697.
- McMurray DN. Cell-mediated immunity in nutritional deficiency. Prog Food Nutr Sci 1984; 8: 193–228.
- Chandra RK. Nutrition and immunology: from the clinic to cellular biology and back again. Proc Nutr Soc 1999; 58: 681–683.
- 7. Brandtzaeg P. Role of local immunity and breast-feeding in mucosal homeostasis and defence against infections. In: Calder PC, Field CJ, Gill HS, eds. Nutrition and Immune Function.

Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing 2002: 273-320.

- 8. Connolly C, Shisana O, Colvin M, *et al*. Epidemiology of HIV in South Africa-results of a national, community-based survey. *S Afr Med J* 2004; 94: 776–781.
- 9. UNAIDS. 2006 Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic. Geneva: UNAIDS, 2006.
- Newell ML. Mechanisms and timing of mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1. AIDS 1998; 12: 831–837.
- Dunn DT, Newell ML, Ades AE, Peckham CS. Risk of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transmission through breastfeeding. *Lancet* 1992; 340 (8819): 585–588.
- Leroy V, Newell ML, Dabis F, *et al.* International multicentre pooled analysis of late postnatal mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1 infection. Ghent International Working Group on Motherto-Child Transmission of HIV. *Lancet* 1998; 352 (9128): 597–600.
- Miotti PG, Taha TE, Kumwenda NI, et al. HIV transmission through breastfeeding: a study in Malawi. JAMA 1999; 282: 744–749.
- Chersich M, Gray G: Progress and emerging challenges in preventing mother-to-child transmission. *Curr Infect Dis Rep* 2005; 7 (5): 393–400.
- Coutsoudis A, Pillay K, Kuhn L, *et al.* Method of feeding and transmission of HIV-1 from mothers to children by 15 months of age: prospective cohort study from Durban, South Africa. *AIDS* 2001; 15: 379–387.
- Gray G, Violari A, McIntyre J, *et al.* antiviral activity of nucleoside analogues during short-course monotherapy or dual therapy: It's role in preventing HIV infection in infants. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2006; 42 (2): 169–176.
- 17. Sherman GG, Jones SA, Coovadia AH, *et al.* PMTCT programme-partial assessments can build the picture. *S Afr Med J* 2004; 94: 934.
- Bobat R, Coovadia H, Coutsoudis A, *et al.* Determinants of mother-to-child transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection in a cohort from Durban, South Africa. *Pediatr Infect Dis* J1996; 15: 604–610.
- 19. Gray GE, Urban M, Chersich MF, *et al.* PEP Study Group. A randomised trial of two post-exposure prophylaxis regimens to reduce mother-to-child HIV-1 transmission in infants of untreated mothers. *AIDS* 2005; 19: 1289–1297.
- 20. Moodley D, Moodley J, Coovadia H, *et al.* South African Intrapartum Nevirapine Trial (SAINT) Investigators. A multicenter randomised controlled trial of nevirapine versus a combination of zidovudine and lamivudine to reduce intrapartum and early postpartum mother-to-child transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type. *J Infect Dis* 2003; 187: 725–735.
- 21. Saba J, Havercamp G, Gray G, *et al* for the Petra Study Team. Efficacy of three short-course regimens of zidovudine and lamivudine in preventing early and late transmission of HIV-1 from mother to child in Tanzania, South Africa, and Uganda (Petra study): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* 2002; 359 (9313): 1178–1186.
- 22. Kramer MS, Barros FC, Demissie K, et al. Does reducing infant mortality depend on preventing

low birthweight? An analysis of temporal trends in the Americans. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol* 2005; 19: 445–451.

- 23. Jason JM. Infectious disease-related deaths of low birth weight infants, United States, 1968 to 1982. *Pediatrics* 1989; 84 (2): 296–303.
- 24. Villamor E, Dreyfuss ML, Baylin A, *et al*. Weight loss during pregnancy is associated with adverse pregnancy outcomes among HIV-1 infected women. *J Nutr* 2004; 134: 1424–1431.
- 25. Villamor E, Saathoff E, Msamanga G, *et al.* Wasting during pregnancy increases the risk of motherto-child HIV-1 transmission. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2005; 38: 622–626.
- 26. Semba RD, Miotti PG, Chiphangwi JD, *et al.* Maternal vitamin A deficiency and mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1. *Lancet* 1994; 343 (8913): 1593–1597.
- 27. Kumwenda N, Miotti PG, Taha TE, *et al.* Antenatal vitamin A supplementation increases birth weight and decreases anemia among infants born to human immunodeficiency virus-infected women in Malawi. *Clin Infect Dis* 2002; 35: 618–624. (Epub).
- Fawzi WW, Msamanga GI, Hunter D, *et al.* Randomized trial of vitamin supplements in relation to transmission of HIV-1 through breastfeeding and early child mortality. *AIDS* 2002; 16: 1935– 1944.
- Villamor E, Aboud S, Koulinska IN, *et al.* Zinc supplementation to HIV-1-infected pregnant women: effects on maternal anthropometry viral load and early mother-to-child transmission. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 2006; 60: 862–869. (Epub).
- Fawzi WW, Villamor E, Msamanga GI, *et al.* Trial of zinc supplements in relation to pregnancy outcomes, hematologic indicators, and T cell counts among HIV-1-infected women in Tanzania. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2005; 81: 161–167.
- 31. Kupka R, Garland M, Msamanga G, *et al.* Selenium status, pregnancy outcomes, and mother-tochild transmission of HIV-1. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2005; 39: 203–210.
- 32. Van de Perre P, Lepage P, Homsy J, *et al.* Mother-to-infant transmission of human immunodeficiency virus by breast milk: presumed innocent or presumed guilty? *Clin Infect Dis* 1992; 15: 502–507.
- Miotti PG, Taha TE, Kumwenda NI, et al. HIV transmission through breastfeeding: a study in Malawi. JAMA 1999; 282: 744–749.
- 34. Nduati R, John G, Mbori-Ngacha D, *et al.* Effect of breastfeeding and formula feeding on transmission of HIV-1: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA* 2000; 283: 1167–1174.
- 35. Page-Shafer K, Sweet S, Kassaye S, et al. (C2) Saliva, breast milk, and mucosal fluids in HIV transmission. *Adv Dent Res* 2006; 19: 152–157.
- 36. Bomsel M. Transcytosis of infectious human immunodeficiency virus across a tight human epithelial cell line barrier. *Nature Med* 1997; 3: 42–47.
- 37 Newell ML. Current issues in the prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1 infection. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 2006, 100: 1–5.
- 38 Coutsoudis A, Dabis F, Fawzi W, *et al*. Late postnatal transmission of HIV-1 in breast-fed children: an individual patient data meta-analysis. *J Infect Dis* 2004; 189: 2154–2166.

- Kuhn L, Steketee RW, Weedon J, *et al.* Distinct risk factors for intrauterine and intrapartum human immunodeficiency virus transmission and consequences for disease progression in infected children. Perinatal AIDS Collaborative Transmission Study. *J Infect Dis* 1999; 179: 52–58.
- 40. Mayaux MJ, Burgard M, Teglas JP, *et al.* Neonatal characteristics in rapidly progressive perinatally acquired HIV-1 disease. The French Pediatric HIV infection Study Group. *JAMA* 1996; 275: 606–610.
- 41. Mofenson LM, Korelitz J, Meyer WA, *et al.* Serum HIV-1 p24 antibody, HIV-1 RNA copy number and CD4 lymphocyte percentage are independently associated with risk of mortality in HIV-1-infected children. National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Intravenous Immunoglobulin Clinical Trial Study Group. *AIDS* 1999; 13: 31–39.
- 42. De Rossi A, Ometto L, Masiero S, *et al.* Viral phenotype in mother-to-child HIV-1 transmission and disease progression of vertically acquired HIV-1 infection. *Acta Paediatr Suppl* 1997; 421: 22–28.
- Mummidi S, Ahuja SS, Gonzalez E, et al. Genealogy of the CCR5 locus and chemokine system gene variants associated with altered rates of HIV-1 disease progression. Nat Med 1998; 4: 786– 793.
- 44. Baruchel S, Wainberg MA. The role of oxidative stress in disease progression in individuals infected by the human immunodeficiency virus. *J Leukocyte Biol* 1992; 52: 111–114.
- 45. Duh EJ, Murray WJ, Folks TM, *et al.* Tumor necrosis factor alpha activates human immunodeficiency virus type 1 through induction of nuclear factor binding to the NF-κB sites in the long terminal repeat. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1989; 86: 5974–5978.
- Semba RD. The role of vitamin A and related retinoids in immune function. *Nutr Rev* 1998; 56 II: S38–S48.
- 47. Shankar AH, Prasad AS. Zinc and immune function: the biological basis of altered resistance to infection. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1998; 68 (suppl 2): 4475–4635.
- Meydani SN, Beharka AA. Recent developments in vitamin E and the immune response. *Nutr Rev* 1998; 56 II: S49–S58.
- 49. Rall LC, Meydani SN. Vit B, and immune competence. Nutr Rev 1993; 51: 217–225.
- Roy M, Kiremidjan-Scumaker L, Wishe HI, et al. Supplementation with selenium restores agerelated decline in immune cell function. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1995; 209: 369–375.
- 51. Dhur A, Galan P, Hercberg S. Folate status and the immune system. *Prog Food Nutr Sci* 1991; 15: 43–60.
- 52. World Health Organisation. Prevention of HIV in infants and young children: Review of evidence and WHO's activities. WHO/HIV/2002.0. Geneva: WHO 2002.
- 53. Bahl R, Frost C, Kirkwood BR, *et al.* Infant feeding patterns and risk of death and hospitalisation in the first half of infancy: multicenre cohort study. *Bull World Health Organ* 2005; 83 (6): 418–426.
- 54. Mbori-Ngacha D, Nduati R, John G, *et al.* Morbidity and mortality in breastfed and formula-fed infants of HIV-1-infected women: A randomized clinical trial. *JAMA* 2001; 286: 2413–2420.

- 55. Nduati R, John G, Mbori-Ngacha D, *et al.* Effect of breastfeeding and formula feeding on transmission of HIV-1: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA* 2000; 283 (9): 1167–1174.
- 56. Thior I, Lockman S, Smeaton LM, et al. Breastfeeding plus infant zidovudine prophylaxis for 6 months vs formula feeding plus infant zidovudine for 1 month to reduce mother-to-child HIV transmission in Botswana: a randomized trial: the Mashi Study. JAMA 2006; 296: 794–805.
- Soderlund N, Zwi K, Kinghorn A, *et al.* Prevention of vertical transmission of HIV: analysis of cost effectiveness of options available in South Africa. *BMJ* 1999; 318 (7199): 1650–1656.
- Kuhn L, Stein Z. Infant survival, HIV infection, and feeding alternatives in less-developed countries. *Am J Public Health* 1997; 87: 926–931.
- Coovadia HM, Rollins NC, Bland RM, *et al.* Mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1 infection during exclusive breastfeeding in the first 6 months of life: an intervention cohort study. The Lancet 2007; 369 (9567): 1107–1116.
- 60. Rogers MF, Caldwell MB, Gwinn ML, *et al.* Epidemiology of pediatric human immunodeficiency virus infection in the United States. *Acta Paediatr Suppl* 1994; 400: 5–7.
- 61. Marum L, Bagenda D, Guay L, *et al.* Three year mortality in a cohort of HIV-1 infected and uninfected Ugandan children. XIth International Conference on AIDS and STDs. Abstract WeB312 Vancouver, July 1996.
- 62. Taha TE, Kumwenda NI, Broadhead RL, *et al.* Mortality after the first year of life among human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected and uninfected children. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 1999; 18: 689–694.
- 63. Zijenah L, Mbizvo MT, Kasule J, *et al.* Mortality in the first 2 years among infants born to human immunodeficiency virus-infected women in Harare, Zimbabwe. *J Infect Dis* 1998; 178: 109–113.
- 64. Lucas SB, Peacock CS, Hounnou A, *et al.* Disease in children infected with HIV in Abidjan, Cote d'Ivoire. *BMJ* 1996; 312 (7027): 335–338.
- 65. Lallemant M, Lallemant-Le-Coeur S, Cheynier D, et al. Mother-child transmission of HIV-1 and infant survival in Brazzaville, Congo. AIDS 1989; 3: 643–646.
- Newell ML, Coovadia H, Cortina-Borja M, *et al.* Ghent International AIDS Society (IAS) Working Group on HIV infection in Women and Children. Mortality of infected and uninfected infants born to HIV-infected mothers in Africa: a pooled analysis. *Lancet* 2004; 364 (9441): 1236–1243.
- 67. Bobat R, Coovadia H, Moodley D, *et al*. Mortality in a cohort of children born to HIV-1 infected women from Durban, South Africa. *SAMJ* 1999; 89: 646–648.
- 68. van Kooten Niekerk NK, Knies MM, Howard J, *et al.* The first 5 years of the family clinic for HIV at Tygerberg Hospital: family demographics, survival of children and early impact of antiretroviral therapy. *J Trop Med* 2006; 52: 3–11.
- 69. Semba RD, Tang AM. Micronutrients and the pathogenesis of human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Br J Nutr* 1999; 81: 181–189.
- 70. Miller TL, Orav EJ, Martin SR, et al. Malnutrition and carbohydrate malabsorption in children

with vertically transmitted human immunodeficiency virus 1 infection. *Gastroenteroly* 1991; 100: 1296–1302.

- 71. Hellerstein MK, Grunfeld C, Wu K, *et al.* Increased de novo hepatic lipogenesis in human immunodeficiency virus infection. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 1993; 76: 559–565.
- 72. Macallan DC, Noble C, Baldwin C, *et al.* Energy expenditure and wasting in human immunodeficiency virus infection. *N Engl J Med* 1995; 13: 333: 83–88.
- 73. Hommes MJ, Romijn JA, Endert E, *et al.* Insulin sensitivity and insulin clearance in human immunodeficiency virus-infected men. *Metabolism* 1991; 40: 651–656.
- 74. Kotler DP, Wang J, Pierson RN. Body composition studies in patients with the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1985; 42: 1255–1265.
- 75. Kotler DP, Tierney AR, Wang J, *et al*. Magnitude of body-cell-mass depletion and the timing of death from wasting in AIDS. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1989; 50 (3): 444–447.
- Melchior JC, Niyongabo T, Henzel D, *et al.* Malnutrition and wasting, immunodepression, and chronic inflammation as independent predictors of survival in HIV-infected patients. *Nutri* 1999; 15: 865–869.
- 77. Pizzo PA and Wilfert CMeds. Pediatric AIDS: the challenge of HIV infection in infants, children and adolescents. 3rd Edition. Philadelphia; Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 1998.
- Kotler DP, Reka S, Orenstein JM, *et al.* Chronic idiopathic esophageal ulceration in the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome: characterisation and treatment with corticosteriods. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 1992; 15: 284–290.
- 79. Miller TL, McQuinn L, Orav, EJ. Upper gastrointestinal endoscopy as a diagnostic tool for children with human immunodeficiency virus infection. *J Pediatr* 1997; 130: 766–773.
- 80. Rimaniol AC, Zylberberg H, Zavala F, *et al.* Inflammatory cytokines and inhibitors in HIV infection: correlation between interleukin-1 receptor antagonist and weight loss. *AIDS* 1996; 10: 1349–1356.
- Beutler, B, Milsark IW, Cerami AL. Passive immunization against cachectin/tumor necrosis factor protects mice from lethal effect of endotoxin. *Science* 1985; 229: 869–871.
- Langhans W. Bacterial products and the control of ingestive behavior: clinical implications. *Nutri* 1996; 12: 303–315.
- Tardieu M, Le Chenadec J, Persoz A, *et al.* HIV-1-related encephalopathy in infants compared with children and adults. French Pediatric HIV Infection Study and the SEROCO Group. *Neurology* 2000; 54: 1089–1095.
- Miller TL, Orav EJ, Martin SR, *et al.* Malnutrition and carbohydrate malabsorption in children with vertically transmitted human immunodeficiency virus 1 infection. *Gastro* 1991; 100: 1296– 1302.
- 85. Yolken RH, Hart W, Oung I, *et al.* Gastrointestinal dysfunction and disaccharide intolerance in children infected with human immunodeficiency virus. *J Pediatr* 1991; 118: 359–363.
- 86. Salman EK, Haymond MW, Bayne E, et al. Protein and energy metabolism in prepubertal children

with sickle cell anemia. Pediatr Res 1996; 40: 34-40.

- 87. Stallings VA, Zemel BS, Davies JC, *et al.* Energy expenditure of children and adolescents with severe disabilities: a cerebral palsy model. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1996; 64: 626–634.
- Hankard R, Gottrand F, Turck D, *et al.* Resting energy expenditure and energy substrate utilization in children with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. *Pediatr Res* 1996; 40: 29–33.
- 89. Arpadi SM, Cuff PA, Kotler DP, *et al.* Growth velocity, fat-free mass and energy intake are inversely related to viral load in HIV-infected children. *J Nutr* 2000; 130: 2498–2502.
- Henderson RA, Talusan K, Hutton N, *et al.* Resting energy expenditure and body composition in children with HIV infection. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 1998; 19: 150–157.
- 91. Alfaro MP, Siegel RM, Baker RC, et al. Resting energy expenditure and body composition in pediatric HIV infection. *Pediatr AIDS HIV Infect* 1995; 6: 276–280.
- 92. Johann-Liang R, O'Neill L, Cervia J, *et al.* Energy balance, viral burden, insulin-like growth factor-1, interleukin-6 and growth impairment in children infected with human immunodeficiency virus. *AIDS* 2000; 14: 683–690.
- Melchior JC, Raguin G, Boulier A, *et al.* Resting energy expenditure in human mmunodeficiency virus-infected patients: comparison between patients with and without secondary infections. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1993; 57: 614–619.
- Grunfeld C, Pang M, Shimizu L, *et al.* Resting energy expenditure, caloric intake, and short-term weight change in human immunodeficiency virus infection and the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1992; 55: 455–460.
- 95. Hommes MJT, Romijn JA, Godfried MH, *et al.* Increased resting energy expenditure in human immunodeficiency virus-infected men. *Metabolism* 1990; 39: 1186–1190.
- 96. Missmer S, Speigelman D, Gorbach SL, *et al.* Predictors of change in the functional status of children with human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Pediatrics* 2000; 106: e24.
- 97. Money J. The syndrome of abuse dwarfism (psychosocial dwarfism or reversible hyposomatotropism). *Am J Dis Childhood* 1977; 131: 508–513.
- 98. Boulton TJ, Smith R, Single T. Psychosocial growth failure: a positive response to growth hormone and placebo. *Acta Paediatr* 1992; 81: 322–325.
- 99. Arpadi SM, Cuff PA, Kotler DP, *et al.* Growth velocity, fat-free mass and energy intake are inversely related to viral load in HIV-infected children. *J Nutr* 2000; 130: 2498–2502.
- Moye J, Rich KC, Kalish LA, *et al.* Natural history of somatic growth in infants born to women infected by human immunodeficiency virus. *J Pediatr* 1996; 128: 58–69.
- 101. Miller TL, Easley KA, Zhang W, et al. Maternal and infant factors associated with failure to thrive in children with vertically transmitted human immunodeficiency virus 1 infection: the Prospective, P2C2 Human Immunodeficiency Virus Multicenter Study. *Pediatrics* 2001; 108: 1287–1296.
- 102. Miller TL, Evans SJ, Orav EJ, *et al.* Growth and body composition in children infected with the human immunodeficiency virus-1. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1993; 57: 588–592.

- 103. Arpadi SM, Horlick MN, Wang J, *et al.* Body composition in prepubertal children with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med* 1998; 152: 688–693.
- 104. Saavedra JM, Henderson RA, Perman JA et al. Longitudinal assessment of growth in children born to mothers with human immunodeficiency virus infection. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 1995; 149: 497–502.
- 105. McKinney RE, Robertson RW. the Duke Pediatric AIDS Clinical Trials Unit. Effect of human immunodeficiency virus infection on the growth of young children. J Pediatr 1993; 123: 579– 582.
- 106. Johann-Liang R, O'Neill L, Cervia J, et al. Energy balance, viral burden, insulin-like growth factor-1, interleukin-6 and growth impairment in children infected with human immunodeficiency virus. AIDS 2000; 14: 683–690.
- 107. Moye J, Rich KC, Kalish LA, *et al.* Natural history of somatic growth in infants born to women infected by human immunodeficiency virus. *J Pediatr*1996; 128: 58–69.
- 108. Miller TL, Easley KA, Zhang W, *et al.* Maternal and infant factors associated with failure to thrive in children with vertically transmitted human immunodeficiency virus 1 infection: the Prospective, P2C2 Human Immunodeficiency Virus Multicenter Study. Pediatrics 2001; 108: 1287–1296.
- 109. de Martino M, Galli L, Chiarelli F, *et al.* Interleukin-6 release by cultured peripheral blood mononuclear cells inversely correlates with height velocity, bone age, insulin-like growth factor-I, and insulin-like growth factor binding protein-3 serum levels in children with perinatal HIV-1 infection. *Clin Immunol* 2000; 94: 212–218.
- 110. Miller TL, Evans SE, Vasquez I, Orav EJ. Dietary intake is an important predictor of nutritional status in HIV-infected children. *Pediatr Res* 1997; 41: 85A. [Abstract]
- 111. Henderson RA, Talusan K, Hutton N, *et al.* Resting energy expenditure and body composition in children with HIV infection. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 1998; 19: 150–157.
- Bouche H, Housset JL, Carnot F, *et al.* AIDS-related cholangitis: diagnostic features and course in 15 patients. *Hepatology* 1993; 17: 34–39.
- 113. Pol S, Romana CA, Rich S, *et al*. Microsporidia infection in patients with human immunodeficiency virus and unexplained cholangitis. *N Engl J Med* 1993; 328: 95–99.
- 114. Kotler DP, Wang J, Pierson RN. Body composition studies in patients with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1985; 42: 1255–1265.
- 115. Mulligan K, Tai VW, Schambelan M. Cross-sectional and longitudinal evaluation of body composition in men with HIV infection. *J Aquir Immune Defic Syndr* 1997; 15: 43–48.
- 116. Black RE, Morris SS, Bryce J. Where and why are 10 million children dying every year? *Lancet* 2003; 361 (9376): 2226–2234.
- 117. Marais BJ, Gie RP, Schaaf HS, *et al.* The clinical epidemiology of childhood pulmonary tuberculosis: a critical review of literature from the pre-chemotherapy era. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2004; 8: 278–285.

- 118. Schaaf HS, Geldenduys A, Gie RP, *et al.* Culture-positive tuberculosis in human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected children. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 1998; 17: 599–604.
- 119. Lawn SD, Bekker LG, Middelkoop K, et al. Impact of HIV infection on the epidemiology of tuberculosis in a per-urban community in South Africa: the need for age-specific interventions. Clin Infect Dis. 2006 Apr 1; 42: 1040–1047.
- 120. Marais BJ, Gie RP, Schaaf HS, *et al.* The spectrum of diases in children treated for tuberculosis in a highly endemic area. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2006 Jul; 10 (7): 732–738.
- 121. Martinson N, Moultrieh H, Barry G, et al. Incidence of Tuberculosis in HIV infected children: The influence of HAART. OA22.13th Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunstic Infections. Feb 5–8, 2006, Colorado, Denver, US
- 122. Cotton MF, Schaaf HS, Hesseling AC, *et al*. HIV and childhood tuberculosis: the way forward. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2004; 8: 675–682.
- 123. Jeena PM, Mitha T, Bamber S, *et al.* Effects of the human immunodeficiency virus on tuberculosis in children. *Tuber Lung Dis* 1996; 77: 437–443.
- 124. Chintu C, Bhat G, Luo C, *et al.* Seroprevalence of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection in Zambian children with tuberculosis. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 1993; 12: 499–504.
- 125. Sassan-Morokro M, De Cock KM, Ackah A, *et al*. Tuberculosis and HIV infection in children in Abidjan, Cote d'Ivoire. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* 1994; 88: 178–181.
- 126. Madhi SA, Huebner RE, Doedens L, *et al.* HIV-1 co-infection in children hospitalised with tuberculosis in South Africa. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2000; 4: 448–454.
- 127. Madhi SA, Petersen K, Madhi A, *et al.* Increased disease burden and antibiotic resistance of bacteria causing severe community-acquired lower respiratory tract infections in human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected children. *Clin Infect Dis* 2000; 31 (1): 170–176.
- 128. Zar HJ, Hanslo D, Tannenbaum E, *et al.* Aetiology and outcome of pneumonia in human immunodeficiency virus-infected children hospitalized in South Africa. *Acta Paediatr* 2001; 90: 119–125.
- 129. Graham SM, Mtitimila EI, Kamanga HS, *et al.* Clinical presentation and outcome of Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia in Malawian children. *Lancet* 2000; 355 (9201): 369–373.
- Mukadi YD, Wiktor SZ, Coulibaly IM, *et al.* Impact of HIV infection on the development, clinical presentation, and outcome of tuberculosis among children in Abidjan, Cote d'Ivoire. *AIDS* 1997; 11: 1151–1158.
- De Cock KM, Soro B, Coulibaly IM, *et al.* Tuberculosis and HIV infection in sub-Saharan Africa. JAMA 1992; 268: 1581–1587.
- 132. Ansari NA, Kombe AH, Kenyon TA, *et al.* Pathology and causes of death in a series of human immunodeficiency virus-positive and -negative pediatric referral hospital admissions in Botswana. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 2003; 22: 43–47.
- 133. Rennert WP, Kilner D, Hale M, *et al.* Tuberculosis in children dying with HIV-related lung disease: clinical-pathological correlations. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2002; 6: 806–813.

134. Chintu C, Mudenda V, Lucas S, *et al.* Lung diseases at necropsy in African children dying from respiratory illnesses: a descriptive necropsy study. *Lancet* 2002; 360 (9338): 985–990.

Clinical Evidence

References – Chapter 9: The effects of nutritional interventions in HIV/AIDS: Macronutrients

- Wheeler DA. Weight loss and disease progression in HIV infection. AIDS Read 1999; 9 (5): 347– 353.
- 2. Macallan DC, Noble C, Baldwin C, *et al.* Prospective analysis of patterns of weight change in stage IV human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1993; 58 (3): 417–424.
- 3. Macallan DC. Wasting in HIV infection and AIDS. J Nutr 1999; 129 (15 Suppl): 2385–242S.
- Macallan DC, McNurlan MA, Milne E, *et al.* Whole-body protein turnover from leucine kinetics and the response to nutrition in human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1995; 61 (4): 818–826.
- Melchior JC. Metabolic aspects of HIV: associated wasting. *Biomed Pharmacother* 1997; 51 (10): 455–460.
- 6. Hommes MJ, Romijn JA, Endert E, *et al.* Insulin sensitivity and insulin clearance in human immunodeficiency virus-infected men. *Metabolism* 1991; 40 (6): 651–656.
- 7. Macallan DC, Noble C, Baldwin C, *et al.* Energy expenditure and wasting in human immunodeficiency virus infection. *N Engl J Med* 1995; 333 (2): 83–88.
- 8. Grinspoon S, Corcoran C, Miller K, *et al.* Determinants of increased energy expenditure in HIVinfected women. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1998; 68 (3): 720–725.
- 9. Batterham MJ. Investigating heterogeneity in studies of resting energy expenditure in persons with HIV/AIDS: a meta-analysis. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2005; 81 (3): 702–713.
- Garcia-Lorda P, Serrano P, Jimenez-Exposito MJ, et al. Cytokine-driven inflammatory response is associated with the hypermetabolism of AIDS patients with opportunistic infections. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr 2000; 24 (6): 317–322.
- 11. Schwenk A, Hoffer-Belitz E, Jung B, *et al.* Resting energy expenditure, weight loss, and altered body composition in HIV infection. *Nutrition* 1996; 12 (9): 595–601.
- Sheehan LA, Macallan DC. Determinants of energy intake and energy expenditure in HIV/AIDS. Nutrition 2000; 16 (2): 101–106.
- 13. Connolly NC, Riddler SA, Rinaldo CR. Proinflammatory cytokines in HIV disease-a review and rationale for new therapeutic approaches. *AIDS Rev* 2005; 7 (3): 168–180.
- Jimenez-Exposito MJ, Garcia-Lorda P, Alonso-Villaverde C, et al. Effect of malabsorption on nutritional status and resting energy expenditure in HIV-infected patients. AIDS 1998; 12 (15): 1965–1972.

- Grunfeld C, Pang M, Shimizu L, *et al.* Resting energy expenditure, caloric intake, and short-term weight change in human immunodeficiency virus infection and the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1992; 55 (2): 455–460.
- Miller TL, Orav EJ, Martin SR, *et al.* Malnutrition and carbohydrate malabsorption in children with vertically transmitted human immunodeficiency virus 1 infection. *Gastroenterology* 1991; 100 (5 Pt 1): 1296–1302.
- 17. Mahlungulu S, Grobler LA, Visser M, *et al.* Nutritional interventions for reducing morbidity and mortality in individuals. *Unpublished data*.
- Clark RH, Feleke G, Din M, *et al.* Nutritional treatment for acquired immunodeficiency virus-associated wasting using beta-hydroxy beta-methylbutyrate, glutamine, and arginine: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr* 2000; 24 (3): 133–139.
- 19. Karsegard VL, Raguso CA, Genton L, *et al.* L-ornithine alpha-ketoglutarate in HIV infection: effects on muscle, gastrointestinal, and immune functions. *Nutrition* 2004; 20 (6): 515–520.
- Shabert JK, Winslow C, Lacey JM, *et al.* Glutamine-antioxidant supplementation increases body cell mass in AIDS patients with weight loss: a randomized, double-blind controlled trial. Nutrition 1999; 15 (11–12): 860–864.
- 21. Breitkreutz R, Pittack N, Nebe CT, *et al.* Improvement of immune functions in HIV infection by sulfur supplementation: two randomized trials. *J Mol Med* 2000; 78 (1): 55–62.
- Swanson B, Keithley JK, Zeller JM, *et al.* A pilot study of the safety and efficacy of supplemental arginine to enhance immune function in persons with HIV/AIDS. *Nutrition* 2002; 18 (7–8): 688– 690.
- 23. Chlebowski RT, Beall G, Grosvenor M, *et al.* Long-term effects of early nutritional support with new enterotropic peptide-based formula vs. standard enteral formula in HIV-infected patients: randomized prospective trial. *Nutri* 1993; 9 (6): 507–512.
- 24. Hoh R, Pelfini A, Neese RA, *et al.* De novo lipogenesis predicts short-term body-composition response by bioelectrical impedance analysis to oral nutritional supplements in HIV-associated wasting. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1998; 68 (1): 154–163.
- 25. Gibert CL, Wheeler DA, Collins G, *et al.* Randomized, controlled trial of caloric supplements in HIV infection. Terry Beirn Community Programs for Clinical Research on AIDS. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 1999; 22 (3): 253–259.
- 26. Craig GB, Darnell BE, Weinsier RL, *et al.* Decreased fat and nitrogen losses in patients with AIDS receiving medium-chain-triglyceride-enriched formula vs those receiving long-chain-triglyceride-containing formula. *J Am Diet Assoc* 1997; 97 (6): 605–611.
- 27. Wanke CA, Pleskow D, Degirolami PC, *et al*. A medium chain triglyceride-based diet in patients with HIV and chronic diarrhea reduces diarrhea and malabsorption: a prospective, controlled trial. *Nutri* 1996; 12 (11–12): 766–771.
- 28. Agin D, Gallagher D, Wang J, et al. Effects of whey protein and resistance exercise on body cell

mass, muscle strength, and quality of life in women with HIV. AIDS 2001; 15 (18): 2431-2440.

- 29. Bell SJ, Chavali S, Bistrian BR, *et al*. Dietary fish oil and cytokine and eicosanoid production during human immunodeficiency virus infection. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr* 1996; 20 (1): 43–49.
- Ndekha MJ, Manary MJ, Ashorn P, *et al.* Home-based therapy with ready-to-use therapeutic food is of benefit to malnourished, HIV-infected Malawian children. *Acta Paediatr* 2005; 94 (2): 222–225.
- 31. Amadi B, Mwiya M, Chomba E, *et al*. Improved nutritional recovery on an elemental diet in Zambian children with persistent diarrhoea and malnutrition. *J Trop Pediatr* 2005; 51 (1): 5–10.
- Sandige H, Ndekha MJ, Briend A, *et al.* Home-based treatment of malnourished Malawian children with locally produced or imported ready-to-use food. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 2004; 39 (2): 141–146.
- 33. Micke P, Beeh KM, Schlaak JF, *et al.* Oral supplementation with whey proteins increases plasma glutathione levels of HIV-infected patients. *Eur J Clin Invest* 2001; 31 (2): 171–178.
- Pichard C, Sudre P, Karsegard V, *et al.* A randomized double-blind controlled study of 6 months of oral nutritional supplementation with arginine and omega-3 fatty acids in HIV-infected patients. Swiss HIV Cohort Study. *AIDS* 1998; 12 (1): 53–63.
- 35. de Luis Roman DA, Bachiller P, Izaola O, *et al.* Nutritional treatment for acquired immunodeficiency virus infection using an enterotropic peptide-based formula enriched with n-3 fatty acids: a randomized prospective trial. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 2001; 55 (12): 1048–1052.
- 36. Suttmann U, Ockenga J, Schneider H, *et al.* Weight gain and increased concentrations of receptor proteins for tumor necrosis factor after patients with symptomatic HIV infection received fortified nutrition support. *J Am Diet Assoc* 1996; 96 (6): 565–569.
- Charlin V, Carrasco F, Sepulveda C, *et al.* Nutritional supplementation according to energy and protein requirements in malnourished HIV-infected patients. *Arch Latinoam Nutr* 2002; 52 (3): 267–273.
- 38. Hellerstein MK, Wu K, McGrath M, et al. Effects of dietary n-3 fatty acid supplementation in men with weight loss associated with the acquired immune deficiency syndrome: Relation to indices of cytokine production. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol 1996; 11 (3): 258–270.
- Stack JA, Bell SJ, Burke PA, et al. High-energy, high-protein, oral, liquid, nutrition supplementation in patients with HIV infection: effect on weight status in relation to incidence of secondary infection. J Am Diet Assoc 1996; 96 (4): 337–341.
- 40. Burger B, Ollenschlager G, Schrappe M, *et al.* Nutrition behavior of malnourished HIV-infected patients and intensified oral nutritional intervention. *Nutrition* 1993; 9 (1): 43–44.
- 41. Burger B, Schwenk A, Junger H, *et al*. Oral supplements in HIV-infected patients with chronic wasting. *A prospective trial. Med Klin* (Munich) 1994; 89 (11): 579–581, 633.
- Suttmann U, Ockenga J, Selberg O, *et al.* Incidence and prognostic value of malnutrition and wasting in human immunodeficiency virus-infected outpatients. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol* 1995; 8 (3): 239–246.

- Sharkey SJ, Sharkey KA, Sutherland LR, *et al.* Nutritional status and food intake in human immunodeficiency virus infection. GI/HIV Study Group. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1992; 5 (11): 1091–1098.
- 44. Woods MN, Spiegelman D, Knox TA, *et al*. Nutrient intake and body weight in a large HIV cohort that includes women and minorities. *J Am Diet Assoc* 2002; 102 (2): 203–211.
- 45. Luder E, Godfrey E, Godbold J, *et al.* Assessment of nutritional, clinical, and immunologic status of HIV-infected, inner-city patients with multiple risk factors. *J Am Diet Assoc* 1995; 95 (6): 655–660.
- 46. Williams SB, Bartsch G, Muurahainen N, *et al.* Protein intake is positively associated with body cell mass in weight-stable HIV-infected men. *J Nutr* 2003; 133 (4): 1143–1146.
- 47. Hogg RS, Zadra JN, Chan-Yan C, *et al.* Analysis of nutritional intake in a cohort of homosexual men. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol* 1995; 9 (2): 162–167.
- Chlebowski RT, Grosvenor M, Lillington L, et al. Dietary intake and counseling, weight maintenance, and the course of HIV infection. J Am Diet Assoc 1995; 95 (4): 428-432; quiz 433– 435.
- 49. McCorkindale C, Dybevik K, Coulston AM, *et al.* Nutritional status of HIV-infected patients during the early disease stages. *J Am Diet Assoc* 1990; 90 (9): 1236–1241.
- 50. Carbonnel F, Beaugerie L, Abou Rached A, *et al.* Macronutrient intake and malabsorption in HIV infection: a comparison with other malabsorptive states. *Gut* 1997; 41 (6): 805–810.
- 51. Kotler DP, Tierney AR, Brenner SK, *et al.* Preservation of short-term energy balance in clinically stable patients with AIDS. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1990; 51 (1): 7–13.
- 52. McKinley MJ, Goodman-Block J, Lesser ML, *et al.* Improved body weight status as a result of nutrition intervention in adult, HIV-infected outpatients. *J Am Diet Assoc* 1994; 94 (9): 1014–1017.
- Berneis K, Battegay M, Bassetti S, *et al.* Nutritional supplements combined with dietary counselling diminish whole body protein catabolism in HIV-infected patients. *Eur J Clin Invest* 2000; 30 (1): 87–94.
- 54. de Luis D, Aller R, Bachiller P, *et al.* Isolated dietary counselling program versus supplement and dietary counselling in patients with human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Med Clin (Barc)* 2003; 120 (15): 565–567.
- 55. Keithley JK, Swanson B, Zeller JM, *et al.* Comparison of standard and immune-enhancing oral formulas in asymptomatic HIV-infected persons: a multicenter randomized controlled clinical trial. *J Parenter Enteral Nutr* 2002; 26 (1): 6–14.
- Rabeneck L, Palmer A, Knowles JB, *et al.* A randomized controlled trial evaluating nutrition counseling with or without oral supplementation in malnourished HIV-infected patients. *J Am Diet Assoc* 1998; 98 (4): 434–438.
- Schwenk A, Steuck H, Kremer G. Oral supplements as adjunctive treatment to nutritional counseling in malnourished HIV-infected patients: randomized controlled trial. *Clin Nutr* 1999; 18 (6): 371–374.

References: Chapter 10 – The effects of nutritional interventions in HIV/AIDS: Micronutrients

- Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), World Health Organization (WHO). Aids Epidemic Update: 2006. UNAIDS/WHO, 2006
- 2. Black RE, Morris SS, Bryce J. Where and why are 10 million children dying every year? *Lancet* 2003; 361: 2226–2234.
- 3. Tomkins A, Watson F. Malnutrition and Infection. A review. Geneva: ACC/SCN 1989.
- Zinc Investigators' Collaborative group (ZInC). Prevention of diarrhoea and pneumonia by zinc supplementation in children from developing countries: pooled analysis of randomised controlled trials. J Pediatr 1999; 135: 689–697.
- 5. Brooks WA, Yunus M, Santosham M, *et al*. Zinc for severe pneumonia in very young children: double-blind placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* 2004; 363: 1683–1688.
- Black RE. Zinc Deficiency, Infectious disease and mortality in the developing World. J Nutr 2003; 133: 14855–14895.
- Beaton GH, Martorell R, Aronson KJ, et al. Effectiveness of Vitamin A Supplementation in the Control of Young Child Morbidity and Mortality in Developing Countries. ACC/SCN state-ofthe-art series nutrition policy discussion paper No 13, December 1993, International Nutrition Program, Faculty of Medicine, University of Toronto, Ontario, Canada.
- Hussey GD, Klein M. A randomised, controlled trial of vitamin A in children with severe measles. N Eng J Med 1990; 323: 160–164.
- Buys H, Hendricks M, Eley B, Hussey G. The role of nutrition and micronutrients in paediatric HIV infection. SADJ 2002; 57: 454–456.
- Winter H. Gastrointestinal tract function and malnutrition in HIV-infected children. J Nutr 1996; 126: 2620s
- 11. Eley BS, Sive AA, Abelse L, *et al.* Growth and micronutrient disturbances in stable, HIV-infected children in Cape Town. *Ann Trop Paediatr* 2002; 22: 19–23.
- Visser ME, Maartens G, Kossew G, *et al.* Plasma vitamin A levels in HIV infected adults in Cape Town, South Africa. *Br J Nutr* 2003; 89: 475–482.
- Baum MK, Shor-Posner G. Micronutrient status in relationship to mortality in HIV-1 disease. Nutr Rev 1998; 56: S135–S139.
- 14. Beach R, Mantero-Atienza E, Shor-Posner *G*, *et al*. Specific nutrient abnormalities in asymptomatic HIV-1 infection. *AIDS* 1992; 6: 701–708.
- Periquet B, Jammes N, Lambert W, et al. Micronutrient levels in HIV-1-infected children. AIDS 1995; 9: 887–893.
- 16. Abrams B, Duncan D, Hertz-Picciotto I. A prospective study of dietary intake and AIDS in HIVseropositive homosexual men. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 1993; 6: 949–958.
- 17. Tang AM, Graham NM, Kirby AJ, *et al.* Dietary micronutrient intake and risk progression to AIDS in HIV-1 infected homosexual men. *Am J Epidemiol* 1993; 138; 937–951.

- Tang AM, Graham NM, Saah AJ. Effects of micronutrient intake on survival in HIV-1-infection. Am J Epidemiol 1996; 143: 1244–1256.
- 19. Tang AM, Graham NM, Semba RD, *et al.* Association between serum vitamin A and E levels and HIV-1 disease progression. *AIDS* 1997; 11: 613–620.
- 20. Kanter AS, Spencer DC, Steinberg MH, *et al.* Supplemental vitamin B and progression to AIDS and death in black South African patients infected with HIV. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 1999; 21: 252–253.
- 21. Sommer A, Hussaini G, Tarwotjo I, *et al.* Increased mortality in children with mild vitamin A deficiency. *Lancet* 1983; 3: 588–589.
- 22. Semba RD, Miotti PG, Chiphangwi JD, *et al.* Maternal vitamin A deficiency and mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1. *Lancet* 1994; 343: 1593–1597.
- 23. Semba RD, Miotta PG, Chiphangwi JD, *et al.* Infant mortality and maternal vitamin A deficiency during human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Clin Infect Dis* 1995, 21: 966–972.
- 24. Semba RD, Caiaffa WT, Graham NM, *et al.* Vitamin A deficiency and wasting as predictors of mortality in HIV-infected injection drug users. *J Infect Dis* 1995; 171: 1196–1202.
- 25. Shankar A, Prasad A. Zinc and immune function: the biological basis of altered resistance to infection. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1998; 68: 4475–4635.
- 26. Graham NM, Sorensen D, Odaka N, *et al.* Relationship of serum copper and zinc levels to HIV-1 seropositivity and preogression to AIDS. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 1991; 4: 976–980.
- 27. Beisel W. Single nutrients and immunity. Am J Clin Nutr 1982; 35: 417-468.
- 28. Campa A, Shor-Posner G, Indacochea F, et al. Mortality risk in selenium-deficient HIV-positive children. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol 1999; 20: 508–513.
- 29. Baum MK, Shor-Posner G, Lai S, *et al.* High risk of HIV-related mortality is associated with selenium deficiency. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol 1997; 15: 370–374.
- Shor-Posner G, Miguez MJ, Pineda LM, *et al.* Impact of selenium status on the pathogenesis of mycobacterial disease in HIV-1-infected drug users during the era of highly active antiretroviral therapy. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2002; 29 (2): 169–173.
- Kupka R, Msamanga GI, Spiegelman D, *et al.* Selenium status is associated with accelerated HIV disease progression among HIV-1-infected pregnant women in Tanzania. *J Nutr* 2004; 134: 2556– 2560.
- Friedland I, Snipelisky M. Vertically transmitted HIV-1 infection in children. SAMJ 1991; 79: 157–159.
- Mocroft A, Kirk O, Barton S, *et al.* Anaemia is an independent predictive marker for clinical prognosis in HIV-infected patients from across Europe. *AIDS* 1999; 13: 943–950.
- 34. Hambridge M, Krebs N. Ed: Zinc, diarrhoea, and pneumonia. J Pediatr 1999; 135: 661-664.
- 35. Iannotti LL, Tielsch JM, Black MM, *et al.* Iron supplementation in early childhood: health benefits and risks. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2006; 84 (6): 1261–1276.
- 36. Friis H. Micronutrients and HIV infection: a review of current evidence. Consultation on Nutrition

240

and HIV/AIDS in Africa: evidence, lessons and recommendations for action. Durban, South Africa, 10–13 April 2005. WHO 2005.

- 37. Irlam JH, Visser ME, Rollins N, *et al.* Micronutrient supplementation in children and adults with HIV infection. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2005⁽⁴⁾: CD003650.
- Wiysonge CS, Shey MS, Sterne JAC, et al. Vitamin A supplementation for reducing the risk of mother-to-child transmission of HIV infection. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2005, Issue 4. Art. No.: CD003648. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003648.pub2.
- Constans J, Delmas-Beauvieux MC, Sergeant C, *et al.* One-year antioxidant supplementation with beta-carotene or selenium for patients infected with human immunodeficiency virus: a pilot study. *Clin Infect Dis* 1996; 23: 654–656.
- 40. Coodley GO, Nelson HD, Loveless MO, *et al*. Beta-carotene in HIV infection. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 1993; 6: 272–276.
- 41. Coodley GO, Coodley MK, Lusk R, *et al.* Beta-carotene in HIV infection: an extended evaluation. *AIDS* 1996; 10: 967–973.
- 42. Humphrey JH, Quinn T, Fine D, *et al.* Short-term effects of large-dose vitamin A supplementation on viral load and immune response in HIV-infected women. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol* 1999; 20: 44–51.
- 43. Semba RD, Lyles CM, Margolick JB, *et al.* Vitamin A supplementation and human immunodeficiency virus load in injection drug users. *J Infect Dis* 1998; 177: 611–616.
- 44. Baeten JM, McClelland RS, Overbaugh J, *et al.* Vitamin A supplementation and human immunodeficiency virus type 1 shedding in women: results of a randomized clinical trial. *J Infect Dis* 2002; 185: 1187–1191.
- 45. Allard JP, Aghdassi E, Chau J, *et al.* Effects of vitamin E and C supplementation on oxidative stress and viral load in HIV-infected subjects. *AIDS* 1998; 12: 1653–1659.
- Fawzi WW, Msamanga GI, Hunter D, *et al.* Randomized trial of vitamin supplements in relation to transmission of HIV-1 through breast-feeding and early child mortality. *AIDS* 2002; 16: 1935– 1942.
- Humphrey JH, Iliff PJ, Marinda ET, *et al.* ZVITAMBO Study Group. Effects of a single large dose of vitamin A, given during the postpartum period to HIV-positive women and their infants, on child HIV infection, HIV-free survival, and mortality. *J Infect Dis* 2006; 15; 193 (6): 860–871. Epub 2006 Feb 8.
- Hussey G, Hughes J, Potgieter S, *et al.* Vitamin A status and supplementation and its effect on immunity in children with AIDS. In: XVII International Vitamin A Consultative Group (IVACG) Meeting, Guatemala City, 1996: 81.
- 49. Hanekom WA, Yogev R, Heald LM, *et al*. Effect of vitamin A therapy on serologic responses and viral load changes after influenza vaccination in children infected with the human immunodeficiency virus. *J Pediatr* 2000; 36: 550–552.
- 50. Coutsoudis A, Bobat RA, Coovadia HM, Kuhn L, Tsai WY, Stein ZA. The effects of vitamin A

supplementation on the morbidity of children born to HIV-infected women. Am J Public Health 1995; 85: 1076–1081.

- Fawzi WW, Mbise R, Hertzmark E, *et al.* A randomized trial of vitamin A supplements in relation to mortality among human immunodeficiency virus-infected and uninfected children in Tanzania. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 1999; 18: 127–133.
- 52. Semba RD, Ndugwa C, Perry RT, *et al.* Effect of periodic vitamin A supplementation on mortality and morbidity of human immunodeficiency virus-infected children in Uganda: A controlled clinical trial. *Nutri* 2005; 21: 25–31.
- 53. Mocchegiani E, Veccia S, Ancarani F, *et al.* Benefit of oral zinc supplementation as an adjunct to AZT therapy against opportunistic infections in AIDS. *Int J Immunopharmacol* 1995; 17: 719–727.
- 54. Bobat R, Coovadia H, Stephen C, *et al.* Safety and efficacy of zinc supplementation for children with HIV-1 infection in South Africa: a randomised double-blind placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* 2005; 366: 1862–1867.
- 55. Carcamo C, Hooton T, Weiss NS, *et al.* Randomized controlled trial of zinc supplementation for persistent diarrhea in adults with HIV-1 infection. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2006; 43 (2): 197–201.
- Fawzi WW, Villamor E, Msamanga GI, *et al.* Trial of zinc supplements in relation to pregnancy outcomes, hematologic indicators, and T cell counts among HIV-1-infected women in Tanzania. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2005; 81: 161–167.
- Burbano X, Miguez-Burbano MJ, McCollister K, *et al.* Impact of a selenium chemoprevention clinical trial on hospital admissions of HIV-infected participants. *HIV Clinical Trials* 2002; 3 (6): 483–491.
- Hurwitz BE, Klaus JR, Llabre MM, et al. Suppression of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 viral load with selenium supplementation: a randomized controlled trial. Arch Intern Med 2007; 167 (2): 148–154.
- 59. Kelly P, Musonda R, Kafwembe E, *et al.* Micronutrient supplementation in the AIDS diarrhoeawasting syndrome in Zambia: a randomized controlled trial. *AIDS* 1999; 13: 495–500.
- Jiamton S, Pepin J, Suttent R, *et al.* A randomized trial of the impact of multiple micronutrient supplementation on mortality among HIV-infected individuals living in Bangkok. AIDS 2003; 17: 2461–2469.
- 61. Fawzi WW, Msamanga GI, Spiegelman D, *et al.* A randomized trial of multivitamin supplements and HIV disease progression and mortality. *N Engl J Med* 2004; 351: 23–32.
- Villamor E, Msamanga GI, Spiegelman D, *et al.* Effect of multivitamin and vitamin A supplements on weight gain during pregnancy among HIV-1-infected women. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2002; 76: 1082– 1090.
- Fawzi WW, Msamanga GI, Spiegelman D, *et al.* Randomised trial of effects of vitamin supplements on pregnancy outcomes and T cell counts in HIV-1-infected women in Tanzania. *Lancet* 1998; 351: 1477–1482.

- 64. Fawzi W. Micronutrients and human immunodeficiency virus type 1 disease progression among adults and children. *Clin Infect Dis* 2003; 37 Suppl 2: S112–S116.
- 65. Villamor E, Saathoff E, Bosch RJ, *et al.* Vitamin supplementation of HIV-infected women improves postnatal child growth. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2005; 81: 880–888.
- Friis H, Gomo E, Nyasema N, *et al.* Effect of multinutrient supplementation on gestational length and birth size: a randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind effectiveness trial in Zimbabwe. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2004; 80: 178–184.
- 67. Stephensen CB, Franchi LM, Hernandez H, *et al.* Adverse effects of high-dose vitamin A supplements in children hospitalized with pneumonia. *Pediatrics* 1998;101 (5): E3.
- 68. Turpin JA, Vargo M, Meltzer MS. Enhanced HIV-1 replication in retinoid-treated monocytes. Retinoid effects mediated through mechanisms related to cell differentiation and to a direct transcriptional action on viral gene expression. *J Immunol* 1992, 148: 2539–2546.
- 69. Coutsoudis A, Moodley D, Pillay K, *et al.* Effects of vitamin A supplementation on viral load in HIV-1-infected pregnant women. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol* 1997; 15: 86–87.
- Baum MK, Shor-Posner G, Campa A. Zinc status in human immunodeficiency virus infection. J Nutr 2000; 130: 14215–14235.
- 71. World Health Organisation. WHO Technical Consultation on Nutrient Requirements for People Living with HIV/AIDS. Geneva: WHO, 2003.
- 72. Drain PK, Kupka R, Mugusi F, *et al*. Micronutrients in HIV-positive persons receiving highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2007; 85 (2): 333–345.

References – Chapter 11: The influence of nutrition on the risk and outcomes of tuberculosis

- Schluger NW. The pathogenesis of tuberculosis. The first one hundred (and twenty-three) years. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2005; 32: 251–256.
- Stewart GR, Robertson BD, Young DB. Tuberculosis: a problem with persistence. Nature Rev Microbiol 2003; 1: 97–105.
- Lillebaek T, Dirksen A, Baess I, et al. Molecular evidence of endogenous reactivation of Mycobacterium tuberculosis after 33 years of latent infection. J Infect Dis 2002; 185: 401–404.
- 4. North RJ, Jung Y-J. Immunity to tuberculosis. Annu Rev Immunol 2004: 22: 599–623.
- Stead WW, Senner JW, Reddick WT, et al. Racial differences in susceptibility to infection by Mycobacterium tuberculosis. N Engl J Med 1990; 322: 422–427.
- 6. van Crevel R, Ottenhoff THM, van der Meer JWM. Innate immunity to *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 2002; 15: 294–309.
- McMurray DN, Bartow RA, Mintzer CL. Impact of protein malnutrition on exogenous reinfection with Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Infect Immun 1989; 57: 1746–1749.
- Lazarevic V, Nolt D, Flynn JL. Long-term control of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection is mediated by dynamic immune responses. *J Immunol* 2005; 175: 1107–1117.

- Gangaidzo IT, Moyo VM, Mvundura E, *et al*. Association of pulmonary tuberculosis with increased dietary iron. J Infect Dis 2001; 184: 936–939.
- 10. Ratledge C. Iron, mycobacteria and tuberculosis. Tuberculosis (Edinb) 2004; 84: 110-130.
- 11. Rodriguez GM, Smith I. Mechanisms of iron regulation in mycobacteria: role in physiology and virulence. *Mol Microbiol* 2003; 47: 1485–1494.
- 12. Meyer D. Iron chelation as therapy for HIV and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* co-infection under conditions of iron overload. *Curr Pharm Design* 2006; 12: 1943–1947.
- 13. Brindle R, Odhiambo J, Mitchison D. Serial counts of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in sputum as surrogate markers of the sterilising activity of rifampicin, and pyrazinamide in treating pulmonary tuberculosis. BMC Pulm Med 2001; 1: 2.
- Calder PC, Jackson AA. Undernutrition, infection and immune function. *Nutr Res Rev* 2000; 13: 3–29.
- Ravn P, Boesen H, Pedersen BK, Andersen P. Human T cell responses induced by vaccination with Mycobacterium bovis bacillus Calmette-Guerin. J Immunol 1997; 158: 1949–1955.
- 16. McMurray DN. Determinants of vaccine-induced resistance in animal models of pulmonary tuberculosis. *Scand J Infect Dis* 2001; 33: 175–178.
- Dai G, Phalen SW, McMurray DN. Nutritional modulation of host responses to mycobacteria. In: Barrow WW, ed. Mycobacterial Pathogenesis and Antimycobacterial Drug Design. Tampa, FL: Frontiers in Bioscience, 1998: 110–122.
- Schwenk A, Macallan DC. Tuberculosis, malnutrition, and wasting. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab* Care 2000; 3: 285–291.
- Metcalfe N. A study of tuberculosis, malnutrition and gender. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* 2005; 99: 115–119.
- Paton NI, Ng Y-M, Chee CBE, *et al.* Effects of tuberculosis and HIV infection on whole-body protein metabolism during feeding, measured by the [¹⁵N] glycine method. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2003; 78: 319–325.
- 21. Bekker LG, Moreira AL, Bergtold A, *et al.* Immunopathologic effects of tumor necrosis factor alpha in murine mycobacterial infection are dose dependent. *Infect Immun* 2000; 68: 6954–6961.
- 22. Perez A, Brown HS, Restrepo BI. Association between tuberculosis and diabetes in the Mexican border and non-border regions of Texas. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 2006; 74: 604–611.
- Mason CM, Dobard E, Zhang P, et al. Alcohol exacerbates murine pulmonary tuberculosis. Infect Immun 2004; 72: 2556–2563.
- 24. Rich AR. The Pathogenesis of Tuberculosis, 2nd ed. Springfield, IL: CC. Thomas, 1951: 618-626.
- Scrimshaw NS, Taylor CE, Gordon JE. Effect of malnutrition on resistance to infection. In: Scrimshaw NS, Taylor CE, Gordon JE, eds. Interactions of Nutrition and Infection. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization, 1968: 60–142.
- 26. Marche J, Gounelle H. The relation of protein scarcity and modification of blood protein to tuberculosis among undernourished subjects. *Milbank Mem Fund Quart* 1950; 28: 114ff.

- 27. Cochrane AL. Tuberculosis among prisoners of war in Germany. BMJ 1945; 2: 656ff.
- Siebert WW. Beobachtungen uber den jetzigen Verlauf der Tuberkulose. Arztl Wchnschr 1946; 1: 134ff.
- 29. Grafe E. Unterernahrung und Krankheit. Dtsch Med Wschr 1950; 75: 441ff.
- Roland CG. Courage Under Siege: Starvation, Disease, and Death in the Warsaw Ghetto. New York, NY: Oxford University Press, 1992: 154–174.
- Winick M, ed. Hunger Disease: Studies by the Jewish Physicians in the Warsaw Ghetto. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons, 1979.
- 32. Schechter M. Health and sickness in times of starvation. Harofi Haivri 1953; 2: 191.
- 33. Faber K. Tuberculosis and nutrition. Acta Tuberc Scand 1938; 12: 287ff.
- 34. Leitch I. Diet and tuberculosis. Proc Nutr Soc 1945; 3: 156ff.
- 35. Leyton GB. Effects of slow starvation. Lancet 1946; 2: 253-255.
- 36. McKeown T, Brown RG. Medical evidence related to English population changes in the eighteenth century. Population Studies 1955; ix: 119–141.
- 37. McKeown T, Record RG. Reasons for the decline of mortality in England and Wales during the nineteenth century. *Population Studies* 1962; xvi: 94–122.
- 38. Davies RPO, Tocque K, Bellis MA, *et al.* Historical declines in tuberculosis in England and Wales: improving social conditions or natural selection? *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 1999; 3: 1051–1054.
- Backman L, Hallberg D. Tuberculosis after intestinal bypass operations. Acta Chir Scand 1978; 144: 159–161.
- 40. Bruce R M, Wise L. Tuberculosis after jejunoileal bypass for obesity. *Ann Intern Med* 1977; 87: 574–576.
- 41. Yu VL. Onset of tuberculosis after intestinal bypass surgery for obesity: guidelines for evaluation, drug prophylaxis, and treatment. *Arch Surg* 1977; 112: 1235–1237.
- 42. Maxwell LP, Khakoo RA, Morgan EJ. Tuberculosis after jejunoileal bypass surgery. W V Med J 1983; 79: 147–148.
- 43. Werbin N. Tuberculosis after jejuno-ileal bypass for morbid obesity. *Postgrad Med J* 1981; 57: 252–253.
- 44. Snider DE. Jejunoileal bypass for obesity: a risk factor for tuberculosis. Chest 1982; 81: 531–532.
- 45. Thorn PA, Brookes VS, Waterhouse JAH. Peptic ulcer, partial gastrectomy, and pulmonary tuberculosis. *BMJ* 1956; 1: 603–608.
- Steiger Z, Nickel W O, Shannon GJ, *et al.* Pulmonary tuberculosis after gastric resection. *Am J Surg* 1976; 131: 668–671.
- 47. Snider DE Jr. Tuberculosis and gastrectomy. Chest 1985; 87: 414-415.
- Yokoyama T, Sato R, Rikimaru T, Hirai R, Aizawa H. Tuberculosis associated with gastrectomy. J Infect Chemother 2000; 10: 299–302.
- 49. US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Tuberculosis associated with blocking agents against tumor necrosis factor-alpha–California, 2002–2003. MMWR 2004; 53: 683–686.

- Furst DE, Wallis R, Broder M, *et al.* Tumor necrosis factor antagonists: different kinetics and/or mechanisms of action may explain differences in the risk for developing granulomatous infection. *Semin Arthritis Rheum* 2006 (in press).
- 51. Purtilo DT, Connor DH. Fatal infections in protein-calorie malnourished children with thymolymphatic atrophy. *Arch Dis Child* 1975; 50: 149–152.
- 52. Chatterjee BD, Bhattacharyya AK, Mandal JN. Serum proteins in kwashiorkor and marasmus: 2. Non-tuberculous cases and tuberculous cases. *Bull Calcutta Sch Trop Med* 1968; 16: 73–74.
- 53. Scalcini M, Occenac R, Manfreda J, *et al.* Pulmonary tuberculosis, human immunodeficiency virus type-1 and malnutrition. *Bull Int Union Tuberc Lung Dis* 1991; 66 (1): 37–41.
- 54. Saha K, Rao KN. Undernutrition in lepromatous leprosy: V. Severe nutritional deficit in lepromatous patients co-infected with pulmonary tuberculosis. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 1989; 43: 117–128.
- 55. Bhaskaram P, Sundaramma MN. Peripheral blood monocyte function in malnourished subjects with pulmonary tuberculosis. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 1990; 44: 245–248.
- Knox-Macaulay H. Folate status in tuberculosis: a study in the Guinea Savanna of Nigeria. Eur J Clin Nutr 1989; 43: 411–420.
- 57. Onwubalili JK. Malnutrition among tuberculosis patients in Harrow, England. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 1988; 42: 363–366.
- Harries AD, Thomas J, Chugh KS. Malnutrition in African patients with pulmonary tuberculosis. Human Nutr Clin Nutr 1985; 39: 361–363.
- 59. Harrison BD, Tugwell P, Fawcett IW. Tuberculin reaction in adult Nigerians with sputum-positive pulmonary tuberculosis. *Lancet* 1975; i: 421–424.
- 60. Baynes RD, Flax H, Bothwell TH, *et al.* Haematological and iron-related measurements in active pulmonary tuberculosis. *Scand J Haematol* 1986; 36: 280–287.
- 61. Knox-Macaulay HH. Serum cobalamin concentration in tuberculosis: a study in the Guinea savanna of Nigeria. *Trop Geogr Med* 1990; 42: 146–150.
- 62. Karyadi E, Schultink W, Nelwan RHH, *et al.* Poor micronutrient status of active pulmonary tuberculosis patients in Indonesia. *J Nutr* 2000; 130: 2953–2958.
- Koyanagi A, Kuffo D, Gresely L, *et al.* Relationships between serum concentrations of C-reactive protein and micronutrients in patients with tuberculosis. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol* 2004; 98: 391– 399.
- van Lettow M, Harries AD, Kumwenda JJ, *et al.* Micronutient malnutrition and wasting in adults with pulmonary tuberculosis with and without HIV co-infection in Malawi. *BMC Infect Dis* 2004; 4: 61–68.
- 65. van Lettow M, West CE, van der Meer JWM, *et al.* Low plasma selenium concentrations, high plasma human immunodeficiency virus load and high interleukin-6 concentrations are risk factors associated with anemia in adults presenting with pulmonary tuberculosis in Zomba District, Malawi. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 2005; 59: 526–532.
- 66. Kassu A, Yabutani T, Mahmud ZH, et al. Alterations in serum levels of trace elements in

tuberculosis and HIV infections. Euro J Clin Nutr 2006; 60: 580-586.

- 67. Ray M, Kumar L, Prasad R. Plasma zinc status in Indian childhood tuberculosis: impact of antituberculosis therapy. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 1998; 2: 719–725.
- 68. Ulukavak T, Ciftci B, Yis O, *et al.* Changes in serum selenium, copper, zinc levels and Cu/Zn ratio in patients with pulmonary tuberculosis during therapy. *Biol Trace Elem Res* 2003; 95: 65–71.
- 69. Madebo T, Lindtjorn B, Aukrust P, *et al.* Circulating antioxidants and lipid peroxidation products in untreated tuberculosis patients in Ethiopia. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2003; 78: 117–122.
- Bakaev VV, Duntau AP. Ascorbic acid in blood serum of patients with pulmonary tuberculosis and pneumonia. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2004; 8: 263–266.
- 71. Wiid I, Seaman T, Hoal EG, *et al.* Total antioxidant levels are low during active TB and rise with anti-tuberculosis therapy. *IUBMB Life* 2004; 56: 101–106.
- Mugusi FM, Rusizoka O, Habib N, *et al.* Vitamin A status of patients presenting with pulmonary tuberculosis and asymptomatic HIV-infected individuals, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2003: 7: 804–807.
- 73. Ramachandran G, Santha T, Garg R, *et al.* Vitamin A levels in sputum-positive pulmonary tuberculosis patients in comparison with household contacts and healthy 'normals'. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2004; 8: 1130–1133.
- 74. Rwangabwoba J-M, Fischman H, Semba RD. Serum vitamin A levels during tuberculosis and human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 1998; 2: 771–773.
- Biyoudi-Vouenze R, Cadranel J, Valeyre D, *et al.* Expression of 1,25 (OH)2D3 receptors on alveolar lymphocytes from patients with pulmonary granulomatous diseases. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1991; 143: 1376–1380.
- Cadranel J, Garabedian M, Milleron B, et al. 1,25 (OH)2D3 production by T lymphocytes and alveolar macrophages recovered by lavage from normocalcemic patients with tuberculosis. J Clin Invest 1990; 85: 1588–1593.
- 77. Ustianowski A, Shaffer R, Collin S, *et al.* Prevalence and associations of vitamin D deficiency in foreign-born persons with tuberculosis in London. *J Infect* 2005: 50: 432–427.
- Wilkinson RJ, Martin L, Toossi Z, *et al.* Influence of vitamin D deficiency and vitamin D receptor polymorphisms on tuberculosis among Gujarati Asians in west London: a casecontrol study. *Lancet* 2000; 355: 618–621.
- Selvaraj P, Narayanan PR, Reetha AM. Association of vitamin D receptor genotypes with susceptibility to pulmonary tuberculosis in female patients and resistance in female contacts. *Indian J Med Res* 2000; 111: 172–179.
- 80. Bellamy R, Ruwende C, Corrah T, *et al.* Tuberculosis and chronic hepatitis B virus infection in Africans and variation in the vitamin D receptor gene. *J Infect Dis* 1999; 179: 721–724.
- 81. Liu PT, Stenger S, Li H, et al. Toll-like receptor triggering of a vitamin D-mediated human antimicrobial response. *Science* 2006; 311: 1170–1173.
- 82. Chandra G, Selvaraj P, Jawahar MS, et al. Effect of vitamin D₃ on phagocytic potential of

macrophages with live *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and lymphoproliferative response in pulmonary tuberculosis. *J Clin Immunol* 2004: 24: 249–257.

- Hmama Z, Sendide K, Talal A, *et al.* Quantitative analysis of phagolysosomal fusion in intact cells: inhibition by mycobacterial lipoarabinomannan and rescue by an 1α, 25-dihydroxyvitamin D3-phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway. *J Cell Sci* 2003; 117: 2131–2139.
- 84. Getz HR, Long ER, Henderson HJ. A study of the relation of nutrition to the development of tuberculosis: influence of ascorbic acid and vitamin A. *Am Rev Tuberc* 1951; 64: 381–393.
- 85. Hemilā H, Kaprio J, Pietinen P, *et al.* Vitamin C and other compounds in vitamin C rich food in relation to risk of tuberculosis in male smokers. *Am J Epidemiol* 1999; 150: 632–641.
- Comstock GW, Palmer CE. Long-term results of BCG vaccination in the Southern United States. Am Rev Respir Dis 1966; 93: 171–183.
- 87. Cegielski JP, Murray DN. The Relationship between Malnutrition and Tuberculosis: Evidence from Studies in Humans and Experimental Animals. *Internat J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2004;8: 286-298.
- Palmer CE, Jablon S, Edwards PQ. Tuberculosis morbidity of young men in relation to tuberculin sensitivity and body build. *Am Rev Tuberc Pulm Dis* 1957; 76: 517–539.
- 89. Edwards LB, Palmer CE. Epidemiologic studies of tuberculin sensitivity. I. Preliminary results with purified protein derivatives from atypical acid-fast organisms. *Am J Hyg* 1958; 68: 213–231.
- 90. Edwards LB, Livesay VT, Acquaviva FA, *et al.* Height, weight, tuberculous infection, and tuberculous disease. *Arch Environ Health* 1971; 22: 106–112.
- 91. Cegielski JP, McMurray DN. The relationship between malnutrition and tuberculosis: evidence from studies in humans and experimental animals. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2004; 8: 286–298.
- 92. Snider D-E. Tuberculosis and body build. JAMA 1987; 258: 3299.
- 93. Tverdal A. Body mass index and incidence of tuberculosis. Eur J Respir Dis 1986; 69; 355-362.
- 94. Comstock G. Epidemiology of tuberculosis. Am Rev Respir Dis 1982; 125: 8-15.
- Downes J. An experiment in the control of tuberculosis among negroes. Milbank Mem Fd Quart 1950; 28: 180–220.
- Karyadi E, West CE, Schultink W, *et al.* A double-blind, placebo-controlled study of vitamin A and zinc supplementation in persons with tuberculosis in Indonesia: effects on clinical response and nutritional status. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2002; 75: 720–727.
- Range N, Andersen AB, Magnussen P, *et al.* The effect of micronutrient supplementation on treatment outcome in patients with pulmonary tuberculosis: a randomized controlled trial in Mwanza, Tanzania. *Trop Med Int Hlth* 2005: 10: 826–832.
- Range N, Changalucha J, Krarup H, *et al.* The effect of multi-vitamin/mineral supplementation on mortality during treatment of pulmonary tuberculosis: a randomized two-by-two factorial trial in Mwanza, Tanzania. *Br J Nutr* 2006; 95: 762–770.
- 99. Hanekom WA, Potgieter S, Hughes EJ, *et al.* Vitamin A status and therapy in childhood pulmonary tuberculosis. *J Pediatr* 1997; 131: 925–927.
- 100. Hanekom WA, Hussey GD, Hughes EJ, et al. Plasma-soluble CD30 in childhood tuberculosis:

effects of disease severity, nutritional status, and vitamin A therapy. *Clin Diag Lab Immunol* 1999; 6: 204–208.

- 101. Green JA, Lewin SR, Wightman F, *et al.* A randomised controlled trial of oral zinc on the immune response to tuberculosis in HIV-infected patients. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2005; 9: 1378–1384.
- 102. Devi U, Rao CM, Srivastava VK, *et al*. Effect of iron supplementation on mild to moderate anaemia in pulmonary tuberculosis. *Br J Nutr* 2003; 90: 541–550.
- 103. Morcos MM, Gabr AA, Samuel S, *et al.* Vitamin D administration to tuberculous children and its value. *Boll Chim Farmaceutico* 1998; 137: 157–164.
- 104. Chan J, Xing Y, Magliozzo RS, et al. Killing of virulent Mycobacterium tuberculosis by reactive nitrogen intermediates produced by activated murine macrophages. J Exp Med 1992; 175: 1111– 1122.
- Nathan C. Inducible nitric oxide synthase in the tuberculous human lung. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2002; 166: 130–131.
- 106. Wilmore D. Enteral and parenteral arginine supplementation to improve medical outcomes in hospitalized patients. *J Nutr* 2004; 134: S2863–S2867.
- 107. Schon T, Elias D, Moges F, *et al.* Arginine as an adjuvant to chemotherapy improves clinical outcome in active tuberculosis. *Eur Respir J* 2003: 21: 483–488.
- 108. Paton NI, Chua Y-K, Earnest A, *et al.* Randomized controlled trial of nutritional supplementation in patients with newly diagnosed tuberculosis and wasting. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2004: 80: 460–465.
- 109. Perez-Guzman C, Vargas MH, Quinonez F, *et al*. A cholesterol-rich diet accelerates bacteriologic sterilisation in pulmonary tuberculosis. *Chest* 2005: 127: 643–651.
- Gatfield J, Pieters J. Essential role for cholesterol in entry of mycobacteria into macrophages. Science 2000; 288: 1647–1650.
- 111. Leimane V, Riektsina V, Holtz TH, *et al.* Clinical outcome of individualised treatment of multidrugresistant tuberculosis in Latvia: a retrospective cohort study. *Lancet* 2005; 318–326.
- 112. Pellock JM, Howell J, Kendig EL, *et al*. Pyridoxine deficiency in children treated with isoniazid. *Chest* 1985; 87: 658–661.
- 113. Snider, DE Jr. Pyridoxine supplementation during isoniazid therapy. Tubercle 1980; 61: 191–196.
- 114. Bhagavan HN, Brin M. Drug-vitamin B₆ interactions. Curr Concepts Nutr 1983; 12: 1–12.
- 115. Gangadharam PR. Isoniazid, rifampin, and hepatotoxicity. Am Rev Respir Dis 1986; 133: 963-965.
- 116. Fine PE. Variation in protection by BCG; implications of and for heterologous immunity. *Lancet* 1995; 346: 1339–1345.
- 117. Smith DW. Protective effect of BCG in experimental tuberculosis. Adv Tuberc Res 1985; 22: 1–97.
- Satyanarayana K, Bhaskaran P, Seshu VC, et al. Influence of nutrition on post-vaccinial tuberculin sensitivity. Am J Clin Nutr 1980; 33: 2334–2337.
- 119. Chandra RK, Newberne PM. Nutrition, Immunity, and Infection: Mechanisms of Interactions. New York, NY: Plenum Press, 1977.

- 120. Koster FT, Palmer DL, Chakraborty J, et al. Cellular immune competence and diarrheal morbidity in malnourished Bangladeshi children: a prospective field study. Am J Clin Nutr 1987; 46: 115– 120.
- 121. Kielmann AA, Uberol IS, Chandra RK, *et al.* The effect of nutritional status on immune capacity and immune responses in preschool children in a rural community in India. *Bull World Health Organ* 1976; 54: 477–483.
- 122. McMurray DN. Disease Model: animal models of pulmonary tuberculosis. *Trends Mol Med* 2001; 7: 135–137.
- 123. Smith DW, McMurray DN, Wiegeshaus EH, *et al*. Host-parasite relationships in experimental airborne tuberculosis. IV. Early events in the course of infection in vaccinated and nonvaccinated guinea pigs. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1970; 102: 937–949.
- 124. McMurray DN. Impact of nutritional deficiencies on resistance to experimental pulmonary tuberculosis. *Nutr Rev* 1998; 56: S147–S152.
- 125. Mainali ES, McMurray DN. Adoptive transfer of resistance to pulmonary tuberculosis in guinea pigs is altered by protein deficiency. *Nutr Res* 1998; 118: 309–317.
- 126. McMurray DN, Carlomagno MA, Mintzer CL, *et al. Mycobacterium bovis* BCG vaccine fails to protect proteindeficient guinea pigs against respiratory challenge with virulent *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Infect Immun* 1985; 50: 555–559.
- 127. McMurray DN, Mintzer CL, Tetzlaff CL, *et al*. Influence of dietary protein on the protective effect of BCG in guinea pigs. *Tubercle* 1986; 67: 31–39.

Recommendations for policy; research priorities

Reference – Chapter 12: Recommendations for policy and practice

 South African Department of Health Integrated Nutrition Programme: Policy and Implementing Guidelines, 2nd edition, January 2005, Pretoria.

References – Chapter 14: Collation of existing guidelines from the World Health Organisation, the Southern African HIV Clinicians Society and the National Department of Health

- World Health Organization. Department of Nutrition for Health and Development. Executive summary of a scientific review. Consultation on nutrition and HIV/AIDS in Africa: Evidence, lessons and recommendations for action. Durban, South Africa 10–13 April 2005.
- 2. Southern African HIV Clinicians Society. Pre-ART Guidelines. Nutrition. http://www.sahivclinicianssociety.org/guidelines/nutrition_art.asp
- Department of Health. Directorate: Nutrition. National guidelines on nutrition for people living with HIV, AIDS, TB and other chronic debilitating conditions. Pretoria: Department of Health 2006: 1–77.

- 4. Vorster HH. ed. South African Food-Based Dietary Guidelines. S Afr J Clin Nutr 2001; 14 (3): S1–S80.
- 5. Vorster HH, Kruger A, Margetts BM, *et al.* The nutritional status of asymptomatic HIV-infected Africans: directions for dietary intervention? *Public Health Nutrition* 2004; 7 (8): 1055–1064.
- Oosthuizen W, Van Graan AE, Kruger A, Vorster HH. Polyunsaturated fatty acid intake is adversely related to liver function in HIV-infected subjects: the THUSA study.¹⁻³ Am J of Clin Nutr 2006; 83: 1193–1198.

Appendices
APPENDIX A About The Study Panel

Chairperson

Professor Barry Mendelow – [MB BCh, PhD, FCPath (Haem), FRSSAf, MASSAf] is employed by the National Health Laboratory Service (NHLS). He qualified in Medicine at the University of the Witwatersrand in 1972, and after internship at Johannesburg Hospital, studied as a registrar in Haematology at the South African Institute for Medical Research in Johannesburg. His research was focussed on the cell biology of haematopoiesis and B-cells and he obtained a PhD on the topic in 1980. He was awarded a Fellowship from the South African Medical Research Council and the Israeli National Council for Research and Development to conduct postdoctoral studies at the Weizmann Institute, under the supervision of Professor Leo Sachs, Head of the Department of Genetics. His research activities since then have focused mainly on haematological malignancies, with special reference to the genetics of leukaemias and the pharmacological inhibition of tyrosine kinases, switching later to cell signaling abnormalities in HIV/AIDS.

His postgraduate awards include the Watkins Pitchford Research prize of the South African Institute for Medical Research (1981), the Daubenton Prize for Teaching (1985), the Phillip Tobias Prize for Teaching (1990), the Distinguished Researchers' Award of the University of the Witwatersrand (1995).

Mendelow's previous University and SAIMR/NHLS appointments include Professor and Head of Pathology at Baragwanath Hospital (1982–1983), Assistant Dean (Research) for the Faculty of Health Sciences (1996–1998), Executive Director (Research) for Wits University (1999-2000), and research manager of the South African Institute for Medical Research (2001). He was Professor and Head of the Dept of Haematology (1983-1998) and founding Professor and Head of Molecular Medicine and Haematology at the University of the Witwatersrand (1998–2003).

He has served as President of the South African Society of Haematology and as Councillor on the International Society of Haematology and President of the Federation of South African Societies of Pathology.

Panel Members (in surname alphabetical order)

- Dr Peter Cegielski [MD, MPH] received his MD degree in 1984. He proceeded to Duke University Medical Center in Durham, North Carolina for residency training in internal medicine, finishing in 1987, and then fellowship training in infectious diseases and international health, finishing in 1990. From 1988 to 1990, during his fellowship, he worked as a lecturer in the Department of Medicine, Muhimbili Medical Center, University of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. After returning to the U.S., in 1990, he joined Duke University's faculty as an Assistant Professor in the Division of Infectious Diseases and International Health, continuing there until 1994. During that time, he completed a Masters of Public Health degree from the Department of Epidemiology in the School of Public Health at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. Dr. Cegielski's thesis focused on the risks of tuberculosis due to undernutrition. Subsequently he became the head of Tuberculosis Services and Research at the University of Texas Medical Center in Tyler from 1994 to 1996. Dr. Cegielski left Texas to become Field Director of Johns Hopkins University's HIV/AIDS research unit at Chiang Mai University in Chiang Mai, Thailand until 1998. After 2 years in Thailand, Dr. Cegielski joined the international activities unit of the Division of TB Elimination at the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) in Atlanta, Georgia. Since then, the international TB unit at CDC has tripled in size, and in 2001 he was appointed Team Leader for Drug-Resistant TB, a position he holds to this day. While at CDC, Dr Cegielski was a founding member of the Stop TB Green Light Committee in 2000 and its chairman beginning in 2004.
- Dr Muhammad Ali Dhansay [MB ChB, DCH, MMed (Paed), FCPaed] qualified in Medicine at the University of Cape Town in 1977. After his internship, and a senior houseman appointment in paediatrics, he served as Medical Officer at an ambulatory care hospital in an impoverished area of Cape Town, seeing mainly children. He obtained specialist degrees in paediatrics from Stellenbosch University in Cape Town and from the College of Medicine of South Africa in 1985, having also obtained a Diploma in Child Health from the latter institution. He was awarded a 2-year MRC postgraduate scholarship with the National Research Institute for Nutritional Diseases (NRIND), investigating lipid metabolism in kwashiorkor. The position allowed him to gain experience in the research process, as well as in laboratory procedures and benchwork. The MRC offered him a permanent position as specialist scientist (medical), which brought a medical perspective to the nutrition work of the NRIND. He reached the level of Chief Specialist Scientist and was appointed Director of the MRC's Nutritional Intervention Research Unit in 2004.

He has served or is currently serving on advisory committees for the SA provincial and national departments of health (e.g. Paediatric Case Management Guidelines; Paediatric Food Based Dietary Guidelines; Nutrition Advisory Committee; Vitamin A Supplementation Task Team; Maternal, Child and Women's Health Advisory Board; Deworming Task Team);and on the Council of the Nutrition Society of SA. He is a member of the SA Paediatric Association and the SA HIV Clinicians Society. Previously on the editorial board of the SA Journal of Clinical Nutrition, he is current chair of the International Union of Nutritional Sciences, member of the Advisory Board of South African Cochrane Centre, and a trustee for the International Life Sciences Institute in South Africa.

In August 2005, in addition to his current position, he was appointed Acting Executive Director for Research at the MRC, which position he still holds. As such, he is a member of the MRC Executive Management Committee and has been involved in the current strategic restructuring of the MRC. He is on the MRC Ethics Committee, chairs the Grants Committee, and has oversight of 47 MRC research units.

Professor Wieland Gevers [MB ChB, MA, DPhil, DSc hons causa, FCP SA ed eundem, FRSSAf, MASSAf, FTWAS] qualified in Medicine with First Class Honours in 1960, and proceeded as a Rhodes Scholar to Oxford University to obtain the DPhil degree in 1966 under Sir Hans Krebs (regulation of liver metabolism). He subsequently spent 4 postdoctoral years in the laboratory of another Nobelist, Dr Fritz Lipmann, at the Rockefeller University in New York (biosynthesis of peptide antibiotics) before returning to South Africa in 1970.

He was Senior Deputy Vice-Chancellor responsible for planning and academic process at the University of Cape Town from 1992 until the end of 2002, and Professor of Medical Biochemistry since 1978. He was (founder) President of the South African Biochemical Society from 1975 to 1976, and again President from 1981 to 1982. He was President of the Academy of Science of South Africa from 1998 to 2004. He is a Fellow of the Third World Academy of Sciences (elected 2002). He holds a Distinguished Teacher's Award from the University of Cape Town.

Gevers directed MRC Research Units at both Stellenbosch University (1970– 1977) and University of Cape Town (1979–1994), using biochemical, cell-biological and molecular genetic approaches to heart contractility, intracellular protein turnover and cholesterol metabolism. He was awarded the Wellcome Gold Medal for Medical Research and the Gold Medals of both the South African Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, and the South African MRC. After his formal retirement from UCT at the end of 2002, Prof Gevers took up an appointment until 31 March 2005 as the Interim Director of UCT's new Institute of Infectious Disease and Molecular Medicine. He is now the Executive Officer of the Academy of Science of South Africa.

Professor Clive Gray [MSc, PhD] is a Chief Specialist Scientist and Head of the Department of HIV Immunology at the National Institute for Communicable Diseases (NICD), Johannesburg, South Africa. He received training as an Applied Biologist and specialised in immunology in 1984. His initial research was in transplantation immunology and understanding allo-recognition and innate immunity in solid organ transplantation; he was awarded a PhD in this field in 1994. Subsequently, he moved into HIV/AIDS research, seeing this as a priority in the South African context. He was awarded the prestigious James Gear Fellowship in 1995, which allowed him to work at the Center for AIDS Research at Stanford University as a Post-doctoral Fellow.

From 1996 to 1998, Gray was involved in investigating specific cellular immunity to HIV in individuals receiving antiretroviral drug therapy. He was one of the first to publish on the restorative effects of HAART on the immune system and to describe the plasticity of the immune response. He subsequently showed that lymph node architecture also returns after effective drug therapy and suppression of HIV replication. He was also involved in the application of MHC tetramers while at Stanford, and was lead author on one of the first papers to show diminished antigen-specific CD8⁺ T-cells in response to lowering antigen load by suppressing viral replication with HAART. He was responsible for co-coordinating one of the first workshops on HIV vaccines in Cape Town in early 1997 with the aim of initiating HIV vaccine research in South Africa. Since this time, he has been actively involved in the scientific agenda of vaccine development in South Africa and directs much of his energies to accomplishing this task.

Currently he directs for the South African AIDS Vaccine Initiative (SAAVI) and HIV Vaccine Trials Network (HVTN) the southern African Central Immunology Laboratory at the NICD, for monitoring the immunogenicity of HIV-1 vaccines and understanding T-cell immunity in HIV-1-infected individuals. His expertise has been recognised internationally and he co-chairs the Laboratory Sciences Sub-Committee of the HVTN and review committees for the MRC and AIDS Fonds of The Netherlands. He regularly reviews articles for the *Journal of Infectious Diseases* and the *Journal of Virology*. He is also the 2004 recipient of the Elizabeth Glaser AIDS Pediatric Fund International Leadership Award, a 3-year grant to fund the Program of Enrichment in Paediatric HIV Immunology in South Africa. He holds faculty positions as Visiting Professor at the South African National Bioinformatics Institute, University of the Western Cape, and Visiting Professor in the Department of Immunology, Duke University, North Carolina, USA.

- **Professor Glenda Gray** [MB BCH, FCPaed (SA)] is an associate Professor in the Department of Paediatrics, University of the Witwatersrand, and the executive director of the Perinatal HIV Research Unit. In 1999, she was awarded a postdoctoral Fogarty Fellowship to study clinical epidemiology at Cornell University and epidemiology at Columbia University. She has been involved in pivotal PMTCT trials since 1993. She was awarded the 2002 Nelson Mandela Health and Human Rights Award for work done in PMTC in South Africa and in 2003 received the IAPAC Hero in Medicine Award. Gray is also involved in HIV vaccine research, and led the first HIV vaccine trials in South Africa. In the NIH-funded HVTN, she is the co-chair for the phase I/II committee, and the international vice-chair for vaccines for the NIH-funded IMPAACT network. She is protocol chair for the first phase IIb HIV vaccine trial involving 3000 participants in South Africa and will lead the clinical development of South Africa's first HIV vaccines that have been developed by SAAVI. She has published more than 80 peer-reviewed scientific articles and reviews in the field of HIV and is a member of the Professional and Ethical Standards Committee of the Health Faculty Sciences, a member of the Dean's Advisory Committee on AIDS, University of Witwatersrand, and a member of Academy of Science of South Africa.
- Dr Liesl Grobler obtained her PhD in Exercise Physiology in December 2003. She subsequently spent 2 years doing postdoctoral research (molecular mechanisms involved in the regulation of GLUT4 expression) at the UCT/MRC Exercise Science and Sports Medicine Research unit under the supervision of Dr Edward Ojuka. Liesl then accepted a part-time position at the South African Cochrane Centre where she was responsible for conducting Cochrane Systematic Reviews and teaching evidence-based health care to medical students, doctors, policy makers and the general public. During this time Liesl was employed by the Academy of Science of South Africa as the interim Study Director of this Consensus Study: Nutrition, HIV/AIDS and TB. Stellenbosch University currently employs her as the Project Manager of the HIV/AIDS, TB and malaria clinical trials registry (ATM Registry).
- **Professor Gregory Hussey** [MBChB, MMed, MSc, DTM&H, FFCH] qualified as a Medical Practitioner. He has had postgraduate training in paediatrics, public health and infectious diseases, and is registered as a sub-specialist in infectious diseases. He was appointed as the director of the newly established Institute of Infectious Diseases and Molecular Medicine at the University of Cape Town (UCT) in 2005. Prior to that, he was Professor and Head of Paediatric infectious diseases in the School of Child and Adolescent Health at UCT and consultant to the Red Cross Children's Hospital in Cape Town.

His main research interest has been in the field of vaccine-preventable diseases and he has published extensively on this subject. He is currently the Director of the South African Tuberculosis Vaccine Initiative whose mandate is to contribute to the development of novel TB vaccines. This initiative is funded by a number of groups including the Gates Foundation via the Aeras Global TB Vaccine Foundation, the European Union and the US National Institutes of Health. With the support of Oxford University and the Wellcome Trust they have commenced with the first trials of a new TB vaccine in southern Africa.

He has been a part-time World Health Organization consultant for the past 10 years and serves on a number of international and national committees including the WHO Tuberculosis Vaccine International Advisory Group, the WHO Global Advisory Committee on Vaccine Safety, the GSK International Data Safety Monitoring Committee for a new rotavirus vaccine and the South African National Advisory Group on Immunisation.

Hussey is actively involved in postgraduate education and training and capacity development of health workers. He is the coordinator of the annual week-long residential course "Developing expertise for vaccinology in Africa". In addition he is the holder of an NIH Fogarty International Global Infectious Disease Research Training Program for the period 2006 to 2010.

Professor David N McMurray [BS, MS, PhD] served in the US Peace Corps in rural Kenya from 1965 to 1967, where he decided to dedicate his career to the study of the interaction between malnutrition and infectious diseases. He received his PhD degree in Medical Microbiology from the University of Wisconsin in Madison in 1972; his dissertation research involved the development of aerosol exposure technology and its application to the early evolution of the guinea pig model of pulmonary tuberculosis. He completed his post-doctoral training at the Tulane University International Center for Medical Research in Cali, Colombia in 1976. His research in Colombia focused on the impact of infant and childhood malnutrition on immune responses among the urban poor in Cali. McMurray accepted a faculty position in the Department of Medical Microbiology and Immunology at the College of Medicine at Texas A&M University in 1976. He rose through the faculty ranks to his current position as Regents Professor, which was awarded in 2000.

At Texas A & M, McMurray established a highly successful research program that focuses on the application of the guinea pig model of pulmonary tuberculosis to the elucidation of fundamental mechanisms of vaccine-induced resistance and the impact of nutrient deficiencies on tuberculosis vaccine efficacy. His research has been funded continuously by the US National Institutes of Health (NIH) since 1978. He has published nearly 180 papers in peer-reviewed journals. He serves on the editorial boards of three infectious disease or nutrition journals, and regularly reviews grants for the NIH and other federal and international funding agencies.

McMurray is currently the Chair of the Tuberculosis and Leprosy Panel of the US-Japan Cooperative Medical Sciences Program, on which he has served since 1990. He was a member of the World Health Organization IMMYC Steering Committee and Animal Models Task Force from 1992 to 2000, and chaired the Steering Committee from 1997 to 2000. He has been a member of the Board of Directors of the Aeras Global TB Vaccine Foundation since 2001. Aeras is a non-profit foundation, funded principally by the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, which is developing novel TB vaccines and field trial sites in high-burden countries such as South Africa.

Associate Professor Gernard Msamanga [MD, ScD] is a public health physician with super-specialty in population sciences. Currently he is employed as Associate Professor of Community Health at Muhimbili University College of Health Sciences in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, a position that he has occupied for the last 8 years. In his department he was the Chair also for 6 years.

Msamanga has experience as a consultant for the Ministry of Health, USAID, WHO, DANIDA, UNICEF and AMREF. He has worked in the areas of HIV/AIDS, population and nutrition, primary health care, immunisation, health sector reforms, quality management, environment and field research management. He has published about 60 articles in peer review journals. His recent work during the last 10 years has been to examine the effect of multivitamin supplements on pregnancy outcomes, HIV transmission and disease progression.

Currently he is the team leader for over 300 research staff including a multidisciplinary team of investigators in Dar es Salaam. He is also in charge of the PEPFAR program for ART care and Treatment of HIV/AIDS, runs as a partnership between the Muhimbili University with the Dares Salaam City and Harvard (MDH).

He has been a member of his College's research and publications committee for over 10 years and also the Chairman for a similar committee for the school of public health. With support from German Technical Cooperation (GTZ) district health support program, he has established and coordinated since 2002, the Muhimbili Health Exchange Forum, a website that can be accessed at www.muhef.or.tz, whose mission is to facilitate exchange of health information with health staff within and outside the country with the goal to improve quality of care.

Professor Dan Ncayiyana was born and educated in KwaZulu-Natal and began his medical studies at the University of Natal before being forced into exile in his third year. He subsequently received a medical degree in 1970. Following postgraduate training at Albert Einstein College of Medicine and New York University medical school, he was Board-certified by the American Board of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, was elected Fellow of the American College of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, and practiced in the US from 1970 to 1983. Back in South Africa, he served as Dean of Health Sciences, and later Vice-Chancellor of the University of Transkei. Subsequently, he was Deputy Vice-Chancellor at the UCT from 1996 to 2001 and Vice-Chancellor of the merged Durban University of Technology from 2001 to 2005.

Ncayiyana has been editor of the *South African Medical Journal* since 1993, serves on the Editorial Board of the *British Medical Journal* and of the web-based *Medscape*, and is chair of the Editorial Board of the HSRC Press. He was founder member and first secretary of the World Association of Medical Editors (WAME) and, more recently, was founder member of the Forum for African Medical Editors (FAME).

He is an Honorary Fellow of the Colleges of Medicine of South Africa (FCM SA) and a Member of the Academy of Science of SA (MASSAf), and has been honorary Professor of Obstetrics and Gynaecology at the universities of Cape Town and Natal. Professor Ncayiyana has previously served as consultant in higher education governance and strategic planning in a variety of Sub-Saharan African countries on behalf of the World Bank, USAID and the American Council on Education, and in health-related projects on behalf of the WHO. He is advisor to the President/ CEO of the Human Sciences Research Council (HSRC).

Professor Helen Rees qualified in medicine in 1977 at Cambridge University, from where she also obtained a Masters in Social and Political Sciences for which she wrote a thesis on women and obstetric care. She specialised in General Practice and Paediatrics in London until moving to Zimbabwe in 1981, where she was in charge of the neonatal unit of Harare Central Hospital. She moved to South Africa in 1984 where she ran the Paediatric Department of Alexandra Health Centre and coordinated the rural training component of Wits University's rural outreach programme. During this time Professor Rees was an active anti-apartheid doctor, with a special interest in women's health and care of detainees, and in 1994 was responsible for coordinating women's health policy for the newly elected democratic government. In 2002 she became an alumnus of Harvard Business School.

Rees is now the Executive Director of the Reproductive Health and HIV Research Unit of the University of the Witwatersrand, where she is also an Associate Professor in the Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology. She is internationally recognised in the field of HIV and reproductive health. She has research interest in STIs/ HIV, microbicides, barrier methods, HIV and HPV vaccines and adolescent health, and is an active Clinician heading a large PEPFAR grant which provides technical support to the government's HIV programmes. Rees has served on many national statutory councils, including being Chairperson of the Medicines Control Council (MCC) between 1997 and 2002, and serving on the National Health Research Ethics Committee and the Ministerial Committee for Women in Science and Technology. She was recently elected as a member to the Academy of Sciences of South African and she is also a member of the Wits University Council.

Rees serves on or chairs a number of international scientific committees including the International AIDS Vaccine Initiative, WHO's Strategic Advisory Group of Experts on Immunisation and the WHO Expert Committee on HIV vaccines and on HPV vaccines. She has served as an adviser to WHO and to UNAIDS on a range of issues including STIs and HIV, microbicides, HIV and HPV vaccines, contraception and on drug regulation, and in 2002 and 2006 she co-chaired the International Microbicides Conference.

She was made an Officer of the British Empire in 2001 for her work in the South African and international health sectors. In 2004 she became the first South African to receive the national award for 'Distinguished Scientist recognised for their outstanding contribution to improving the quality of life of women.' In 2003 she was awarded a Life Time Achievement award by Amanitare, a pan-African partnership of organisations working in the field of Women's health and rights.

Dr W D Francois Venter qualified in medicine in 1993, subsequently obtaining his specialist qualification as a physician in 2000. He obtained the DTM&H and Diploma in HIV Medicine shortly after, while working for the Clinical HIV Research Unit and then subsequently the Reproductive Health and HIV Research Unit (RHRU). He is currently Clinical Director of the HIV Management Cluster, RHRU, and a lecturer in the Department of Medicine, University of the Witwatersrand.

Venter is one of a small number of public sector HIV physicians in South Africa. He lectures extensively on HIV, has expertise in the use of antiretroviral (ARV) therapy in developing countries, and is one of the few clinicians with experience of using ARVs in public sector services. He supports a major academic hospital's HIV clinic, which treats several thousand patients on ARVs and was one of the first SA ARV rollout sites. He participated in the National and Provincial Department of Health's 2003 ARV rollout working groups developing guidelines on opportunistic illness and antiretroviral treatment, and is actively supporting the Gauteng and North-West provinces in both training and treatment. Venter is involved in a number of research grants that partner the National Institutes of Health (NIH) and the University of North Carolina. He supports several palliative cares and supports

non-governmental organisations, and participates on the Dean's AIDS Advisory Committee at the University of the Witwatersrand.

Venter is currently President of the Southern African HIV Clinicians Society (SAHCS), which has over 10 000 members throughout Africa.

Professor Jimmy Volmink [BSc, MB ChB, DCH, MPH, D Phil] is Professor and Deputy Dean (Research) in the Faculty of Health Sciences, Stellenbosch University, Cape Town, South Africa and Director of the South African Cochrane Centre, Medical Research Council. He has previously held appointments as Professor and Chair of Primary Health Care at the University of Cape Town and Director of Research and Analysis at the Global Health Council, Washington DC.

Volmink has a special interest in rigorous evaluation of the effects of health care interventions. He has extensive experience in the application of randomised controlled trials, systematic reviews and meta-analysis in evaluating strategies and therapies for the control of tuberculosis, HIV/AIDS and cardiovascular disease. He has worked with policy-makers and clinicians both globally and locally (in South Africa) to promote the use of research evidence in decisions about health care and has taught courses in evidence-based health care to students, health professionals and policy-makers in a large number of countries.

Volmink has authored more than 100 peer-reviewed journal articles and book chapters. He serves on committees and advisory boards of a number of international organisations, including the Wellcome Trust, World Health Organization, Cochrane Collaboration, Doris Duke Charitable Foundation and the International Clinical Epidemiology Network (INCLEN). He is also a member of the advisory boards of a number of international journals and serves as a peer referee for several others. He is member of the Council of the Academy of Science of South Africa and has recently been appointed as Honorary President of the Pharmaceutical Care Management Association of South Africa.

Professor Esté (HH) Vorster obtained a DSc (Physiology) with a thesis on nutrition and haemostasis. She started the Nutrition Research Group at the institution which is now the North-West University, and is at present the Director of the Africa Unit for Transdisciplinary Health Research in the Faculty of Health Sciences.

Vorster has served as President of the Nutrition Society of South Africa (NSSA) from 1995 to 1998 and again from 2003 to 2006. She was also President of International Life Science Institute South Africa from 1997 to 2001, served on the National Board of the International Union of Nutritional Sciences (IUNS) for 15 years and ICSU for 2 years. She is a member of the IUNS Task force for the

Nutrition Transition, has served as invited expert and chair of several WHO/FAO expert consultation groups, and is part of an international group which is redefining nutritional science (The New Nutrition Science Project) and another UNU/WHO/ FAO/UNICEF group that has harmonised global nutrient recommendations.

Vorster has conceptualised nutrition research as a holistic, transdisciplinary but integrated action "from molecules to society" and has brought together a group of scientists who are studying health outcomes as a consequence of how individuals, groups, communities and populations respond and adapt to changing environments. She has published more than 200 papers in peer-reviewed scientific journals and is author, co-author and editor of 5 books and chapters in textbooks on Human Nutrition. Vorster is the first woman who received the NSSA award for "Outstanding Contributions to Nutrition Research" (in 1996) and her group was awarded the 5-yearly NNIA award for their sustainable contribution to Nutrition Research in Africa in 2005.

APPENDIX B Glossary of key terms

Amino acid: One of 21 nitrogen-containing building blocks of proteins.

Antiretroviral: Pharmacological agent that inhibits replication of a retrovirus, usually referring specifically to the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV).

Arginine: One of 21 amino acids.

Carbohydrate: A form of food rich in carbon-hydrogen-oxygen bonds, which on being completely combusted (oxidised) in the body provides a moderate amount of energy per gram.

Endemic: Occurs commonly within a geographical region.

Fat: A form of food rich in hydrocarbon bonds which on being completely combusted (oxidized) in the body yields a large amount of energy per gram.

Fatty acid: (Usually straight) chain of hydrocarbons.

- **Fortification:** The deliberate and systematic addition of a nutrient or mixture of nutrients to commonly ingested foods.
- **Immunity:** The complicated system of specific cells, tissues and chemicals that constantly and highly effectively defends the body from harmful microorganisms; it has an **innate** component which is always immediately ready to act, and an **adaptive** component which takes time to become active but when it does is both very powerful and highly selective, as well as being able to "remember" the invading organisms so that a second attack can be prevented or ended very quickly.

INL98: Typically the quantity of a nutrient required daily for normal health.

Interventional trial: One in which a particular (possibly beneficial) intervention, such as administration of a foodstuff or supplement, is given to some members of cohort of subjects, but not to others who receive placebos (see below); predefined outcomes are then measured after an interval. (Optimally, such trials should be "double-blind", i.e. neither the subjects nor the investigators should know the distribution of test subjects and controls during the trial period.) (See "Randomised controlled trial" below).

Lipid: Fat.

- **Microbiota:** A large and sustained culture of mixed microorganisms occupying a habitat in or on the body.
- **Macronutrients:** Nutrients that are required in large amounts, usually tens or hundreds of grams; they comprise proteins, fats and carbohydrates.
- **Malabsorption:** The inability to absorb adequate quantities of ingested nutrients or other food components, despite adequate dietary intake thereof.
- **Micronutrients:** Nutrients that are required in small amounts, typically tens to hundreds of milligrams; they comprise 13 vitamins and 17 trace elements.
- **MDR TB**: Multi-Drug Resistant Tuberculosis is defined as resistance to at least two of the most effective anti-TB drugs, rifampicin and isoniazid.
- **Nutrient:** Component of food that is necessary for normal health, specifically to provide for normal tissue and cell growth/repair, and/or a form of energy usable by the body.
- **Observational study:** Gathering (often retrospectively) of clinical information relating to particular observations, such as favourable or unfavourable outcomes or surrogates thereof to other factors such as dietary intakes.
- Pathogenesis: The natural course and mechanisms of disease.
- **Pharmacokinetics:** Information describing the absorption, distribution and fate of administered pharmacological compounds (drugs).
- **Phytochemical:** Non-nutrient component of plant-derived food, many but not all of which have some form of (evolved to be useful) biological activity in their host plants, but may also have actions in animals, including humans.
- Placebo: Sham intervention that is assumed to exert no objective effect.
- **Prebiotic:** Food component that stimulates growth of probiotic micro-organisms (see "Probiotics", below).
- **Protein:** Complex biological compound consisting of a string/chain of amino (ie nitrogen-rich) acids.
- **Probiotic**: Ingested microorganisms that confer benefits on the host when they colonise the intestines.
- **Protein energy malnutrition:** Nutritional deficiency state caused by inadequate intake of both dietary calories and amino acids.
- **Randomised controlled trial:** An interventional trial (see above) where bias is eliminated by the process of prospectively assigning specified treatments and/ or controls.
- **Retrovirus:** One of a group of RNA (ribose nucleic acid)-based viruses, whose life cycle commences with their ability to make DNA (deoxyribose nucleic acid) copies, which then insert permanently into the nuclear DNA of the host cell.
- **Saturated fatty acid:** Fatty acid with only single bonds linking its component hydrocarbons.

- **Supplementation:** The administration of a nutrient or mixture of nutrients in addition to normally ingested foods.
- **Trace element:** A simple chemical element that (in this context) is also a necessary component of food, e.g. iron, selenium, zinc.
- **Triglyceride:** Most common form of dietary fat, comprising a (carbohydrate) glycerol backbone to which three fatty acids are attached.
- **Unsaturated fatty acid:** Fatty acid with one or more double bonds linking its component hydrocarbons.
- **Vitamin:** Complex biochemical compound that as a micronutrient is a necessary dietary component of food, usually over medium to long periods.
- **XDR TB**: Extensively Drug Resistant tuberculosis (resistant to all or nearly all available anti-TB agents).

APPENDIX C Acronyms and Abbreviations

A

ACT	Alpha-1 chymotrypsin
ACTH	Adrenocorticotropic hormone
AGP	Alpha-1 acid glycoprotein
AHRQ	Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality
AICR	American Institute for Cancer Research
AIDS	Acquired immune deficiency syndrome
AMREF	African Medical Research and Education Foundation
ANC	African National Congress
ANR	Average Nutrient Requirement
APC	Antigen-presenting cells
APP	Acute phase proteins
ARI	Average Requirement Intake
ART	Antiretroviral Therapy
ASADI	African Science Academy Development Initiative
ASSA	Actuarial Society of South Africa
ASSAf	Academy of Science of South Africa

В

BCG	Bacille Calmette-Guérin
BHITS	Breastfeeding and HIV International Transmission study
BIA	Bioelectrical impedance analysis
BMI	Body Mass Index
BMR	Basal metabolic rate

С

CD4	Cluster of differentiation 4
CD8	Cluster of differentiation 8

CDC	Communicable Disease Control
CI	Confidence interval
CRH	Corticotropic-releasing hormone
CRP	C-Reactive Protein
CSIR	Council for Scientific and Industrial Research
CTL	cytotoxic T-cell

D	
DBP	D-binding protein
DHA	Dehydroascorbic acid
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
DoH	Department of Health
DOTS	Directly Observed Therapy Short
DRI	Dietary Reference Intakes
DTH	Delayed-type hypersensitivity
E	
EAR	Estimated Average Requirement
EDCTP	European and Developing Countries Clinical Trials Partnership
F	
FAME	Forum for African Medical Editors
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organisation
FFM	Fat-free mass
G	
GALT	Gut Associated Lymphoid Tissue
gp41	Glycoprotein 41
gp120	Glycoprotein 120
GRADE	Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation
GTZ	German Technical Cooperation
Н	
HAART	Highly active antiretroviral therapy
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus

- HIV-1 Human Immunodeficiency Virus type 1
- HLA Histocompatibility antigens
- HPV Human Papillomavirus Virus

HR	Hazard Ratio
HSRC	Human Sciences Research Council
HVTN	HIV Vaccine Trials Network
1	
IAC	InterAcademy Council
IAP	InterAcademy Panel
ICSU	International Council on Science (ICSU
IDD	Iodine Deficiency Disorders
$IFN\alpha$	Interferons gamma
IgM	Immunoglobulin M
IgA	Immunoglobulin A
ILSI	International Life Sciences Institute
IL-1β	Interleukin-1 beta
IL-6	Interleukin-6
IKS	Indigenous Knowledge Systems
INCLEN	International Clinical Epidemiology Network
INH	Isoniazid (also called isonicotinyl hydrazine or isonicotinic acid hydrazide)
INL	Individual Nutrient Intake Level
IU	International Unit
IUNS	International Union of Nutritional Sciences
L	
LPS	Lipopolysaccharides
LBW	Low Birth Weight
M	
MALT	Mucosa Associated Lymphoid Tissues
MASSAf	Member Academy of Science of South Africa
MCC	Medicines Control Council
MDG	Millennium Development Goal
MDR	Multi Drug Resistant
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MMN	Multiple micronutrients
MRC	Medical Research Council
Mtb	M.tuberculosis
MTCT	Mother-to-child transmission

N	
NCD	Non-communicable diseases
NCp7	Nucleocapsid protein 7
NDoH	National Department of Health
NEPAD	New Partnership for Africa's Development
NF- k B	Nuclear factor ĸB
NICD	National Institute of Communicable Diseases
NIH	National Institutes of Health
NIV	Nutrient Intake Values
NHANES-1	National Health and Nutrition Examination
NHEFS	NHANES-1 Epidemiological Follow-up Study
NHLS	National Health Laboratory Service
NK	Natural killer
NO	Nitric oxide
NRIND	National Research Institute for Nutritional Diseases
NSSA	National Science Supervisors Association
0	
OR	Odds Ratio

Ρ

PD-1	Programmed Death-1
PEM	Protein Energy Malnutrition
PEPFAR	Presidential Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief
PETRA	Positron-Electron Tandem Ring Accelerator
PMTCT	Prevention of Mother to Child Transmission
PMN	Polymorphonuclear neutrophil
POW	Prisoners of War
PPD	Purified protein derivative
PRI	Population Reference Intake
PSNP	Primary School Nutrition Programme
PUFA	Polyunsaturated fatty acids

R

RBP	Plasma retinol binding protein
RCT	Placebo-controlled trials
RCT	Pandomized controlled trials
RDA	Recommended daily allowances

RDR	Relative dose response
REE	Resting energy expenditure
RFP	Requests for-proposals
RHRU	Reproductive Health and HIV Research Unit
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNI	Reference Nutrient Intake
RR	Relative Risk
RT	Reverse Transcriptase

S

SAA	Serum amyloid A
SAAVI	South African AIDS Vaccine Initiative
SAHCS	Southern African HIV Clinicians Society
SAIMR	South African Institute of Medical Research
SAVACG	South African Vitamin A Consultative Group
SD	Standard Deviation
SIgA	Secretory IgA
SIgM	Secretory IgM
SIV	Simian immunodeficiency virus
STI	Sexually transmitted infections

Т

Т	Thymus
TAS	Total antioxidant status
ТВ	Tuberculosis
TCR	unique T-cell receptors
TE	Total Energy
TEE	Total energy expenditure
TGFα	Transforming growth factor α
THUSA	Transition and Health during Urbanization of South Africans
TLR	Toll-like receptors
TNF-α	Tumour necrosis factor
TWAS	Academy of Sciences of the Developing World

U

UN	United Nations
USAID	United State Agency for International Development
UNAIDS	Joint United Nations Programme on HIV and AIDS

Appendices

UNICEF	United Nations International Children Educational Fund
V VAD VDR	Vitamin A deficiency Vitamin D receptor
W WAME WCRF WHO WHZ	World Association of Medical Editors World Cancer Research Fund World Health Organization Weight for height Z-score
X XDR	Extensively Drug Resistant

APPENDIX D The Council of the Academy Of Science of South Africa (ASSAf)

Steering Academy activities and taking responsibility

The affairs of the Academy are governed by a Council comprising 12 members, each of whom holds office for four years. ThE Council is elected by the Members every two years. For the sake of continuity, six members continue to serve a further term, while six new members are elected once they have been nominated according to the constitutional mechanism. To provide a better balance of race, gender or disciplinary area, the Council can coopt additional members from persons who were nominated for election to the Council for the current term.

The members of the 2005–7 ASSAf Council are; Dr Rob Adam, Prof Patricia Berjak (Vice President), Prof Robin Crewe (President), Prof Vivian de Klerk, Prof Manfred Hellberg, Prof Jonathan Jansen (Vice President), Prof Benito Khotseng (General Secretary), Prof Sunil Maharaj, Prof Chabani Manganyi, Prof Daniel Ncayiyana, Dr Francis Petersen, Prof Priscilla Reddy, Prof Peter Vale (treasurer), Prof Jimmy Volmink.

The Secretary of the ASSAf Council is the Memberships Officer, Mr Ntsheu Mangena

APPENDIX E About the academy

Objectives

Scientific thinking for the good of society

According to the Act the objectives of the Academy are:

- to promote common ground in scientific thinking across all disciplines, for example the physical, mathematical, life, human, social and economic sciences;
- to encourage and promote innovative and independent scientific thinking;
- to promote the optimum development of the intellectual capacity of all people;
- to provide effective advice and facilitate appropriate action in relation to the collective needs, opportunities and challenges of all South Africans; and
- to link South Africa with scientific communities at the highest levels, in particular within Africa, and further afield.

Vision

An engine of excellence in scholarship and intellectual cooperation

ASSAf aspires to be the apex organisation for science and scholarship in South Africa, internationally respected and connected, its membership simultaneously the aspiration of the country's most active scholars in all fields of scientific enquiry, and the collective resource making possible the professionally managed generation of evidence-based solutions to national problems.

Mission statement

Clarifying the niche of the Academy

Like democratic South Africa in general, ASSAf aspires to play both a national and an international role, particularly with respect to the African continent. We see the Academy as usefully at arm's length from government and other organised sections of the state, comprising an assembly of excellent scholars from many disciplines who are well-networked both nationally and internationally, and have shown their interest in and capacity for promoting the development of a prosperous and a fully enabled society. Membership of the Academy (by election) is both an honour and an obligation to work individually and collectively (as the Academy) to ensure that decision making requiring scholarly scrutiny and analysis is based on the best and most integrated understandings and insights available to the country. The Academicians thus represent an organised, independent but responsive scholarly voice to help guide the development of the country and its people.

The mission of ASSAf is thus to;

- become increasingly associated in the mind of the nation with the highest levels of scholarly achievement and excellence in the application of scientific thinking for the benefit of society;
- consolidate its infrastructure and capacity, and to expand and mobilise the membership to ensure that scholars from a full disciplinary spectrum are available for its work, and that these are indeed both thinkers and doers, willing to put significant effort into the Academy's activities;
- embark on a programme of systematic studies of evidence-based issues of national importance, some proposed by government or other sectors, and some identified by the Academy itself;
- develop a sound and robust methodology for constituting study panels, organising their work, including conferences and workshops, and producing authoritative reports that are well-disseminated and have significant impact;
- publish science-focused periodicals, especially a multidisciplinary journal of high quality (the *South African Journal of Science*) and a science magazine that will showcase the best of South African research to a wide national (and international) audience (*Quest – Science for South Africa*); and to promote the development in South Africa of an indigenous system of research journals of internationally recognised quality and usefulness;
- develop productive partnerships with other organisations, especially (but not only) the departments of Science and Technology, Education, Health and Agriculture; the National Advisory Council on Innovation; science councils; higher education institutions, etc., with a view to the building of capacity in science and its applications within the National System of Innovation (NSI);
- create new and diversified sources of funding for the sustainable functioning of an independent Academy;

- communicate effectively with the general and specific publics, as well as with partners and sponsors;
- develop a plan for the expansion of the activities of ASSAf in partnership with the national science academies of other countries, including contracted partnership with the US National Academies; and
- play a significant role in the international science system, particularly in Africa, through organisations such as the InterAcademy Panel (IAP) and the InterAcademy Council (IAC), the Academy of Sciences of the Developing World (TWAS), the International Council on Science (ICSU), as well as the Network of African Science Academies (NASAC), all in the context of the New Partnership for Africa's Development (NEPAD).

Members

Core asset of the Academy (each styled "MASSAf")

After nomination by four existing Members (at least two of whom do so from personal knowledge of the candidate), new Members of the Academy are elected in a secret ballot. The normal criterion for election is significant achievement in the advancement or application of science, and, in addition, Members should be persons who can be expected significantly to assist the Academy in achieving its objectives. By October 2006, ASSAf had over 250 Members drawn by self-categorisation from the earth, economic, life, mathematical, physical, social, technological, education, and agricultural sciences as well as the humanities.

International connections

Crucial catalyst for Academy-type activities

ASSAf is an active member of the IAP, a growing organisation that embraces the national science academies of over 90 countries. The Academy of Sciences for the Developing World now has an office in Africa based in Nairobi, and the Network of African Science Academies, of which the President of ASSAf is a Vice-President, is also located in that city.

ASSAf became an "intense partner" of the US National Academies (together with the Nigerian and Ugandan Academies of Science) as part of the African Science Academy Development Initiative (ASADI), receiving a substantial 5-year grant to build its capacity for generating evidence-based advice for the government and the nation in general.

Strategic plan and policy development

The way to go

ASSAf has developed a comprehensive strategic plan following a thorough process for identification of its strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats. Through its governing Council, the Academy has developed policies and guidelines for its activities. The initiation of the ASADI partnership with the US National Academies prompted the generation, proposal and adoption of the following items:

- Guidelines for proposals of science-based topics in terms of the ASSAf Act
- Guidelines for proposals of science-based topics (project proposals)
- Guidelines for the appointment of study panels and forum steering committees
- Policy on conferences
- Formation of a Committee on Science for the Alleviation of Poverty (first example of an ASSAf "Board") Panel for the Consensus Study on Nutritional Influences on Human Immunity, with special reference to clinical tuberculosis and HIV infection (first ASSAf Consensus Study).
- ASSAf's strategic plan and the Academy's policies and guidelines are publicly featured on the ASSAf website at http://www.assaf.org.za

Research publishing

The core of the quality assurance system for the dissemination of research findings

The Academy of Science of South Africa signed a contract in 2001 with the Department of Science and Technology (DST) for various activities in connection with the "strategic management" of research journals published in South Africa. The first component was a comprehensive study of the present and best-possible future role of research journals published in South Africa, now completed through the release of a full report in March 2006, with evidence-based recommendations, and a range of follow-up project integration and implementation strategies.

SAJS

Publishing the South African Journal of Science: a Nature for South Africa

The *South African Journal of Science* is the leading multidisciplinary research journal in Africa, and features a great diversity of original work by researchers throughout the country and abroad, concentrating on articles that have an appeal that is wider than that of single disciplines. Among the highlights of the volume published in 2005 were articles

featuring the research at historically black universities supported by the Royal Society-NRF bilateral programme. The journal appears six times a year, and is accessible online as one of the e-publications managed by SABINET.

Quest

Publishing Quest: A quarterly magazine of high quality, presenting science for South Africa

The Academy publishes the national science magazine *Quest: Science for South Africa* that was launched in 2004. Quest serves as a platform for communication about scientific research done in South Africa. It strives to showcase South African science in action, and is aimed at the broad scientific community, decision-makers, the public, students, and especially the senior grades at secondary schools.



 E-mail
 admin@assaf.org.za

 Web
 www.assaf.org.za

 Tel
 +27 12 843 6481/2

 Fax
 0866 810 143

Postal address Academy of Science of South Africa PO Box 72135 Lynnwood Ridge 0040 South Africa

 Physical address
 Building 53

 First Floor, Block C
 CSIR Campus, South Gate

 Meiring Naude Road
 Brummeria 0184

 (Tshwane/Pretoria, Gauteng Province, South Africa)

